Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality

Adrian V. Gheorghe Marcelo Masera Polinpapilinho F. Katina *Editors* 

# Infranomics

Sustainability, Engineering Design and Governance





## Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality

Volume 24

Series editor

Adrian V. Gheorghe

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/6653

#### TOPICS IN SAFETY, RISK, RELIABILITY AND QUALITY

#### Volume 24

#### Editor

Adrian V. Gheorghe, Old Dominion University Norfolk, VA, USA

#### Editorial Advisory Board

P. Sander, Technical University of Eindhoven, The NetherlandsD. C. Barrie, Lakehead University, Ontario, ON, CanadaR. Leitch, Royal Military College of Science (Cranfield), Shriverham, UK

*Aims and Scope*. Fundamental questions which are being asked these days of all products, processes and services with ever increasing frequency are:

What is the risk? How safe is it? How reliable is it? How good is the quality? How much does it cost?

This is particularly true as the government, industry, public, customers and society become increasingly informed and articulate.

In practice none of the three topics can be considered in isolation as they all interact and interrelate in very complex and subtle ways and require a range of disciplines for their description and application; they encompass the social, engineering and physical sciences and quantitative disciplines including mathematics, probability theory and statistics.

The major objective of the series is to provide a series of authoritative texts suitable for academic taught courses, reference purposes, post graduate and other research and practitioners generally working or strongly associated with areas such as:

Safety Assessment and Management Emergency Planning Risk Management Reliability Analysis and Assessment Vulnerability Assessment and Management Quality Assurance and Management

Special emphasis is placed on texts with regard to readability, relevance, clarity, applicability, rigour and generally sound quantitative content. Adrian V. Gheorghe · Marcelo Masera Polinpapilinho F. Katina Editors

## Infranomics

Sustainability, Engineering Design and Governance



*Editors* Adrian V. Gheorghe Polinpapilinho F. Katina Engineering Management and Systems Engineering Old Dominion University Norfolk, VA USA

Marcelo Masera Institute for Energy and Transport Joint Research Center Petten The Netherlands

 ISSN 1566-0443
 ISSN 2215-0285 (electronic)

 ISBN 978-3-319-02492-9
 ISBN 978-3-319-02493-6 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6
 Springer Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2013954028

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland, Inderscience Enterprises Limited,

Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht (outside the USA) 2014

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

## Preface

We define *Infranomics* as a body of discipline supporting analysis and decision making regarding modern societal vexing issues of sustainability, asset management, energy and safety, ethics, education, and engineering design. While it is in its infancy, *Infranomics* is proposed as a thesis enabling better decision making in an increasing ambiguous, complex, emergent, interdependent, and uncertain world. As modern society contends with rapid technological changes, socioeconomic institutional changes, increased globalization, and scarcity of resources, decision makers (i.e., policymakers and private entity operators, and researchers) are faced with a daunting task of ensuring the well-being of public health, security, and economy. Since no nation has unlimited resources, the time is ripe for a discipline that supports analysis and decision making to increase anticipation in an increasingly uncertain world.

In the next 25 works contributing to this book, we illuminate *Infranomics* in different aspects of modern society. The paper by Gheorghe et al., serves as the introduction to this volume. It addresses the interdisciplinary format of *Infranomics*, highlighting some potential initial areas of applications, and the category of analytical instruments adequately empowered to deal with the complex domain of the new body of discipline.

Part I contains three papers discussing sustainability of infrastructures in modern society. How can we create harmony between people, the planet, and profit? The paper by Emile Broesterhuizen et al., provides a tentative solution to this problem by examining ports, with consideration of clients and contractor vantage points. Continuing the theme of sustainability in ports is the paper written by Martijn P.C. de Jong et al. They provide an alternative design for open water ports and consider coastal impact as well as advantages and disadvantages of the proposed design. This part concludes with work done by Poonam Taneja et al., and discusses the role of flexibility in port development. They argue that flexibility is instrumental in achieving long-term financial viability and reduces environmental and social impact of the port infrastructures in uncertain economic times.

Part II contains three works discussing asset management. Kerry Brown et al., suggest that strategic management of assets requires corporate governance, policy, objectives, and interagency collaboration. A framework that enables asset acquisition, utilization, and maintenance for strategic development is presented. Martin Laue et al., operationalize the various levels of the asset management framework presented in previous work. This work considers how asset management can be embedded in organizations through the temporal, organizational, and spatial dimensions. We conclude this Part II with a section on multicriteria decision making for real estate portfolio. Monique Arkesteijn and Ruud Binnekamp show how measure asset performance to enable decision making based on decision makers' criteria and preferences.

In Part III, the book discusses safety and energy management topics. In an unpredictable world, we must develop mechanisms that can be used to alarm citizens in harm's way. However, paper by Helena Jagtman shows current approaches has limitations. Framework to enable better communication is developed based on a case study. Paper by Masaki Nishimori et al., discusses policy design for disaster-hit areas. Using the example at Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant, authors present a framework of system design by holistically incorporating requirements stakeholders' requirements interactively and bottom-up communications. The world largest oil-imports is now, China. How did we get here and what does the future hold? Yang Saini et al., discusses these questions and how these changes could impact transportation sector.

Part IV is purposefully entitled *equity, ethics, and infrastructures* to project the image that *Infranomics* involved morals and policy. First, Neelke Doorn applies this concept to water. The statistics on water-borne diseases, people living without safe water, and flooding are staggering. To address these issues, Neelke Doorn suggests that modern society integrate governance into water systems. Kien To and John Fernández present a compelling need for designing and implementing low-emitting carbon cites in modern society-based alternative urban technologies enabling efficient use of scarce resources. This part concludes with new and exciting developments in the Engineering Systems Division at MIT concerning instilling motivation to future researcher in solve complex and sociotechnical systems problems.

Modeling and simulation is the subject of five contributions in Part V. Andreas Tolk urges for need for modeling and simulation known as *Serious Gaming* to enable manage systems of systems. An experimental game based on systems dynamic is built to explore the question of sustainability and greenhouse emissions for built environments. The procedure and the results of the game simulation model are provided in the work of Iman Mohammed and Erik Pruyt. Work by Todd Schenk is specifically written to suggest an innovative way (Role Play Simulation) to addressing hazards and threats impacting performance of critical infrastructures. To conclude this paper, Sertaç Oruç and Scott Cunningham introduce propositions regarding engineering design. In this work, the case is made for multi-actor approach that emphasizes game theoretical modeling for optimization in engineering design.

Governance enables regulation of social systems using variety of mechanisms for a better society and is the subject of four contributions in Part VI. First, Behnido Calida and Charles Keating give a new vision on the issues related to governance in the context of complex systems exposed to uncertain and ambiguous environments. Many initiatives fail not because of incompetence of stakeholders, rather Otto Kroesen and David Ndegwah suggest there is a need to understand ambiguities involved between cultural clash between nations and priorities. This paper explores governance in technology transfer in East Africa. Third, Fei Xue et al., introduce a systematic concept of structural analysis for power grids security assessment to enable governance. Authors provide new measures for criticality to enable ranking for sake of critical component survivability. Fourth, the work done by Aria Iwasawa et al., uses Surrogate Worth Tradeoff Method to select technology for design of new systems in a Multiobjective, Mixed-Discrete Nonlinear Programming problem.

The book concludes with Part VII comprises four papers contributing to learning and knowledge dissemination within the larger context of *Infranomics*. First, Christopher Magee et al., describe historical roots of Engineering Systems and methods used in the field at MIT. Next, the researchers at ODU and Universitatea Politehnica Bucharest, Romania provide a methodology that can be used to asses resilience of academic programs. This methodology can be used to assess structural complexity and vulnerability of academic problems meant to address modern society most vexing issues. The paper by Hugo Priemus explores the case for risk analysis and risk management in large-scale infrastructure project in the Netherlands. This paper illustrates how academic theory can be used to advice stronger orientation toward flexibility and the identification of viable options. The concluding paper is about a general framework, Actor-Option Framework, which can be used to model large-scale systems in transition, to enable understanding in different transition cases and integration.

As it is becoming increasingly evident that the space for technology-driven solutions to twenty-first century issues is diminishing, there is a need for multidisciplinary approach involving technical and soft elements of human social, organizational/managerial and policy, and political elements. The discipline of *Infranomics* offers an initiating collaborative effort supporting analysis and decision making in our *modern* society.

Norfolk, Virginia, May 2013

Adrian V. Gheorghe

### Acknowledgment

This book would not have been possible without the help from numerous people. Our acknowledgments are indebted to Prof. Margot Weijnen of Delft University of Technology (The Netherlands) whose interests in *Infranomics* is demonstrated in years of research at and before the foundation of Next Generation Infrastructures Foundation in The Netherlands. We also acknowledge Prof. Paulien Herder of Delft University of Technology (The Netherlands) without whom this book would not have been possible. Prof. Herder was instrumental in organizing the CESUN 2012 International Engineering Systems Symposium conference in which some of the authors contribute immensely to this text.

We are thankful to Nathalie Jacobs and Cynthia Feenstra of Springer Publishing Company for their encouragement in publishing the first textbook of this topic. We would like to extend our gratitude to friends and colleagues around the globe whose input improved initial drafts of this book.

## Contents

Infranomics: A Discipline-of-Discipline for the XXIst Century Adrian V. Gheorghe and Marcelo Masera	1
Part I Infrastructure and Sustainability	
Sustainable Procurement for Port Infrastructure Projects Emile Broesterhuizen, Tiedo Vellinga, Poonam Taneja and Linda Docters van Leeuwen	11
Open Water Ports: Possibilities and Challenges for Container Terminals	27
Role of Flexibility in Sustainable Port Development Poonam Taneja, Tiedo Vellinga and Robin Ros	41
Part II Asset Management	
An Integrated Approach to Strategic Asset Management Kerry Brown, Martin Laue, Javier Tafur, Muhammad Nateque Mahmood, Pascal Scherrer and Robyn Keast	57
Integrated Strategic Asset Management: Frameworks and Dimensions	75
Real Estate Portfolio Decision Making	89

Part III Safety, Renewable Energy and Management	
<b>Design for Safety: A New Service for Alarming</b> <b>and Informing the Population in Case of Emergency</b>	103
<b>Optimal Policy Design for Disaster-Hit Area of Japan: Bottom-Up</b> <b>Systems Analysis of Special Zone for Reconstruction by the Isdm</b> Masaki Nishimori, Motoshi Kanke, Akiko Tsutsuki, Naohiko Kohtake, Seiko Shirasaka and Toshiyuki Yasui	125
Transportation Energy Consumption and Energy         Security in China       Sai-ni         Sai-ni       Yang, Dan Wu and Ming Wang	139
Part IV Equity, Ethics, and Infrastructures	
Equity and the Ethics of Water Governance	155
Alternative Urban Technology for Future Low-Carbon Cities: A Demonstration Project Review and Discussion	165
<b>Complex Socio-Technical Problems for Engineers: Pedagogical</b> <b>Motivation and Experience at the Undergraduate Level</b> Afreen Siddiqi, Regina R. Clewlow and Joseph M. Sussman	195
Part V Modeling and Simulation	
Infranomics Simulation: Supporting System of Systems Understanding by Gaming Andreas Tolk	215
Speeding Up Energy Transitions: Gaming Towards Sustainability in the Dutch Built Environment Iman Mohammed and Erik Pruyt	223

Boats and Bridges in the Sandbox: Using Role Play Simulation Exercises to Help Infrastructure Planners Prepare for the Risks	
and Uncertainties Associated with Climate Change	239
Game-Like Characteristic of Engineering Design	257
Part VI Governance	
System Governance: Emergence of Practical PerspectivesAcross the DisciplinesBehnido Y. Calida and Charles B. Keating	269
Capacities and Governance in Kenya: Lessons in Technology Transfer J. Otto Kroesen and David J. Ndegwah	297
The Structural Dimensions in the Security of PowerTransmission SystemsTao Huang, Ettore Bompard, Marcelo Masera and Fei Xue	311
Investigating the Surrogate Worth Trade-off Method to Facilitate Technology Selection for New Systems Aria Iwasawa, Naohiko Kohtake, Nobuaki Minato and William Crossley	339
Part VII Engineering Design and Sociotechnical Systems	
The Historical Roots of the Field of Engineering Systems: Results from an In-Class Assignment Christopher L. Magee, Rebecca K. Saari, G. Thomas Heaps-Nelson, Stephen M. Zoepf and Joseph M. Sussman	353
Complexity Induced Vulnerability Assessment: How Resilient are Our Academic Programs?	377
Managing the Risks of a Large-Scale Infrastructure Project: The Case of Spoorzone Delft	395

The Actor-Option Framework: A General Framework for Modelling Socio-Technical Systems in Transition Gönenç Yücel	407
Erratum to: Infranomics	E1
Epilogue	419
Index	421

## Infranomics: A Discipline-of-Disciplines for the XXIst Century

#### Adrian V. Gheorghe and Marcelo Masera

**Abstract** This technical note aims at introducing Infranomics, as a crucial discipline for this century. Neither authorities, nor industrial or academic bodies could afford to ignore the advent of the convolution of opportunities and risks accompanying the implementation of the new generation of infrastructures. The shape of our society will be determined by the characteristics of, and the services delivered through, those infrastructures. It is argued that Infranomics is the body of disciplines supporting the analysis and decision-making regarding the Metasystem (e.g. the totality of the technical components, stakeholders, mindframe, legal constraints, etc. composing the set of infrastructures). Infranomics is the set of theories, assumptions, models, methods, and associated scientific and technical tools required for studying the conception, design, development, implementation, operation, administration, maintenance, service supply, and resilience of the metasystem. Because none of the currently existing disciplines provides a complete solution, Infranomics will be the discipline-of-disciplines grouping all needed knowledge.

**Keywords** Critical infrastructures • System-of-systems • Metasystem • Scientific disciplines • Resilience • Tangibles • Intangibles • Infranomics

A. V. Gheorghe (🖂)

M. Masera

Department of Engineering Management and Systems Engineering, Old Dominion University, Kaufman Hall, Rm. 241, Norfolk, VA 23529, USA e-mail: agheorgh@odu.edu

Institute for the Protection and Security of the Citizen Joint Research Centre, European Commission, Via E. Fermi 2749 21027 Ispra, VA, Italy

#### Introduction

Infranomics, after infrastructure (supporting vital societal technical functions) and nomics (after Gr.  $v \phi \mu o \zeta$  nomos, set of rules), the discipline-of-disciplines studying the Metasystem.

In 2006 we presented the concept of Infranomics [1] in the context of a Disaster Risk Management Conference. Our intuition was that the study of the resilience of Critical Infrastructures exposed to a myriad of threats requires a very specific scientific approach, integrating many disciplines. The origin of this notion of Infranomics sprung from an ad-hoc meeting held in 2004 in Christchurch, New Zealand, following a well-recognized meeting in Rotorua on "Resiliency of Critical Infrastructures" [2].

In these years, we have consolidated the belief on the need for:

- 1. a systematic approach to the understanding of all the interrelated aspects that constitute the critical infrastructure topic;
- 2. taking into consideration all tangibles and intangibles aspects, and all the concurrent concordance–discordance facets; and
- 3. the rigorous structuring of the decision making matter in consideration of all stakeholders.

This short technical note aims at introducing Infranomics,<sup>1</sup> and proposing it as a crucial discipline for this century. Neither authorities, nor industrial or academic bodies could afford to ignore the advent of the convolution of opportunities and risks [3] accompanying the implementation of the new generation of infrastructures. The shape of our society will be determined by the characteristics of, and the services delivered through, those infrastructures. In this picture, communications, mobility, commerce, energy [4], health, finance, education, environmental impact, security, and up to international relations, each and all of them cannot be treated independently.

Our society will be as efficient and as secure as the infrastructures constituting it, would allow. The texture of interconnected infrastructures, each one of them a system-of-systems [5] by itself, is evolving into a metasystem (a system-of Systemsof-Systems), which—for some features—will have to be considered as a whole (Gestalt notion). At that level of aggregation, where the infrastructure is contemplated from the society standpoint, new principles can be hypothesized: ASAIA (as secure as infrastructure allow) and AEAIA (as efficient as infrastructure achieve).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The authors acknowledge the use of the term "Infranomics" in the context of Political Economy of Infrastructures by Ms. Rita Nangia in her blog, reachable at the web site http://www.infranomics.org/, as from 4th December 2009.

This Metasystem is composed of tangible and intangible elements:

- Technical components of the infrastructure supporting its functions (from the hardware, to the information, command and control parts):
- Stakeholders (comprising the operators, authorities, suppliers, end users, society at large):
- Resources (monetary [6], natural, human, technical, information);
- Mindframe (mentality, mood, cultural traits, etc.); and
- Constraint set (legal context [7–10], standards, international rules [11], etc.).

The new generation of infrastructures will be constructed upon the existing ones, however the services, architecture, business models and attributes of those newly developed systems will signify a qualitative leap forward, and not just more of the same. This leap results in the Metasystem. The technical components of the Metasystem have very different life-cycles varying from months to decades. At the same time, the decisions about the Metasystem components are taken by a multiplicity of actors, with each one of them following her own interests and concerns. Many of these components already are cross-border deployed.

Infranomics is the body of disciplines supporting the analysis and decisionmaking regarding the Metasystem (see Fig. 1). Infranomics is the set of theories, assumptions, models, methods, and associated scientific and technical tools required for studying the conception, design, development, implementation, operation, administration, maintenance, service supply, and resilience of the Metasystem. Because none of the currently existing disciplines provides a complete solution, Infranomics will be the Discipline-of-Disciplines grouping all needed knowledge.

Infranomics might manifest through *inter alia* the following acts:

metasystem

- Analyzing how stakeholders interact, coordinate their functions, establish legal regimes and normative rules, set the economics of their services, handle normal and abnormal situations;
- Analyzing how infrastructural systems work and how they can fail (e.g. blackouts), their impact onto the resilience of society, taking into consideration all technical and organizational elements and external factors;



- Analyzing how infrastructures evolve with the introduction of new technologies, how vulnerable they are in different security scenarios, and how their adequacy and performance might degrade over time;
- Developing theories and methodologies for the modeling, simulation, assessment, critical analysis, and empirical investigation of infrastructures and their dependability;
- Assess infrastructures as a whole in the interaction among the political, legal and economic governance of societies, and mainly with respect to cross-border and multi-jurisdictional settings.

One of the key objectives of Infranomics should be to support decision making in view of achieving a set of goals, at the corporate, regional, national and international levels. For this aim, Infranomics should integrate the engineering, economic, political and social sciences, considering the inter-relationships among infrastructures and stakeholders, in a multi-national, multi-jurisdictional context. The five main components of Infranomics (see Fig. 2) are:

- management and governance
- engineering
- socionomics
- economics
- political science and foreign affairs



Fig. 2 Infranomics disciplines

#### **Box 1** Tangibles and Intangibles

The main reason for the Infranomics discipline is the need to consider in a concurrent and harmonized way the necessary integration of tangible and intangible attributes of infrastructures. These tangibles and intangibles (see figure below) can be seen as two vectors, whose composition defines the field of Infranomics studies.



*Tangibles*: quantifiable assets of the infrastructure (including physical and logical elements), economic performability, technical attributes (reliability, maintainability, vulnerability, etc.), environmental conditions and requirements, resources and their attributes (e.g. scarceness, price, affordability), attributes of the end user service (e.g. quality, price, affordability).

*Intangibles*: qualitative elements which shape the definition and use of the infrastructure. E.g.: mood (of users, society, stakeholders), values and ethical positions, training of personnel, perception and acceptance of risk, awareness of vulnerabilities, policies of the business actors, strategic national and industrial objectives, geopolitical objectives, etc.

**Box 2** Infranomics is applied to all aspects, agents, components and factors, endogenous and exogenous, relevant throughout the lifecycle of infrastructures: management and governance arrangements, financial analysis of investments and accidents, technological evolution and training of personnel and customers, health and environmental effects, crime and malicious/antagonist agents, etc.

Some comments can be added regarding some sub-disciplines:

• *Positive Infranomics*: what are the infrastructures, which are their structural, functional and behavioral elements, and how they are managed, regulated, etc.

- *Normative Infranomics*: which could be the most appropriate ways and means for managing the infrastructures and their systems in different circumstances.
- *Theoretical Infranomics*: the development of the concepts and models that describe the relations, activities, layers, interactions, cost and prices, etc.
- *Empirical Infranomics*: the experimental demonstration and validation of theories, comprising the methods and tools for designing, running and analyzing the results of experiments, and mainly with respect to the failure of the infrastructural systems.

Management involves the organization and coordination of the activities of enterprises in accordance with certain policies and in achievement of clearly defined objectives. Management comprises the planning, organization, leading and controlling of an enterprise or effort for the purpose of accomplishing a goal. Governance refers in this context to the regulation of interdependent relations in the absence of an overarching political authority, and to the use of institutions, structures of authority and even collaboration to allocate resources and coordinate or control activity in society or the economy [12].

Engineering embraces all aspects of the infrastructure life-cycle, from the conception to the decommissioning, passing through the design, development, operation and maintenance of the installations. This includes the analyses of aspects such as risk, vulnerability, technical performability, environmental compatibility, sustainability, resilience, etc.

Economics deals with irreversible resource allocation of financial and material resources, resulting in a monetary value for the owners, operators, suppliers and users of the infrastructure and their services.

Socionomics deals with the social mood that drives financial, macro-economic and political behavior regarding infrastructure. Socionomics is a theory of human social behavior describing the causal relationship between social mood and social action". In the web site they defend it as dedicated to "social prediction".

Political Science is view as an academic discipline concerned with the empirical study of government and politics. Political scientists have investigated the nature of states, the functions performed by governments, voter behavior, political parties. In a complementary way Foreign Affairs deal with matters that are connected with other countries.

Acknowledgments This technical note has been republished with explicit permission of *Inderscience* who retain the copyrights of Infranomics as published in [13].

#### References

 Gheorghe A (2006) Vulnerability of critical infrastructures exposed to technical failures or natural hazards Chernobyl and Katrina: two names to make history. In: 6th DPRI-IIASA forum on integrated disaster risk management, risk and challenges for business and industry, 13–17 Aug 2006, Istanbul, Turkey. Available at http://www.iiasa.ac.at/Research/RAV/conf/ IDRiM06/

- 2. Resilient Infrastructure (2005) Rotorua, New Zealand, 2005, conference presentation available at http://www.caenz.com/info/ConfPres.html
- 3. Voeller JG (ed) (2010) Wiley handbook of science and technology for homeland security. Wiley, New York
- 4. Gheorghe A, Masera M, Weijnen M, De Vries LJ (2006) Critical infrastructures at risk securing the European electric power system. Springer, Dordrecht
- 5. Jamshidi M (ed) (2008) System of systems engineering. Wiley, New York
- 6. Accelerating Smart Grid Investments. World Economic Forum, 2009
- 7. President's Commission on Critical Infrastructure Protection (PPCIP) (1997) Critical foundations. Protecting America's Infrastructures, Washington, DC
- Cyberspace Policy Review. Assuring a trusted and resilient information and communications infrastructure, Washington, June 2009
- Council Directive 2008/114/EC of 8 December 2008 on the identification and designation of European critical infrastructures and the assessment of the need to improve their protection, Brussels, 2008
- Communication from the Commission, COM/2009/0149. Protecting Europe from large scale cyber-attacks and disruptions: enhancing preparedness, security and resilience, Brussels, 2009
- 11. Abele-Wigert I, Dunn M (2006) The international CIIP handbook 2006: an inventory of protection policies in 20 countries and 6 international organizations, Zurich
- 12. Bell S (2002) Economic governance and institutional dynamics. Oxford University Press, Melbourne
- 13. Gheorghe AV, Masera M (2010) Infranomics. Int J Crit Infrastruct 6(4):421-427

## Part I Infrastructure and Sustainability

## Sustainable Procurement for Port Infrastructure Projects

Emile Broesterhuizen, Tiedo Vellinga, Poonam Taneja and Linda Docters van Leeuwen

**Abstract** There is a growing number of ports with sustainable policies. At the moment most of these policies are focused on clean transport. This study handles ports themselves by implementing sustainable criteria for the procurement of infrastructure projects. The aim is to get a balance between People, Planet and Profit. This means that those sustainable criteria have to be compared with the investment costs. A solution of this problem is given by setting a procurement model based on the so called concordance analysis, in combination with criteria which are based on the 3P theory and Life Cycle Analysis. Furthermore, the position of both client and contractor are taken into account by giving recommendations about contracting forms. As part of the research interviews were done with stakeholders as governments, port authorities and contractors. These interviews formed a basis for the obtained model.

**Keywords** Sustainable port development • Infrastructure projects • Procurement • Life cycle analysis • Value management • Sustainable management • Contract forms • Concordance analysis

L. Docters van Leeuwen Iter Fidelis B.V., Computerweg 2, 3542 DR Utrecht, The Netherlands

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_2, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

E. Broesterhuizen (🖂)

E.F.M. Broesterhuizen, Uilebomen 36, 2511 VP The Hague, The Netherlands e-mail: e.broester@gmail.com

T. Vellinga · P. Taneja Civil Engineering, Delft University of Technology, P.O. Box 5015, 2600 GA Delft, The Netherlands

#### Introduction

While in other industries sustainable management is of the order of the day, sustainability is still in many ports' infancy. It is not only the legislator which forces ports to sustainable management, but also the society as a whole. More and more economic experts are convinced about the lower costs on the long term as a result of sustainability.

The port of Los Angeles was one of the pioneers of ports on this field by starting in 2006 the San Pedro Bay Ports Clean Air Action Program (CAAP): it was the most ambitious program in the world for cleaner ports. It led to emission reductions of 50–75 % in five years time for DPM,  $PM_{2.5}$ ,  $PM_{10}$ ,  $NO_x$  and  $SO_x$  (see Fig. 1). After this success more and more initiatives followed, like the World Ports Climate Initiative (WPCI) in 2008: a cooperation network of 55 ports in the world originated from the International Association of Ports and Harbors (IAPH) for reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

By far, most attention is focused on cleaner transport and shipping. This chapter, a summary of the study of Broesterhuizen [3],<sup>1</sup> handles ports themselves by introducing a procurement model that contains sustainable criteria for the design, realization, use, demolition and recycling of infrastructure projects. Sustainability in procurement is inevitable to make the port's infrastructure more sustainable. Not only the project itself is investigated by setting criteria, but also the relation between client and contractor. The scope of the study concerns ports with transshipment as main function.

The study is divided into four phases: Analysis, Synthesis, Simulation and Evaluation. In the Analysis insight is gained in the current and future situation around sustainable procurement and sustainability in ports. The procurement model is formed in the Synthesis and applied on different projects from the field. One of these projects is described and analyzed in this chapter. The Evaluation gives a feedback to the main research question reading how sustainability criteria can be implemented in the procurement process for port infrastructure.

#### Analysis

In this phase different topics are studied about procurement in general, the role of sustainable criteria in the procurement process, the commercial (dis)advantage of sustainable management and the visions and policies around sustainable port development. As a part of this analysis several parties<sup>2</sup> are interviewed about their views and policies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Paragraphs 2.1–3.1 were part of the introduction to this study, published in a discussion paper: Broesterhuizen et al. [4].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 2 large contracting companies, 2 port authorities, the government and a NGO.

#### PRIMARY POLLUTANTS DEFINED

Diesel Particulate Matter
Oxides of Nitrogen
Oxides of Sulfur
Particulate Matter less than 2.5 microns in diameter
Particulate Matter less than 10 microns in diameter
Carbon Dioxide (A Green House Gas contributor)

and the second	Dollutont	CY 2005-	
at the the	Pollutant	%	tons
	DPM	69%	617
	PM <sub>2.5</sub>	70%	579
Au	PM <sub>10</sub>	69%	678
	NOx	50%	8,180
and the second	SOx	75%	3,978

Fig. 1 Emission reductions port of Los Angeles [8]

#### **Procurement Process**

European ports are bounded to European laws and these ports are obliged to European public procurement above a certain contract sum and many port infrastructure projects sums exceed this value. When it is a matter of public European procurement Port Authorities have the choice for procurement with a selection based on the lowest price or the most economically advantageous tender. The last criterion is a criterion which selects the alternative with the best price-quality ratio. This can be realized by setting criteria for a more sustainable alternative.

One of the goals of this study is to make a project as sustainable as possible. In the procurement phase of a project, it does not depend only from setting sustainable criteria. The choice for a type of contract is very important. Lately innovative contract forms, e.g. D&B and DBFM, are more popular. When using these types of contracts, contracting companies gain more freedom and influence in the design of the project. Therefore, more different kinds of alternatives are possible which helps the sustainability. Besides, these innovative contract forms involve the contractor in the project over a longer period of time. In practice these developments has led to the applying of Life Cycle Analysis (LCA) by contractors leading to a higher value of the project [9]. This is an important property of a sustainable project design: projects should not only be sustainable for a limited period of time, but also during their whole lifetime.

#### Economical Effects of Sustainable Management

In most industries (especially industries in consumer markets) sustainable purchasing and procurement is already integrated, more than the port sector. According to the study of Adams [1], many port authorities approach sustainability in a negative way: sustainability is seen as a necessity for reducing external effects (e.g. emissions), instead of the optimization of advantages like retaining and attracting clients while other industries make use of these advantages of sustainable management. According to MIT and the Boston Consulting Group [2] sustainable management has many commercial advantages which lead to a larger return for shareholders (see Fig. 2). Ports should make use of these advantages and sustainable procurement is one of the possibilities to realize this. Using sustainable policies ports will get a better image which lead to a license to operate and a license to grow.

Besides advantages, sustainable and innovative operational management can have disadvantages. Most of these disadvantages are dealing with uncertainties about the future due to the fact that in many cases sustainable investments are long term investments. A second disadvantage is the risks of investing in innovation. Private parties incline to make fewer investments in innovation due to the risk of spillovers of knowledge, investment risks and the differences in benefits between companies and the society in general.

#### Analysis of Actors

By making an analysis of the views and policies of the different actors (e.g. governments, port authorities, contractors, etc.) involved in sustainable port development insight is gained in the interests and the importance of the different topics. One of these actors is the Dutch government which set different themes that are important in sustainable port development [7]. These themes include: use of



Fig. 2 Advantages of sustainable management [2]

space; mobility of the hinterland; development of nature; air quality; environmental management; energy,  $CO_2$  emissions and waist flows; water quality. Research company CE Delft has set indicators based on these themes to measure the sustainability of the Dutch ports [6], which can be used for setting sustainability criteria. Based on the themes there is made an inventory of the different topics of attention from the actors. The conclusion is that most attention is going to environmental management (e.g. cooperation in knowledge, use of environmental management systems, ISO14001) and energy,  $CO_2$  emissions and waist flows.

#### Interviews

As mentioned before, different parties from the procurement process were interviewed. Here, the most important conclusions are picked from the results. Due to the number of respondents, a statistical conclusion cannot be made but the results are very useful to get insight in different views and solutions. There was consensus in opinion about some topics, but there were many topics with disagreement too. This shows that more research has to be done about this subject. Most respondents were of opinion that especially the large companies in the building sector see the (commercial) advantages of sustainable management. Small companies still link sustainability with extra costs. There was agreement too about the proposition that sustainability should come from the contractor instead of the awarding authority. But the companies gave very different answers to the question if contractors are given enough space to make this possible. All respondents were of opinion that owners choose contracting forms which give too little space for innovation. Together with the opinion that sustainability should come from the contractor the conclusion can be made that contractors do not have enough space to realize sustainable projects.

There was disagreement too about the question if there should exist a general procurement model for the whole soil, road and hydraulic building sector instead of a model that is focused on the project itself. As advantage of such a model the ease of application is mentioned. A disadvantage could be the lack of freedom and the fact that every project is different.

It was very noticeable that most respondents didn't mention air quality as an important criterion for sustainability, while air quality is the number 1 topic in the several sustainable initiatives of international ports.

#### Synthesis

In this phase of the research the criteria of the procurement model are set. After the choice of the criteria an evaluation method is chosen with weight factors for the criteria. These choices are based on requirements as flexibility, adaptability, stability, transparency and user-friendliness.

#### Criteria

Before setting criteria, the question has to be answered which criteria will contribute to a more sustainable port infrastructure. To be able to answer this question a definition for a sustainable port is needed. In this study there is referred to the definition of the Dutch and Flemish environment organizations [5]: a port with an optimal balance between performance of business economics, utilizing the available capacity, limited use of space, minimal negative influence on the environment and a relation between port and hinterland. This is a very important definition for this study. To reach this 11 criteria are mentioned in the referred report. These criteria combined with the different indicators for sustainable ports set by CE Delft



Fig. 3 Criteria framework: the *colors of the themes* in the *lower part* correspond with the colors of the different criteria

Method	Applicable	Transparent	Flexible	Stable	Effective	User friendly	Total
CBA	_	+	++	+	++	++	7
CEA	_	+	++	+	++	++	7
Score card	++	++	++	_		±	3
Weighted summation	++	+	±	±	-	+	3
Permutation method	++	++	_	±	+	-	4
Concordance analysis	++	+	-	±	++	±	5
Saaty method	++	_	±	_	±	+	1
Multidimensional scale method	++			±	++		-2

**Table 1** Selection table for evaluation method: the total score is calculated by the sum of the individual performance scores in which -- is equal to -2 points, - is equal to -1 point,  $\pm$  is equal to 0 points, + is equal to 1 point and ++ is equal to 2 points

and the People, Planet, Profit definition of sustainability led to different themes which are important when approaching sustainable port development. Then, the themes are translated to indicators for port infrastructure after analyzing the application of the themes on infrastructure. After setting the indicators for the sustainability of port infrastructure, criteria can be formulated. This has led criteria divided in 3 classes based on Life Cycle Analysis: People, Planet and Profit [3]. People contents the social criteria as corporate social responsibility, Planet consists the criteria for the environment, e.g. emissions and development of nature, and the Profit criterion will be formulated as the financial Net Present Value. A notable criterion is the adaptability of the work and is not included in traditional procurement criteria. This is understood to mean a flexible design which makes the construction works durable against changing circumstances in the future. For ports a very important changing circumstance is the climate change. Examples of a flexible design are floating quay walls and flexible designs for capacity expansions. The framework with the different criteria is shown in Fig. 3. The criteria are set in such a manner that the correlation between the criteria is minimized.

#### Selection of Evaluation Method

To evaluate alternatives based on these criteria, a suitable evaluation method is needed. Different kinds of evaluation methods are compared in Table 1 to each other based on applicability, transparency, flexibility, stability, effectiveness and user friendliness. These properties are chosen such to get an appropriate model for both the client and contractor and to optimize the sustainability of the project. The most common evaluation methods in civil engineering are compared in which a distinction is made between monetary evaluation methods [cost-benefit analysis (CBA), cost effectiveness analysis (CEA)], the score card method and Multicriteria Evaluation methods (MCE's; weighted summation, permutation method, concordance analysis, multidimensional scale method, Saaty method).

#### **Cost-Benefit Analysis and Cost Effectiveness Analysis**

In the CBA all effects are translated to costs using shadow prices. The preferred alternative is the alternative with the best balance. The advantage of this method is the amount of insight gained about the effects and all criteria can be compared to each other. The main disadvantage is that some criteria are difficult to translate in a monetary value.

In the CEA first a goal is set. Then it is analyzed which alternative can fulfill that goal against the lowest costs.

#### Weighted Summation

The weighted summation is the most common evaluation method in the civil engineering industry. It is based on the principle  $P = W^*E$  where P is the score, W the weight and E the effect. After standardization of the effects and multiplication with the weights of the effects score can be calculated. The advantage of this method is that it is very comprehensible. The disadvantage is that the weights are determined independently, allowing the case that the preferring alternative scores high on criteria with large weights while there are more criteria where it scores bad.

#### **Concordance Analysis**

The concordance analysis is a method where there the alternatives are first compared in pairs based on weighted scores. After that again a pairwise comparison is made between the alternatives but then without weights to inspect how bad the alternatives score to each other. The preferable alternative is the alternative that gives a good balance between scoring high on weighted criteria and scoring low without weights. The advantage of this method that the compensating effect of the weighted summation is removed.

#### **Permutation Method**

This method is based on the order of preference of the alternatives on all effects. Per criterion all orders of alternatives get a score. The order of preference with the best score on the end is the ultimate order of preference. Disadvantage of this method is that if there are a lot of alternatives, many calculations have to be done: when there are alternatives, already 5! = 120 different orders of preference have to be evaluated.

#### Saaty-Method/Analytical Hierarchy Process Method

First the alternatives are compared pairwise on the criteria, making use of the Saaty scale: every time the better alternative get a score of 1 (equal score), 3, 5, 7 or 9 (by far better). This leads to the matrix  $A_J$  for criterion J. The eigenvectors of these matrices form the Option Performance Matrix (OPM). The same is done with the criteria: a score of 1 stands for equal important, 9 for by far more important. This leads to the Relative Value Vector (RVV). Then, the OPM is multiplied with the RVV resulting in the Value For Money Vector (VFM). This vector gives the total scores per alternative. The alternative with the highest score is the preferred alternative.

One of the advantages of this method is that it is giving insight in the importance of effects without the need of setting weights. A disadvantage is the mathematical nature, leading to less transparency.

#### **Multidimensional Scaling Method**

This method decreases the number of dimensions of a set of (correlated) criteria. These dimensions are not correlated to each other. Between these dimensions a point is determined in the dimension space. The alternative with the smallest distance to this point is the preferred alternative. This analysis is possible with a complex optimizing process which makes interpretation of results difficult.

#### Score Card Method

In this method it is indicated with colors how well an alternative scores on a list of criteria. With this method it is not needed to standardize scores or translate effects. Disadvantage is that it is difficult to make a quantitative comparison between alternatives.

The main advantages of monetary evaluation methods are their simplicity in their calculations but it is necessary to translate the different effects of the criteria to shadow prices, which can be dubious. The score card method is very transparent but a clear quantitative calculation is not possible. In contrast, MCE's are able to combine qualitative with quantitative data. Since the applicability of monetary evaluation methods is weak, a choice is made for the concordance method since this is the most practical method. In this method an alternative is evaluated based on weighted criteria how well the alternative scores in comparing with the other alternatives and how many times it scores worse on unweighted criteria. This leads to a balance between criteria which is important since sustainability is all about the balance between People, Planet and Profit.

#### **Application of the Model**

To ease the application of the model for both the contractor and client there is chosen for a model with qualitative criteria to avoid complex calculations and uncertainties. All measures by the contractor described in the tender are scored. In the case that there are no clear quantitative results available, this score is a grade between 1 and 10 during the tender stage, in which 10 is the best and 1 the worst. If there is a negotiation stage a grade between 1 and 3 will be given, since the selection process is progressed and a clearer distinction between the alternatives is needed. The score is based on how SMART<sup>3</sup> a measure is. If a clear quantitative effect is known as the investment costs, the effect can be used as a score.

After the scores are given to the alternatives all scores are standardized to 1 or (in case of negative score as investment costs) to -1.

The next step is to determine the concordance indices  $K_{ij}$ . A pairwise comparison is done between two alternatives *i* and *j*. The concordance index  $K_{ij}$  is simply the sum of the weights of the criteria of which alternative *i* scores better than alternative *j*. In Table 2 an overview is given of weights that can be used in this calculation. These weights are based on the current situation and can be changed by the client under the restriction that the sum of the weights is equal to 1. This step is repeated for all possible combinations resulting in a concordance matrix, see Table 3.

With this concordance matrix the net concordance dominance index can be calculated. For Alternative 1, this index is calculated as the sum of its concordance indices against the other alternatives minus the sum of the concordance indices of the other alternatives against Alternative 1, in general

$$K_i = \sum K_{ij} - \sum K_{ji}$$

This index is a measure for the scores on criteria with a large weight. From now on this index will be mentioned as the concordance. The higher the concordance, the higher the scores on the most important criteria.

After that, the discordance index  $D_{ij}$  is calculated as the absolute difference between the scores of alternatives *i* and *j* on the criteria for which *i* scores worse than *j*. This is repeated until the discordance matrix can be filled, see Table 4.

Now a discordance dominance is computed with the formula

$$D_i = \sum D_{ij} - \sum D_{ji}$$

This value will be named as discordance from now on. The higher the discordance, the worse the scores and it is a measure for bad scoring on all criteria.

The final step in the evaluation is to combine the concordance with the discordance. Since both indices have different meanings these indices cannot be summed. First the alternatives will be ranked based on concordance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Definition of SMART: Specific, Measurable, Acceptable, Realistic, Time restricted.

Main criterion	Criterion	Weight
People	Corporate social responsibility	0.11
	Regional social contribution	0.06
Planet	Use of space	0.03
	Emissions of PM <sub>10</sub> , NO <sub>2</sub> , SO <sub>2</sub>	0.03
	Nature	0.06
	Emission of CO <sub>2</sub>	0.06
	Water quality	0.03
	Soil quality	0.03
	Noise nuisance	0.01
	Adaptability	0.05
	Futural recycling and demolition	0.04
Profit	Nett present value	0.50

 Table 2
 Sustainability criteria with their weights

The sum of the weights is equal to 1 and the weights are based on the general situation for a large European port

Table 3 Concordance matrix

	Alternative 1	Alternative 2	Alternative 3	Alternative 4	Alternative 5
Alternative 1	Х	K <sub>12</sub>	K <sub>13</sub>	K <sub>14</sub>	K <sub>15</sub>
Alternative 2	K <sub>21</sub>	Х	K <sub>23</sub>	K <sub>24</sub>	K <sub>25</sub>
Alternative 3	K <sub>31</sub>	K <sub>32</sub>	Х	K <sub>34</sub>	K <sub>35</sub>
Alternative 4	K41	K <sub>42</sub>	K <sub>43</sub>	Х	K45
Alternative 5	K <sub>51</sub>	K <sub>52</sub>	K <sub>53</sub>	K <sub>54</sub>	Х

 Table 4
 Discordance matrix

	Alternative 1	Alternative 2	Alternative 3	Alternative 4	Alternative 5
Alternative 1	Х	D <sub>12</sub>	D <sub>13</sub>	D <sub>14</sub>	D <sub>15</sub>
Alternative 2	D <sub>21</sub>	Х	D <sub>23</sub>	D <sub>24</sub>	D <sub>25</sub>
Alternative 3	D <sub>31</sub>	D <sub>32</sub>	Х	D <sub>34</sub>	D <sub>35</sub>
Alternative 4	D <sub>41</sub>	D <sub>42</sub>	D <sub>43</sub>	Х	D <sub>45</sub>
Alternative 5	D <sub>51</sub>	D <sub>52</sub>	D <sub>53</sub>	D <sub>54</sub>	Х

The alternative with the highest ranking (that is with the highest concordance) gets 1 point, the second alternative 2 points, etcetera. Then the alternatives are ranked again, but this time based on their discordance. The alternative with the lowest discordance gets 1 point, the second 2 points and so on. Finally the ranking points are summed and the alternative with the lowest amount of points is the preferred alternative.

#### Simulation

In this part the developed procurement model is applied to a tender for a certain port infrastructure project. The outcomes will be evaluated and a comparison is made with the traditional method.

#### Example Project: Quay Wall

The example project consists of the design and realization of a quay wall with future expansion possibilities. The main components of the project are the design and construction of a mooring facility for oil tankers and the foundations for load arms and a rail with a crane.

After selection of 5 contractors the offers are evaluated using the model. In the original case, the offers were evaluated using a weighted summation method in which sustainability got a weighing percentage of 15 %. Within this percentage, sustainability was divided in 4 criteria:

- Avoiding transport during rush hours (33 %)
- Number of transports (17 %)
- Use of clean fuels (17 %)
- Recycling of material (33 %).

Therefore, these criteria are different from the model's criteria. Since the Net Present Values are not known, the investment costs are used as a measure for the economical feasibility. The negative value of the costs can be used directly as a score for this criterion. If the contractor does not take measures a neutral 5 is given as score, since the design does not necessarily leads to a more or less sustainable project. Furthermore, the tender is not yet in the final stage that means that improvements in the offers are possible.

The contractor of Alternative 1 took quite a lot measures within the criterion for the emissions of  $PM_{10}$ ,  $NO_2$  and  $SO_2$ . These measures differ in being SMART and there are a much transport movements leading to a considerably low mark (6). There is a limited amount of measures to limit  $CO_2$  emissions and the contractor scores a 6 on this criterion and a low score for the economical feasibility since the investment costs are large.

The second alternative got the second place in the real situation. There was only a small amount of freight transport by trucks, in contrast to a large amount of commuter traffic. Thanks to a no-claims bonus system the measures scored higher on being SMART. This alternative got a high score on the criterion to limit the  $CO_2$  emissions (9). There are a lot of measures to recycle material and the company is certificated with the highest award against  $CO_2$  emission. There is much saving on use of steel and the contractor gave clear insight into the  $CO_2$  emissions. On the profit criterion scores this alternative a second place. The contracting company of the third alternative is the only contractor which is implementing the guidelines of ISO 26000, leading to a 9 as score on the criterion for Corporate Social Responsibility. Furthermore, it is the only alternative with possibilities for multiple use of space, protection of the soil quality and the application of nature friendly banks and roadsides. There are no clear measures about transport and there is much freight transport with trucks which is not enough compensated by the high score on commuter traffic. This leads to a 5 as score for the criterion against emissions of  $PM_{10}$ , NO<sub>2</sub> and SO<sub>2</sub>. On the field of limitation of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions the total influence on the life cycle by the measures is small. Alternative 3 scores the third place on investment costs.

Alternative 4 takes initiatives to help the regional society. Some crafts are outsourced to the regional sheltered workshops. Alternative 4 scores an 8 when it comes to regional social contribution. The amount of freight transport by road is small, but the number of commuter transports is not known. The contractor scores bad for measures on clean fuels leading to a 5 for the criterion against emissions of  $PM_{10}$ ,  $NO_2$  and  $SO_2$ . This alternative is the most expensive alternative.

Alternative 5 was chosen by the client. It scored a 7 on Corporate Social Responsibility since the company is certificated on this field. There are a lot of actions against the emissions of  $PM_{10}$ ,  $NO_2$  and  $SO_2$ , rated with a 9. Like Alternative 2, this alternative is certificated with the highest award against  $CO_2$  emission. Furthermore there is much saved on the amount of steel leading to less  $CO_2$  emissions and the alternative is given a 9 for this criterion. Alternative 5 has the lowest investment costs.

The foregoing summarizes the contractors' most important actions described in their offers. The scores for all measures on all criteria are given in Table 5. Based on these scores the model can be filled in. According to the criteria of the model Alternative 5 is the most economically advantageous tender. Alternative 1 and Alternative 4 are sharing the last place as seen in Table 6.

In the real case, the contractor of Alternative 5 got the work and Alternative 2 scored the second place. The difference can be explained by taken other criteria into account, e.g. technical design. This makes it difficult to compare the outcomes, but they lay close together.

In the case of leaving the Profit criterion out, the outcome is different than the real case (that is, the ranking based on the sustainability criterion), see Table 7.

The large differences can be explained again to the differences in criteria. Alternative 3 scores high on criteria as Corporate Social Responsibility, use of space, water quality, soil quality, noise nuisance and adaptability. These are just the criteria which are not included in the real tender. This is more visible when the real outcome is compared to the analysis based on only the Planet criterion. This leads to an analysis with criteria which are more close to the real case, see Table 8.

The ranking of the concordance is almost the same as the ranking in the real case in Table 7. Looking to the concordance only is similar to the weighted summation method used by the client. By adding the discordance Alternative 3 gets a higher ranking, because this alternative has a better balance between more criteria what is important for a sustainable project, inspecting the very negative

Main criterion	Criterion	A1	A2	A3	A4	A5
People	Corporate social responsibility	5	5	9	5	7
	Regional social contribution	5	5	5	8	5
Planet	Use of space	5	5	7	5	5
	Emissions of PM <sub>10</sub> , NO <sub>2</sub> , SO <sub>2</sub>	6	6	5	5	9
	Nature	5	5	6	5	5
	Emission of CO <sub>2</sub>	6	9	6	7	9
	Water quality	5	7	8	5	5
	Soil quality	5	5	7	5	5
	Noise nuisance	5	5	9	5	8
	Adaptability	5	5	8	5	5
	Future recycling and demolition	5	7	5	6	6
Profit	Nett present value	-0.23921	-0.170607	-0.1883	-0.24504	-0.15684

 Table 5 Scoring table; the scores on the profit criterion (investment costs) are given as ratios

#### Table 6 Ranking of alternatives

	Concordance	Discordance	Ranking
Alternative 1	-1.75	1.54	4
Alternative 2	1.04	0.33	3
Alternative 3	0.59	-1.80	2
Alternative 4	-2.33	0.82	4
Alternative 5	2.45	-0.89	1

Table 7 Ranking concordance analysis based on People and Planet criteria

	Concordance	Discordance	Ranking	Ranking real case
Alternative 1	-1.49	1.34	5	4
Alternative 2	0.10	0.40	3	1
Alternative 3	1.16	-1.80	1	2
Alternative 4	-0.67	0.60	4	5
Alternative 5	0.90	-0.54	2	2

Table 8 Ranking based on only Planet criterion

	Concordance	Discordance	Ranking	Ranking concordance
Alternative 1	-1.40	1.23	5	5
Alternative 2	0.97	0.03	1	1
Alternative 3	0.57	-1.46	1	3
Alternative 4	-0.99	1.06	4	4
Alternative 5	0.85	-0.86	1	2

discordance index. In the real case the client negotiated with the contractors of alternatives 2 and 5. According to this model, Alternative 3 should be given a chance too. This underlines the usefulness of the concordance analysis.

#### **Evaluation and Conclusion**

To incorporate sustainability as criterion in the procurement process it is necessary for the client to choose a contract form that is based on the most economically advantage tender where the winning alternative is the alternative with the best price to quality ratio. Sustainability is then a criterion for the quality. There are different kinds of contracting forms possible, where integrated contracting forms are preferable. The more the contractor is involved in the life cycle of the work, the more sustainable a design will be. Examples of integrated contracting forms are D&C or Design & Build contracting forms and DBFM(O) contracting forms.

Sustainability can be specified in criteria based on the 3P theory with the main criteria People, Planet and Profit. These main criteria can be divided in Corporate Social Responsibility, regional social contribution, multiple use of space, emissions of  $PM_{10}$ ,  $NO_2$  and  $SO_2$ , nature,  $CO_2$  emission, water quality, soil quality, noise nuisance, adaptability, future recycling and demolition and Net Present Value. The request of the client has to be as clear as possible in such a way that the contractor knows exactly what the criteria are and how they are measured with which indicators.

The aim is to quantify criteria as much as possible, which is easier for implementing results by both the client as contractor. An analysis of the impact on the total Life Cycle (LCA) from realization to demolition is needed to get insight of the sustainability of the work. Based on these results an assessment can be performed.

The traditional method of weight summation does not take the balance between criteria into account. This balance is necessary for a sustainable project. The studied model gives a solution for this problem by including more criteria and by analyzing both the sustainable performance of the project and the underperformance. This gives more insight in the sustainability of the alternative and a better balance between the criteria. An example is the adaptability of a design which is not taken into account in current models.

The main problem with traditional methods is that scores on criteria with a heavy weight can compensate for scores with a lower weight. In this study there is shown that an alternative with the highest scores on the most weighty criteria is not automatically the preferred alternative.

Another advantage of the concordance analysis is the amount of extra information about the outcomes. When outcomes lay closely together, this information can help to decide which alternative is the most preferable. For example, when the concordance indices are almost equal, but there is a large difference in
discordance, the choice can be made based on these discordance values. To make the method more reliable for determining the most economically advantageous tender other criteria can be added such as the technical design.

# References

- 1. Adams M, Quinonez P, Pallis A, Wakeman T (2009) Environmental issues in port competitiveness. Dalhousie University, Halifax
- Berns M, Towned A, Khayat Z, Balagopal B, Reeves M, Hopkins MS et al (2009) The business of sustainability: what it means to managers now. MIT Sloan Manage Rev 51(1):19–27
- 3. Broesterhuizen E (2012) Duurzaamheid als Aanbestedingscriterium bij Haveninvesteringen. Delft University of Technology, Delft
- 4. Broesterhuizen E, Vellinga T, Docters van Leeuwen L, Zwakhals JW, Taneja P, Nijdam M (2012) Sustainability as a procurement criterion for port investments. CESUN2012, Delft
- 5. Dekker S (2008) Integrale visie op havenontwikkeling in Nederland en Vlaanderen. Koppies & Stevens BV, pp 2–3. Koppies & Stevens BV, Cappelle aan den IJssel
- 6. Faber J, Nelissen D, Verbraak G, den Boer E (2010) Leidraad voor duurzaamheidsmonitoring door zeehavenbeheerders. CE Delft, Delft
- Ministerie van Verkeer en Waterstaat (2008) Zeehavens als Draaischijven naar Duurzaamheid. Ministerie van Verkeer en Waterstaat, Den Haag
- 8. Port of Los Angeles (2011) Port of Los Angeles 2011 annual sustainability report. Port of Los Angeles, Los Angeles
- 9. Sieswerda S (2010) The Dutch approach. In: Assets, Nov 8-9

# **Open Water Ports: Possibilities and Challenges for Container Terminals**

Martijn P. C. de Jong, Otto M. Weiler and Jan-Joost Schouten

**Abstract** In this chapter, authors put forward a port layout design approach for an exposed container terminal. This is an unusual approach for this type of terminal because of the associated strict vessel motion criteria. Nevertheless, in view of increasingly bigger container ships that will respond less to environmental conditions, the proposed approach departs from traditional ideas on wave sheltering in ports. The chapter discusses associated advantages and disadvantages. Aside from potential economic benefits, advantages of such an approach could be smaller coastal impacts and larger sustainability. For the disadvantages we present possible directions in which we foresee that solutions could be found to overcome those (technical) limitations. After the remaining technical issues have been solved, and when the business plans of ports can facilitate this new approach, the concept of an open water port is expected to form a more sustainable alternative to traditional port layout design approaches.

**Keywords** Port layout design • Wave sheltering • Breakwaters • Innovative mooring techniques • Innovative container cranes • Minimising coastal impacts • Sustainability

# Introduction

Traditionally, ports are designed using large and costly structures, e.g. rubble mound or caisson breakwaters, to provide shelter from ambient wave and current conditions. However, with ships getting bigger and bigger one can ask the question how much protection is still required. Should we invest heavily in protective

M. P. C. de Jong (🖂) · O. M. Weiler · J.-J. Schouten

Deltares, Harbour, Coastal and Offshore Engineering Department,

PO Box 177, 2600 MH Delft, The Netherlands

e-mail: martijn.dejong@deltares.nl

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_3, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

measures, or can we mitigate the motion response of vessels via new technical means of mooring and cargo transfer, or could container shipping companies accept higher downtimes?

In this chapter, authors propose an alternative port design approach that departs from the traditional ideas on sheltering and starts off with a (more) open port situation, located on a detached structure or land area close to shore. Similar concepts have been suggested a number of times in the past, e.g. by Bruun [1–3], Burdall and Williamson [4], and Tsinker [12]. Bruun [3] states for example:

It is obvious that it may sometimes be difficult to justify the cost of ... breakwaters and that it therefore may be necessary to find a less expensive alternative to reduce their length to a minimum. This raises the question as to whether in specific cases it will be possible to avoid the use of breakwaters altogether, in favour of an unprotected berth, and thus to construct only a pier.

However, these suggested concepts were not seen as a standard approach and since then they have mainly been applied for tanker terminals. Furthermore, they were mainly driven by economics and not by sustainability motivations.

Focus of this chapter is open water ports for container terminals, which is an uncommon concept, since such terminals involve the most stringent criteria on wave and current conditions. For certain other types of cargo the open water port principle is much more common. For decades the oil industry is using open water facilities for liquid cargo. Ongoing developments in that field include the Joint Industry Project HawaII (sHAllow WAter InItiative), which focuses on mooring LNG vessels in relatively exposed conditions in shallow water and the effect of low-frequency (infragravity) waves in particular [7]. Bruun [2, 3] refers to the classic example of the Port of Hadera in Israel, where coal for a power plant is delivered to shore from an open water mooring location (Fig. 1). Many ongoing open port developments and plans, e.g. bulk terminals in Australia, indicate that the concept of an open port has since then remained mostly limited to these specific cargo types.

The development of Yangshan, Shanghai's deep-water container port, can be considered an exceptional situation, in which a fairly open container terminal was constructed by connecting several natural islands, about 30 km off the main coast, via a reclamation. However, nearby islands shelter those container berths from incoming waves. Another recent example is the offshore container terminal of

**Fig. 1** Open water terminal at Hadera, Israel



Mumbai Port (Fig. 2), which is planned to become in operation in 2013. That terminal is in fact a good example of the open terminal concept as discussed in the remainder of this chapter. It has been built in the relatively sheltered waters along the Thane Creek, on the lee side of the Mumbai peninsula. Other similar developments have also focussed on relatively sheltered areas (bays etc.). The most recent example known to the authors of a plan to construct an open water offshore container terminal is near Venice, Italy (Fig. 3), but this scheme still includes large breakwaters to provide shelter from waves. In all, it can be concluded that so far the open port concept, particularly for container terminals and/or in more exposed conditions, has not really caught on.



Fig. 2 Artist impressions of the new offshore container terminal of Mumbai port (Source V. Dudhwadkar)



Fig. 3 Terminal plans of the Port of Venice (Source www.port.venice.it)

Since the time that the open port concept was first suggested (early eighties) the trend of increasing container vessel sizes has continued: from 250–300 m, 4,000 TEU, to around 400 m length, 15,000 TEU. Furthermore, significant developments have been made in innovative types of mooring equipment. Moreover, a clear trend in the last decades is the increased interest in sustainability and the increasingly common requirement for ports to become more 'green'. In our view, these elements justify a renewed consideration of the unsheltered port concept, within a broader frame of reference, combining the benefits of an open port as identified earlier in literature with the increased attention to sustainability of port developments.

In this chapter we put forward the approach of an open nearshore container port for further discussion and consideration. The approach is presented including both the associated benefits, mainly focussing on sustainability, as well as the associated disadvantages, including the several technical challenges that still need to be overcome to ensure that an unsheltered port becomes a realistic design alternative on a regular basis. For the disadvantages we present possible directions in which we foresee that solutions could be found to overcome those limitations.

When the suggested approach proves to be feasible, then that would mean that new (nearshore) port designs will become less invasive, with reduced impacts on the surrounding (coastal) areas. Furthermore, such an open port situation could be designed such that less sedimentation occurs compared to more confined port layouts, which could lead to a reduction in dredging efforts (and associated fuel usage and plume dispersion) and less issues of accumulating pollutants. These types of advantages indicate that the alternative port design considered here could form a more sustainable option compared to traditional port design approaches.

#### **Rationale Behind the Open Water Port Concept**

Historically, ports started inside naturally sheltered locations along rivers or inside bays and estuaries. With increasing vessel sizes, ports moved towards deeper water along the coast. Often such locations did not provide sufficient shelter from waves and breakwaters were erected to provide calm conditions artificially. Several recent port extensions/developments go a step further and involve large land reclamations that protrude into sea, in which the basins are surrounded by the newly reclaimed land. This ensures that the required depths can be provided at reasonable costs and efforts. Furthermore, the reclaimed land facilitates the quay-side operations very efficiently. Examples are the port developments in Dubai, such as Port Jebel Ali [9], and the large Maasvlakte 2 harbour extension of the Port of Rotterdam (see e.g. [5]). In those cases sheltering is provided by breakwaters and/or the (closed) outer contour of the surrounding land area.

At other locations in the world developments on such a large scale might not be feasible because of technical, ecological, and/or economical reasons. In search of even larger depths for increasingly larger (container) vessels, with lengths of about 400 m and draughts around 14.5 m, a logical next step would be to move out to open sea and develop berthing facilities there.

An open nearshore container terminal could be a basic detached reclamation behind which vessels are moored. Because of their large dimensions, it will be possible to (off)load container vessels in quite severe wave conditions, also without providing sheltering via additional large (breakwater) structures. The less confined geometry compared to traditional designs of port basins might even help reduce seiching in basins, particularly when low-frequency (infragravity) waves are present, which are well known for causing excessive motions of moored vessels (see e.g. [6, 13]).

The reclamation can be aligned with the dominant physical coastal processes as much as possible, particularly tidal currents and sediment transports. This will ensure that alongshore morphological processes are impacted as little as possible. Furthermore, the open port layout could be designed such that sedimentation can be kept to a minimum, possibly even up to the point where the tidal conditions ensure that settling sediments during slack tide are flushed out of the manoeuvring areas during other tidal stages. Also the influence on ecology could be minimised in this way, because the natural migration paths of sea animals are hindered as little as possible.

An open water port could require less building efforts than a traditional port design, although it will involve constructing a connection to shore. Such a connection could be a train bridge connection, or a road deck on piles (Fig. 2). That will involve additional costs compared to a traditional port design, which might (partly) counteract the savings of omitting breakwaters. Although of high relevance for the general feasibility of port planning, these economic aspects of an open water port are not the main topic of the present chapter. Here we discuss technical aspects of the open nearshore port design, limitations and benefits, the latter with a focus on sustainability aspects.

In order to have a sustainable development of a port, a port design should include a direction of growth which is aimed at meeting the present requirements while at the same time preserving the environment so that these needs can be met not only in the present, but also for future generations. This implies that future developments, although difficult to foresee completely, should also be considered in the initial port master plan as much as possible. An additional benefit of the nearshore open port design is that fewer complications are foreseen in terms of future port extension compared to the traditional port located inland. Although marine spatial planning is an issue, more directions of freedom for port expansion are available offshore, automatically resulting in less conflicting functions. This makes the open port design more 'future proof', allowing flexible adaptations to future developments.

#### **Limitations and Mitigation**

# Identification of Most Critical Limitations

It is realistic to note that a number of technical challenges still need to be overcome in order for the open nearshore port to become a common and equivalent alternative to the traditional way of port designing. The main challenge for a design approach based on an open water port will be to keep the downtime of a container terminal at an acceptable level, i.e. comparable to terminals in traditional, sheltered ports. This can be achieved via different means, either by limiting the response of the vessel to waves or by adapting container cranes to deal with increased motions of the vessel. These aspects are considered in detail below. Other challenges include the transport of containers between the offshore terminal and the mainland, which should be possible under a wide range of wind conditions. In addition, the structure connecting the terminal to the mainland needs to be able to withstand severe wave conditions. Those elements are not considered further here, but do need to be taken into account when developing an open offshore port.

# Mitigation via Reduction of Vessel Motion Response

Recently, PIANC published updated guidelines for maximum allowable motions of moored container vessels for efficient (off)loading [10]. They conclude that for large container vessels the requirements for surge motions are particularly critical because present-day container cranes cannot follow that motion efficiently. The working group report states that when surge motions are kept within prescribed limits, movements in other degrees of freedom are expected to be within acceptable limits as well.

In recent years innovative mooring systems have been developed that show potential to be very efficient at keeping vessels constrained at the berth, particularly for surge motions. A method where magnets are used to hold the ship at the quay has been developed at Delft University of Technology by Fiktorie [8]. Another new mooring technique is the Moormaster<sup>TM</sup> unit, which uses vacuum pads to keep the vessel at the berth. Performance analyses of such units showed that ship (surge) motions for a given sea state can be reduced significantly using such techniques (see e.g. [6]). A third system has recently been developed by the Boatmen Association in the Port of Rotterdam. This technique is called Shoretension (see http://www.shoretension.com/). It consists of units positioned on the quay (Fig. 4) that ensure that the proper line tensions are maintained, leading to reduced (surge) motions of the moored vessel.

Although each of these systems has its own benefits and limitations, these ongoing developments indicate that on the response side of the vessel there is much to gain in efficiency compared to traditional mooring techniques, even more



Fig. 4 Example of a recent development in mooring techniques: the Shoretension system (*Source* www.shoretension.com)

so than was the case when Bruun [1] first suggested the option of an open, exposed port. The increased capability of reducing the vessel response is expected to be exchangeable for the lower level of sheltering provided by an open port, even for container vessels.

# Mitigation via Increased Container Crane Capabilities

The criteria reported by PIANC [10] have been developed based on the present state of technical developments, taking for example capabilities of twist-lock pins and spreader flaps into account. Nowadays, gantry crane spreaders may also have the capability to compensate for vessel surge motions to some level, but in practice these are not always used to their full extent. This can be related to either the level of experience of a crane operator, to the complexity of the methods, or to the time it takes to apply these methods compared to just wait for the next window of opportunity to place the container on the ship. On the other hand, ongoing innovations by container crane designers and builders are expected to lead to smarter cranes with practical surge compensation capabilities in the future. A somewhat extreme, but very interesting innovation in this field is the recent development by the Office of Naval Research (ONR) of the Large Vessel Interface Lift On/Lift Off (LVI Lo/Lo) Crane (Fig. 5) for ship-to-ship container transfer at sea [11]. This development shows that using information on vessel motions, and enabling the crane to compensate for those motions, will greatly enhance container crane capabilities.

The LVI Lo/Lo system has been developed for ship-to-ship cargo transfer operations in up to Bft 4 sea states. Vessel motions inside a port, even under less sheltered conditions, will be much smaller than at open sea. Therefore port container cranes will probably not require the same level of complexity (and costs). Nevertheless, the operational reliability of such a system in a high throughput



Fig. 5 The large vessel interface lift on/lift off (LVI Lo/Lo) crane for ship-to-ship container transfer at sea (*Source* ONR, USA)

situation inside a port will require ample attention. Overall, it is expected that even when only specific elements of elaborate crane innovations are adopted for container gantry cranes that the capabilities of those cranes will already be greatly enhanced, further contributing to the feasibility of an open nearshore port design.

# Benefits, with Focus on Sustainability

# Coastal (Morphology) Processes in a Traditional Port Design

The main sustainability benefit of an open port design will be the smaller impact on coastal (morphology) processes. In this section first coastal processes and related impacts are considered for a traditional port design including breakwaters, before discussing the advantages that the open port design could provide (Coastal (Morphology) Processes in an Open Port Approach). These advantages will mainly be related to reducing or avoiding the coastal impacts associated with those traditional port designs.

No severe erosion or sedimentation will occur as long as a coastal system is stable. In case of sandy coastlines, wave and current conditions generate longshore sediment transport along the coast. The magnitude of this transport spatially differs in cross-shore direction, which is determined by the local hydrodynamic conditions. In general these hydrodynamic conditions are dominated by the nearshore wave climate. The magnitude of the longshore transport has its maximum in the surf zone, i.e. the area between the breaker line and the coastline, and reduces further offshore (Fig. 6). The sediment transport will be proportional to the current velocity.

The longshore sediment transport will be blocked when reclamations and/or breakwaters are constructed and therefore this can significantly affect the coastal stability. This will result in accretion at the updrift side of the port and in erosion at the leeward side of those structures.

The process of accretion will move the coastline, actually the whole cross-shore profile, in offshore direction until sediment is no longer completely trapped by the updrift breakwater. From that moment on a part of the longshore sediment will move around the tip of the breakwater and enter the navigation channel and port basins. Depending on the local hydrodynamics and bearing capacity of the port basins and navigation channel, the sediment can become trapped inside the port.



Fig. 6 Wave driven longshore current, most dominant in the surf zone

Fig. 7 Port of IJmuiden, sediment transport is directed in northern direction (i.e. towards the *top left* of the image). Accretion occurs at the south side of the breakwaters (*Source* RWS)



Fig. 8 Port of Carrara, Italy (*Source* Google Earth). Sediment transport is directed in south-eastern direction. Sand accumulation occurs at the north-western side of the port. The groins on the eastern, downdrift side of the port cover the area with erosion problems



The examples of these types of coastal problems are numerous. A classical example is the Port of IJmuiden, The Netherlands can be seen in Fig. 7. When reaching this point in coastal development, the nautical depth of the navigational channel can no longer be guaranteed as well as the depth of the port basins. Maintenance dredging costs may increase significantly. Not only maintaining the nautical depth is a problem, in terms of costs, energy or hindrance to navigation activities, also the dredged material itself can form an issue. The dredged material could be contaminated and require special storage or specific cleaning methods.

Erosion will occur at the downdrift side. An example is the coastal impact of the Port of Carrara, Italy, which is shown in Fig. 8. In response to the construction of the port, the coastal area southeast of the port started to show erosion. A series of coastal protection schemes were constructed in order to maintain the initial coastline position. Most often, hard coastal structures, here a combination of groins and detached breakwaters, are designed to maintain the position of the coastline. However, this automatically results in a shift of erosion further downdrift. The extent of this shift is limited only by locations where the natural local longshore sediment transport is reduced to zero or alters its direction. The example in Fig. 8 shows that the extent of the coastal impacts of a traditional port design can easily be a number of times larger than the horizontal dimensions of the port itself.

A possible solution to overcome the negative effect of blocking longshore sediment transport due to a port is to apply a sand bypass system. Such a system involves the installation of pumping stations at the updrift side of the port breakwaters, where the accretion occurs. The pumped sand is placed at the downdrift side of the port. Such a system aims at preventing sediment from being transported towards the entrance channel and the port basins and additionally, erosion is prevented at the downdrift side of the port. In order to be efficient, the pumps will have to be operational on a daily basis, like at the Nerang River entrance in Queensland, Australia, where the sand bypassing system is operational since 1986. Operating such a system will have a number of drawbacks. The first issue is the environmental impact of bringing sediment into suspension at the disposal area. Secondly, a large amount of energy is required for the pump systems on a daily basis. Another option is to regularly apply coastal sand nourishments in eroding areas. A drawback of such an approach is that it can have an adverse effect on the marine environment and particularly on the benthic communities (bottom-dwelling sea life). Dredging is widely considered as an activity that is stressful to the environment and many studies have described its impacts (see e.g. [14]). In some countries this has resulted in policies that restrict dredging operations. As there is a strong relation between the local sea bed characteristics and the associated faunal community, changes in the geomorphological structure and hydrodynamic conditions due to dredging and nourishment activities are expected to result over time and in space in adaptations in the faunal composition. A result could be the alteration of the marine species diversity and of the productivity of an area, including commercial fish species.

It is obvious that none of the presented mitigating measures for coastal stability result in a truly sustainable strategy and this speaks for considering alternative port designs.

#### Coastal (Morphology) Processes in an Open Port Approach

Following the understanding that the longshore sediment transport is most significant in the nearshore zone, the location of a port design further offshore in open and deeper waters avoids blocking the longshore sediment transport and therefore reduces accretion and erosion issues associated with traditional port designs. This requires an 'open' structure as connection to the mainland, like a jetty. In that way the longshore currents and the related longshore sediment transport remain largely undisturbed. To achieve such a situation, the reclamation needs to be located seaward of the surf zone, i.e. beyond the region with the highest sediment transport rates (Fig. 5). This requires that the reclamation is constructed at a distance from shore of at least several hundreds of meters, depending on the local average wave and tidal conditions.

The construction of the reclamation for the port infrastructure will to some extent influence the local wave conditions. This means that also in an open port design approach the coastline will be influenced. This might result in e.g. the initial stages of salient formation. Nevertheless, the coastal impact of an open port design is expected to be minor compared to the accretion and erosion that could be caused by port breakwaters.

In addition to coastal impacts, sedimentation of the harbour basins can be a major concern when considering maintenance costs as well as environmental impacts. The dredged material will have to be disposed at an appropriate dump location. This either offshore, or in case of contaminated sediment, at a special confined disposal facility. The advantage of the proposed open port design is that the use of relative large water depths offshore and the local current conditions could result in much less or possibly no dredging activities of the port basins. This not only limits the dredging during the construction phase but also for the following operational (maintenance) phase of the port basins.

# **Discussion and Outlook**

Most of the separate elements and viewpoints presented here are not new on their own. However, social developments like increased focus on sustainability combined with technical innovations in the last decade, e.g. on advanced mooring techniques, mean that the combination of these elements merits renewed consideration within a larger framework. Therefore the open-water port concept is presented here as a starting point for further discussion and consideration. Particularly the benefits on sustainability and minimisation of (coastal) impacts should form important incentives to elaborate on the option of open port layouts for future port developments.

We suggest altering the design approach that is most commonly applied nowadays. Instead of a priori assuming that a fully tranquil basin is required and designing a port to match that criterion, we propose to start with reviewing the level of shelter that is required and continue from there. This requires that all parties involved should come together early in the design, including future terminal managers/users, to set up an overall port layout plan that is a balance between providing wave sheltering and measures to limit or mitigate the response of a vessel. Only in that way the benefits of an open nearshore port design can be used to its fullest potential.

The same applies for the coastal impacts of a scheme, which are often studied when the port design is almost fully completed and the resulting coastal impacts are seen as given, almost unavoidable, side effects. By first studying the local coastal system, including morphological processes, the port design can be made such that it takes those processes into account from the start and could even make use of them.

Although not the focus of the present chapter, it is relevant to mention that developing the open port concept for container terminals is expected to also involve adapting the business cases for such terminals. This will include the (re)distribution of costs, e.g. will the port bear the investment costs of the advanced mooring facilities and/or can the lower construction costs of the port geometry result in lower lease fees for terminal operators? Only in that way ports based on this alternative design approach can compete with ports that offer traditional mooring facilities.

In the end we expect that full acceptance of an open port approach will take a number of successful pilot projects by port developers that see the long term benefits of this alternative design approach and are willing and able to take up this challenge.

# References

- 1. Bruun P (1981) Breakwater or mooring system? In: The dock and harbour authority, vol XLII, No. 730, Sept 1981, pp 126–129
- 2. Bruun P (1990) Port engineering, 4th edn. Gulf Publishing Company, Houston
- Bruun P (1992) Marine terminal technology. In: Herbich JB (ed) Handbook of coastal and ocean engineering, vol. 3—Harbors, navigational channels, estuaries, environmental effects. Gulf Publishing Company, Houston
- 4. Burdall AC, Williamson HJ (1991) A green port: an engineer's view. In: Ports into the next century, proceedings of the conference UK ports 2000, Hull, 17–18 Oct 1990
- Clijncke A (2010) Maasvlakte 2: development of the masterplan, paper no. 107, PIANC MMX Congress, Liverpool UK, May 2010
- 6. De Bont J, van der Molen W, van der Lem J, Ligteringen H, Mühlestein D, Howie M (2010) Calculations of the motions of a ship moored with Moormaster<sup>™</sup> units, paper no. 82, PIANC MMX Congress, Liverpool UK, May 2010
- De Jong MPC, Borsboom MJA, Dekker J (2009) Calculation of low-frequency waves in shallow water and comparison to common practice in diffraction methods. In: ASME 28th international conference on ocean, offshore and arctic engineering, OMAE2009-79401, 31 May–05 June 2009, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA
- Fiktorie EHG (2002) (Off)loading without mooring lines (in Dutch, originally: Laden & lossen zonder trossen), MSc. Thesis, Delft University and Ingenieursbureau Gemeentewerken Rotterdam
- Padron DV, Itriago J, Al Abbar A (2007) Master plan for expansion of Jebel Ali port. In: Ports 2007: 30 Years of sharing ideas...1977–2007, proceedings of the eleventh Triennial international conference, ASCE conference proceedings. doi:10.1061/40834(238)6
- PIANC (2012) Criteria for the (un)loading of container vessels, report of MarCom Working Group 52, Report no 115, 2012, ISBN 978-2- 87223-195-9
- 11. Quadvlieg FHHA, Hallmann R, Hughes G, Harris DH (2011) Using dynamic positioning for side-by-side cargo transfer operations. In: 2nd International conference on ship manoeuvring in shallow and confined water: ship to ship interaction, Trontheim, 2011
- 12. Tsinker GP (2004) Port engineering: planning, construction, maintenance, and security. Wiley, Hoboken
- 13. Van der Molen W, Monárdez Santander P, van Dongeren AR (2004) Modeling of infragravity waves and moored ship motions in Tomakomai Port. In: Harbor long wave conference 2004, Yokosuka, Japan
- 14. Van Dalfsen JA, Essink K (2001) Benthic community response to sand dredging and shoreface nourishment in Dutch coastal waters. Senckenbergiana Maritime 31(2):329–332

# **Role of Flexibility in Sustainable Port Development**

Poonam Taneja, Tiedo Vellinga and Robin Ros

**Abstract** Sustainability has become a high profile objective in all aspects of our lives, including the development of our infrastructures. Flexibility can enhance sustainability endeavors, yet its contribution is not clear to most. In this chapter, authors investigate the role of flexibility in sustainable port development in order to promote its incorporation in port projects. We establish that the greatest payoffs from flexibility are achieved through initiating new life cycle for a capital-intensive port infrastructure, though reuse of the elements and materials also contributes to flexibility. Reuse concurrently optimizes use of natural resources, limits waste and pollution in the environment, conserves energy, and thus limits the overall negative ecological impact. It also results in significantly lowers lifecycle costs. Thus, flexibility helps achieve (long-term) financial viability in face of economic uncertainty, while reducing environmental and social impacts. Therefore, flexibility considerations are important during design, procurement, and contracting of engineering projects. The best way to redirect the choice of decision-makers towards flexibility is to make visible its long-term benefits, and its contribution to sustainability. We discuss some evaluation methods and propose that the quantitative methods are more likely make a case for flexibility.

**Keywords** Flexibility • Sustainability • Sustainable port development • Reusability • Long-term planning

P. Taneja (🖂)

Poonam Taneja, Delft University of Technology, Faculty of Civil Engineering, P.O. Box 5048, 2600 GA Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: p.taneja@tudelft.nl

P. Taneja · T. Vellinga · R. Ros Delft University of Technology, Faculty of Civil Engineering, P.O. Box 5015, 2600 GA Delft, The Netherlands

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_4, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

# Introduction

The global concerns over availability of natural resources, the growing pollution, global warming, climate change, and an increasing awareness are the major drivers for sustainability in the modern world today. It is believed that sustainability represents a multi-dimensional way to improve the quality of life for everyone. Sustainable development touches all aspects of our lives including the places we work and live, the natural recreational pleasures we enjoy and the natural resources that support all life. Much attention is being devoted to how the practice of sustainable development, in contrast to the traditional linear approaches to decision-making, could be helpful in evaluating policy choices or business decisions [1, 2].

Sustainable development of infrastructures, which are the skeleton of our economy, is also a focus of considerable attention. The decision-makers involved in infrastructure projects must select among different project and project alternatives, which, in varying degrees, contribute to sustainability. Till recently, the evaluation has mostly been based on an economic criteria but nowadays various sustainability criteria are being included in the process. Many claim that flexibility in infrastructures enhances sustainability attributes through addressing uncertainty [3, 4]. Though flexibility is often among the selection criteria during project evaluation, it is not assigned a significant weight, mainly because its contribution to sustainability is not clear to most.

In this chapter, authors investigate the role of flexibility in sustainable port development. Our objective is to promote its incorporation during design and planning of port infrastructures. We think that by making clear its contribution in enhancing sustainability endeavors, we can redirect the choice of planners and decision-makers towards flexibility.

Our research approach is to first investigate what sustainability and flexibility represent in the context of ports. Next, we seek a link to flexibility—what dimensions of sustainability does it influence and in what manner? Finally we ask ourselves how we can direct the focus towards flexibility in practice, i.e., during design, procurement, and contracting of civil engineering projects.

#### Sustainable Port Development

#### **Port Development Project**

Infrastructures represent the basic services and facilities necessary for an economy to function [5]. Port infrastructures are an essential component of the international trade and goods movement. Currently, a global increase in trade and cargo throughput, overlapping port hinterlands and increasing competition, combined with the ageing and inadequate infrastructure in most ports worldwide, are driving forces for new port investments.

A port development project can mean an entirely new port, or an expansion and upgrading of the existing facilities. The Chairman of American Association of Port Authorities notes [6]: "Ports hold a unique role in transportation, logistics and infrastructure development. Sustainability involves the simultaneous pursuit of economic prosperity, environmental quality and social responsibility. Ports recognize that their activities may impact environment and natural resources and that they have responsibilities as members of communities in which they operate."

Any development project has economic, environmental, and social impacts. A port development project can involve reclaiming land (thereby disturbing the ecosystem) or sometime even causing displacement of the urban population. The vessel traffic and development activities translate into air quality, water quality, and noise issues; environmental management issues; and often accessibility issues for the adjacent areas. One can see why 'sustainable' and 'development' are seen to be oxymorons. Another contradiction is that while principles of sustainability advocate production close to centers of consumption, this results in reduced transport and international trade, on which ports (and related economies) are dependent. Having said this, we will attempt to operationalize the concept of sustainability and the idea it promotes.

#### Sustainable Development

Sustainable development of infrastructures requires that carrying out activities that offer economic benefits in the present, may not negatively affecting social and environmental choices that are available to people in the future. Ports contribute to economic benefits through cargo handling, and produce additional indirect benefits in the form of trade enhancement, second order increases in production volumes, and collateral increases in trade-related services, and to the social dimension of sustainability through lowered transportation costs and job creation [7]. Sustainable development of port includes *designing, building, and operating* port infrastructures in ways that does not diminish the social, economic, and ecological processes required to maintain human equity, diversity, and the functionality of natural systems.<sup>1</sup> The three aspects are discussed here.

The planning and design of new port infrastructures, or the adaptation and reuse of existing infrastructure, should be consistent with the principles of urban sustainability and global sustainable development. This encompasses the following considerations (as we will see later flexibility contributes directly to most of these):

- an efficient (intensive) use of space
- · efficient use of resources and increased productivity of assets
- attention for accessibility of the port

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www.civ.utoronto.ca/sir/default.htm.

- minimizing energy consumption
- greater consideration of cost recovery of port infrastructure investments
- reducing lifecycle costs (the taxpayers money can be put to alternative uses)
- designing infrastructure and its elements for reuse, e.g., recyclable, maintainable
- material selection for sustainability e.g., quality, durability and energy conservation
- as far as possible future-proof (with regard to technological developments, global climate change, sea level rise etc.).

Sustainability during construction and operations generally means measures related to resource and energy efficiency during material selection and construction, as well as consideration during selection of equipment, logistic concepts, and operations. It involves monitoring air and water quality, implementing mitigating actions, ensuring health, safety and security, and efficient use of resources (water, space etc.). In the long run, the ultimate desire is to achieve a situation whereby the ports operations become environmentally self-servicing and responsible [8].

# **Flexibility in Port Development**

# **Defining Flexibility**

Sustainability and flexibility are multi-dimensional concepts and various definitions exist in literature. They have an inherent relationship to each other as well as with the concepts of risk and uncertainty. Moses [9] in his framing paper over 'Foundational issues in Engineering systems' explores the relationship between robustness, uncertainty, flexibility, safety, and sustainability. Dovers and Handmer [10] study the relationship between sustainability, risk, and uncertainty. In order to investigate the relationship between sustainability and flexibility, we first examine some definitions.

Sanchez and Wilmsmeijer [11] define flexibility, in generic terms, as the ability of a system or organization to change or react with little penalty in time, effort, cost, or performance. Bettis and Hitt [12] define flexibility as the ability to rapidly sense the change in the environment, conceptualize a response to that change, and reconfigure resources to execute that change. According to Dovers [13], sustainability is the ability of a human, natural or mixed system to withstand or adapt to endogenous or exogenous change indefinitely. Sustainable development is therefore a pathway of deliberate change and improvement which maintains or enhances this attribute of the system, while answering the needs of the present population.

Thus while both definitions refer to system change in response to external forces, sustainability adds new dimensions by mentioning 'future' and 'long-term'. Flexibility implies 'long term' through its reference to uncertainty. Both refer to

resource utilization. Flexibility enables functionality under uncertain conditions and emerging requirements while sustainability adds economic, social and environmental dimensions to the system.

# **Flexibility Attributes and Sustainability**

Scholtes [14]: The most important uncertainty management concept for large projects is that of flexibility. Managers should integrate flexible reaction capacity in the project, so that new schemes can be developed during the course of the project if a wholly unforeseeable event occurs. Predicting the uncertain future is difficult, but to the extent one can use past events as a guide to designing flexible alternatives or options into a system, the cost of adapting to similar events in the future will be greatly reduced [9].

The word flexibility in the context of ports can have many associations, e.g., flexible port layout, flexible infrastructures, flexible operations, flexible management, etc. We discuss here, how each of these aspects contributes to sustainability. In each case, the goal of flexibility is the same—to reduce vulnerability and cope with uncertainty.

- Flexible infrastructures conjure up the images of mobile, upgradable, downgradable, modular, multi-functional, multi-user structures. What is common to all of these is the ability to adapt, i.e. be remodelled to meet changing demands.
- A flexible Master Plan layout permits reconfiguration of a space for a new or changed use.
- Flexible operations can refer to flexible use of resources (labour, equipment, etc.) and flexible operating procedures, in response to changing scale or type of operations.
- A flexible management is willing to alter its approach in response to unanticipated change with regards to planning, decision-making, policies, and actions.

A flexible layout allows future expansion, and permits re-configuration without expensive modifications. Flexibility in infrastructure helps to prolong the useful lifetime of an infrastructure through allowing adaptation and thus promoting reusability. Reuse concurrently optimizes use of natural resources, limits waste and pollution in the environment, thereby reducing the overall ecological impact. It also results in significantly lowers lifecycle costs (despite the costs associated with incorporation of flexibility and subsequent adaptations) and conserves energy resources. The savings can be invested in improving social equity or the environment. In this manner flexibility helps achieve (long-term) financial viability in face of economic uncertainty, while reducing environmental and social impacts. A sustainable product is often referred to as a product whose economic benefits that outweigh its tangible and intangible costs so as to provide financial capital for continued development [3]—as we have seen, flexibility makes this possible.

The greatest payoffs are achieved through the reuse of the capital intensive infrastructure whereby a new life cycle is initiated. This type of reuse is the highest form of waste reduction. However, reuse as components or raw materials integrates the structure into a life cycle of another structure and also contributes to sustainability. Recovery from products to obtain raw materials or reusable components is an important means of reducing disposal volume and cost while contributing to environmental sustainability.

It is useful to note here that attributes such as interoperability, interchangeability, compatibility, scalability, evolvability, and mobility facilitate adaptation and reuse. In addition, maintainability and durability promote reuse of an infrastructure. A structure that is easy to dismantle or assemble facilitates reuse of its elements. Recyclability promotes reuse of material. Flexibility is often aimed at improving efficiency, productivity, and reducing engineering effort and costs. These contribute to sustainability endeavours as well. Even though adaptation incurs costs, a payoff occurs in the form of lowered ecological impact. Greden [3] suggests that a flexible design will have a different risk-reward profile than an inflexible system, and thus may be more attractive to investors. Flexible designs will help to advance sustainability goals by specifically addressing future uncertainty at the design stage.

While flexible designs create many benefits in the system, flexible (uncertainty absorbing contracts) with the terminal operators and contractors, reduce the future risk for a Port Authority. Flexible utilization of resources during operation, sometimes geared to changing scales (in response to change in demand) and at other times to changing cargo, serves to intensify use of resources, thereby contributing to sustainability. An adaptive management willing to periodically re-examine its assumptions, and adopt new strategies and procedures in the face of new developments, can steer a firm to cope with change. Flexibility during decision-making allows time for uncertainty to clear up.

To sum up in words of Greden [3]: Flexibility's contribution to sustainability goals lies in reducing waste and/or positioning a product/design/or system with sustainability benefits to hedge financial risk and, on the upside, to take advantage of evolving opportunities.

#### Flexibility and Sustainability as a Design Approach

The traditional approaches and frameworks tend to emphasize near term solutions to infrastructure planning, which means that there is inadequate attention for sustainability [15]. Flexibility, on the other hand requires a holistic, long-term systems approach. Through aspiring for flexibility, we include a long-term perspective, which automatically encompasses uncertainty considerations and embraces issues that might be important in the future. Designing for flexibility fundamentally embodies a life cycle approach to design, whereby life cycle costs and long-term performance have to be considered. This also applies to sustainability that needs a

systems approach: accepting and designing approaches that suit the axiomatic proposition that the sustainability problem is a whole-system problem [10].

Designing for flexibility and sustainability requires that projects and decisions be made with the long term benefits in mind. It requires that environmental and social impacts of the proposed outcome or result be a part of the decision-making process. Flexibility and sustainability considerations are required at the beginning of a project. For instance, the cost of recycling and disposability can be significantly affected by decisions related to materials and designs. They require a systematic approach to the integrated design that considers from the very outset all elements of the product life cycle, from conception to disposal, including cost, schedule, quality and user requirements.

According to Greden [3], flexibility, as a design goal and operational mandate, can make a major impact on the sustainable attributes of an infrastructure. Applying her definition of a sustainable product, a sustainable port exhibits a positive economic, environmental, health, and safety performance record, thereby providing people and the earth, including all of its ecosystems and life forms, with the capacity to thrive in future generations.

#### **Opting for Flexibility and Sustainability**

# **Standard Practices**

A port project goes through various stages: preliminary design, feasibility study, detailed design, tendering and construction, exploitation, and adaptation or decay. Evaluation and selection takes place at the feasibility stage and the tender stage.

Feasibility stage: Engineers from various disciplines carry out the technical design, and a business case is set up to examine the financial viability of a project. The Net Present Value and the Internal Rate of Return are the most commonly used financial criteria. Uncertainty is only reflected in a higher discount factor or a shorter payback time. It seems self-evident, in present times, to take uncertainty, flexibility and sustainability aspects related to a port into account during the evaluation. This is however not standard practice, and can lead to misguided decisions. Worthwhile projects may not pass the (financial) feasibility criteria for screening projects and result in missed opportunities for the port, along with lost benefits for the society [16].

In the present practice, the indirect and societal impacts of a port development project are stated separately in the business case, while remaining outside the profitability calculations. This involves a risk that societal impacts are represented less prominently than financial items so that the business case is not balanced. In marginal cases, an attempt is made to include the societal costs and benefits in a port development business case. But it is difficult to justify this to the port management, as it does not form a part of the standard procedure of project evaluation. As a result, the commercial criterion mostly governs. Tender stage: Next, the selected alternative is put on the market in a tender in order to select a contractor to carry out the construction. The selection is based on the EMVI criteria<sup>2</sup> (or the lowest bid). But an evaluation based purely on costs, and the constraint on the tenderer not to offer alternative designs but base his bid on a reference design, does not propagate innovation. In an alternative method, the landlord port authority sets out a design and construct contract, where the total bid including the design and the construction has to be evaluated. The decision is based on the cost of the project, and not on its value. The added value of an innovative flexible concept is to increase utilization, productivity and consequently increase income and minimize risks. This cannot be revealed through a cost estimation.

People, Planet and Profit are used to succinctly describe the triple bottom lines and the goal of sustainability. How to include the people, profit and planet criteria in such an evaluation procedures, is a challenge for all.

# Incorporating Flexibility Criteria in Evaluation

In this section, we discuss how sustainability is implemented in the tendering procedure for infrastructural projects, and examine how we can best implement flexibility.

Sustainability has become a high profile objective. Decision-makers in governments and businesses must choose among different project alternatives which, in varying degrees, contribute to sustainability. They also have to account for their choices to a large audience or a broad range of stakeholders [17]. The organisation for economic cooperation and development (OECD) has drawn up recommendations for corporate social responsibility, which includes principles and standards of good practice consistent with applicable laws for multinational enterprises.<sup>3</sup>

Sustainability criteria being considered during evaluation are: the extent of occupied space, reduced land value due to division of land, additional traffic generated due to the construction, deterioration of existing nature, emissions in air and in surface and ground water, nature compensation measures, creation of nature-friendly banks and slopes, implementation of an environmental management system, attention for energy demand, measures concerning disposal of waste materials, measures against noise during demolition, construction and operations, reuse of material, attention for ecological constraints, e.g. amount of earth filling, soil quality etc. In the Netherlands, the 5 % rule (or social return agreement) is applicable whereby 5 % of the building sum is set towards employing long time unemployed or trainees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Economisch meest voordelige inschrijving.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.oecdguidelines.nl/guidelines/general-humanrights/.

Flexibility in decision-making, design and operations, enhances the value of a project, but cannot be included in the project evaluation with standard methods. Though efficient use of space and reuse of material are among the many evaluation criteria, flexibility in its highest form (reuse of infrastructure) is not included. Its contribution to sustainability is not clear to most, i.e., what does flexibility cost and what value will it create for the system?

Not only are the (positive) economic impacts of reusability difficult to estimate, the benefits of reduced environmental impacts are also difficult to quantify. The multi-dimensional nature of flexibility, and the likelihood that the flexibility may not be utilized and therefore result in a waste of resources, adds to the problem. Flexible innovative concepts carry with them considerable risks which are difficult to foresee. So how we can redirect the decision-makers to opt for innovative flexible solutions over the numerous alternatives?

The lack of suitable analytical and evaluation techniques has been a barrier against investments in flexibility in the past. New techniques have evolved, but their use is not widespread due to their black-box approach. We need to find ways to make visible and transparent the long-term benefits of flexibility such as optimum use of resources, lower lifecycle costs, better long-term performance, and minimization or compensation of negative environmental impacts. In case of a traditional tendering procedure this needs to be done at the feasibility stage, while in case of a design and construct contract, this is possible during the tender evaluation.

In this chapter, the authors limit themselves to investigating how we can include reuse or an extended economic lifetime in our evaluation.

#### Some Plausible Methods

#### Method 1: A Variation on the Traditional Approach

This is a variation on the traditional method which combines a qualitative and quantitative approach. The NPV is evaluated based on the tangible costs and benefits for each alternative. The intangible costs and benefits for each alternative are also listed. Flexibility criteria related to reuse can be added to this, and a qualitative evaluation carried out for each alternative. The criteria follow from the Delftse Ladder [18]. These can be assigned weights based on expert opinion and included in the evaluation. This method can be applied at the feasibility stage, or at the tender stage, using costs instead of revenues.

- Is the infrastructure reusable for another use without adaptation (is it robust against increased loads, bigger ships, another function)?
- If yes, how long (5–10 years, 10–15 years, 15–20 years)?
- Is the infrastructure reusable for another function with adaptation?
- If yes, how long (5–10 years, 10–15 years, 15–20 years)?

- What will the adaptation cost (as a percentage of capital costs: 0–10, 10–20, 20–30 %)?
- Are there reusable elements/components?
- Is the structure modular?
- Are the elements easy to dismantle, transport, and assemble?
- Are there reusable/recyclable materials?

The last two are the most commonly applied sustainability criteria. The many uncertain parameters and the qualitative nature of the method means that the evaluation is subjective. Therefore a fair comparison of alternatives may be specially difficult if the alternatives are similar. Willcocks [19] suggests that managers should enter alternative estimates of intangible benefits (e.g. minimum and maximum values) into the NPV model to explore the project's sensitivity to the delivery of these intangibles. Another shortcoming is that it is impossible to link the synthesized rating to business plans or to cash flow projections [20].

#### Method 2: Use of Scenarios

In this method, the port owner or Authority defines the technical lifetime of the infrastructure (say 50 or 100 years) and sketches a discrete number of alternative scenarios. Each scenario encompasses functional requirements for the infrastructure, a period of use, and the expected throughput. A design is made corresponding to each scenario and its NPV calculated. In this way, a range of NPV's is obtained which provides more information for decision support. These scenarios are merely plausible descriptions of the future, and the results are indicative, but adequate for the purpose of comparing alternatives. A range of NPV's also provides an indication of the risk and the selection will depend on the risk attitude of the manager. If most of the design parameters are a given, the flexibility in design (robust, upgradable, multifunctional, multi-user infrastructure) will be reflected in the NPV values. Many oppose the use of scenarios as being guess work.

#### Method 3: Expected Value Method

This is a variation of Method 2. A stochastic business case is set up at the feasibility stage. It can vary all uncertain inputs (future costs, revenues, and timing of investments) simultaneously, and is of great value in infrastructure planning and appraisal. It can also capture the complicated nature of contractual arrangements and payment mechanisms, incorporate the probability of an increase in throughput and include available flexible options in a project. It results in a range and distribution of the possible NPV outcomes and the likelihood of their occurrence. A probabilistic estimation of risks for all the projects in the portfolio provides an organization with a more realistic risk map that can influence their risk attitude, and allow them to timely steer their policies.

#### Discussion

Methods 2 and 3 can both be applied to take into account the flexibility attributes of an infrastructure [21, 22].

None of the above methods include indirect, i.e. social and environmental benefits of reuse. More research is required in order to monetize these in order to come up with a comprehensive evaluation model.

#### Conclusions

A global increase in trade, increasing competition, and inadequate infrastructure are the driving forces for new port investments worldwide. Ports recognize that their activities impact environment and natural resources, and seek a balanced approach for sustainable development. Sustainability has become a high profile objective. Flexibility can play a role in enhancing sustainability, yet its contribution is not clear to most. In this chapter we investigate the role of flexibility in sustainable port development in order to promote its incorporation in port infrastructures.

The greatest payoffs from flexibility are achieved through initiating new life cycle for a capital intensive port infrastructure, and to a lesser extent through reuse of elements and materials. Reuse concurrently optimizes use of natural resources, limits waste and pollution in the environment, conserves energy, and reduces limits overall ecological impact. It also results in significantly lowers lifecycle costs (despite the costs associated with incorporation of flexibility and subsequent adaptations). Thus flexibility helps achieve long-term financial viability in face of economic uncertainty, while helping environmental and social problems. We need to focus on flexibility in practice, i.e., during design, procurement, and contracting of civil engineering projects.

That flexibility may or may not be utilized in the future, acts as a big deterrent while making the decision to incorporate it. In order redirect the choice of decision-makers towards flexibility, the best way is to make visible the long-term benefits and thus its contribution to sustainability. We discuss three plausible methods which can include the costs and benefits of reuse during evaluation. (Reuse is facilitated by the flexibility attributes in a system, such as multi-functionality, scalability, modularity, and mobility, etc. which means added costs). We think that the quantitative methods are more likely make a case for flexibility. More research is required in order to monetize the other indirect and direct impacts of flexibility, to come up with a comprehensive evaluation model.

Acknowledgments This research is carried out within the framework of Port Research Centre Rotterdam-Delft and Next Generation Infrastructures.

# References

- 1. Flint RW (2010) Symbolism of sustainability: means of operationalizing the concept, synesis. J Sci Technol Ethics Policy 1(1):T25–T37
- 2. Willard B (2002) The sustainability advantage: seven business case benefits of a triple bottom line (Conscientious Commerce). New Society Publishers, British Columbia
- 3. Greden LV (2005) Flexibility in building design: a real options approach and methodology to address risk. Phd Thesis, Massachusetts institute of Technology (MIT)
- de Neufville R (2006) Valuing options by spreadsheet: parking garage case example. ASCE J Infrastruct Syst 12(2):107–111
- 5. Sullivan A, Sheffrin SM (2003) Economics: principles in action, vol 07458. Pearson Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, p 474
- 6. Hinds AA (2008) Sustainability—an imperative for the port and maritime industries, AAPA port sustainability task force. Doing well by doing good: ports and the sustainability challenge. AAPA port finance seminar, 10–12 June 2008
- World Bank and IBRD (2007) Port reform toolkit: effective support for policymakers and practitioners (2nd edn). Available http://www.ppiaf.org/documents/toolkits/Portoolkit/. Accessed 1 Apr 2008
- 8. Transnet (2010) Port sustainability and environmental challenge: a South African perspective. In: The 1st eastern and southern ports environmental mangers working conference, 20–22 Sept 2010, Mombasa, Kenya
- 9. Moses J (2004) Foundational issues in engineering systems: a framing paper. Available http://esd.mit.edu/symposium/pdfs/monograph/framing.pdf. accessed on 1 Apr 2008
- Dovers SR, Handmer JW (1992) Uncertainty, sustainability and change. Glob Environ Change. Available http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0959378092900448. Accessed 1 Apr 2012
- 11. Sanchez RJ, Wilmsmeier G (2005) Short sea shipping in Central America to bridge infrastructural gaps. Marit Policy Manage 32(3):227
- 12. Bettis RA, Hitt MA (1995) The new competitive landscape. Strateg Manag J 16:7-19
- Dovers S (1991) Diverse and resilient approaches to sustainable development. In: Harding R (ed) Proceedings. Ecopolitics V Conference, Sydney, 4–7 Apr 1991, University of New South Wales, Sydney, pp 225–232
- 14. Scholtes S (2007) Flexibility: the secret to transforming risk into opportunities. Bus Dig 174:6
- 15. Cutcher-Gershenfield JF, Field F, Hall R, Kirchain R, Marks D, Oye K, Sussman J (2004) Sustainability as an organizing design principle for large-scale engineering systems. Paper presented at the MIT Engineering Systems Symposium, 29–31 Mar 2004. MIT, Cambridge, Mass. Available http://esd.mit.edu/symposium/monograph, Accessed 1 Apr 2008
- 16. Taneja P, Aartsen ME, Annema JA, Ligteringen H (2010) Investment appraisal for sustainable ports. In: Proceedings of 3e international conference on next generation infrastructure systems for eco-cities, 11–13 Nov 2010
- 17. Sijtsma FJ (2006) Project evaluation, sustainability and accountability: combining costbenefit analysis (CBA) and multi-criteria analysis (MCA). PhD thesis, Rijksuniversiteit Groningen, The Netherlands
- van den Dobbelsteen A, Alberts K (2001) Milieueffecten van bouwmaterialen: duurzaam omgaan met grondstoffen. Available http://www.wegwijzerduurzaambouwen.be/pdf/174.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2009
- 19. Willcocks L (1994) Information management: the evaluation of information systems investments. Chapman & Hall, London
- Milis K, Snoeck M, Haesen R (2009) Evaluation of the applicability of investment appraisal techniques for assessing the business value of IS services. Available https:// lirias.kuleuven.be/handle/123456789/247210. Accessed 1 Apr 2009

- 21. Ros R (2011) Flexible Infrastructures for Maasvlakte 2. MSc thesis, Delft University of Technology
- 22. Taneja P, van Turnhout B, Aartsen ME (2011) Infrastructure planning under uncertainty. In: Proceedings of the 4e international conference on next generation infrastructure systems for eco-cities, 16–18 Nov 2011, Norfolk, USA

# Part II Asset Management

# An Integrated Approach to Strategic Asset Management

Kerry Brown, Martin Laue, Javier Tafur, Muhammad Nateque Mahmood, Pascal Scherrer and Robyn Keast

Abstract This chapter focuses on identifying and analysing the elements of Strategic Management for infrastructure and engineering assets and asks: what are the considerations and implications for adopting and implementing an integrated strategic asset management framework? We contend that corporate governance, policy, objectives and strategy as well as interagency collaboration should be considered as elements in a 'staged approach' to understanding how assets are managed within organisations. This will allow for a more comprehensive framework for engineering asset management that considers social and contextual elements. Asset governance details the policies and processes needed to acquire, utilise, maintain and account for an organisation's assets. It stems from corporate governance principles and defines the management context in which engineering asset management is implemented. This will be examined to determine the appropriate relationship between organisational strategic management and strategic asset management to further the theoretical engagement with the maturity of strategy, policy and governance for infrastructure and engineered assets. The chapter draws on a document analysis of corporate reports and policy recommendations in terms of infrastructure

K. Brown (🖂) · M. N. Mahmood · P. Scherrer

- School of Tourism and Hospitality Management, Southern Cross University,
- School of Business, Gold Coast Campus, Locked Mail Bag 4 Coolangatta,
- Gold Coast, QLD 4225, Australia

e-mail: kerry.brown@scu.edu.au

M. Laue · M. N. Mahmood Cooperative Research Centre for Infrastructure and Engineering Asset Management (CIEAM), Level 7, O Block, QUT Gardens Point campus, 2 George Street, Brisbane, QLD 4000, Australia

J. Tafur

R. Keast

Department of Industrial Engineering and Business Administration, Universidad Politecnica de Madrid, Av Ramiro de Maeztu, 7 28040 Madrid, Spain

School of Business, Southern Cross University, Gold Coast Campus, Locked Bag 4, Coolangatta, Gold Coast, QLD 4225, Australia

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_5, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

and engineered assets. The chapter concludes that incorporating an integrated asset management framework can promote a more robust conceptualisation of public assets and how they combine to provide a comprehensive system of service outcomes.

**Keywords** Integrated strategic asset management • Service delivery planning • Knowledge management • Organisational management

# Introduction

Managing assets has become more complex and demanding than ever before due to increasing resource scarcity, degrading environment, climate change, and Humphrey [1], asset management is based on three main pillars: management, engineering and information, which together form a foundation for efficient and/or sustainable use. The degree of functionality of any asset is dependent on how well it is planned, designed, operated, maintained, and disposed in the context of these three core areas. As a counter to these challenging tasks, instead of managing assets through a whole-of-life cycle approach by individual agencies/organisations, there has been a shift towards a more integrated or collective approach involving multi-agencies/organisations. Such an approach allows organisations to access additional knowledge, expertise and resources to create collaborative advantage. This approach is not business as usual and necessarily requires a shift in the way in which infrastructure projects are developed, delivered and managed. Therefore, in this chapter, authors developed a more comprehensive framework for asset management in order to fit in a multi-agency environment, new contextual considerations and contemporary approaches to managing built assets.

#### New Issues in Asset Management

Previous asset management models while useful in their context are no longer sufficient or adequate to meet the changing nature and challenges of contemporary society. This chapter incorporates and extends a previous framework for asset management [2–4]. Drawn from (literature and workshops) a number of additional elements which are contended to be important for inclusion to be considered:

*Environmental*: Greater appreciation of the interaction between built assets and the natural environment.

*Sustainability*: Ensures that the social, economic and environmental needs of a community are met and kept healthy for future generations [5].

*Resilience*: Increased emphasis on the asset, environment and the community to respond to and recover from external impacts.

*Whole of life asset management*: Requires that decisions and actions across the entire lifecycle of the asset from design to disposal be considered.

*Increased community demands:* information and communication technology (ICT) advances have led to higher citizen expectations for immediate and localised services. Closer alignment of policies, resources and projects will deliver better quality, more efficient and timely built assets.

Information management: Information needs and capabilities are more demanding and complex.

*Expanded governance arrangements*: Assets are now owned, governed and operated by an expanded set of decision-makers. Alongside conventional governance forms, there is now an array of hybrid models such as public–private partnerships, alliance and relational contracts. More innovative and variable governance approaches are required for these different models to manage the unique risks and opportunities associated with them.

#### **Integrated Strategic Asset Management Framework**

The following framework pulls together the expanded elements and reflects the increasingly complex and interconnected processes which government and its agencies need to take into account when delivering services. The framework demonstrates that ISAM as shown in Fig. 1, is cumulative and each component is interdependent.

A logical progression through each component is required for maximum service delivery outcomes. Whilst this ISAM framework focuses on the public sector, it is equally applicable to any organisation or sector. The development of the ISAM framework is based on the current literature review including journals, conference papers and reports from different government and private organisations, and also from opinions/feedback of experts in the field of asset management. The following sections provide details regarding parts of the proposed framework.

# **Environmental Factors**

This section provides additional information related to environmental factors affecting asset management, in particular it focuses on risk management and sustainability management.

Risks arise as a result of two main areas: a limited, or lack of, knowledge, experience or information and uncertainty (particularly about the future); or as a result of relationship changes between the parties involved in an undertaking [4]. The aim of Risk Management is to achieve more reliable planning, greater financial certainty and improved decision making and management outcomes. Risk Management should be applied on all governmental (Government and



Fig. 1 Integrated strategic asset management framework

Agency) and organisational (Strategic Management and Asset Management) levels. It provides planners and managers with a structured way of identifying and analysing potential risks, and assists in devising and implementing appropriate strategies to help mitigate risks, considering their likely impact. Strategies can include risk prevention, risk transfer, impact mitigation or risk acceptance. A range of strategies can be used within a single project for a number of anticipated individual risks.

Sustainability Management is the ability to meet present needs without limiting the ability of future generations to meet their own needs [6]. Sustainability Management has a significant impact on policy development and strategy considerations. As a result it is vital that private and public organisations take Sustainability Management issues into consideration when developing policies and strategies. A core concept in Sustainability Management is the notion that there is interdependency between human communities and economies—in other words the way in which humans manage the environment is linked with the level of community cohesion and its economic performance.

#### Community Needs and Expectations

This section outlines Community Needs and Expectations. In particular, it provides a framework for understanding the requirements of the community and suggests that a range of stakeholder engagement strategies may assist Asset Managers in effective stakeholder management practices.

In the context of public sector, Asset Management 'demand' refers to community and government needs and expectations. It also encompasses the ambitions and aspirations of other sectional groups. As the driving force for supply, community/government needs and expectations, and sectional groups' aspirations and ambitions are all key inputs into the Asset Management process [4].

However, demand can outstrip supply in the case of government services often as a result of limited financial resources. In consequence, managing demand is critical to ensure priorities are appropriately identified and met so as to ensure maximum community benefit. Demand Management helps to achieve this; in essence it involves active intervention in the market to influence demand for services, including assets [2].

Stakeholder Management is the process of interpreting the expectations of external and internal individuals or groups, who have an interest in asset management activities or will be effected by its outputs and the process of interacting with them. The objective of Stakeholder Management is the creation of a positive relationship with different stakeholders and comprises stakeholder identification, stakeholder classification, strategy development, stakeholder engagement, and of the maintenance of relationships [7].

# Whole-of-Government Policy Framework

Limited resources mean governments have to exercise sound financial, social and environmental management and make prudent decisions to best prioritise services to meet community needs and expectations. This service delivery approach is achieved through a whole-of-government model, which is comprised of legislation, policies, plans, service delivery strategies and standards, capital and recurrent budgets and, government institutions; and partnerships including with working groups, community based organisations and private providers. This framework is designed to guide a coherent service intervention model and assist effective and accountable service delivery across all levels of government as well as within the private and community sectors.

## **Organisational Strategic Management**

Organisational Strategic Management gives effect to whole-of-government policy through service delivery. The organisation is responsible for delivering the service; therefore it needs to determine how this should occur and what is required. Organisational Strategic Management involves an understanding of governance, corporate policy, corporate objectives, corporate strategy and interagency collaboration. Asset Management Strategic Planning should be aligned with and stem from the Organisational Strategic Management objectives to ensure smooth and effective management of company's assets and service delivery. The main components of organisational strategic management are Governance, Corporate Policy, Vision and Vision Statement, Mission and Mission Statement and Values.

*Governance:* Alles et al. [8] define governance as "the laws, policies, and procedures that ensure organisations run in the interest of owners and resources are allocated, managed, and redeployed to maximize productivity and value". Governance helps to determine the correct management processes, organisational structures and incentives are employed to ensure managerial attitudes and behaviours align with key stakeholder interests [9] as well as to determine the appropriate reporting and disclosures that ensure transparency and accountability [10]. For this ISAM framework, the Governance can also be specified as Corporate Governance.

The framework by which companies are directed and managed is referred to as Corporate Governance. Corporate Governance encompasses how an organisation's objectives are set and realised, how risk is monitored and measured, and how its performance is optimised. Good corporate governance encourages organisations to create value through innovation, entrepreneurism, development and exploration; provides accountability; and ensures there are control systems in place appropriate to the level of risk. A subset of corporate governance, Asset Governance details the policies and processes needed to acquire, utilise, maintain and account for an organisation's assets. As such, asset governance can be considered to be an asset management approach that encompasses asset ownership and the management of distributed systems in a competitive and deregulated market [11-15].

Asset governance advocates transparent and accountable asset management policies. It outlines aims to define principles to manage assets effectively in distributed networks, a context where the development, stewardship and operation of assets may be open to competition [16]. Central to good asset governance is the clear definition and differentiation of roles and responsibilities, particularly those of the asset owner, asset governor and service providers. As such, asset governance provides for a micro level mechanism to manage the separation of powers in asset management that typifies network management [17], and facilitates effective asset management in a distributed system. Regulatory compliance, supply business satisfaction, risk-based, data supported, continuous improvement, pragmatic, and income maximisation and generation are all key asset governance principles.

Asset governance stems from the organisation's overarching corporate governance principles; as a result it defines the management context in which engineering asset management is implemented [18].

*Corporate Policy:* To constitute the fundamental purpose of an organisation, its intentions and ideals for a future direction, it is necessary to develop and state a Vision, a Mission and organisational Values (summarised in the Corporate Policy). These factors are needed within an organisation to have a common goal, in which the employees can believe, and to which they can work towards. These factors are also needed to inform the public about the organisation's goals and intentions.

Vision and Vision Statement: The Vision encapsulates an organisation's future direction and business constitution and describes an ideal to be strived. It acts as a guide for what the organisation is striving to achieve and become. A strategic Vision focuses on the organisation's future [19]. The Vision is formalised and documented in the Vision Statement. Many organisations today develop a Vision Statement that answers the question "What do we want to become?" [20]. Whereas the focus of the Corporate Vision is on the future direction, the organisation's Mission tends to focus on the present, answering "What is our business and what are we trying to accomplish on behalf of our customers?" [19]. It comprises the organisation's reason for existence, its fundamental purpose and includes its character and values [21].

*Mission and Mission Statement:* The Mission is formalised and documented in the Mission Statement. The Mission Statement encompasses the organisation's activities and current business constitution [19] answering "What is our business?" [21].

*Values:* Underpinning business activities are an organisation's values—guidelines that regulate the behaviour of staff and management as they endeavour to achieve the organisation's Vision [21]. The organisation's values can be assessed based on the Corporate Objectives, Corporate Strategy and Interagency Collaboartion. Corporate Objectives are developed by organisations in order to articulate what the organisation hopes to achieve in the future. They act as a guide for all organisational activities and projects in order to ensure the organisation's longterm success and viability, and must be flexible in order to respond to the internal and external environment. Corporate Objectives are a culmination of a range of strategic analyses and are derived from the organisation's mission, capabilities and resources; PEST and SWOT analyses; community demands; government objectives; and desired outcomes.

According to Viljoen and Dann [21], "Corporate Strategy refers to the management of the entire organisation and concerns how the Mission is activated to achieve the Corporate Objectives". In particular, Corporate Strategy encapsulates how an organisation's activities align with its mission and values to ensure its long-term prosperity. Strategies are future-focused, requiring top management decisions and organisational resources. Strategies affect the long-term prosperity of an organisation and are multi-functional and multi-divisional, and must take into account the internal and external environment. Given their impact, choosing appropriate strategies is critical and all options should be carefully identified and considered before a preferred option is chosen [20]. In developing Corporate Strategy, risk management should be applied in order to ensure that corporate objectives are met, risk consequences do not adversely impact any stakeholders and the best strategic planning strategies are chosen [4].

Interagency collaboration involves representatives from various agencies coming together to identify and work toward a common goal. Collaboration is defined as "...a process to reach goals that cannot be achieved acting singly (or, at a minimum, cannot be reached as efficiently). As a process, collaboration is a means to an end, not an end in itself" [22]. During interagency collaboration, problems and solutions are shared across agencies with the common method for achieving set objectives being consensus building using an action-planning format. Another characteristic of interagency collaboration is the merging of resources including funding sources, training and personnel, as well as program philosophy [23]. In order to achieve the intended group outcome, group members agree to disagree in order to focus on the collaboration target at hand.

#### Service Delivery Strategic Planning

Service delivery is indicated by the Level of Service (LOS) provided by an asset. A Service Delivery Strategy translates the broad aims of an organisation into specific service outcomes. It clearly outlines the plans to deliver services and the overall strategy that will be adopted to satisfy community needs and obtain value for money. There are multiple vehicles to deliver a service, ranging from non-asset solutions including contracted services supplied by external parties, the re-use of existing assets to the provision of a new asset. Service delivery strategic planning can be described under the following three headings.
Asset Management Policy: An Asset Management Policy is the translation of the Corporate Strategy for the process area of Asset Management; as such it is based on the Corporate Policy and Corporate Objectives. It has to be consistent with the Government Policy Framework and the Government Objectives, and has to help to satisfy the Community Demands. An Asset Management Policy is the overall basis of all Asset Management decisions and activities and, like the Corporate Policy, it includes a Vision and a Vision Statement, a Mission and a Mission Statement, and Principles for the area of Asset Management.

Asset Management Objectives: Asset Management Objectives are indicators for the implementation of the Asset Management Policy and the achievement of the Asset Management Strategy. They are derived from the Government Objectives and Corporate Objectives and on a functional level they can relate to the required performance or condition of an asset. Asset Management Objectives should detail how each objective will be measured over a period of time in order to evaluate the organisation's performance—without this, objectives will only be a 'wish list'. According to Viljoen and Dann [21] objectives should include: the attribute to be measured (e.g. share of market, or customers/clients serviced), the scale on which the attribute is to be measured, referred to as a 'yard stick' (e.g. percentage points), a goal (level of the attribute desired), a specified period of time to achieve the goal.

Asset Management Strategy: The Asset Management Strategy (Agency's Service Delivery Strategy) follows the specifications of the Asset Management Policy and sets out activities, which help to achieve the Asset Management Objectives. In essence it also supports the Corporate Strategy and the achievement of the Corporate Objectives. How an agency's Asset Management responds to Community Demands is guided by the Asset Management Strategy which outlines the development of an asset portfolio, risk management strategies and asset performance measures. According to the New South Wales Treasury [4], the Asset Management Strategy identifies any requirements needed ('gaps') to support services and outlines the organisation's response to these by identifying appropriate acquisitions (planned capital investment), maintenance and disposal (such as replacement and/or upgrading).

#### Service Delivery Tactical and Operational Planning

Service Delivery Tactical and Operational Planning are also known as Asset Management Planning, which specifies how assets have to be managed to fulfil the Asset Management Strategy to achieve the Asset Management Objectives. In order to do so, Asset Management Plans set out a framework for an organisation to allocate appropriate resources and make strategic decisions to support service delivery through the whole asset management life cycle. Asset Management Plans should be comprised of four plans (acquisition plan, operations plan, maintenance plan and disposal plan) and they are described as follows: Acquisition Plan: An Acquisition Plan is the primary document outlining the acquisition of all major assets. It also links program delivery needs to the required assets. The Asset Management Strategy facilitates asset acquisition decisions, while business plans are used to consider various alternatives such as non-asset solutions and the use of other assets within the existing asset portfolio.

There are a number of ways to acquire assets: purchasing, construction, development, finance lease. For significant acquisitions, (those that are complex and/or involve significant cost), detailed plans are prepared. These plans can include: a statement of need and acquisition rationale, staff roles and responsibilities required to manage the acquisition, required acquisition activities such as contract management and other technical, legislative and management considerations, timeframes and the key decision points throughout the acquisition plan, capital outflows amounts and timing, anticipated life-cycle *costs, monitoring and other control processes to ensure the intended acquisition outcome* [24].

*Operations Plan:* The operational aspects of an asset based on its life-cycle are detailed in the Operations Plan. Operations Plans detail the program and asset manager roles and responsibilities, and assign responsibility for asset performance and life-cycle cost accounting including: asset performance measures, asset condition, physical security and safeguarding, depreciation, finance costs, operating costs for example energy and cleaning costs, specialist staff costs required to operate an asset, operational training costs, maintenance costs, major disposal costs for example, make good, demolition or restoration [24, 25].

*Maintenance Plan:* Research shows that poor maintenance can result in a loss of functionality; a shorter than anticipated useful life; reduced utilisation; or even result in a threat to human safety or a breach in legislative requirements. As such it is a critical function in the overall life-cycle of an asset [24]. Maintenance has a dual purpose: refurbishment (restoring an asset to a required benchmark enabling its useful life) and enhancement (increasing an asset's service potential). Maintenance planning is key—particularly for major maintenance activities requiring critical assets to be taken off-line. Maintenance involves a range of activities and can be broken down into planned and unplanned operations and recurrent maintenance, and major and minor capital works.

*Disposal Plan:* The Disposal Plan leads into the planning process for new or replacement assets and is a useful management tool in assessing why assets may not have performed as intended. As such it should be an integrated part of the Asset Management Strategy. A number of reasons for disposing an asset can be identified including: end of useful life; surplus to requirements; under-utilised; not fit for purpose; unserviceable; the need for the service provided by the asset has disappeared; does not meet legislative requirements. The Australian National Audit Office [24] identifies a number of considerations when planning significant asset disposal: rationale for disposal, the proper costing and evaluation of disposal alternatives, engagement of experts to assist in professional valuation and disposal, due diligence reviews to ensure there is sufficient transparency and accountability for asset disposals including compliance with legislative requirements, proper approval authority, both within and outside the entity where required.

#### Service Delivery

Service delivery comprises the actual provision and maintenance of services, in accordance with the strategic and tactical plans, and the operational management. Service delivery activities would generally comprise the creation, maintenance, renewal/upgrading and disposal of the assets but may also include operational activities. For example a building comprising an aquatic centre would require ongoing expenditure on maintenance and upgrade of facilities as well as expenditure on operating activities such as staff, chemicals and utilities. For optimal service delivery clear assignment of responsibility and accountability should be established for each asset and its related operations. This includes the identification of assets, the capture of information and the assessment of performance against the agreed level of service.

#### Evaluation

Evaluation is the measuring, reporting and reviewing of asset performance against asset management, organisational and government objectives. Contemporary evaluation now incorporates not only the evaluation of the asset but also the evaluation of the impact of the asset on the environment and society. The following information is provided in relation to the Evaluation function: Asset Performance Measurement, Review, Audit and Report.

Asset Performance Measurement: In addition to ensuring that an organisation's actions, objectives and strategies align, "the goal of a performance measurement system is to communicate and implement strategy" [26]. As a result, performance measurement systems and frameworks need to reflect efforts to measure how activities and processes: contribute separately and jointly to meet Asset Management and Corporate Objectives; link operations to strategic goals; ensure a customer focus; drive future activities and needs; and enhance performance [27]. Performance measurement should provide meaningful measures of activities, processes and achievements as well as facilitate stakeholder feedback [28]. Asset Performance Management identifies and registers all assets required to deliver the stated service and determines how effectively and efficiently these assets support the service requirements. A number of performance measures exist to assess asset performance: Financial Performance, Function, Utilisation and Physical [29].

Many asset owner organisations now adopt Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to measure performance, identifying what the organisation sets out to achieve in terms of service levels and sets KPIs for those services. Recording and analysing KPIs significantly contributes to achieving Corporate and Asset Management Objectives. In essence, KPIs identify how well services are provided, and how much time is taken to address and correct performance gaps between intended and actual performance. As defined by AAMCoG [29], "Key Performance Indicators

are those critical performance measures which ultimately determine assets serviceability and stakeholder value" and can be: process-based (e.g. statutory compliance), activity-based (e.g. dollars spent) and, outcome-based (e.g. goals achieved, service success).

KPIs are particularly useful when they link to policy concerns or outcomes. KPIs fall into a number of categories, such as: quantitative (the amount of a product or service), qualitative (structured perceptions or structured feedback), cost efficiency (the unit cost of achieving a specified amount of service), cost effectiveness (the unit cost of achieving a specified amount of service to a designated level of quality), timeliness/responsiveness (the time taken to perform a service, or the number of transactions or products within a time cycle), and work team productivity (the output of a workforce unit or group) [30].

*Management Reporting:* Reports can be distinguished by progress reports, benefit reports, and financial reports. Regular progress reports should be provided to senior agency decision-makers, Ministers and Cabinet, covering: important milestones, including whether delivery is proceeding on time and meeting budget; whether project start-up was achieved in line with the endorsed costs and schedule; any serious emerging problems that are likely to affect service benefits articulated in the business case, and for which support for potential responses may be needed (such as additional maintenance to address unexpectedly high usage rates, or negative variations in the performance of contractors) [3].

Benefit reports inform future decision-making, strategic asset investment planning, business case development, and Asset Management and are required as part of an agency's senior decision maker's Asset Management responsibilities. The Benefit Report should be provided at appropriate intervals throughout a major asset's life-cycle and should: clearly state the extent to which value for money from the asset is being achieved compared to the predicted results, highlight any lessons learned to be later incorporated into planning for similar assets, or in business cases relating to the asset later in its life (e.g. to clarify whether an asset should be refurbished or should be subject to disposal). After disposal, senior decision makers should be advised on the total value for money and service delivery benefits gained from the investment.

Financial reporting (also referred to as 'close the books') is the process of reconciling, consolidating and generating financial reports/statements periodically to meet regulatory requirements and the information needs of internal and external stakeholders [31, 32]. According to the Australian National Audit Office [31] financial reporting activity can include: ensuring validity and consistency in the organisation's charts of accounts;, completing journal entries; consolidating data from outlying business units; running trial balances; correcting errors; reconciling and analysing accounts; calculating taxes; preparing and distributing reports; supervising closing tasks; and reviewing key accounts and reports.

*Review:* As outlined by the Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management [33], reviews allow organisations to adopt a strategic view of: performance in relation to service levels; operation, maintenance and renewals;

future demands/flows; and other factors impacting on its future service levels and standards; and whether the strategies, actions and financial projections are optimal.

There are two categories of reviews: Post Implementation Review (assesses how well the project outcomes aligned with the actual needs the project aimed to meet) and Post Completion Review (a method of systematically and rigorously comparing actual project performance with the original project objectives). Reviews are normally carried out internally by the service provider; however external consultants may be employed. Regardless of whether the review is carried out internally or by an external contractor, key service provider personnel, such as field staff, must be involved in the review process. Reviews should be seen as a predecessor to regular audits.

*Audit:* "An audit is a systematic, independent and documented process for obtaining evidence and evaluating it objectively to determine the extent to which the audit criteria, the standards and obligations in a service provider's policies, procedures or requirements, have been fulfilled" [4]. Audits form part of the regulatory framework, verifying that service provider information is accurate and reliable. Audits also provide evidence to customers and stakeholders that services comply with regulatory requirements. In addition to benefiting the agency, audits also benefit service providers, identifying improvement opportunities and providing incentives to achieve compliance.

The auditing process relies on a number of key principles to ensure that relevant and appropriate conclusions are reached. They also enable independent auditors to reach similar conclusions in similar circumstances. These principles ensure audits provide effective and reliable support to management policies and controls, by providing information on which an organisation can assess and act upon to improve service performance.

#### Knowledge Management

This section focuses on knowledge management practices, which can assist in increasing asset productivity. In particular, it provides valuable insights related to the development and maintenance of asset information repositories, such as asset registers and offers suggestions for improving the acquisition, sharing and integration of tacit knowledge. Knowledge management is a systemic and organisationally specified process for acquiring, organising, and communicating both tacit and explicit knowledge so that others can use that knowledge to become more effective and productive [34, 35]. According to Leng and Stepherdson [36], there are different benefits of Knowledge Management as Table 1 shows.

One way to ensure effective, asset related, knowledge management is through the application of data and information management systems, which have become essential for most business operations, providing quality and timely data for decision makers. Information systems now cover a range of Asset Management

Benefits of knowledge	Description of benefits							
management								
Effectiveness	Better access to expertise and past learning experiences can lead to improved decision making							
Responsiveness	An integrated knowledge of customers' preferences and needs can improve an organisation's responses							
Efficiency	The reuse and transfer of knowledge can enhance the productivity of knowledge workers							
Flexibility	Knowledge enables organisations to be more flexible and responsive to rapid changes in the market as a result of better insights on customer and competitor trends							
Innovation	Knowledge assists in the successful designing of new products, services and processes faster and with greater frequency							

Table 1 Benefits associated with knowledge management

areas such as asset registration; process scheduling and control; materials, maintenance, risk, reliability, and safety management; and condition monitoring [37].

Asset Registers house information relating to various aspects of an asset portfolio, allowing it to be cross-referenced and retrieved as needed. Assets that have service potential and/or the capacity to provide economic benefits through their use in service delivery should be recorded in an asset register. Asset Registers come in many forms and can be electronic (e.g. computer) or paper-based (e.g. card file). Data can relate to one or more categories including: service delivery functions; physical properties; technical data; financial information (e.g. asset valuation and expenditure); property title details, key operational data, maintenance data and, performance records. Asset Registers should be integrated into the agency's management information system. While agencies have different needs a consistent approach can be adopted.

Asset Data Management concerns the capture, management and utilisation (data acquisition, data analysis, and information use) of asset data. The resulting translated data is essential to improve asset reliability, safety, availability, utilisation and an increased return on investment.

#### **Organisational Management**

Organisational management is the process of planning, organising, leading and controlling the efforts of organisation members and resources to achieve organisational goals. From the asset management perspective, organisational management involves support for strategic asset management through effective leadership. It may also involve shaping and auditing organisational competencies and skills, adopting change management strategies, and promoting asset management culture to ensure optimal asset management outcomes.

*Leadership:* Leadership quality directly impacts the successful implementation of any Corporate or Asset Management Strategy. Leadership involves supervising activities, giving orders and motivating subordinates in a way that meets the corporate and asset management objectives. These leadership functions can be classified as one of three main management functions: planning, organising and leading. The main activities as identified by Luffman et al. [38] are: planning (investing, evaluating, decision-making and controlling); organising (organising the structure, staffing, communicating, co-ordinating, negotiating, representing); and leading (supervising, giving orders and motivating).

A Strategic Asset Manager is responsible for a range of activities carried out over an asset's life-cycle, including: planning, designing, developing, operating, maintaining, rehabilitating, retiring and disposing different types of physical assets technically and economically, as well as in a socially responsible and sustainable way. They must consider the short- and long-term life-cycle to satisfy the needs of not only today's generations but future generations and focus on the bigger picture as well as more micro operational issues.

*Change Management:* In a change management context, change is a broad occurrence involving the growth and/or development of one or more public service elements, such as: service design; organisational structure; organisational culture; the management or administration of the organisation; and the skills needed to manage and deliver the service. Planned change management involves systematically scanning the environment and determining ways in which an organisation must adapt or change. Planned change involves four stages:

- 1. Setting goals and defining the 'desired future state';
- 2. Diagnosing the present condition in relation to these goals and setting the desired future state;
- 3. Defining the transitional activities and commitments needed to achieve the desired future state; and
- 4. Developing strategies and an action plan to manage the transition and reach the desired future state [39].

To develop effective change strategies, agencies must set clear corporate objectives, adopt appropriate communication strategies and linkages across the agency and possess high-quality leadership and management. According to Osborne and Brown [40], "Emergent change management is the reaction to change that is thrust upon an organisation by changes in its environment that are outside of its control". To respond to emergent change, managers must be enablers of organisational learning, specifically learning and developing by trial and error, and must create an environment where staff can also learn from their experiences.

Organisational Competencies and Skills: Competence refers to the knowledge and skills a person possesses or is required to posses in order to perform a work activity. Organisations need to constantly audit their current skill sets to identify gaps and the resources required. McGeoch et al. [41] stress the importance of asset management related training to ensure qualified personnel, who are clear about their role and accountable for their performance. Within a work context, required knowledge and skills include the areas of: organisation, process, work task and working environment; and can be categorised as professional, social, or methodical competence.

Asset Management Culture: Osborne and Brown [40] defined Organisational Culture as "the shared ideas, customs, assumptions, expectations, traditions, values and understandings that determine the way employees will behave." An organisational ethos that promotes optimal asset management outcomes often requires significant and deliberate cultural change. Pushing cultural boundaries may be necessary to embed a sustainable asset management culture.

#### Conclusion

Integrated strategic asset management has never been more crucial or challenging. Modern societies rely on a well connected system of purposeful and functional assets to maximise their wellbeing. Economic modelling demonstrates that developing and replacing existing and often aging public assets is an increasingly expensive process; drawing on already constrained budgets. Coupled with this economic imperative is a growing appreciation of the importance of embedding a consideration of the sustainability of the environment in which assets are located. Together these elements call for a more holistic conceptualisation of infrastructure and engineering assets and how these different elements combine to provide a comprehensive system of service outcomes. The ISAM framework has been developed from the benchmarks in industry, international best practice and leading edge research.

This chapter explores a contemporary set of practices to assist those responsible for the delivery and management of assets. Rapid advances in knowledge and technologies mean that asset management practice, and therefore this ISAM framework, will be subject to continued evolution and change.

**Acknowledgments** This work was developed within the CRC for Infrastructure and Engineering Asset Management, established and supported under the Australian Government's Cooperative Research Centres Programme. This paper is produced in collaboration with the Australian Asset Management Collaborative Group (AAMCoG).

#### References

- 1. Brown RE, Humphrey G (2005) Asset management for transmission and distribution. IEEE Power Energy Mag 3(3):39–45
- 2. Australian Procurement and Construction Council (2001) Asset Management
- 3. Western Australia Department of Treasury and Finance (2010): Strategic asset management framework—high-level policy
- 4. New South Wales Treasury (2004): Risk management guideline

- 5. Sustainability Victoria (2010) Annual report
- 6. Australian Procurement and Construction Council (2007) Australian and New Zealand government framework for sustainable procurement
- Beach S, Keast R (2010) Governance networks and stakeholders: engaging through salience. In 14th annual conference of the international research society for public management (IRSPMXIV), 7–9 Apr 2010, Bern, Switzerland
- 8. Alles MG, Datar SM, Friedland JH (2005) Governance-linked DO coverage: leveraging the audit committee to manage governance risk. Int J Discl Governance 2:114–129. In: Mardiasmo D, Tywoniak S, Brown K, Burgess K (2008) Asset management and governance—an analysis of fleet management process issues in an asset-intensive organization. In: International conference on infrastructure systems: building networks for a brighter future, 10–12 Nov 2008, Rotterdam, Netherlands
- 9. Jensen MC, Meckling WH (1976) Theory of the firm: managerial behaviour, agency costs, and ownership structure. J Financ Econ 3:305–360
- 10. Dunis C, Miao J (2006) Volatility filters for asset management: an application to managed futures. J Asset Manage 7:179. In: Mardiasmo D, Tywoniak S, Cornish N, Morton K (2001) Asset governance—a radically new way to manage distribution networks in a competitive and deregulated market. In: 16th International conference and exhibition on electricity distribution (CIRED 2001), Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2001
- 11. Bühner R (2000) Governance costs, determinants, and size of corporate headquarters. Schmalenbach Bus Rev: ZFBF 52:160
- Considine M, Lewis JM (2003) Bureaucracy, network, or enterprise? Comparing models of governance in Australia, Britain, the Netherlands, and New Zealand. Public Adm Rev 63:131
- 13. Gomez PY (2004) La gouvernance de l'entreprise. Revue Française de Gestion 30:249
- 14. Narracott M, Bristow A (2001) Corporate governance in Australia. International Financial Law Review, p 35
- 15. Schmidt SL, Brauer M (2006) Strategic Governance: how to assess board effectiveness in guiding strategy execution. Corp Governance: Int Rev 14:13–22
- 16. Kitchen H (2006) A state of Disrepair: how to fix the financing of municipal infrastructure in Canada, Commentary—C.D Howe Institute, p. 0\_1, Dec 2006
- 17. Moore JF (1993) Predators and prey: a new ecology of competition. Harvard Bus Rev 71:75-83
- 18. Mardiasmo D, Tywoniak S, Brown K, Burgess K (2008): Asset management and governance—an analysis of fleet management process issues in an asset-intensive organization. In: International conference on infrastructure systems: building networks for a brighter future, 10–12 Nov 2008, Rotterdam, Netherlands
- Thompson AA, Strickland AJ (1999) Strategic management: concepts and cases, 11th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York
- 20. David FR (2009) Strategic management: concepts and cases, 12th edn. Pearson Education, New Jersey
- 21. Viljoen J, Dann S (2000) Strategic management: planning and implementing successful corporate strategies, 3rd edn. Pearson Education, Australia
- 22. Bruner C (1991) Thinking collaboratively: ten questions and answers to help policy makers improve children's services. Education and Human Services Consortium, Washington, D.C, p 6. In: California Department of Education (2007) Handbook on developing and evaluating interagency collaboration in early childhood special education programs, p 168
- 23. Keast R, Mandell M, Brown K, Woolcock G (2004) Network structures: working differently and changing expectations. Public Adm Rev 64(3):353–361
- 24. Australian National Audit Office (2010): Better practice guide on the strategic and operational management of assets by public sector entities—delivering agreed outcomes through an efficient and optimal asset base
- 25. Tasmania Department of Treasury and Finance (2004) Developing strategic asset management plans

- 26. Kennerley M, Neely A (2003) Measuring Performance in changing business environment. Int J Oper Prod Manage 23(2):213–229. In: Hyland P, Ferrer M, Santa R, Bretherton P (2009) Performance measurement and feedback in a public sector program, In: Soosay C, O'Neill P, Prajogo D (eds) Proceedings of the 7th ANZAM operations, supply chain and services management symposium, 8–10 June, Adelaide, Australia
- 27. Cross KF, Lynch RL (1989) The smart way to define and sustain success. Natl Prod Rev 9(1). In: Hyland P, Ferrer M, Santa R, Bretherton P (2009) Performance measurement and feedback in a public sector program. In: Soosay C, O'Neill P, Prajogo D (eds) Proceedings of the 7th ANZAM operations, supply chain and services management symposium, 8–10 June, Adelaide, Australia
- 28. Hyland P, Ferrer M, Santa R, Bretherton P (2009) Performance measurement and feedback in a public sector program. In: Soosay C, O'Neill P, Prajogo D (eds) Proceedings of the 7th ANZAM operations, supply chain and services management symposium, 8–10 June. Adelaide, Australia
- 29. AAMCoG (2008) Public sector asset performance measurement and reporting, Australian Asst Management Collaborative Group (AAMCoG) and Cooperative Research Centre for Integrated Engineering Asset Management (CIEAM)
- 30. Vial D, Prior M (2003) Use of key performance indicators in the planning and management of public open space. In: Proceedings of PLA conference, Perth. In: Masayna V, Koronios A, Gao J, Gendron M (2007) Data quality and KPIs: a link to be established. In: The 2nd world congress on engineering asset management (EAM) and the 4th international conference on condition monitoring proceedings, Harrogate, United Kingdom, 11–14 June
- 31. Australian National Audit Office (2002) Benchmarking the finance function follow-on report—Benchmarking study
- 32. Department for Victorian Communities (2006) Guidelines for measuring and reporting the condition of road assets
- 33. Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management (2010) Guidelines for the review and regular audit of strategic asset management plans
- 34. Alavi M, Leidner D (2001) Review: knowledge management and knowledge management systems: conceptual foundations and research issues. MIS Q 25(1):107–136
- 35. Love P, Fong P, Irani Z (2005) Management of knowledge in project environments. Elsevier/ Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford
- 36. Leng TK, Shepherdson C (2000) In: James P (2005) Knowledge asset management-the strategic management and knowledge management nexus. DBA thesis, Southern Cross University, Lismore, NSW
- 37. Mathew AD, Ma L, Hargreaves DJ (2008) Understanding data management in asset management: a survey. In Gao J, Lee J, Ni J, Ma L, Mathew J Proceedings world congress for engineering asset management, pp. 1096–1107, Beijing, China
- 38. Luffman G, Lea E, Sanderson S, Kenny B (1996) Strategic management—an analytical introduction, 3rd edn. Blackwell, Oxford
- 39. Beckhard R (1969) organization development—strategies and models. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Reading. In: Osborne SP, Brown K (2005) Managing change and innovation in public service organizations, Routledge
- 40. Osborne SP, Brown K (2005) Managing change and innovation in public service organizations, Routledge
- 41. McGeoch M, Brunetto Y, Brown K (2011) Current issues in strategic asset management, world congress on engineering asset management (WCAEM). Cincinnati, USA

### **Integrated Strategic Asset Management: Frameworks and Dimensions**

Martin Laue, Kerry Brown, Pascal Scherrer and Robyn Keast

Abstract Comprehensive asset management should be embedded in organisations through the temporal, organisational and spatial dimensions. We examine how an integrated approach to asset management might consider the whole range of interrelations and interactions of these dimensions. Asset management should take into account the operational and the strategic management of the asset (time dimension) as well as organisational, technology and information and human factors management (organisational dimension). Furthermore, the inclusion of management topics arising from interaction between assets, stakeholders and clients, ecological environments, industry, and government is critical (spatial dimension). We argue that a strategic standpoint for asset management establishes a framework that includes governance, policy, tactical and operational aspects that are brought into a comprehensive integrated approach. Prior frameworks have identified the various elements that need to be considered. However, they have not addressed their operationalisation and neglected governance and broader contextual factors in building an asset management model. We present an integrated asset management approach to developing a capability maturity model which addresses all three outlined dimensions. To do so it is necessary to define asset management process areas, capability and maturity levels, and capability and maturity indicators for each process area.

M. Laue · K. Brown · P. Scherrer · R. Keast

M. Laue · K. Brown

K. Brown (🖂)

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_6, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

School of Tourism and Hospitality Management, Southern Cross University, School of Business, Southern Cross University, Gold Coast Campus, Locked Mail Bag 4, Coolangatta, Qld 4225, Australia

Cooperative Research Centre for Infrastructure and Engineering Asset Management (CIEAM), Level 7, O Block, QUT Gardens Point Campus, 2 George Street, Brisbane, Qld 4000, Australia

School of Tourism and Hospitality Management, Southern Cross University, PO Box 157, Lismore, NSW 2480, Australia e-mail: kerry.brown@scu.edu.au

#### Keywords Maturity model · Indicators · Operationalisation · Governance

#### Introduction

Effective and efficient asset management should be core business of any organisation with significant infrastructure assets. As such, it is not surprising that a plethora of models have been developed to support organisations in managing their assets and providing a gauge of how well they are so doing. An increasing focus in recent years on monitoring and evaluation and benchmarking has further contributed to the development of maturity models, in attempts to encourage organisations to continually review and improve their management of assets. However, current models exhibit a distinct weakness in that they focus primarily on the operational and technical level and neglect the levels of strategy, policy and governance as well as the social dimensions. In this paper we build on conceptualisation that asset management is embedded in organisations through the temporal, organisational, and spatial dimensions to characterise asset management in a comprehensive way. We describe the findings arising from a research project funded by the Cooperative Research Centre for Integrated Engineering Asset Management (CIEAM) with the aim to develop an integrated asset management capability maturity model. Our research question examines how an integrated approach to asset management might consider the whole range of interrelations and interactions of these dimensions.

#### **Dimensions of Asset Management**

Asset management is 'the process of organising, planning and controlling the acquisition, care, refurbishment, and disposal of infrastructure and engineering assets. It is a systematic, structured process covering the whole life of physical assets' [5]. Based on this definition of asset management we examine the different dimensions in which asset management is embedded to obtain a holistic view. Amadi-Echendu et al. [1] highlight five different dimensions (spatial, time, measurement, statistical, and organisational) to describe the generality of asset management. From our point of view and as outlined in the following sections, the time, organisational, and spatial dimensions are sufficient to characterise asset management in a comprehensive way. Integrated Asset Management then describes the integration of these dimensions, while An Integrated Asset Management Capability Maturity Model will focus on the development of a capability maturity model.

#### The Time Dimension of Asset Management

The first dimension in asset management considered in this research is time. The dimension of time can have two different characteristics. The first characteristic relates to the different stages of the asset lifecycle (acquisition, care, refurbishment, and disposal) as derived from the CIEAM definition of asset management. The second characteristic deals with the planning horizon which is adopted in the asset management process. This research will focus mainly on the latter aspect. The planning horizon in asset management extends from an operational point of view (short term) across a tactical one (middle term) to a strategic perspective (long term). Historically, the focus of asset management has been primarily on operational elements such as maintenance actions. Consequently, attention to a strategic perspective such as policy and governance arrangements that determine, regulate, and facilitate the operational activities has been lacking [11]. Non- or mis-alignment of operational activities with a strategic perspective can lead to sub-optimal asset performance [9]. Thus, it is important to consider both the operational and the strategic perspectives (we merge the tactical and the strategic aspects into the strategic) together. Figure 1 shows the two time dimensions of asset management: (1) strategic asset management and (2) operational asset management.

#### The Organisational Dimension of Asset Management

The second dimension in asset management considered in this research is the organisational dimension. Asset management processes consist of different tasks. CIEAM's definition of asset management, describes the tasks of organising, planning and controlling. Each of these tasks are characterised by their elements:

- an object of the task (in our case the asset);
- an operation of the object (in our case for instance the controlling of the asset);
- an agent;
- work equipment and information; and
- working conditions (based on Hacker [7]).

Fig. 1 Time dimension of asset management

Strategic Asset Management

**Operational Asset Management** 

To achieve comprehensive asset management, the management of *human factors* (agents) and the management of *technology* (work equipment) *and information* need to be considered. These two management areas, expressed by a consistent knowledge base in the field of technology and information management and effective human resource development in the field of human factors management, are probably the most pressing challenges facing asset management [1].

Working conditions consist of elements relating to the themes of workplace, work environment, time, and organisation. The management of these themes relates to higher level organisational processes which can be summarised as *organisational management* and in the context of asset management includes themes like corporate governance and innovation management. As Fig. 2 shows, a holistic asset management approach should consider technological and informational subjects, individual and social issues and organisational topics.

In this way the organisational dimension of asset management includes: (1) technology and information management, (2) human factors management, and (3) organisational management.

#### The Spatial Dimension of Asset Management

The third dimension in asset management we consider is the spatial dimension. This aspect relates to the degree of consideration of environmental factors in the asset management process. This dimension ranges from a perspective which encompasses only management processes relating to the asset itself and the nearest environment such as performance and condition monitoring, to a perspective which includes the broad interaction between the asset and environmental factors. We propose to cluster relevant environmental factors in four groups: (1) stake-holders and clients, (2) ecological environment, (3) industrial sector, and (4) government. Figure 3 indicates the different management themes which arise from the interaction between the asset (management) and these four environmental factor groups.





Fig. 3 Spatial dimension of asset management

The interaction between the asset (management) and environmental factors can be diverse. For example, legislation (environmental factor) may influence asset management at different stages of the asset lifecycle. Assets may also influence environmental factors, such as in the example of sustainability management where the interactions of assets with the ecological system are considered. There are also interactions where the asset management of an organisation influences and gets influenced by the asset management of another organization, such as in the process of collaboration. Thus the spatial dimension of asset management includes: (1) the management of the asset itself and the nearest environment; and (2) the management of the interaction of the asset with environmental factors (stakeholder and demand management, risk and sustainability management, inter-organisational collaboration, and governmental regulatory framework).

#### **Integrated Asset Management**

Integrated asset management not only combines the different dimensions of asset management into a greater whole, but also considers the whole range of interrelations and interactions between these different dimensions. Before we look at an integrated asset management approach, we want to describe the relation of the asset and organisational internal and external factors.

#### The Asset and Organisational Internal and External Factors

The three dimensions of asset management also reflect the relations between the asset and organisational internal and external factors. The time dimension reflects the core of asset management which is described in the spatial dimension as the management of the asset itself and its nearest environment. The organisational dimension reflects internal organisational factors and processes and their interrelations with the asset and also with the organisational external environment. The spatial dimension describes organisational external factors and topics which arise from the interactions with the asset and with the organisational internal environment. The interrelations and interactions of the asset, organisational internal factors, and the organisational external environment are visualised in Fig. 4 which is based on the Human-Technology-Organisation—approach [6].

The Human-Technology-Organisation approach postulates that humans, technology and organisation are interdependent and together influence the task or process (in our case the management of the asset). It is necessary for the integration of asset management to investigate 'heavily in the merger of new technical solutions, management processes and the human factors' [12] and simultaneously and equally address all three factors in the management of the asset.

However, not only the organisational internal factors need to be considered. The organisational external factors should also be addressed. The concept of sustainability management delivers significant insight in these relations. Sustainability management in asset management is the ability to manage assets in such a way to



Fig. 4 The asset and organisational internal and external factors

meet present needs without limiting the ability of future generations to meet their own needs [3].

Based on the concept of the three pillars of sustainability, economic factors (like financial interests of stakeholders) are embedded in the society and can't exist without it. The economy and society (for instance expressed by cultural interest in the conversation of heritage assets) are again constrained by the ecological environment and also cannot exist without them [10]. Therefore holistic asset management has to address organisational external factors as well as organisational internal factors.

#### An Integrated Asset Management Approach

An integrated asset management approach which wants to be comprehensive has to consider the whole range of interrelations and interactions of the time, the organisational and the spatial dimension. It has to address the operational management of the asset as well as the strategic management of the asset. It further has to consider the encompassing organisational management, technology and information management, and human factors management. And finally, it has to include the different management themes which arise from the interaction between the asset, the stakeholders and clients, the ecological environment, the industrial sector and the government. Figure 5 shows the combination of the whole range of all three dimensions of asset management in an integrated asset management approach.



Fig. 5 Integrated asset management

Dimensions	Management areas	Process areas						
Time	Strategic asset management	Asset governance						
	6 6	Asset management policy						
		Asset management strategy						
		Asset management plans						
		Asset performance measurement						
		Management reporting						
		Review, audit						
	Operational asset management	Operational management of planning, design, creation, acquisition						
	C C	Operations management						
		Maintenance management						
		Incident management						
		Facility management						
		Performance and condition monitoring						
		Continual improvement						
		Operational management of renewal, refurbishment, shutdown, disposal						
Organisational	Organisational management	Corporate governance						
C		Corporate policy						
		Corporate strategy						
		strategic management (strategic analysis techniques)						
		Innovation management						
		Financial management (accounting techniques)						
	Technology and information	Data management						
	management	Document management, asset register						
		Information systems						
		Knowledge management						
	Human factors management	Competence management						
		Leadership						
		Communication						
		Organisational culture						
		Change management						
Spatial	Stakeholder and demand	Stakeholder management						
	management	Demand management						
	Risk and sustainability	Risk management						
	management	Sustainability management, social procurement						
	Inter-organisational collaboration	Collaboration (cross-organisation, cross- government)						
		Contract management, private provision						
	Governmental regulatory framework	Government policy framework Legislation						

 Table 1 Process areas of integrated asset management



Fig. 6 Continuous representation of an asset management capability maturity model

#### **Topics of Integrated Asset Management**

The integrated asset management approach was first adopted in a modified version by the Australian Asset Management Collaborative Group (AAMCoG) in the development of the 'Guide to Integrated Strategic Asset Management' [2]. The industry-oriented guide was developed in cooperation with the Cooperative Research Centre for Infrastructure and Engineering Asset Management (CIEAM) and the Australasian Procurement and Construction Council (APCC). The guide is backed by an extensive research document (summarising the relevant bodies of knowledge) with detailed supporting information on the topics of the guide. The guide addresses an important gap in existing asset management models by introducing governance and strategic topics as well as human, social and organisational issues into asset management [8]. Table 1 describes the process areas grouped by management areas and listed against the three dimensions of the integrated asset management approach. These process areas were developed in cooperation with members of AAMCoG, CIEAM and the APCC during the development of the guide.



Fig. 7 Staged representation of an asset management capability maturity model

# An Integrated Asset Management Capability Maturity Model

A capability maturity model is an approach to appraise and improve processes in organisations through the description of an evolutionary path from immature processes to mature processes. Two different representations are used to achieve this; the continuous and the staged representation. The continuous representation uses capability levels to improve processes of an individual process area or a group of process areas. The staged representation uses maturity levels which represent a pre-defined set of process areas and so describe a path for improvement for the entire organisation [4]. The following sections describe the integrated asset

Table 2         Combination of           continuous and staged         continuous	Maturity level	Asset management process area	Capability level to fulfil			
representation	1					
	2	А	2			
		В	2			
	3	С	3			
		D	3			
	4	E	3			
		F	3			
	5	G	3			
		Н	3			

management capability maturity model under development through the CIEAM program 'AMCaMM' (Asset Management Capability Maturity Model).

#### Development of an Asset Management Capability Maturity Model

The first step in the development of a capability maturity model for (integrated) asset management is the definition of asset management process areas. The second step is to define capability and maturity levels. The third step is to define the capability indicators for each capability level for each process area (continuous representation) and the maturity indicators for each process area (staged representation). With the assumption of five capability and five maturity levels, Fig. 6 illustrates the continuous representation of an asset management capability maturity model and Fig. 7 presents the staged representation of an asset management capability maturity model.

To combine the continuous and the staged representation it is necessary to define the capability levels of the process areas of the continuous representation which have to be fulfilled to get to the next maturity level of the staged representation. Table 2 illustrates this relationship.

#### Appearance of an Asset Management Capability Maturity Model

In regard to the first step, the definition of asset management process areas, the areas described in Table 1 provide a basis for further discussions. The segmentation and

Level	Name	Description
1	Performing	The processes are performed in an unscheduled way and are not documented, analysed, standardised, integrated, or optimised
2	Analysing	The purpose of the processes, input and requested output, the necessary workflow and information, other process agents and their roles, and required work equipment are documented and analysed
3	Standardising	Process-elements such as input and output, workflow, information, roles, work equipment, and process conditions are clearly stated and are standardised. These standardised processes provide consistency for all process areas
4	Integrating	The different processes are integrated in an overall approach and comprehensive organisation functions are implemented
5	Optimising	The processes and their elements are continually improved through analysing, standardising, integrating, and optimising

**Table 3** Levels of maturity and capability

classification as well as the suitability for a capability maturity model of the different process areas should be discussed.

In relation to step two, the definition of capability and maturity levels, we examined different capability maturity models, especially in the field of asset management (physical asset management, information technology asset management, information asset management, intellectual asset management, and general management). In these models the levels of the capability and maturity levels range from zero to six. Three models use a range of six levels, 13 models a range of five levels, and three models a range of four levels. As a result, it is proposed to develop a range of five levels as described in Table 3. The definition of capability and maturity indicators will then inform the development of indicators in step three.

In summary, we argue that a strategic standpoint for asset management establishes a framework that includes governance, policy, tactical and operational aspects that are brought into a comprehensive integrated approach. Prior research and frameworks have identified the various elements that need to be considered, however, these models have not addressed how to operationalise the various levels and have neglected governance and broader contextual and social factors in building an asset management model. This research establishes a coherent framework as a possible alternative to start to develop integrated asset management approach we present a possible approach to developing a capability maturity model which addresses all three dimensions. For the further development of such a capability maturity model it is necessary to define asset management process areas, capability and maturity levels, and capability and maturity indicators for each process area.

**Acknowledgments** This work was developed within the CRC for Infrastructure and Engineering Asset Management, established and supported under the Australian Government's Cooperative Research Centres Programme.

#### References

- Amadi-Echendu J, Willett RJ, Brown KA, Lee J, Mathew J, Vyas N, Yang B-S (2007) What is engineering asset management? In: Proceedings 2nd world congress on engineering asset management and the 4th international conference on condition monitoring, Harrogate, United Kingdom, pp 116–129
- 2. Australian Asset Management Collaborative Group (AAMCoG) (2011) Guide to integrated strategic asset management
- 3. Australian Procurement and Construction Council (2007) Australian and New Zealand Government framework for sustainable procurement
- 4. Carnegie Mellon Software Engineering Institute (2006) CMMI for development, version 1.2, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh
- 5. CIEAM (2012) http://www.cieam.com/site/2/about-us. Last accessed on 25 Feb 2012
- 6. Dunckel H (1996) Psychologisch orientierte Systemanalyse im Büro. Hans Huber, Bern
- 7. Hacker W (1995) Arbeitstätigkeitsanalyse—Analyse und Bewertung psychischer Arbeitsanforderungen. Asanger, Heidelberg

- Laue M, Brown KA, Keast R (2011) Strategic and human issues in asset management models. In: Proceedings 6th world congress on engineering asset management, Cincinnati, Ohio, USA
- 9. Mardiasmo D, Tywoniak S, Brown K, Burgess K (2008) Asset management and governance—an analysis of fleet management process issues in an asset-intensive organization. In: International conference on infrastructure systems: building networks for a brighter future. Rotterdam, Netherlands, 10–12 Nov
- 10. Scott CM (2009) Green economics. Earthscan, London
- 11. Tywoniak S, Rosqvist T, Mardiasmo D, Kivits RA (2008) Towards an integrated perspective on fleet asset management: engineering and governance considerations. In: Jinji G, Lee J, Ni J, Ma L, Mathew J (eds) Proceedings 3rd world congress on engineering asset management and intelligent maintenance systems conference (WCEAM-IMS 2008): engineering asset management—a foundation for sustainable development, Beijing, China, pp 1553–1567
- 12. Woodhouse J (2001) Asset management. John Woodhouse Partnership Ltd

## **Real Estate Portfolio Decision Making**

#### Monique H. Arkesteijn and Ruud Binnekamp

Abstract Corporate or public organizations often own a real estate portfolio which has been acquired to serve certain organizational goals. However, some buildings in the portfolio might no longer serve these goals and could be sold or, conversely, buildings that could serve goals can be acquired. Choosing the combination of interventions that meets these different goals best is a multi-criteria group decision-making problem. Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) methodologies enable the aggregation of the performance rating of alternatives on different criteria into an overall performance rating. Given that criteria are properties by which to measure the portfolio's performance MCDA approaches should help to find the intervention that meets different goals best. A survey on such approaches showed that they (1) use preference scales to which mathematical operations do not apply or (2) do not have a well-defined procedure for selecting the most preferred portfolio. In this chapter, a design methodology using preference scales to which mathematical operations are applicable has been converted into a portfolio design methodology so that it (1) allows all decision-makers to iteratively enter their criteria and preferences and (2) orders all possible portfolios based on the overall preference rating. It has been evaluated based on a case simulation with data from a Dutch municipality.

**Keywords** Corporate and public real estate management • Portfolio level • Multi criteria decision making • Preference measurement

M. H. Arkesteijn (🖂) · R. Binnekamp

Faculty of Architecture and The Built Environment, Department Real Estate & Housing, Delft University of Technology, P.O. Box 5043, 2600 GA Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: m.h.arkesteijn@tudelft.nl

#### Introduction

In this chapter we show that "... the conditions that must be satisfied in order to enable the application of linear algebra and calculus, ..." [4, p. 10] are not satisfied in certain models in the field of corporate and public real estate management. Barzilai [4, p. 10] "established that there is only one model for strong measurement of subjective variables" and developed an evaluation methodology called Preference Function Modeling (PFM) [3] which Binnekamp [5] transformed into a design methodology called Preference-Based Design (PBD). This methodology is applied to cases at a building and area level, but has not been applied at a portfolio level. This chapter describes how this methodology has been converted into a Preference-Based Portfolio Design (PBPD) methodology.

This chapter describes (Sect. 2) foundational errors and solutions in decision theory and (Sect. 3) evaluates whether these errors are made in real estate portfolio decision making. In (Sect. 4) the PBDB methodology is discussed. The chapter ends (Sect. 5) with conclusions, discussions and recommendations.

#### **Decision Theory Foundational Errors and Solutions**

In the domain of architecture we face the problem of multiple stakeholders having to choose the design that best fits their interests as a group. The scientific foundation of selection (choice) is preference measurement. "The construction of the mathematical foundations of any scientific discipline requires the identification of the conditions that must be satisfied in order to enable the application of the mathematical operations of linear algebra and calculus" [4, p. 1]. In addition, the mathematical foundations of social science disciplines, including economic theory, require the application of mathematical operations to non-physical variables. "*Value* (or utility, or preference) is not a physical property of the objects being valued, that is, value is a subjective (or psychological, or personal) property" [4, p. 4].

"The construction of a model for preference measurement is addressed by Von Neumann and Morgenstern" ([20] in Barzilai [4, p. 2]). "Elaborating upon Von Neumann and Morgenstern's concepts, Stevens ([15], see Barzilai [4, p. 4]) proposed a uniqueness-based classification of "scale type" and research interest turned from the issues of the possibility of measurement of psychological variables and the applicability of mathematical operations on scale values to the construction of "interval" scales, i.e. scales that are unique up to an additive constant and a positive multiplicative constant". There is no proof in literature that these scales devised by Stevens (or any model based on Von Neumann and Morgenstern's concepts) allow mathematical operations Barzilai [4, p. 5].

In reconstructing the foundations of (preference) measurement, Barzilai [4, p. 5] classifies measurement scales by the mathematical operations that are enabled on scale values. He defines *proper* scales as scales to which the operations of addition

and multiplication (including subtraction and division) are applicable [4, pp. 8–9]. Those proper scales that also enable order and the application of the limit operation of calculus are termed *strong* scales [4, p. 10]. All other scales, including Stevens "interval" scales are termed *weak*.

In other words, to evaluate the mathematical foundation of any methodology involving preference measurement, we initially only need to look at the scales used for measuring preference. If the operations of addition and multiplication are applied where they are not applicable, the numbers generated are meaningless. Barzilai [2, 3] developed a new theory of (preference) measurement based on measurement scales to which linear algebra and calculus are applicable. Based on this theory, a practical methodology for constructing proper preference scales, PFM, and the Tetra software tool that implements it, have been developed.

In its current form however, PFM is an evaluation methodology, helping decision makers to choose the most preferred design alternative from a set of already existing alternatives. In the domain of architecture a design methodology is needed, where the design alternatives are not known a priori. The following Preference-Based Design (PBD) procedure proposed by Binnekamp [5, p. 121] offers such a design methodology:

Step 1. Specify the decision variable(s) the decision maker is interested in.

- Step 2. Rate the decision maker's preferences for each decision variable as follows:
  - (a) For each decision variable establish (synthetic) reference alternatives which define the endpoints of a cubic Bezier curve:
    - (i) Define a 'bottom' reference alternative, the alternative associated with the value for the decision variable that is least preferred, rated at 0. This defines the origin endpoint of the curve, (x0, y0).
    - (ii) Define a 'top' reference alternative, the alternative associated with the value for the decision variable that is most preferred, rated at 100. This defines the destination endpoint of the curve, (x3, y3).
  - (b) Rate the preference for alternatives associated with the other decision variable values relative to these reference alternatives by manipulating the two control points (x1, y1) and (x2, y2).
- Step 3. To each decision variable assign decision maker's weight.
- Step 4. Determine the design constraints.
- Step 5. Combine decision variable values to generate design alternatives and use the design constraints to test their feasibility.
- Step 6. Use the PFM algorithm to yield an overall preference scale of all feasible alternatives.

Within the PDB procedure design alternatives are defined as combinations of decision variable values. These alternatives are defined as follows. For each decision variable a Bezier curve is defined to relate decision variable values to preference ratings. Each curve is then divided into a number of segments yielding

a number of points on each curve. Combinations of points on each curve thus represent design alternatives. The x-coordinates of these points represent decision variable values. Design constraints, relating to decision variable values, are used to test design alternatives on feasibility. The y-coordinates represent preference ratings associated with decision variable values. These are used to determine the overall preference rating for combinations of decision variable values that pass the feasibility test.

This PBD methodology [5] is successfully applied to cases at a building and area level, but, as of now, has not been applied at a portfolio level.

#### **Evaluating Approaches to Real Estate Portfolio Decision** Making

Real estate decision making on a portfolio level is addressed in real estate management (REM). De Jonge et al. [8, p. 10] distinguish various specialisations in REM, like: *portfolio management*, also referred to as REM by investors; *corporate real estate management* (CREM): REM (steered) by private organisations or businesses and *public real estate management* (PREM): REM by public parties. This research focuses on CREM and PREM, especially on PREM for municipalities.

De Jonge [7, p. 15] has positioned CREM in terms of a match between business i.e. the demand side and real estate i.e. the supply side, connecting the strategic and operational level. CREM has the objective to optimally attune corporate accommodation to organisational performance, adding value to corporate objectives and indirectly generating income [7, p. 10]. Heywood [10, p. 1] shows that this alignment is "a long-standing issue".

Van der Schaaf [18, p. 5] stated that "public real estate portfolios have very specific characteristics and there is clear evidence of political influence on the quality and location of the buildings included in them". This has a strong influence on how such properties are managed. She defined PREM within governments as "the management of a government's real estate portfolio by aligning the portfolio and services to (1) the needs of the users, (2) the financial policy set by the Treasury and (3) the political goals that governments want to achieve" [18, p. 6].

Municipalities own 42 million square meter gross floor area size in The Netherlands, which almost equals the size of the Dutch office market [19]. The book value of this portfolio is estimated at 15–20 billion euro by Teuben et al. [17, p. 11], with an estimated market value of 30–37 billion euro. Tazelaar and Schonau [16, p. 6] indicated that the professionalization of PREM for municipalities in The Netherlands currently is important because of three reasons: (1) the need for more efficient use of municipal real estate; (2) the increasing demand for public accountability; and (3) the quality of municipal services.

In the strategic alignment within CREM and PREM "adding value" and "optimally attuning" are central concepts. The specific interest of this chapter is in how preference is measured in these models and how the stakeholders interests are integrated, i.e. how a strategy is selected, i.e. how an optimal solution is determined.

Consider the following example of such a selection process: a municipality acquired a substantial number of buildings within its city to serve societal goals. However, some buildings (might) no longer serve societal goals and could be sold or, conversely, buildings that could serve societal goals can be acquired. More than one decision maker decides which intervention to select. Choosing the intervention that meets the different goals best is in essence a multi-criteria group decision making problem. Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) methodologies enable the aggregation of the performance rating of alternatives on different criteria into an overall performance rating. Alternatives are rated on preference on each criterion. Given that criteria are properties by which to measure the portfolio's performance on a goal we can expect that MCDA approaches help to find the combination of interventions that aligns the portfolio to the organisational objectives.

For these MCDA models within corporate and public real estate management the work of Barzilai [4] and Binnekamp [5] is relevant because Barzilai [4, p. 2] focuses on measuring preference (synonymous to value and utility) and found errors at the foundations of utility theory. Most CREM models use an algorithm-based approach according to Heywood [10, p. 6] which he defines as a series of defined steps, meaning that mathematical operations are not necessarily used. In order to determine whether these models are based on mathematically sound foundations CREM and PREM models are evaluated. Firstly it is determined if mathematical operations are used and secondly, for the methods using mathematical operations, if strong, proper or weak scales have been used. As can be concluded from Table 1 in three of the four models that *use* mathematical operations weak scales were used, which means that the conditions are *not* satisfied in order for the operations of addition and multiplication to be applicable to scale values.

For the three models that do *not use* mathematical operations it can be deferred from the models or case descriptions that mathematical operations are performed when evaluating the performance and/or selecting a strategy. However, in their texts it is not explicitly shown how the preferences were measured and how the overall performance rating was determined. Brackertz and Kenley [6, p. 62] for instance use employee satisfaction and a customer satisfaction ratio as

Domain	Authors	Use of mathematical operations	Scales used
CREM	Nourse et al. [11], Roulac [13, p. 149]	Yes	Not indicated
CREM	Edwards and Ellison [9]	No	N.A.
CREM	Osgood [12]	No	N.A.
CREM	Scheffer et al. [14, p.193, 195]	Yes	Weak <sup>a</sup>
PREM	Brackertz and Kenly [6, p. 62]	Yes	Weak
PREM	Wilson et al. [21]	No	N.A.
PREM	Van der Schaaf [18, p. 140]	Yes	Weak

Table 1 Evaluation of CREM and PREM models

<sup>a</sup> In this model preference is measured indirectly

performance measures. Nourse and Roulac [11] indicate that they use linear programming but do not specify how. Binnekamp [5, pp. 2, 59–61] also found a major problem relating to the use of LP for solving group decision making problems; LP can only produce single-criterion design solutions, which fully satisfy no more than one of a single decision maker's interests. Edwards and Ellison [9, pp. 27–28] indicate that their framework is a heuristic tool and as such should be used to order information and to facilitate understanding of property problems. The selection and implementation of strategies are brought together in general in the framework and addressed through the case studies. In some case studies they refer to 'overall performance rating'.

We conclude that, as yet, no methodology for designing a portfolio exists which incorporates proper preference measurement. We therefore propose the following preference-based portfolio design methodology.

#### **Preference-Based Portfolio Design**

It is necessary to convert the PBD procedure in two ways in order to be able to use it on portfolio level. Firstly it is important to note that in the PBD procedure [5, p. 121] each combination of decision variable values defines no more than one alternative. However, with respect to the problem of real estate portfolio decision making, one combination of decision variable values could define more than one alternative. For instance, consider a portfolio consisting of 3 buildings; building A, B and C. Assume that we are interested in the percentage of buildings that serve societal goals. Also assume that building A is the only building within the portfolio serving societal goals. This means that removing building B or C would both result in a portfolio having 50 % of buildings serving societal goals. Conversely, setting this decision variable to 50 would define two alternatives (portfolio with building A and B and the portfolio with buildings A and C), not just one.

To resolve this problem all possible portfolios need to be generated using the number of buildings in the current portfolio and the number of allowed interventions. Given i interventions and j buildings a total of i to the power of j combinations are possible. In this experiment the portfolio consists of 15 buildings and 3 interventions (remove, keep, renovate) are considered. A building can be removed from the portfolio for instance if it is demolished or sold. The total number of possible portfolios is the number of interventions to the power of the number of buildings ( $3^{15} = 14,348,907$ ).

Secondly, approaching the generation of portfolios this way means that the performance of each portfolio is determined a posteriori. Going back to the previous example, removing building B is an example of a generated portfolio. Only after this portfolio has been generated it is possible to determine the number of buildings that serve societal goals with respect to the total number of buildings within that particular portfolio consisting of buildings A and C.

However, within the original PBD procedure, the Bezier curve was divided in segments yielding a number of points on each curve. The x-coordinates of these points represented the performance of the alternative with respect to that design variable a priori.

As a result, it is no longer useful to divide the curve in segments to generate a set of points. Instead, the preference rating needs to be a function of the design variable value. This means that it is not possible to use a Bezier curve because this is a parametric equation. Instead, the decision maker needs to define 3 points relating decision variable values to preference ratings. The Lagrange curve defined by these points can then be found by means of curve fitting.

The above changes mean that steps 2 and 5 of the original PBD procedure needs to be changed as follows:

Step 2. Rate the decision maker's preferences for each decision variable as follows:

- (a) Establish (synthetic) reference alternatives which define 2 points of a Lagrange curve:
- (i) Define a 'bottom' reference alternative, the alternative associated with the value for the decision variable that is least preferred, rated at 0. This defines the first point of the curve,  $(x_0, y_0)$ .
- (ii) Define a 'top' reference alternative, the alternative associated with the value for the decision variable that is most preferred, rated at 100. This defines the second point of the curve,  $(x_1, y_1)$ .
- (b) Rate the preference for an alternative associated with an intermediate decision variable value relative to the reference alternatives. This defines the third point of the curve (x<sub>2</sub>, y<sub>2</sub>).
- Step 5. Generate all design alternatives (using the number of buildings and allowed interventions). Then use the design constraints to test their feasibility.

In order to evaluate this converted PBPD procedure a case simulation is generated based on the prototype Public Real Estate system under construction [1] for the municipality of Rotterdam.

#### Step 1: Specifying the decision variable(s)

The following six decision variables for the specified stakeholders within this municipality are used. (1) Policymaker: the percentage of buildings within the (new) portfolio serving societal goals. (2) Policymaker: the percentage of buildings within the (new) portfolio having an overall preference rating of 40 or more on the criterion 'user satisfaction'.<sup>1</sup> (3) Technical manager: the percentage of buildings within the (new) portfolio having an overall preference rating of 40 or more on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Note that within this procedure preference is rated at an object level and portfolio level. For example, 'user satisfaction' and 'technical state' are rated on an object level. The percentage of buildings within the (new) portfolio having an overall preference rating of 40 or more on the criterion 'user satisfaction' is rated on a portfolio level.

criterion 'technical state'. (4) Asset manager: The percentage of buildings within the (new) portfolio for which the rent covers the cost. (5) Users: The gross floor area of the (new) portfolio and (6) Policymakers: The additional yearly rent due to renovation.

#### Step 2: the decision maker's preferences for each decision variable

Table 2 shows for each decision variable value the 3 points that relate decision variable values to preference ratings. These 3 points define a Lagrange curve (example for decision variable 1 is given in Fig. 1).

#### Step 3: Assigning decision maker's weight to each decision variable

Table 3 shows for each decision variable value the weight assigned by the associated decision maker.

#### Step 4: Determining the design constraints

For this experiment no design constraints are used.

#### Step 5: Generating all design alternatives

In this experiment the portfolio consists of 15 buildings and 3 interventions (remove, keep, and renovate) are considered. Of each building information relating

Table 2 Decision variables and associated decision maker's preference ratings

Decision variable	x0, y0	x1, y1	x2, y2
1. Percentage of buildings serving societal goals	40, 0	80, 50	100, 100
2. Percentage of buildings scoring $\geq$ 40 on user satisfaction	0, 0	50, 70	100, 100
3. Percentage of buildings scoring $\geq 40$ on technical state	20, 0	50, 60	100, 100
4. Percentage of buildings for which rent covers costs	0, 0	50, 60	100, 100
5. Gross floor area	1,794, 0	1709, 100	1,628, 0
6. Additional yearly rent due to renovation interventions	0, 100	30k, 40	60k, 0



Decision variable	Weight
1. Percentage of buildings serving societal goals	10
2. Percentage of buildings scoring $\geq 40$ on user satisfaction	10
3. Percentage of buildings scoring $\geq 40$ on technical state	10
4. Percentage of buildings for which rent covers costs	10
5. Gross floor area	40
6. Additional yearly rent due to renovation interventions	20

 Table 3 Decision variables and assigned decision maker's weights

Portfolio	Bulding Numbers													Rating		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	
9388514	1	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	1	2	0	2	75.6
9388502	1	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	1	0	2	2	75.6
9387773	1	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	1	1	2	1	0	2	2	75.5
9387785	1	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	1	1	2	1	2	0	2	75.5
9033491	1	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	1	1	2	1	2	0	2	75.4
9033479	1	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	1	1	2	1	0	2	2	75.4
8857073	1	2	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	1	2	0	2	75.2
8857061	1	2	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	1	0	2	2	75.2
8856344	1	2	1	1	2	2	2	2	1	1	2	1	2	0	2	75.1
8856332	1	2	1	1	2	2	2	2	1	1	2	1	0	2	2	75.1
Current	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	17.7

 Table 4
 Top 10 of portfolios sorted on overall preference rating

0 =remove, 1 =keep, 2 =renovate

to each decision variable is known. No design constraints are used, this means all design alternatives are considered feasible.

#### Step 6: Using the PFM algorithm to yield an overall preference scale

Table 4 shows the top 10 of portfolios ordered on associated preference ratings. It also shows the overall preference rating of the current portfolio (keep all buildings). In this case, without strict financial limitations, the highest rated portfolio shows a possible overall performance improvement of 57.9.

#### **Conclusions, Recommendations and Discussions**

We conclude that, as yet, no methodology for designing a portfolio exists which incorporates proper preference measurement. We recommend that more than seven models will be evaluated. The proposed PBPD procedure can be used at portfolio level because the two before mentioned limitations are removed. However, the use of the Lagrange curves which oscillate between their roots (knots) could create a problem because they can take negative preference values. This problem is dealt with by directly visually feeding back the Lagrange curve defined by the points.

In this experiment the total number of possible portfolios is the number of interventions to the power of the number of buildings  $(3^{15} = 14,348,907)$ . If a portfolio consist of more buildings and more interventions will be considered, as is usually the case, the computer time needed to generate and evaluate all possible portfolios can become too much which asks for the need for a search algorithm.

Despite these limitations, we see the proposed PBPD procedure and associated model as a proof of concept for applying it in practice. Currently work is being carried out to find the search algorithm. The next step will be to evaluate the PBPD procedure in practice.

#### References

- 1. Arkesteijn MH, Bankers B, Van de Schootbrugge S (2010) Centralisatie alleen leidt niet tot strategisch handelen. Real Estate Mag 70:29–33
- 2. Barzilai J (2004) Notes on utility theory. In: Proceedings of the IEEE international conference on systems, man, and cybernetics, pp 1000–1005
- 3. Barzilai J (2005) Measurement and preference function modeling. Int Trans Oper Res 12:173-183
- 4. Barzilai J (2007) On the mathematical foundations of economic theory. http:// scientificmetrics.com/publications.html
- 5. Binnekamp R (2010) Preference-based design in architecture. Delft University of Technology, Delft
- Brackertz N, Kenley R (2002) A service delivery approach to facility performance for local governments. Facilities 20(3/4):127–135
- 7. De Jonge H (1994) The future of corporate real estate management. Paper presented at the seminar IDRC
- De Jonge H, Arkesteijn MH, Den Heijer AC, Vande Putte HJM, De Vries JC, Van der Zwart J (2009) Real estate and housing AR1R025, corporate real estate management, designing an accommodation strategy (DAS), semester 2 2008/2009. Delft University of Technology, Delft
- 9. Edwards V, Ellison L (2004) Corporate property management: aligning real estate and business strategy. Blackwell Science, Malden
- 10. Heywood C (2011) Approaches to aligning corporate real estate and organisational strategy. Paper presented at the ERES 2011, Eindhoven, The Netherlands
- Nourse HO, Lundstrom S, Roulac SE (1993) Linking real estate decisions to corporate strategy. J Real Estate Res 8(4):475–494
- Osgood RT Jr (2004) Translating organisational strategy into real estate action: the strategy alignment model. J Corp Real Estate 6(2):106–117. doi:10.1108/14630010410812289
- Roulac S (2001) Corporate property strategy is integral to corporate business strategy. J Real Estate Res 22(1/2):129–152
- 14. Scheffer JJL, Singer BP, Van Meerwijk MCC (2006) Enhancing the contribution of corporate real estate to corporate strategy. J Corp Real Estate 8(4):188–197
- 15. Stevens SS (1946) On the theory of scales of measurement. Science (103):677-680

- 16. Tazelaar J, Schonau W (2010) Professioneel gemeentelijk vastgoed; stand van professionalisering bij gemeenten. Twynstra Gudde, Amersfoort p 28
- 17. Teuben BJJ, Waldmann M, Hordijk AC (2007). An inventory of municipal real estate; the case of The Netherlands. Paper presented at the ERES 2007, London, UK
- 18. Van der Schaaf P (2002) Public real estate management; challenges for governments. DUP Science, Delft
- 19. Vastgoedmarkt (2011) Markt gemeentelijk vastgoed zwaar onderschat (email Vastgoedmarkt, 21 oktober.)
- 20. Von Neumann J, Morgenstern O (1944) Theory of games and economic behaviour. Princeton University Press, Cambridge
- Wilson C, Hagarty D, Gauthier J (2003) Results using the balanced scorecard in the public sector. J Corp Real Estate 6(1):53–63

# Part III Safety, Renewable Energy and Management

# Design for Safety: A New Service for Alarming and Informing the Population in Case of Emergency

Helena M. Jagtman

Abstract In case of emergencies, the population in danger should be alarmed so individuals can take action to get or remain out of danger. The means available for alarming the population are limited. Many countries have outdoor sirens. Their operability however is restricted since sirens have only one implicit instruction. In 2012 a new citizens' alarming and informing system was introduced using cell broadcast in The Netherlands. This chapter discusses the field of citizens' alarming and the type of technologies available to communicate to the population. This framework is relevant for understanding how one should asses a new technology from a safety point of view. One of the challenges for the new alarming service is the composition of a short text message to alarm the population via their mobile phone, which is complete, relevant and correct for situation. This new field is recently being explored. We explain amongst others how the not yet known disaster is dominant for the message content and explain how a message can be composed. Results from workshops with experts from the emergency rescue services are discussed. We rounds off arguing dilemmas in order to get to effective citizens' alarming via the new service.

Keywords Cell broadcast · Emergency warning system · Alarm message content

#### What is Citizens' Alarming?

In case of a treat or incident governments have a responsible to alarm and inform the population (see bottom of Fig. 1). *Alarming* should notify the population in the affected area about the danger *with* the intention to change behaviour resulting in

H. M. Jagtman (🖂)

Safety Science Group, Faculty of Technology Policy and Management, Delft University of Technology, 5015 2600 GA Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: h.m.jagtman@tudelft.nl

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_8, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014
the population getting to a safe location or act safely in order to limit damage to people and properties. Notification of the population can be done either with or without special alarming technology as for example outdoor sirens, sound trucks, helicopters or door-to-door notification by fire fighters and policemen. The decision to use alarming technologies depends on the need to quicken the notification in order to limit damage. This is for example the case if direct action of the people present in the affected area is required to get or stay safe. Many countries for this purpose have outdoor sirens [5] or make use of sound trucks. The population can also be warned without the need to speed up the notification. The means to notify people in such cases are for example the national or regional news, daily current affaire programs or newspapers. Informing is aimed at keeping the population who are or feel threatened updated about the situation. Informing different from alarming does not require (immediate) reaction for the population. The government informs the population via public meetings and via the media. Some examples of these channels used for citizens' alarming and their relation (see colour coding) to alarming and informing about the threat or the incident "A" are shown in the upper part of Fig. 1.

Not all technologies shown in Fig. 1 are governmental controlled. Apart from the government also private parties and individuals communicate about a treat or incident. Current affairs programs decide themselves what they broadcast from official statements or public meetings. Moreover, the programs decide which persons and experts they invite to comment on the events. Also companies communicate in case of an incident to their own employees, visitors and customers. The population will also pass on a notification among themselves. Even for people-to-people communication various technologies are used. It could be passed on face-to-face, via telephone or internet to known and also unknown people. Finally certain threats are noticed by individuals in the vicinity or the source via their senses, for example via vision or smell. In the section "Disaster Communication: Illustration Fire of a Chemical Storage Facility" the contribution of these channels are shown for one particular case.

#### **Risk Versus Disaster Communication**

Alarming and informing relate to an incident. From emergency preparedness we also know communication about hazards. In this case it concerns risk communication which is aimed at educating the public about how they should respond if they will be in danger in some unknown future situation (see blue box in Fig. 1). Each Dutch municipality is obligated to instruct and prepare their residence for emergency cases. Risk communication educates the population about the general actions which are required for hazards in their municipality, region, state or country. The general instruction in case of release of dangerous substances is to go insight and lock all doors, windows and everything which can serve as ventilation. However, if one is outdoors alternative actions are required. Disaster communication differs from risk



Fig. 1 Examples of channels for alarming and informing the population

communication amongst others because in case of an incident the instructions relevant for the situation should be communicated rather than the general instructions. Moreover risk communication does not involve time pressure nor should the population take action to get or remain safe.

Another type of Risk communication is the use of risk or hazard maps which show hazardous locations to the public. In The Netherlands the risk map includes natural (e.g. flooding) and man-made hazards (e.g. chemical installations). Risk maps are used in multiple other European countries to communicate about risks. These maps more often relate to geographically locate of natural hazards than man-made hazards [3].

# Disaster Communication: Illustration Fire of a Chemical Storage Facility

The contribution of multiple means to alarm and inform the population is illustrated for a fire at Chemie-Pack in Moerdijk in the south of The Netherlands. This facility caught fire on January 5th 2011. The fire brigade was alarmed about the fire at 14:26 h [33]. The fire caused a heavy dark toxic cloud which headed north and later northeast. At 15:18 h the siren was sounded for the first time in the area north of the site [26]. Additionally from 16:30 h sound trucks were used to instruct the population to get or stay inside and close their doors and windows [26]. Via a questionnaire 462 people gave us insight in how and at what time people were first notified about the fire at this facility [14]. The respondents were divided into three groups:

• AREA1: alarming with speed up notification via sirens and sound trucks. The people present in this area needed to go insight and close doors, windows and

other ventilation immediately in order to prevent inhalation of a too high concentration of toxics.

- AREA2: alarming without speeding up the notification via the regional disaster channel, a special website for incidents (crisis.nl) and other national media. Citizens present in this area were alarmed about the toxic cloud which was predicted to get in their direction in the course of the evening and night.
- AREA3: informing via various regular media (television, radio, internet and press conferences) to provide updates about the latest developments for all those who feel threatened or are interested in the situation.

Figure 2 shows what share of the three areas were aware of the fire per time slot. In AREA1 where people had to take immediate action 68 % of the respondents were notified at 16 h. For areas 2 and 3 this was respectively 40 and 29 %. At 17 h 89 % in area 1 had been notified. Not before 19 h the share of people who knew about the fire in AREA2 was about the same as in AREA1.

Table 1 shows via which channels the people in the three areas were notified. Be aware that the contribution of a channel cannot be compared between the areas: since visual observation was only possible in AREA1 and parts of AREA2 and the special alarm channels to speed up notification were only used in AREA1. These latter channels notified 27 % of the people present in AREA1. These people and those who saw the smoke and were thus notified via visual observation were the first to hear from the fire. These channels had an indirect effect as well, since people who were notified by the alarming channels told others about the fire. Most people in AREA1 (almost 45 %) were notified via another person. This was also the case in AREA2 were 47 % heard about the fire via somebody else. While in AREA1 15 % of those alarmed by another person were notified by a stranger, hardly anybody in AREA2 or 3 heard from an unknown person. Thus in the area with acute danger the people present were united and helped one another. Those in



Fig. 2 Share of the people present per area who were notified about the fire at Chemie-Pack

Design for Safety: A New Service for Alarming

Trune of	Communication			
Type of	Communication	AKEAI	AKEAZ	AKEAS
channel	channel	(N = 96)	(N = 144)	(n = 208)
		(%)	(%)	(%)
Visual		9	4	0
observation				
Alarming	Siren	24	0	0
	Sound truck	2	0	0
	SMS-alert	1	1	1
Informing	Local broadcast company	6	7	4
	National radio/TV	6	18	35
	Internet	5	22	28
Person	Via a known person	38	44	24
	Via a stranger	7	1	1
	Announcement to multiple people	0	3	1
Other		1	1	6

Table 1 Channels via which people were notified about the fire at Chemie-Pack

AREA2 who were not notified by another person mostly heard about this fire from information channels. Information channels notified two-third of the people present in AREA3.

## Problems with Conventional Alarming Technologies

Alarming technologies such as the outdoor siren system haven limitations due to design and operational specifications. In The Netherlands, for example, sirens can only be used if the required action is to go inside, shut doors and windows and turn off the ventilation system. This is the instruction about what to do in case of the siren, which is educated to the population as part of the governmental risk communication program. Instruction of only one required action via sirens limits the type of threats and incidents for which use of this alarming technology is an option. There are however other disaster scenarios for which other required actions, such as for example stay outside, leave/evacuate or do not use, could be relevant to communicate quickly to the public. The population cannot be notified in any situation where one of these is the required action to get or stay safe. Such situations could be, for example, some explosion dangers, wildfires and certain floods or flood threats. Apart from limitations in the type of risks the system design has its limitations. The specifications require outdoor audibility and exclude the obligations to place sirens in remote areas where the number of inhabitants is limited [20]. As a result the siren is not always heard indoors and at certain locations (especial rural locations). Moreover, hearing-impaired and deaf people will never be alarmed directly via the outdoor siren. They need aid from others to get notified.

Besides limitations due to design and operations specifications, the sirens in The Netherlands are being criticised both when the system is used but especially when it was not used to alarm the population in the past. On March 5th 2012 at 0:30 h the siren was sounded to alarm the population in Heerhugowaard (North of Amsterdam) about a fire in a greenhouse [35]. However, people could not get any further information since the calamity broadcast channel did not provide any news on radio, television or internet until half an hour after sounding the sirens. It took the municipality even an hour to provide information via their website. As described in the previous section a chemical storage facility caught fire in January 2011. Although the population of the area north of the waterways were alarmed via the sirens the citizens of Moerdijk were not. Moerdijk residential area is situated leeward of the wind and therefore situated in the areas that needed speedup via alarming channels. This was however late explained to these residents. In addition the communication during the acute phase of this fire was later criticised on its internal focus [33]. The public was informed about measurement results of the concentration of dangerous goods in the toxic cloud without proper explanation of the meaning of these results. Although most governmental information was not incorrect, it was different interpreted by the media causing confusion amongst the public.

#### Mobile Phone Technologies

Meanwhile mobile phone technologies have become part of everyday life. Several private initiatives of safety and security services via mobile networks are available. Internationally known and also available in The Netherlands is Amber-Alert a service sending alerts in case of missing children. Examples in The Netherlands are: Burgernet; a service asking the population for information in safety or security related (police) problems via SMS which are sent to subscribers, SMS-Alert; which is similar to Burgernet. These services not only use SMS but also other traditional and new media platforms. All these services require subscription and sent messages based on the zip code of the household. Messages via these services are received, regardless of the actual location at the moment a message was sent. Depending on their presence at the moment of the occasion for which the authorities ask assistance, the message could be relevant or not to the receiver. This does not bring the population in danger, because messages from these services do not require an action. For citizens' alarming however messages should be sent to people who are-at the moment of the incident-present in the area in danger. For every individual the area in danger is not necessarily one's place of residence. It could moreover be a location that one is visiting seldom, for example for a holiday, business trip or a conference. Another drawback is the delivery performance of SMS which is based on best-effect basis without any guarantee how long it takes for a message to be delivered [29].

An alternative mobile phone technology which broadcast messages to a geographical area is cell broadcast [30]. Cell broadcast like SMS is part of standards for GSM, CDMA, UMTS (3G) and LTE (4G). Cell broadcast messages are sent point-to-area to all mobile phones connected to the network in a specified area [11]. Anyone also people rarely visiting an area in which a cell broadcast message is sent can receive it. A mobile phone will only display a cell broadcast message if the device is tuned in order to receive messages. Tuning one's mobile phone means that the owner needs to define the channel or channels from which messages are desired. Currently some new bought devices are sold with cell broadcast channels predefined. Messages can only be receive real time [1], therefore a mobile phone should be switched on and have network connect to one of the broadcasting cells at the moment of broadcasting. To increase the change that messages are received, the broadcast can be repeated. The mobile phone technology does not suffer from network congestion as SMS does in case multiple bulk messages are sent at the same time. Cell broadcast will dispatch messages oneway, thus unconfirmed. As a result the sender cannot be informed to whom nor to how many mobile phones the message is delivered. This makes the services anonymous, which reduces privacy issues in comparison to a service for which subscription is required. It is possible to receive confirmation of the actual broadcast success or failure from the network [27]. Due to it functionality, without confirmation of delivery, there is no guarantee that each mobile phone connected to the network in the area in danger will receive a message. This is not a necessity for effective alarming, however it should be known to anyone involved how this technology operates.

#### Citizens' Alarming Via the Mobile Phone

Figure 3 shows the four processes which should function to be able to effectively alarm the population.

The orange line shows the decision making of rescue services about the necessity of alarming the population, about the area to be warned and about the alarm text message. The red line shows the technological chain to broadcast a message from a mobile phone network. The blue line showing the alarm message text which needs to be received on the mobile phone, needs to be notified, read and understood by the people. The green line finally shows the response of the population which should be in line with the action given in the alarm message text. Each of the four lines are related to different stakeholders who are responsible for correct functioning of their part in the alarm chain. The orange line is the domain of fire, policy and rescue services together with other authorities responsible for alarming the population. If they do not consider cell broadcast no messages will be sent during an incident. The red line is the domain of the operators of mobile phone networks, only users of the networks involved in an alarming services using cell broadcast can receive these messages. The blue line relates to multiple parties: manufacturers of mobile phones to implement cell broadcast (according to standard) on the devices and users of mobile phones who need to realize under which circumstances they can or cannot receive a message. Finally the green involves the population who based on a received message determine if the act accordingly or not.

# NL-Alert: Cell Broadcast for Citizens' Alarming in the Netherlands

Discussion about new technologies for public warning started over a decennium ago. The 1999 policy document on Disaster management [22] proposed to explore the possibilities of mobile phone technologies to warn the population. In 2005 and 2006 the first large-scale trials with population have taken place. The Safety Science Group has evaluated the public warning trials [12, 32]. The evaluation included five themes: technology (understand the technological alarm chain from network to mobile phone), potential effectiveness (proportion of the respondents who were reached and responded properly to cell broadcast messages), message design (the content of alarming messages), acceptability (including user friendliness) and responsibility of stakeholders involved in the alarming chain. The evaluation of the trials showed that an alarming service using cell broadcast can function as long as all stakeholders involved acknowledge all linkages of the alarm chain [12]. Important is not only to implement and control the technological chain, but also to set up a working procedure for emergency services (when and how to use NL-Alert) and citizens to create awareness about what is needed from them to be alarmed on their mobile phones.

In 2008 the Dutch government decided to introduce cell broadcast for citizens' alarming (Kamerstukken II 2007–2008, 29 668 nr 24). The next step, in 2009, was to sign agreement with relevant partners for the availably of the technological infrastructure (orange and red lines in Fig. 3). These include all owners of mobile network in The Netherlands and in addition an intermediate stakeholder (a broker) between the operators and emergency control rooms where a message will be



Fig. 3 Operation alarming chain when using mobile phone technology for citizens' alarm [17]

created and dispatched. In 2010 the Parliament was informed about the progress of implementation of the alarming service using cell broadcast and announced NL-Alert to become the name of the service (Kamerstukken II 2009–2010, 29 668 nr 30). Late 2011 it was announced that the system will be operable in stages starting from 2012 (Kamerstukken II 2010–2011, 29 668, nr 36).

November 8th 2012 the Dutch Minister of Safety and Justice launched NL-Alert nationwide in The Netherlands (Kamerstukken II 2012–2013, 29 517, nr 68). This moment marked the start of the campaign "NL-Alert: direct information in case of an emergency" (in Dutch, NL-Alert: direct informatie in een noodsituatie). The campaign should make the population aware that they need to check their mobile phone settings and if required change these in order to receive any alarm message. Unique about the new Dutch alarm system, apart from the agreements with all involved Dutch mobile network owners, is that NL-Alert provides incident-related contextual alarm messages. Any NL-Alert will notify the population about the danger and in the same massage provide guides about the required action(s) to get or stay safe. A NL-Alert as such contributes to increasing emergency self-reliant behaviour of the population in danger [32]. This sets demands on defining the content of the alarm related to the incident for which it has to notify the population.

Until mid-February 2013 NL-Alert was used in four occasions. In three cases local alarm messages were sent to warn the population about a fire causing heavy smoke. The fourth occasion was not incident-related. On February 4th 2013 at noon a control message was sent. This messages was the result of many reactions from the population who wondered how they could check if they had correctly changed the settings of their mobile phones. At this Monday an NL-Alert was broadcasted together with the siren, which is monthly tested in The Netherlands. NL-Alert control messages will be sent nationwide twice a year in May and November together with the monthly siren [23]. Since emergencies fortunately occur seldom the change of being present in the neighbourhood of an incident for which an NL-Alert is broadcasted is limited. The yearly tested therefore function as reminder about the service for the population. People can check twice a year that they can (still) receive a message. Rescue personnel are also made aware of this service as one of the means to alarm and inform the population. Employees of the emergency control room can practice the procedures to dispatch a message at these control messages occasions.

#### Cell Broadcast in Other Countries

In multiple countries the use of cell broadcast to notify the population became recently available or are considered. Most of these initiatives relate to early warnings for natural hazards. These often include mixture of different technologies to deliver a message to the population. Examples of such initiatives are shown in Table 2.

Table 2 Example of mobile phon	e warning systems		
Country	Aim of the service	Development stage	References
Japan (Area mail)	Earthquake and Tsunami warning	In use since 2007	[31]
Chile	Emergency alert system (focus Tsunami warning)	2010 licence agreement, currently in five networks testing and expanding of the system	Galvez [10]
Israel (National message)	Earthquake and missile warning	Demonstrated 2010 civil defence drill "Turning Point 4"	eVigilo [8]
South Korea	Alert, warning, response and recovery information for social, natural and man-made disasters	Life in 2009. Still updating law and regulation and expanding the service	Choi [4]
Sri Lanka (Disaster and emergency warning network)	First alert to emergency personnel and public alerts only when a threat is adequately verified	Launched in January 2009 after testing	[30]
US (Wireless emergency alert/CMAS)	All hazard warring system using various technologies, include presidential warning, imminent threats and amber alerts.	In use since June 2012	Moore [24] and FEMA [9]

An important difference is that most initiatives make use of predefined messages that are automatically generated. The automatic warning systems also include other alarming and informing channels. Not all services provide an action related to the warning. This relates especially to the natural hazard warnings systems. For a number of these initiatives not all mobile network operators are involved, meaning that the service cannot directly alarm all people with mobile network connection. Moreover, in some of these systems, different from the Dutch case, the operators and manufactures bear responsibility for tuning the mobile phone. This is the case for example in the USA. As a result, a customer can check if a mobile phone is CMAS-compatible via a sign on the box in which the mobile is sold/delivered.

#### Systems View on Composing Alarm Messages

Since NL-Alert aims to notify the population and simultaneously provide guidance for the required action, challenging apart from realizing the technological chain, is to be able to define the content of the alarm message related to an incident. In contrast to risk communication, in everyday non-emergency circumstances, the communicated preparation action(s) will not be sufficient for alarming about one specific incident. From these general messages "in case of an incident X do Y" the population cannot discover if incident type X is affecting them at that moment.

#### Systems View on Content of Alarm Messages

The content of an alarm message depend on the type of incident, the moment of alarming or informing the population and the required action. For an alarm message the incident or more specific the hazard source is the starting point. Mileti and Sorensen [21] classify 14 different disaster types into three main sources: natural (geological or climatological), technology and social disasters. Countries prepare for various hazard sources which differ based on the chosen level of detail. Regarding natural disasters the classifications also differ because certain incidents, e.g. volcanic eruptions or tsunamis are not relevant for all countries [6].

The relation between type of incident, moment of alarming and action is shown in Fig. 4. Depending on the type of disaster certain moments to alarming will be more or less relevant. Alert messages are in particular possible in crisis where the moment and location of a hazard release can be predicted. Early Warning Systems such as the Japanese Area mail and the Israeli missile warning are examples of possible alerts. Another alert example are treats for a BLEVE, which is an explosion with liquid gasses involved. Other incidents, such as a tunnel fire, cannot be foreseen. An 'alert' message sent in case of a critical threat asking to take precautionary measures as soon as possible to prevent getting affected in such cases is irrelevant. The relevant moments of alarming relates to the aim of a message: notify and alarm to limit personal losses or inform about the course of events. The alarming and alerting messages include first actions to be taken quickly to get or stay safe.



Fig. 4 Relationships between incident (disaster type), moment of alarm (type of message) and action [14]

The incident circumstances and the moment of alarming determine relevant required actions. The incident circumstances include both the hazard source and the area which is potentially affected by this source. This in particular distinguishes an alarming service from all risk communication precaution measures. In case of a real incident the required action due to area specific circumstances could differ from the general most suitable action. For example, if in a fire with smoke heavy release a domino-effect (the first incident initiates another incident) cannot be excluded, instructing the population to leave the area would possibly be preferred above shelter inside. If such a fire would occur near a forest or dune environment with hardly any buildings, shelter may also not be the preferred option.

The informing messages may but does not necessarily include a reminder to continue an action, such as keep windows closed, since the people in the area are still in danger. Depending on the functionality of the area in danger, the message should consider multiple different groups. If an incident has effect on an area around a city centre, the people present include for example residents of the neighbourhood and visitors. The latter could be frequent visitors such as people working, visiting schools and shopping in this area or infrequent visitors such as day trippers and tourists. These different people cannot necessarily undertake the same action. Since cell broadcast messages are geographically send, a message may need more than one action to serve different groups who are present in the same area.

#### **Elements for Alarming Messages**

For alarming message, a web experiment in 2006 showed that these should include the components: Risk1 (the danger), Risk2 (the location in danger) and Action [6]. Information about other media where more details can be found was less important and not necessary for a first alarming message. The experiences with receiving cell broadcast messages in 2005–2007 showed the need for additional information to be able to verify that a message indeed is an NL-Alert alarming message and to verify the relevance of the message at the moment of reading. For the latter a time stamp of the moment the message was sent by the rescue services would be helpful. These needs result in two more components: ID1 and ID2. Authorisation of the message affects the response towards a message. Authorised sources increase people's motivation to act [38, 39]. Credibility is based on believed expertise and confidence [7]. All contextual components and the two identifiers can be related to the common alerting protocol CAP [6, 25]. This protocol is for example used by American CMAS warning service.

To define the content per component literature on emergency preparedness has been studied. The results are summarised in Table 3. For defining Risk1 we referred to the 18 Dutch disaster types. In some cases the danger itself is clear, in some cases however the origin should be added. For example if a toxic cloud is released from an industrial installation. To explore required actions risk communication plans from all Dutch safety regions have been analysed. This resulted in four categories of types of actions (see Table 3). The first three categories consist of concrete actions that people can take after reading. A fourth category, appeal to act self-reliant, does not provide guidance but rather ask take actions to get safe. This fourth type of action can be used in case incident circumstances are changing to quickly to determine the suitable required action, however people should be made aware of the incident. Alarming of the population in such a case may be preferred over a directive action in the message.

Since risk communication is not related to one specific incident the component Risk2 is not covered in the preparation documents we have studied. This marks the difference between disaster and risk communication. Since the reader should be able to understand which area is in danger, the location description should include clues which are known to the general public more or less irrespective of their familiarity with the area. Gaining experiences with NL-Alert should give more insight in which details are suitable for the description of the location at danger.

### Supporting Rescue Personnel to Compose Alarm Messages

A fixed and complete text cannot be defined beforehand, since the disaster type is dominant in determining the text for an alarm message. We can distinguish three approaches to compose a textual alarm message, which have little up too much freedom [14] (a) standardise approach (generic messages with empty text spaces),

Component	Elements	Importance
ID1	(NL-Alert)	Must
Risk1	Danger	Must
	Source of hazard	Depends on danger
	Source location (stationary object)	Depends on source
	Source location (transport object)	Depends on source
Risk2	Name of village (toponym)	Must
	Land marker	Option
Action	<ul> <li>(a) Geographical</li> <li>(b) Do/don't actions after a geographical action (e.g. shelter or stay away from falling objects)</li> <li>(c) Do/don't actions without a geographical action (e.g. use no drinking water, use paper tissues or wash hands after contact)</li> <li>(d) Appeal to act self-reliant</li> </ul>	one action element is must: Which depends on the incident (risk1) and the location (risk2)
Info	Other media	Option
	Access information (e.g., frequency)	
ID2	(Date + time information)	Must

 Table 3 Identification and content elements [15]

(b) compare and adjust approach (example message which need modification for current incident) and (c) activating and learning approach (use of test criteria to compose a message from 'blank'). The first approach requires a complete library of messages for any future incident, otherwise it will not be possible to select an appropriate message. In the second approach a library is necessary as well preferably as complete as possible. Since messages can be modified, a more or less similar danger and location can be found to use as inspiration for the message. However, in this approach tunnel vision cannot be ruled out. Especially if not the generally applicable action is required but an alternative action should be communicated. The last approach can cope with the variety and special circumstances which are linked to disasters and is therefore promising. It does require to educate and to train the rescue services to gain experience in composing short alarm messages to be sent to mobile phones.

The system perspective (Fig. 4) shows an alarm text message can be considered useful for a specific threat or incident if the message is *complete*, *relevant* and *correct for the situation* [14]:

- An alarm message is complete if the receiver (the population) can determine what he or she should do to get or stay safe
- An alarm message is relevant if the receiver at the moment he or she *reads* the message can determine that the alarm is still relevant (valid) and that he or she belongs to the target group of the alarm
- An alarm message is correct for the situation if the receiver is urged to take action in accordance with the danger that is threatening him or her

For completeness the text in the alarm message should comply with the elements from Table 3. For relevance both identifiers should help as well as a clear description of the location (Risk2). The location description should be clear not only for daily present citizens but also for (infrequent) visitors. Regarding the location description rescue personnel should be aware that broadcasting a message from cells within a selected geographical area will be received by mobile phones connected to those cells. Due to the range of the antennas the mobile devices could be present within the area or outside. If the location details are exclude or too general people cannot define if the message is relevant for them. For example: "Main street" (in Dutch: Hoofdstraat) is a common used name for streets in The Netherlands. Only in combination with the name of the village one can determine the relevance. One of the fire in which NL-Alert has been sent in December 2012, the alarm message mentioned only heavy smoke and the instruction to go insight. There was no location mentioned at all. A limited number of cells broadcasted the message due to a very small area selection. Despite that, tweets expressed that people in the nearest city about 15 km away had receive messages.

Correctness relates to the message that is composed and other messages that have or will be sent regarding the same incident. The message should not be counterproductive nor reduce self-reliant behaviour. The composed message should moreover not conflict with other messages, which among other things means that a new message is required if the situation changes. Such a problem occurred with the Japanese Tsunami Warning System during the 2011 Tōhoku earthquake and tsunami in Japan. The first warning was issued quickly, 3 min after the earthquake. The predicted height of the wave changed multiple times over the course of the disaster. The updated warnings included raised predicted heights and a wider area in danger [28]. This warning system does not give instructions about the required action. The people receiving the warning should decide themselves. The first more conservative prediction had more options than the last prediction. In that case evacuation up hill is the only option, while in the first case one could also consider to stay at high floors in buildings. For each of these three test criteria a slide with rules is discussed in Jagtman et al. [14].

#### Alarm Messages Created by Experts

The test criteria have been used in a workshop in which groups of experts composed alarm messages. The groups included a mixture of advisors from fire services, emergency centres, (crisis) communication specialists and behavioural specialists. During the workshop each team received a short description of an emergency scenario. A brainstorm was held on what should be included (or not) in an alarm message. This discussion let to a first version of an alarm text message. That first version was subsequently tested using the criteria discussed in the previous section by the group who had composed it. The testing resulted in a revised version. The revised alarm message was shown to another expert team without the scenario description. Since all scenarios differed, the experts can be considered part of the population who received a message without knowledge of the incident and its context. The experts were asked to discuss what they would do if they received this message. Secondly, the scenario used to compose the message was revealed. Finally, the group is asked to review the alarm message text using the test criteria and if required propose a modified version of the alarm message.

The procedure of (a) writing a message, (b) testing and revising the message and (c) reviewing and revising by another group was done for six different scenarios. 14 experts participated in the workshop, who created in total 25 alarm messages. The review and revising step resulted in seven messages, where analysed in detail. These messages were found to be complete and thus contain the required elements, six of the seven messages however included more than the elements defined in Table 3. The "additional" pieces of texted statements which are common in risk communication, such as "think of others", "follow instruction of rescue services" and "limit the use of mobile phones". Analysing the relevance criteria it was found that some messages referred to one target group specifically which could confuse others. For example: "leave your car", what should you do if you are in the area but without a car? To emphasize the alarm character of the messages the experts had included words as "NOW" and "life threatening" in the text. The correctness of the messages was elaborated the most for alarm messages about heathland fires. It was amongst others discussed how to prevent to direct people towards the fire rather than away. Do people understand north and can they determine north at their current location? After the review and revise step the message had a self-reliant component "leave the area; stay out of smoke", since it does not provide guidance in what direction people should leave.

Although the messages complied with the test criteria, they included more that required content. As a result the messages were quite long, which does not meet the desire of the population to receive short messages [6]. In a recent experiment in which the population was asked to compose a message themselves, it was found that the general people write shorter messages than the experts. The respondents moreover dislike the "additional" components originating from risk communication in the messages composed by experts [16]. The discrepancy between the experts' alarm messages and the populations' preferences are used to fine tune the workshop into a training program for the employees of the Dutch safety regions who will be involved in composing alarm messages or need to advice about these messages. The training program involves three blocks: [1] composing a message, [2] review and improve a message for an unknown incident made by someone else and [3] compose a message and select and area for a complicated incident. Duos are asked to compose messages in maximum 10 min for 11 different scenarios. The alarm messages were distributed to other participants without the scenario description, thus an experience of a citizen who receives a message about an unknown incident. The participants share their thoughts on composing as well as reviewing a message.

Thirteen workshops have been carried out with this program resulting in over 220 alarm text messages. The time restriction was no problem. More problematic was the lack of knowledge to define the required action, which make participants

realise they need advisors for various to fill in all elements of an alarm message. Which advisor is needed depends on the threat or hazard source. In cause of dangerous goods these are often toxic advisors, while for order disturbances advisors from the policy are more relevant. One could also think of contacting health care specialist for disease outbreaks due to for example drinking water contamination. Another important experience the participants gained is the need to include the location (Risk2) component. Many of the participants are familiar with the risk communication instructions from the campaigns to prepare for further emergencies. This component was included in about 80 % of the messages, while the danger (Risk1) and the Action were included in nearly all messages [13]. Some participants tended to address locations in terms of "leave the area" which does not explain in which municipality and at what exact area one is in danger. The reader can also not determine where to leave to, in other words how far from my current location will I be safe? By reviewing messages from others without incident context knowledge awareness was raised for the need to specify the location for the receiver to be able to determine relevance of an alarm message.

The discussion of the context of alarm messages learned the safety region employees that a cell broadcast message can never be sent only and exactly to the area in danger. A trade off need to be made between selecting a narrow area and therefore increase the change of false-negatives (thus people who should receive an alarm do not) versus a larger area and consequently increase the change of false-positive (people in neighbouring area not in danger receive an alarm). The Dutch guideline expresses preference for the latter, give that NL-Alert should only be used in case of acute action of the population is required to get or stay safe. Given that also people in neighbouring areas will receive a message the decision to send a message should also include consideration if people receiving a false alarm have enough clues to understand this from the message. This also implies in case a message is sent to an area in which a mass event is held. If people attending this event need to take another action than is being broadcasted, rescue personnel should first have confirmation that the visitors of the event are notified before they receive a message which is not meant for them. This could also apply for people travelling in by passing trains. A final lesson from the workshop is to realise NL-Alert is not a standalone alarming service. A mixture of alarming and informing means can and will be used in case of emergency. It is therefore not necessary to put every detail in a short message sent to mobile phones. Additional information is received via other media and via conversations with other people, also if you do not direct the population to an information channel. There is no need to consider that a follow up message should be sent via NL-Alert. This not possible in cases where people present in the area in danger are told to leave, since it is unknown to which other areas these people went.

# **Discussion: Issues to Realize an Effective New Alarming** Service

As the relationships in Fig. 4 showed composing an alarm message does not stand on its own. In the round up of this chapter, author discusses four dilemmas that play a role in realizing an effective alarming system in practice. There are more dilemmas, for example relating to the characteristics of the technology, which make it impossible to monitor how many individuals spread over the area in danger are actually alarmed.

# Dilemma I: Stakeholder's Responsibilities Versus Effective Alarming of the Population in Danger

The technology cell broadcast can only be effective if all the linkages from the alarm chain shown in Fig. 3 are functioning. To realise this at the moment of an incident, the emergency services should decide to alarm and compose a message while the operators' networks should be functioning. In addition citizens, who are present in the area in danger, should have their mobile phone active and their phones should be noticeable to them. Subsequently, after notifying an alarm, people should read it, understand it and respond in accordance to the guidance given in the message. Although the mobile operators cannot be held responsible for the content of the message nor for the response to the message, they should acknowledge that the effectiveness of an alarm message is not only to reach as many people as possible, but also to have the relevant people respond to a message. They should consider their role in building expectations of what their customers (whom are part of the population that may need to be warned) should do in order to be able to receive a message.

# Dilemma II: Emergency Preparedness Versus Emergency Response

All the research related to cell broadcast for citizens' alarming was undertaken in non-emergency circumstances, since there is no system yet. This not only related to the trials in which cell broadcast messages have been sent, but also the investigation into the content of alarm messages. As was shown in the workshops with experts, they put items related to the main goals of risk communication in a message for disaster communication. The effect of adding these 'additional' elements is not known. It may reduce the distinguishing characteristics of alarming messages. Even though the population in various experiments have stated this to be annoying and sometimes patronising, it is not clear if that will affect a response if people are really in danger. A question about the importance of the various message components showed different answers in a questionnaire about a big industrial fire in The Netherlands that another experiment about citizens' alarming messages for fires and explosions. In that questionnaire the importance of explaining the danger (Risk1) was a lot higher, this component will help to determine relevance for the current moment [16].

# Dilemma III: Alarming and Informing Via the Same Technology

In this chapter, the service to alarm the population was leading to discuss how cell broadcast can be used (see positioning of cell broadcast in Fig. 1). However, from a technological point of view cell broadcast can be used both to alarm and to inform the population about an incident. As shown in Fig. 1 many channels are available to do the latter. Citizens can however not be informed or updated about a situation before being notified. Alarming requires persuasion of reader to stop what he or she is doing and act in accordance to the message (green arrow in Fig. 3). Credibility of a sender influences compliance with the instruction in a message [2, 37, 38]. A sender is considered trustful if its communication has no conflicts of interest. Potentially alarming and information messages can have conflicts. For example, when for a first incident an information message is received for which no action is required, while for a later other incident an alarm message is received which requires immediate action. Receiving multiple informative messages could decrease the urgency for an alarming message via the same communication channel. The use of control messages, as done in the Dutch case, involves another trade off. Control message similar to information message do not require an action. However, control messages are not related to one particular incident and the moment of broadcast is planned and communicated to the public in advance. Control messages are appreciated by rescue personnel since it offers an opportunity to gain experience with the new service and to test the procedures within the rescue organisation. These messages also close the loop for citizens, because by receiving a cell broadcast control message they receive confirmation that their mobile phone is tuned correctly.

# Dilemma IV: First to Alarm Versus Confirmation Unauthorized Information

Since the trial period 2005–2007 the use of social media networks increased significantly. People search at almost any place for information. In crisis communication this has shifted from the authorities will tell you what is going on to

thinking in terms of a mix of means which includes both traditional media (radio, TV and newspapers) and new media (internet, social media). Most of these channels however are useful for informing but not for alarming. Since an individual will not notice something is posted on the internet if you are busy with another activity. New media have another problem. While traditional media are often criticised about being late with information, new media have shown to be inaccessible due to network overload in several disaster situations. Another problem is the trustworthiness of social media information. For emergency services social media are a new source of information, although it requires the organisation to consider to listen and validate issues posted by the public [18]. Walters [36] argues he followed the news about the a Dutch shooting via Twitter. When verifying all he had read he found that Twitter had informed him quicker but all he had learned was found to be false information about the event. A second example occurred when a national broadcast channel had posted "Beatrix Hersenbloeding" (Dutch Queen brain haemorrhage) unintentionally on Twitter instead of searching with these words [19]. The post was retweeted quickly by multiple followers and many other media subsequently paid attention to this non-news [34]. These examples show that the government will most likely not be the first to announce. This has also never been the intention. The potential of increasing amount of false information could increase the need to confirm or disprove unauthorised information.

**Acknowledgments** This chapter is an extended version of a paper presented at Third International Engineering Systems Symposium CESUN 2012, Delft University of Technology, 18–20 June 2012. The research projects referred to in this chapter were cofounded by the Dutch Ministry of the Interior, the Dutch Ministry of Safety and Justice and the European Union (FP6-2005-IST-5). The author would like to show appreciation to all experts and employees from Dutch safety regions who participated in workshops and helped to gather today's knowledge. Last but not least to mention are the ten thousands of citizens who voluntarily participated in trials and experiments resulting in valuable insights in reaching people and their responses to and perception of alarm messages.

#### References

- Aloudat A, Micheal K, Yan J (2007) Location-based services in emergency managementfrom government to citizens: global case studies. Paper presented at the recent advances in security technology. Proceedings of the 2007 RNSA security technology conference, Melbourne
- 2. Baron RA, Byrne D, Johnson BT (1998) Exploring social psychology, 4th edn. Allyn and Bacon, Needham Heights
- Carpignano A, Golia E, Di Mauro C, Bouchon S, Nordvik J-P (2009) A methodological approach for the definition of multi-risk maps at regional level: first application. J Risk Res 12(3–4):513–534. doi:10.1080/13669870903050269
- 4. Choi SJ (2012) Public alert and warning in Korea. Paper presented at the ITU workshop on emergency communications and information management, Bangkok

- 5. CHORIST SP3.D1 Deliverable (2009) Meta definition and general categorisation for citizens early warning messages. TU Delft, Delft
- CHORIST SP3.D55 Deliverable (2008) Lessons learned by Delft University of Technology on Emergency Warnings. TU Delft, Delft
- Cox EP, Wogalter MS (2006) Warning source. In: Wogalter MS (ed) Handbook of warnings. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Mahwah, pp 111–122
- eVigilo. Case studies: IDF home command Retrieved 5 April 2012, from http:// www.evigilo.net/?page\_id=143
- 9. Federal Emergency Management Agency (2012) Commercial mobile alert system. Retrieved 13 Feb 2013, from http://www.fema.gov/commercial-mobile-alert-system. 23 July 2012
- 10. Galvez E (2012) Implementation of the emergency alert system in chile. Paper presented at the ITU Symposium on ICTs, the Environment and Climate Change, Montreal
- 11. GSMA (2013) Mobile network public warning systems and the rise of cell-broadcast. GSMA, London
- Jagtman HM (2010) Cell broadcast trials in The Netherlands: using mobile phone technology for citizens' alarming. Reliab Eng Sys Saf 95(1):18–28
- Jagtman HM (2013) Writing short alarm messages: a matter of education, training and practice. Paper presented at the European Safety and Reliability Conference, ESREL, Amsterdam
- 14. Jagtman HM, Ale BJM, Kluin MHA, Sillem S (2011) Hoe hoorde u van de brand bij Chemie-Pack in Moerdijk? Rapportage bevindingen vragenlijstonderzoek. TU Delft, Delft
- Jagtman HM, Sillem S, Ale BJM (2011) Bouwstenen voor alarmberichten in het kader van NL-Alert. Rapportage over de ontwikkeling van berichtgeving voor burgeralarmering via cell broadcast. TU Delft, Delft
- 16. Jagtman HM, Sillem S, Ale BJM (2012) NL-Alert: na welk alarmbericht komt u in actie? Resultaten van een webbased experiment waarin de bevolking helpt effectieve berichten voor burgeralarmering te ontwikkelen. TU Delft, Delft
- 17. Jagtman HM, Sillem S, Wiersma JWF (2006) Implementation issues on citizens alarming using mobile phone technology. Paper presented at the international conference on probabilistic safety assessment and management (PSAM8), New Orleans
- Latonero M, Shklovski I (2011) Emergency management, twitter, and social media evangelism. Int J Inf Syst Crisis Response Manage 3(4):1–16 (IGI Global)
- 19. Leve de koningin, met dank aan Shownieuws (2011) NRC. 19 Nov 2011
- 20. LFR (2006) HAVOS. HAndleiding VOorbereiding Sirenelocaties (versie, 3rd edn.) Landelijke Faciliteit Rampenbestrijding, Zoetermeer
- 21. Mileti DS, Sorensen JH (1990) Communication of emergency public warnings: a social science perspective and state-of-the-art assessment. Federal Emergency Management Agency, Washington, DC
- 22. Ministerie van Binnenlandse Zaken en Koninkrijksrelaties. (1999). Beleidsnota Rampenbestrijding 2000–2004. Den Haag
- Ministry of Security and Justice (2013) 28 january 2013–Monday 4 February, first test message NL-Alert Retrieved 11-02-2013, from http://www.nederlandveilig.nl/nl-alert/ actueel/17/2013-01-28/monday-4-february-first-test-message-nl-alert
- 24. Moore LK (2010) The emergency alert system (EAS) and All-hazard warnings, vol RL32527. Congressional Research Service, Washington DC
- OASIS (2005) Common Alerting Protocol V1.1 (OASIS Standard CAP-V1.1 corrected DOM)
- Onderzoeksraad voor Veiligheid (2012) Brand bij Chemie-Pack te Moerdijk. 5 januari 2011. Den Haag: Onderzoeksraad voor Veiligheid
- 27. one2many (2012) White paper: cell broadcast emergency alerts. Deventer: one2many
- Ozaki T (2011) Outline of the 2011 off the Pacific coast of Tohoku Earthquake (Mw 9.0)-Tsunami warnings/advisories and observations. Earth Planet Space 63(7):827–830

- Pries R, Hobfeld T, Tran-Gia P (2006) On the suitability of the short message service for emergency warning systems. Paper presented at the IEEE 63rd vehicular technology conference, 2006. VTC 2006-Spring, 7–10 May 2006
- Samarajiva R, Waidyanatha N (2009) Two complementary mobile technologies for disaster warning. J Policy Regul Strategy Telecommun Inf Media 11(2):58–65
- 31. Seki T, Okada T, Ikeda M, Sugano T (2008) Early warning area mail. NTT Tech Rev 6(12)
- 32. Sillem S (2010) Warning citizens; influencing self-reliance in an emergency. Boxpress, Oisterwijk
- 33. The Dutch Safety Board (2012) Fire at Chemie-Pack Moerdijk. Summary report in english. Onderzoeksraad voor Veiligheid, Den Haag
- 34. van den Breemer A, Lindhout S (2011) De 'Zieke Grap' van LuckyTV & de Brieven van boycot Bram, Volkskrant
- 35. Veiligheidsregio Noord-Holland Noord (2012) Eindverslag Evaluatie communicatie bij brand Heerhugowaard op 4 maart 2012. Veiligheidsregio Noord-Holland Noord, Alkmaar
- 36. Walters D (2011) Twitter wint op snelheid maar faalt als nieuwsbron. NRC•Next
- 37. Williams DJ, Noyes JM (2007) How does our perception of risk influence decision-making? Implications for the design of risk information. Theor Issues Ergon Sci 8(1):1–35
- Wogalter MS, Dejoy DM, Laughery KR (eds) (1999) Warnings and risk communication, vol 1, 1 th edn. Taylor and Francis Ltd., London
- 39. Wogalter MS, Kalsher MJ, Rashid R (1999) Effect of signal word and source attribution on judgements of warning credibility and compliance likelihood. Int J Ind Ergon 24:185–192

# Optimal Policy Design for Disaster-Hit Area of Japan: Bottom-Up Systems Analysis of Special Zone for Reconstruction by the Isdm

Masaki Nishimori, Motoshi Kanke, Akiko Tsutsuki, Naohiko Kohtake, Seiko Shirasaka and Toshiyuki Yasui

**Abstract** This chapter proposes application of framework of system design of a special zone for reconstruction of Fukushima Prefecture which suffered serious damages from the Great East Japan Earthquake, tsunami and nuclear accident at the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant. The framework of system design used in this chapter is called the Interactive Social Design Model (ISDM). The ISDM is useful for aggregating stakeholders' requirements and values through the process of the interactive and bottom-up communication with stakeholders, and derivation of the optimal policy in quantitative approach. In this chapter, the optimal policy designed by the ISDM for the purpose of reconstruction of Fukushima is compared with the existing system of the special zones for reconstruction, in which local governments which suffered from the earthquake can choose support measures from the catalogue of policy measures designed by the central government of Japan.

**Keywords** ISDM  $\cdot$  The Vee model  $\cdot$  Special zone for reconstruction  $\cdot$  The great eastern Japan earthquake

#### Introduction

The Eastern Japan suffered a catastrophic loss of human lives, infrastructures for daily life and industries from the great earthquake and tsunami, especially in *Fukushima* Prefecture, a serious damage and harmful rumors of radioactive contamination are obstacles to rebuild regional social and economic systems. The accident in a nuclear power plant and that sustained effect causes severe situations

M. Nishimori  $(\boxtimes) \cdot M$ . Kanke  $\cdot A$ . Tsutsuki  $\cdot N$ . Kohtake  $\cdot S$ . Shirasaka  $\cdot T$ . Yasui Graduate Student at Graduate School of System Design and Management, Keio University, Collaboration Complex, 4-1-1 Hiyoshi Kohoku-ku, Yokohama, Kanagawa 223-8526, Japan e-mail: nishimori@a5.keio.jp

that are unexpected before the earthquake. We need visualization of what are required for countermeasures against contamination and action plan for reconstruction.

The Government of Japan enacted the law for special zone for reconstruction at the end of 2011, which allows local governments of disaster areas to establish a special zone for reconstruction with approval of the central government. When local governments plan special zones, they can choose support measures from the support measures catalogue offered by the central government.

However, the policy measures in the catalogue are possibly not the requirements from the bottom of the community people's hearts that actually live in the disaster area, but the top-down policies that the central government believes them necessary for reconstruction.

#### The Interactive Social Design Model

This chapter empirically validates the process of policy design for reconstruction of disaster-hit area of Japan by the Interactive Social Design Model (ISDM). The ISDM is the systems approach to design a solution to the social system by participatory and collaborative works by residents [1]. The ISDM is supposed to be effective in the case if a policy maker cannot know or predict the requirements and values of stakeholders with accuracy. By the IDSM, a policy maker has opportunities of sharing information of the requirements and values by the stakeholders' participation.

The ISDM inherits its methodological structure from the Vee model [2], which is a helpful tool of description of a lifecycle of system design and development [3].

The ISDM consists of the following five phases:

**Requirement Analysis** 

Tools: Brain-Storming, KJ Method, VOC Analysis, Scenario Graph, Value Graph, Customer Value Chain Analysis (CVCA), Quality Function Deployment (QFD), Object Process Methodology (OPM)
Architecting and Design
Tools: Morphological Design, Prototyping Rapidly, Pugh Concept Selection, Net Present Value Analysis (NPV), Cost-Benefit Analysis
Verification
Tools: Experts Judgments, Local Opinion Poll, Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP), Scenario Analysis
Implementation
Tools: Policy Implementation
Validation
Tools: Regression Analysis, Cognitive Chronological Ethnography, Causal Loop Modeling (CLM), Multi-Agent Simulation, Structural Equation Model

However, the actual policy implementation for the special zones is delayed due to political and administrative challenges. The special zones in *Fukushima* are not yet certified as of 27 February 2012. Therefore, it is impossible at this time to compare the outcome designed by the ISDM with the central government's actual proposal for the Fukushima special zones. This chapter thus shows only the results of two phases (Requirement Analysis and Architecting and Design), and not the rest three phases (Verification, Implementation and Validation) among the above five phases.

#### **Case Study**

#### The Act of the Special Zone for Reconstruction

On 29 July 2011, the Government of Japan issued the "Basic Guidelines for Reconstruction in response to the Great Eastern Japan Earthquake", the policy guideline for post-disaster rehabilitation and reconstruction. Under this guideline, the Reconstruction Headquarters in response to the Great Eastern Japan Earthquake announced the government's policy in creating the "System of Special Zone for Reconstruction" as follows;

To strongly assist the reconstruction efforts conducted by the communities subjected to the damage, a framework of Special Zone for Reconstruction is to be established. In the conduct of this scheme, proposals by affected communities are promptly put in practice in an integrated way by making use of tailor-made and innovative ideas, going beyond the conventional wisdoms and ideas. They include special measures for drastically reduced regulations and administrative procedures, as well as economic aid packages. (Reconstruction Headquarters in response to the Great Eastern Japan Earthquake [4].)

On 7 December 2011, the Act of the Special Zone for Reconstruction came into effect. This act allows local governments located in "disaster afflicted zone" to formulate and submit a plan for a special zone for reconstruction which includes the incentives of special arrangements for deregulation, the special measures regarding land use restructuring, and the grants to local governments.

#### ISDM

In this chapter, the policy support designed by the ISDM that is the bottom-up approach with stakeholders in *Fukushima* is compared with the existing scheme of special zone for reconstruction at the initiative of the central government mentioned in the previous subsection.

## **Requirement Analysis**

On 11 December, 2011, a workshop was held in *Fukushima* under the aegis of "Link with Fukushima", a voluntary youth organization based in *Fukushima*, and SDM Institute of Keio University. In this workshop, seventeen participants including a local governmental official, students and staffs of the host organization discussed about the theme of reconstruction of *Fukushima* and policy making by bottom-up approach (Fig. 1).

After the workshop, we sent questionnaires to staffs of the host organization and experts of special zone planning who were in charge of special zone policy of the Cabinet Secretariat, Government of Japan. Returned answers to questionnaires were used for requirement analysis in the ISDM.

## Brain Storming and KJ Method

Firstly, in this workshop, Participants had brainstorming session and proposed almost 150 ideas for reconstruction of *Fukushima* in the session. These ideas were categorized into nine groups of stakeholders' requirements and values using the KL Method; housing, radiation, medical care, agriculture, daily life, energy, regional economy, image-building, and future vision (Fig. 2).

## Value Graph

The next process of the requirement analysis is to draw the value graph that can visualize relationship with the purpose of the policy designed by the ISDM, future goals, stakeholder's value and observable indices. The pivotal role of the value



Fig. 1 The workshop for Fukushima special zone on 11 December, 2011 (adapted from link with Fukushima [5])



Fig. 2 Brainstorming and the grouping session at the session on 11 December, 2011 (adapted from link with Fukushima [5])

graph for this time is "reconstruction of *Fukushima*", that is the purpose of the policy. And the lower layers are extracted factors of "stakeholders' requirements and values" and "economic and social indices." The upper layer of the value graph shows the purpose and substantial goal of "reconstruction of *Fukushima*" (Fig. 3).

# Weighted Poll

In order to weigh the importance of each factor of stakeholders' requirements and values, we conducted a survey in the form of a weighted questionnaire targeting the staffs of the workshop organizer and experts of special zones who have a career at the Cabinet Office of Japan. Twenty one respondents returned answers to the questionnaires. Table 1 shows the most important index of each factor in their answers.



Fig. 3 The value graph for the reconstruction of Fukushima

#### Customer Value Chain Analysis

The Customer Value Chain Analysis (CVCA) is the method to describe the relationship with stakeholders; in the case of Fukushima, they are the central and local government, entities in *Fukushima* (enterprises and residents) and residents outside of *Fukushima*. The completed CVCA clearly shows some obstacles that have to be solved in order to make a progress for reconstruction of *Fukushima* (Fig. 4).

The central government which plans the framework of special zone can have information of needs of disaster area only from each plan of special zone by local government, not directly from the local enterprises and residents in disaster area.

Information from the central and local government and local enterprises in *Fukushima* to Japanese nationals outside of *Fukushima* is not enough to understand about the current situation in *Fukushima*, especially related matters of nuclear accident and the safety of food made in *Fukushima*, then this shortage of information causes serious harmful rumors.

#### Quality Function Deployment (Two Steps)

#### QFD-1

Quality function deployment (QFD) can analyze the structure of value graph and the connection of each factor of that graph quantitatively [6]. In this chapter, the QFD applies to the estimation of each factor of "stakeholders' requirements and values", "economic and social indices" and "function and action." The QFD has two steps for analysis of these three layers.

The first QFD (QFD-1) is QFD that analyze "stakeholders' requirements and values" and "economic and social indices." The result of the QFD-1 implies that the importance of radioactive decontamination for revitalization of agricultural industry in *Fukushima*, which has the largest weight in the QFD-1 (Table 2).

#### QFD-2

Based on the information of weight of each factor of "economic and social indices" from the QFD-1, the second QFD (QFD-2) that analyzes "economic and social indices" and "function and action" can be deployed. The QFD-2 shows that radioactive decontamination in farmland, residential area and school is the most important factor in "function and action" (Table 3).

Table 1 T	he most impo	ortant index of e	each factor in the weig	ghed poll				
Housing	Radiation	Medical care	Agriculture	Daily life	Energy	Regional economy	Image-building	Future vision
Available house for all refugees	Sufficient safe haven	Hospital for inhabitants	Farmland decontamination	Early return from Safe haven/life at current residence without fear	Increase the use of renewable energy	Creation of new industries	Project an image of medical care and	Promotion of reconstruction project
							energy	



# Architecting and Design

#### **Pugh Concept Selection**

Pugh Concept Selection can provide a basis for comparison between solutions for each requirements [6]. Policy alternatives of reconstruction supports that are based on the ideas discussed in the workshop are as follows:

- Solution 1 "Special housing zone": Improvement of residential zone (construction of temporary housing and support of rebuilding and relocation housing) and promotion of commerce and communication in residential zone
- Solution 2 "Special zone for radiation safety": Support of development and operation of decontamination in the private sector, radiation inspection of agricultural product, and promotion of public relations campaign for radiation safety
- Solution 3 "Special medical zone": Attraction of medical center and research of radiology based on the future vision of public medical care and welfare in *Fukushima*
- Solution 4 "Special zone for energy technology and industry": Attraction of research organization of renewable energy at the nuclear power plant site and fostering and promotion of new industries and venture companies in the related fields

Solution 3 is set as a benchmark for the Pugh Concept Selection. The Pugh Concept Selection implies that Solution 2 is the most effective policy in order to achieve the given stakeholders' requirement and values (Table 4).

Table 2 The fir	st quality f	unction c	deployment (	QFD-1) for	r "stakehol	ders' requiremer	nts and v	alues" and	"economic	c and socia	il indices"	
QFD-1		Econo	mic and socia	1 indices								
		Weigh	nt Available	Sufficient	Hospital	Farmland	Early	Life at	Increase	Creation	Project an	Promotion of
			house for	safe	for	decontamination	return	current	the use of	of new	image of	reconstruction
			all	haven	inhabitants		from	residence	renewable	industries	medical	project
			refugees				safe haven	without fear	energy		care and energy	
Stakeholders'	Housing	3	6	3			3	3			5	-
requirements	Radiation	6		3	3	6		3			1	3
and values	Medical car	е 3			6			3			1	
	Agriculture	6				6		3		3		1
	Daily life	-	33				3	6				1
	Energy	-							6	3	3	
	Regional	-				3			3	6	3	1
	econom	y										
	Image-	-							3	6	6	1
	building	<b>F</b>										
	Future visio	n 9					1		3	3	3	6
	Score		30	36	54	165	21	81	42	69	54	123
	Composition ratio (%	u (e	4.4	5.3	8.0	24.4	3.1	12.0	6.2	10.2	8.0	18.2

Table 3	The second Quality	y Functi	on Deployn	nent (QFD-2) for "ecc	pnomic and social inc	lices" and "func	tion and action"		
QFD-2		Function	1 and action						
		Weight	Building	Reconstruction of	Decontamination	Radiation	Attraction and	Increase of the	Fostering and
		(%)	temporary housing	residential zone/support for rebuilding homes	operation (farmland, residential area and	inspection of agricultural	foundation of Medical	use of renewable	promotion of new industries
			[FA-1]	[FA-2]	school) [FA-3]	product [FA-4]	organization [FA- 5]	energy[FA-6]	[FA-7]
Economic	Available house for	4.4	6	3	1				
social	Sufficient safe haven	5.3	6		1				
indices	Hospital for inhabitants	8.0					6		
	Farmland	24.4			6	3			
	Early return from Safe haven	3.1		c	3	1			
	Life at current	12.0		3	3	1			
	without fear								
	Increase the use of renewable	6.2						6	3
	energy								
	Creation of new industries	10.2				3	1	3	6
	Project an image of	8.0					6	6	3
	medical care and energy								
	Promotion of	18.2	1	3	6	6	З	3	3
	reconstruction								
	project								
	score		1.06	1.13	4.39	2.83	2.09	2.13	1.89
	Ranking		7th	6th	lst	2nd	4th	3rd	5th

Table 4 The Pug	gh Concept Se	ection for alternative policies fc	or reconstruction of Fukushima	formulated by the ISDM	
		Solution 1 "Special housing zone"	Solution 2 "Special zone for radiation	Solution 3 "Special medical zone"	Solution 4 "Special zone for energy
		Improvement of residential	safety" Support of development and	Attraction of medical	technology and industry" Attraction of research
		zone (construction of	operation of decontamination	center and research of	organization of renewable
		temporary housing and	in the private sector, radiation	radiology based on the	energy at the nuclear power
		support of rebuilding and	inspection of agricultural	future vision of public	plant site and fostering and
		relocation housing) and	product, and promotion of	medical care and welfare	promotion of new industries
		promouon of commerce and communication in residential	puone relations campaign for radiation safety	III FUKUSIIIIIIA	and venture companies in the related fields
		zone			
Stakeholders'	Housing	++	S	1	S
requirements	Radiation	I	++	I	S
and needs	Medical	I	S	I	S
	care				
	Agriculture	S	++	I	S
	Daily life	+	++	1	+
	Energy	S	S	I	+
	Regional	S	+	I	+
	economy				
	Image-	I	+	I	+
	building				
	Future	I	+	I	++
	vision				
	Score	3+ 3S 4-	9+ 3S	I	7+ 4S
	Ranking	4th	1st	3rd	2nd

#### Synthesis of Design

In order to get a desirable social design, the most valuable functions chosen by the two fold QFD in the Quality Function Deployment (Two Steps) and the solution selected by the Pugh Concept Selection in section Pugh Concept Selection is better synthesized. By this synthesis, the solution which is evaluated the best by comparative design method can be equipped with the functions which are the most favored by the voice of stakeholders.

For the case of *Fukushima*, the special zone for radiation safety (Solution 2) is synthesized with the radioactive decontamination, which is the most favored by stakeholders in the weighted poll. This design implies that the supports for radioactive decontaminations are the most wanted special zone policy by the residents in *Fukushima*.

#### Discussion

In the ISDM, the brainstorming with stakeholders in *Fukushima* can visualize their requirements and values by bottom-up approach, and the weighted questionnaire to staffs of the host organization and experts of special zone planning and the quality function deployment can estimate the effects of potential policies for reconstruction quantitatively in two stages. That estimation allows the ISDM to suggest the optimal policy package for realization of the stakeholders' requirement and values.

This result makes clear the difference between the ISDM approach and the existing framework of special zone in which local governments in disaster area plan reconstruction strategy through the use of the central government's supportive measures as a precondition.

#### Conclusions

In this chapter, the effectiveness of the ISDM is verified by the optimal policy design for the reconstruction of *Fukushima* Prefecture. Especially it becomes clear that the ISDM can design a right policy by the bottom-up approach in unprecedented situation such as the greatest earthquake and serious nuclear accident on record.

**Acknowledgments** The authors gracefully acknowledge cooperation and sponsorships provided at the workshop for this chapter from the Fukushima Prefectural Government, the Link with Fukushima, Fukushima Future Center for Regional Revitalization of the Fukushima University, and the SDM Institute of the Keio University Graduate School of System Design and Management. The research in this chapter is financially supported by the KAKENHI (23611038), the Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) through the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) and the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT). The Center for Education and Research of Symbiotic, Safe and Secure Systems Design of the Keio University Advanced Research Center also financially supports this research by the MEXT Global COE Program (Keio University GCOE H-10).

#### References

- Yasui T, Shirasaka S, Kohtake N, Tsutsuki A (2011) Creating community commons: a systems-approach to re-vitalize declined rural towns. In: Proceedings, 5th Asia-Pacific conference on systems engineering (APCOSE2011), Seoul, Korea, 19–21 Oct 2011
- Forsberg K, Mooz H, Cotterman H (2005) Visualizing project management, 3rd edn, Chap. 7. Wiley, Hoboken, New Jersey, pp 108–115
- Ishii K, de Wick O, Haruyama S, Maeno T, Kim S, Fowler W (2009) Active learning project sequence: capstone experience for multi-disciplinary system design and management education. In: International conference on engineering design, ICED' 09, Stanford University, Stanford, California, USA, 10-57–10-68, 24–27 August 2009
- 4. Reconstruction Headquarters in response to the Great East Japan Earthquake. http:// www.reconstruction.go.jp. Last accessed on 26 Feb 2012
- Link with Fukushima (2011) http://link-with-fukushima.blogspot.com/2011/12/blogpost\_20.html. Last accessed on 29 Feb 2012
- 6. Tsutsuki A, Yasui T, Shirasaka S, Kohtake N (2011) Visualization and quantification of residents' preference by systems-approach—a new methodology to design a public policy for re-vitalization declined rural town. J KANTO Assoc Urbanology, pp 110–118 (in Japanese)

# **Transportation Energy Consumption and Energy Security in China**

#### Sai-ni Yang, Dan Wu and Ming Wang

Abstract This chapter is aimed at analyzing the energy consumption of transportation industry in China and its relationship with national energy security from a macro and quantitative point of view. Based on analyses of historical transportation energy demand and relevant planning policies, regression models were established in order to estimate the demand and structure changes of transportation. Combined with the main factors affecting transportation energy consumption, an econometric model was established using the Partial Least Square Regression method to analysis and predict the transportation energy consumption scenarios as well as energy-saving rate in China in the middle and long-term. Study results confirm that China's transportation demand and its energy consumption will keep growing within a period of time, and transportation structure has changed a lot in the past two decades, with road and air transport currently the fastest developing transport modes. Future growth of transportation system's energy consumption, especially petroleum consumption will pose a serious threat to energy security in China. Technique substitution, especially in road transport mode may significantly mitigate the energy gap.

Keywords Transportation  $\cdot$  Energy consumption  $\cdot$  Prediction model  $\cdot$  Energy-saving rate  $\cdot$  China

# Introduction

From the mid-1970s of the twentieth century, United State is the country with the largest oil-imports in the world. However, it is bypassed by China in December 2012. The net-oil-import reaches 6,120,000 barrels in December according to the

S. Yang  $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$ . Wu  $\cdot M$ . Wang

State Key Laboratory of Earth Surface Processes and Resource Ecology, Beijing Normal University, Beijing 100875, China e-mail: yangsaini@bnu.edu.cn

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_10, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

statistics of General Administration of Customs of China. Though someone argues that the data of December is heavily affected by annual taxation and data of a single month cannot represent the trend in long run, the high oil-imports make many people anxious about energy security in China.

With the development of economy and acceleration of urbanization process, energy consumption in China grows dramatically. Among all departments, transportation industry grows even faster than that of the whole society. As pointed by many researchers "…transportation industry is the major user of petroleum. Analysis of transportation energy consumption becomes a must in China…" [1]. Transportation energy consumption has put a serious threat to the country's energy security. Meanwhile, since transportation is a major user of carbon-based fuels, it is also increasingly being highlighted as the industry, which contributes least to  $CO_2$  emission reduction targets [2].

As the main factor that hinders sustainable development, energy consumption in transportation system has aroused extensive attention of domestic and international scholars as well as government departments. Within domestic and international study on issues related to energy consumption in Chinese transportation system, energy consumption prediction is the basic part and occupies an important position. Traditionally, predictive models are usually built using historical data to analysis and predict transportation energy consumption levels in the future, which include energy efficiency, total energy consumption [3-6]. In addition, some work has also been undertaken to further explore issues like transportation structure optimization, planning and policy strategies and transportation sustainable development from the perspective of energy consumption. Shen [7] analyzed the sustainable transportation strategies against energy insufficiency and environmental needs; Tao and Xue [8] brought forward an analytical method of tax policy research on sustainable energy for transportation system in China; Creutzig and He [9] investigated the role of demand elasticity and demonstrated that joint demand and supply-side policies provide considerable synergies. However, these researches have been restricted to the lack of a complete and objective evaluation system to determine the impact factors of transportation energy consumption on energy security. Comparability of indicators and reliable data are also needed for further study.

In this study, an energy consumption prediction model is proposed to take comprehensive consideration of factors influencing energy consumption in China in middle and long-term. Further analysis and discussion are provided on intrinsic relationship and regularity between different transport modes' energy consumption proportions, the relevant influencing factors and national energy security. This study aims at not only helping obtaining better understand on current energy consumption situation of China's transportation system, but also providing a scientific reference for the development of China's middle and long-term sustainable transportation planning as well as national energy security.
#### **Analysis of Transportation Demand**

#### **Changes of Transport Structure**

To predict the future energy consumption of transportation industry, transportation demand is an important indicator to measure the development level of transportation industry. In recent years, with the economic development and technological progress, Chinese transportation industry continues expanding, and transportation demand is surging. From 1990 to 2010, total demands of passenger volume and freight volume have increased as much as 5 times and 5.4 times, and have reached 2,789,426 million passenger km and 14,183,742 million ton km in 2010 respectively. Average annual growth of passenger volume and freight volume are 7.9 and 8.4 % during the past 21 years, which provides a strong evidence for the fast development of transportation capacity.

The proportion change of passenger and freight volume by different transport modes varies and forms different transport structure. Since people pay more and more attention to convenience and comfort besides accessibility when selecting transport modes, road transport now has replaced rail transport and become the most important transport mode in terms of passenger volume, and air transport becomes the fastest growing one. Road passenger volume proportion in China grows from 46.6 % in 1990 to 54 % in 2010. Although replaced by road transport from the first place, rail transport is still very attractive to the passengers with the improvement of comfort and speed. Especially, railway is suitable for bulk cargo transport. Therefore, it will maintain its important position in integrated transportation system in the future. Waterway shares a small part of passenger transport, while it keeps a steady growth in freight transport as well as pipeline transport because of its low cost. Freight volume proportion of water transport is 44.2 % in 1990 and it grows up to 48.2 % in 2010.

Figures 1a and b illustrated the share of passenger volume and freight volume for major modes respectively. The current rank of main passenger-transport modes is road, rail, air, waterway, and the order of freight-transport modes is waterway, road, rail, pipeline and air. Air and road transport are now the top two modes with fastest growing speed of demand.



# Prediction of Passenger and Freight Volume

In recent two decades, integrated transportation capacity and transport volume constantly increased because of the rapid development of transportation industry. Generally speaking, transport volume is closely related to economic development. In order to predict passenger and freight volume in the future, regression equations between passenger (freight) volume and GDP are established using data from 1994 to 2010 (Eqs. (1), (2)).  $\mathbb{R}^2$  of the two equations are 0.9844 and 0.9966 respectively, which show that the regression equations established have a good quantitative reflection at the relationship between transport volume and national economy.

$$Freight volume = 1.0347GDP - 4558.5, \quad R^2 = 0.9844 \tag{1}$$

$$Passenger \ volume = 0.1812GDP + 2970.4, \quad R^2 = 0.9966 \tag{2}$$

\*(Data resource: "China Statistical Yearbook"; price base year of GDP is 1990.)

According to the GDP growth prediction results provided by Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (CASS) and national development plan of the government, we make the following assumptions: by 2020, 2030 and 2050, GDP growth rate will be 7.7, 6 and 5 %, and the GDP value will be 29,292,310, 52,458,060, 139,106,800 million yuan. By Eqs. (1) and (2), predictive value of passenger and freight volume in 2020, 2030, 2050 will be obtained respectively (as shown in Table 1).

# **Energy Consumption Prediction of Transportation Industry in China**

### Current Statues of Energy Consumption of Transportation Industry

From 1994 to 2010, energy consumption of transportation industry and its proportion occupancy of the total social energy consumption show a significant upward trend (Fig. 2). In 1995, energy consumed by the transportation industry was only 4.47 % of whole society's energy consumption. This number reached 7.05 % in 2005 and 8.02 % in 2010. Annual growth rate of energy consumption of

1			
	2020	2030	2050
Predict passenger volume (100 million passenger-km)	56,048.1	98,024.4	255,177
Predict freight volume (100 million ton-km)	298,529	538,225	1,435,608

Table 1 Predict value of transport volume



the whole society was 6.3 % during 1994–2010, while the annual growth rate was 10.1 % for transportation industry in the same period of time.

Compared with the developed countries, energy consumption proportion of transportation industry in China is relatively low. In 2003, energy consumption proportion of transportation industry in America is 27.1 % and the proportion is 24.4 % in Japan in 2005 [10]. While the number is only 6.93 and 7.05 % in China in the same period. There are two main factors lead to this deference: first, statistic methods are different in various countries; second, the fast booming industry sector consumes more energy than transportation industry in emerging countries like China.

As to energy structure, among the various kinds of energy consumed by transportation industry, petroleum accounts for the largest proportion, which has a closely relationship with the fast development of road and air transportation (Fig. 3). From 1993 to 2010, petroleum consumption of transportation industry in China keeps fast growth, while the domestic production of petroleum is limited





since it is non-renewable energy. Large consumption of petroleum resource in transportation industry forces China's annual import volume of petroleum increase continuously (Fig. 4). In 1993, petroleum consumption of transportation industry is only 17.2 % of total domestic petroleum production. However, the proportion reached 73.2 % in 2010. Though the energy consumption proportion of transportation industry in China is much lower than that of most of the developed countries, transportation industry's heavy dependence on petroleum energy brings a great threat to China's energy security. In addition, petroleum is highlighted as the serious environment unfriendly energy since it will emit large number of green gas. The amount of petroleum energy use will directly influence the effectiveness of energy saving and emission reduction of the whole country. It is extremely important to minimize petroleum consumption proportion and adjust energy consumption structure of transportation industry in China in order to achieve sustainable development in the future.

#### **Energy Assumption Model for Transportation Industry**

Energy consumption of transportation industry is affected by various factors. The following factors are generally considered in estimation: GDP, fuel prices, population, urbanization rate, passenger (freight) volume, per capita disposable income of urban households, etc. [11]. In this study four main factors: GDP, passenger volume, urbanization rate and freight volume are selected to establish a model by PLSR method to predict energy consumption of transportation industry. 17 years' (1994–2010) national annual statistical data is used in modelling. Variables  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ ,  $x_3$ ,  $x_4$  and y represent GDP, passenger volume, freight volume, urbanization rate and energy consumption respectively.

As shown in Table 2, correlation matrix shows a strong correlation exists between each selected variable.

Variables	$X_I$	$X_2$	$X_3$	$X_4$	у
$X_I$	1.000	0.997	0.987	0.966	0.997
$X_2$	0.997	1.000	0.987	0.966	0.996
$X_3$	0.987	0.987	1.000	0.924	0.987
$X_4$	0.966	0.966	0.924	1.000	0.968
у	0.997	0.996	0.987	0.968	1.000

Table 2 Correlation matrix

We use data from 1994 to 2009 to establish the prediction model by PLSR method, and data in 2010 to validate this model. With software SXLTAT, we get the regression Eq. (3), and  $R^2$  is 0.996.

$$y = -7198.524 + 0.055x_1 + 0.305x_2 + 0.055x_3 + 224.4x_4 \tag{3}$$

Table 3 shows that the model prediction results and actual energy consumption values of transportation system in China from 1994 to 2009, which are quite similar. The maximum relative error is 7.6 %, the average relative error is 3.05 %, and the relative error in the test year 2010 is 4.66 %. The study results indicate that the prediction model established by the PLSR method is applicable to predict the transportation energy consumption if without structural change.

Year	Actual energy consumption value (10.000 tons of SCE)	Calculate results of PLSR model (10,000 tons of SCE)	Relative error (%)
1994	5,625.58	5.298.1865	-5.82
1995	5,862.90	5,857.5001	-0.09
1996	5,994.45	6,449.8131	7.60
1997	7,543.10	7,327.1145	-2.86
1998	8,245.02	7,982.5477	-3.18
1999	9,242.62	8,821.7007	-4.55
2000	9,916.12	9,858.4443	-0.58
2001	10,257.08	10,869.096	5.97
2002	11,086.49	11,920.339	7.52
2003	12,740.10	12,647.83	-0.72
2004	15,104.00	14,903.872	-1.32
2005	16,629.00	16,573.04	-0.34
2006	18,582.72	18,431.389	-0.81
2007	20,643.37	20,901.074	1.25
2008	22,917.25	22,668.849	-1.08
2009	23,691.84	24,691.845	4.22

Table 3 Prediction results of PLSR model for transportation industry

# Prediction of Energy Consumption of Transportation Industry in Mid-Long Term

To estimate the energy consumption of transportation industry in mil-long term, urbanization rate in the future needs to be first determined. According to the forecast of CASS and the World Bank, urbanization rate of China will be 57.67 % in 2020 and 67.81 % in 2030. While 68 % may be the top of the next 20 years, after 2050 the urbanization rate will remain at that level in a long time. By bringing the above predictive value of GDP, passenger volume and freight volume into the PLSR model, prediction results of energy consumption of transportation industry in 2020, 2030 and 2050 are obtained, as shown in Table 4.

The petroleum consumption in whole society and transportation industry is illustrated as in Fig. 4. The petroleum consumption of transportation industry is nearly the total domestic production in 2010. If we further look at the consumption and market share of major energy resources in transportation industry (Figs. 5 and 6), oil is the dominant energy resource, while the consumption and market share of coal are both declining. In the past 15 years, there is no significant market share increment of electricity but the total consumption has a similar trend as that of petroleum.

The annual petroleum production is about 3,820 million tons globally and about 200 million tons domestically in 2010 [12]. Based on these estimated energy consumptions, if the energy consumption structure maintains the same as that in 2010, the annual consumption of petroleum by transportation industry in China will reach 659 million ton in 2020, 1,173 million ton in 2030 and 3,050 million ton in 2050. That is, the oil dependency will soar to 456 million tons by 2020,

Table 4 Trediction results of transportation energy	consumption n	i tile i uture	
	2020	2030	2050
Predict energy consumption (10,000 tons of SCE)	115,987.37	206,419.94	536,957.34



Table 4	Prediction	results	of	transportation	energy	consumption	in	the	future

Fig. 5 Consumption of three

major energy transportation

industry



970 million tons by 2030, and about 2,850 million tons by 2050, if there no significant change in domestic oil-production. 2,850 million tons is more than 70 % of the current global annual production. It is impossible to satisfy such a huge demand of the transportation industry in one country. The current development path is unsustainable in the energy perspective. What can we do to achieve energy security?

# Analysis of the Energy-Saving Potential of Transportation System

# Integrated Energy Intensity Analysis

Energy intensity is one of the main factors that affect transportation energy consumption, and it can be represented by energy use per passenger km or ton km [13]. Although the transport volume proportion of high energy consumptive transport modes, such as road and air, keeps growing, integrated energy intensity of transportation industry in China has shown a fluctuated downward trend since 2003 (Fig. 7). This is because of the efficiency improvement of fuel utilization due to science and technology development. Figure 8 shows the change of energy intensity of each transport mode in recent 15 years. We found that the energy intensity of each transportation mode in a logarithmic scale shows a clear descending linear trend except road transport. As a result of the elimination of a large number of steam locomotive and increment in the proportion of diesel locomotive and electronic locomotives, energy intensity of rail transport dropped significantly. However, with the elimination of steam locomotive completes, trains speed up, and equipments become more comfortable, it may be rather difficult to further reduce energy intensity of rail transport in the future. Both water and air transports show a clear downward trend in energy intensity, due to new design,



**Fig. 7** Integrated energy intensity (tce/million-t-km)

new technology and operations optimization. As to pipeline transport, its energy intensity is greater than that of the waterways and railways in recent years, and the main influencing factors are the long update cycle of equipments and unsaturation of transport volume. However, toad transport, as the mode that contributes most to energy consumption in transportation industry, its energy intensity keeps growing [11]. These send an important message that the energy technique innovation of road transport is the key to energy security of China.

#### Prediction of Energy-Saving Rate in Transportation Industry

Transportation energy-saving rate is an important indicator to reflect transportation development level and energy saving effect, which refer to the ratio of energy saving in a specific period and the energy consumption in the base period. It can be expressed by Eqs. (4) and (5) [14].

$$E = \alpha \cdot Q \tag{4}$$

$$\varepsilon_t = (E_0 - E_t) / E_0 \cdot 100 \%$$
 (5)

where, E is the energy consumption amount;  $\alpha$ : energy intensity; Q is the transportation volume;  $\varepsilon_t$  is energy-saving rate in predicted year;  $E_t$  is the energy consumption in predicted year and  $E_0$  is the energy consumption in the base year.

With the calculated transport volumes of various transport modes in the forecast years and based on the assumption that transportation structure in the predicted year is the same as that in 2010, transport volume in each mode is converted to standard transport volume using the following conversion factors: rail transportation is 1:1, road is 10:1, waterway is 2:1 and air is 13.7:1. Thus, combined with the prediction results of passenger and freight volume in 2020, 2030 and 2050 in



section Prediction of Passenger and Freight Volume, we can get the converted volume for different transport modes (Table 5). According to the "Middle and long-term Railway Network Plan" of the National Development and Reform Commission and the "Highway and Waterway Mid-long-term Energy Conservation Plan" of Transport Management Department of China, as well as reference of related research [15], reduction of integrated unit energy consumption of various transport modes 2020, 2030 and 2050 are determined as follows with 2005 as the base year (Table 6). If these goals are achievable, by solving Eqs. (4) and (5), energy-saving rates of 2020, 2030 and 2050 can be obtained respectively.

Table 7 shows that energy saving rate of five major transport modes in China in the future. Among these transport modes, energy-saving rates of road, pipeline and air will be the top three. Rapid growth of energy consumption of road transportation is mainly enhanced by the increment of traffic volume and energy intensity. Energy consumption of air transportation will keep growing though its energy intensity declines with the updates of machine and ascension of occupancy rate, mainly due to the rapid increase in transport volume attracted by its fast, comfortable and efficient features. Energy consumption of pipeline also shows an

Table 5 Total transport volume after conversion (100 million ton-km)						
	Rail	Road	Waterway	Air	Pipeline	
2020	75,789.24	94,341.54	144,064.80	968.91	4,624.49	
2030	135,691.67	169,927.64	259,735.49	1,714.89	8,337.60	
2050	359,956.71	452,909.78	692,787.80	4,507.71	22,238.90	

 Table 5 Total transport volume after conversion (100 million ton-km)

 Table 6 Proposed reduction of unit energy consumption for various transport modes [15]

	Rail (%)	Road (%)	Waterway (%)	Air (%)	Pipeline (%)
2020	20	15	20	20	15
2030	30	35	30	30	20
2050	35	45	40	40	25

Table 7 Predicted of energy-saving rates in the future		2020	2030	2050
	Rail	-1.26	-2.55	-7.73
	Road	-7.33	-10.48	-24.89
	Waterway	-1.32	-2.66	-7.36
	Air	-2.40	-4.26	-10.85
	Pipeline	-2.61	-5.13	-14.33

Negative value indicates the growth of energy consumption

obvious upward trend because its construction speed in recent years continues to accelerate and its transportation capacity keeps expanding. As traditional transport modes, rail and waterway transportation have a relatively slow growth rate of energy consumption because of two main reasons. On one hand, there is less margin in demand for these two modes; on the other hand, energy intensity has decreased due to operation optimization and technology improvement. Take the energy assumption in 2020 for example, road transportation's energy intensity reduced more by 1 % will contributes 1.3 % to its energy consumption reduction, but 1 % more reduction of energy intensity will contributes 1.8 % to energy consumption reduction for air transportation. Again, all these depend on the fulfilment of the targeted unit energy consumption reduction.

Under target energy saving scenario, the future energy consumption in 2020, 2030 and 2050 are computed as in Table 8, with the assumption that the transportation structure maintains the same as in 2010. Compared with the prediction results in section Prediction of Energy Consumption of Transportation Industry in Mid-long Term, the total energy consumption reduced 20.4, 36.5 and 44.5 % respectively. Correspondingly, the petroleum consumption in 2020, 2030 and 2050 will be 524, 744 and 1,692 million tons respectively. These amounts are still too much given the petroleum current production level. The proposed reduction of unit energy consumption alone cannot solve the national energy security issue. Significant changes have to be made in energy structure and transportation structure to ensure sustainable development.

Year	2020	2030	2050
Rail	5,371.94	8,415.60	20,729.90
Road	72,286.88	99,566.90	224,549.44
Waterway	9,692.68	15,290.63	34,958.07
Air	4,346.55	6,729.85	15,161.36
Pipe	598.90	1,016.25	2,541.24
Total energy consumption in transportation industry	92,296.95	131,019.23	297,940.03

**Table 8** Predicted energyconsumption for transportmodes and transportationindustry (10,000 tons ofSCE)

#### Conclusions

Through data analyses and established prediction models, we get the following implications: With the strong confidence in economic develop in China; transport volume in China will maintain a rapid growth in the future. Passenger volume will reaches 25,517,700 million passenger km and freight volume will reaches 143,560,800 million ton km in 2050, which indicate energy consumption of transportation industry has become a serious threat to China's energy security, especially to petroleum security.

Petroleum energy consumption by transportation industry shared only 12 % of total domestic petroleum production in 1990, while the proportion reached 73.2 % in 2010. If the current consumption structure is not changed, the petroleum consumption in 2050 will reach 3,050 million tons, and this amount is about 1,500 % of the current domestic petroleum production and about 75 % of the global petroleum production. Adjustment of energy consumption structure and reduce the integrated energy intensity in transportation industry become the key to ensure energy security and sustainable development in China and in the world.

Transportation structure has changed significantly in the past decades since modern transportation pays more attention to transportation efficiency, comfort and convenience. In terms of passenger transportation volume, both road and air transport have significantly improved due to their speed and convenience. Road transport has replaced rail and becomes the major transport mode. Waterway and railway are still dominant in terms of freight transport. Road, pipeline and air become the top three transport modes with the fastest energy consumption growing speed. By 2020 their predict energy consumption values will be 8.3, 3.6, 3.4 times higher than that in 2005 respectively due to their high-energy intensity. This will exaggerate the total energy consumption in transportation industry. Therefore, the adaptation of technologies, such as new energy resource, electric cars and operation optimization may have a significant impact on petroleum consumption and energy security in the middle and long-term, and the adjustment of transport pattern with scientific guidance is the backbone of energy saving in transportation industry.

#### References

- 1. Lin B (2012) The development of electric car's significant importance for energy security. Energy 2011(3):24
- 2. Hickman R, Ashiru O, Banister D (2010) Transport and climate change: simulating the options for carbon reduction in London. Transp Policy 17:110–125
- 3. Chang S, Hu X, Ou X, Zhang X (2010) Decomposition analysis of intercity passenger transportation energy consumption in China. China Popul Resour Environ 20:24–30
- 4. Jia S, Mao B, Liu S, Sun Q (2010) Calculation and analysis of transportation energy consumption level in China. J Transp Syst Eng Inf Technol 10:22–27

- 5. Li D, Ren Y, Hu D, Zhu L (2005) The application of dummy method in Chinese transportation energy consumption prediction. Sci Technol Manage Ress 25:139–141
- Ren Y, Ji Y, Zhu L, Lv W (2006) Application of co-integration in demand forecast of transportation energy. Sci Technol Manage Res 26:30–39
- Shen L (2008) Sustainable transportation strategy against energy insufficiency and environmental needs. Urban Transp China 6:12–15
- Tao y, Xue H (2009) Study on decision-making system model of transportation energy consuming. Comput Eng Appl 45:5–9
- 9. Creutzig F, He D (2009) Climate change mitigation and co-benefits of feasible transport demand policies in Beijing. Transp Res Part D 14:120–131
- Liu J, Chen W, Liu D (2011) China ESDPM model and its application demand projection. China Popul Resour Environ 21:71–75
- Zhang M (2009) Analysis and prediction on China's energy-related CO<sub>2</sub> emission and transport energy consumption based on index decomposition method. Dalian University of Technology, Dalian (Energy and Environment Engineering)
- 12. BP (2010) BP statistical review of world energy. http://wenku.baidu.com/view/ 3f6760d280eb6294dd886c73.html. Accessible on 20 Mar 2013
- Akerman J, Hojer M (2006) How much transport can climate stand?—Sweden on a sustainable path in 2050. Energy Policy 34:1944–1957
- 14. Ministry of Railways (2006) Energy consumption and saving the railway transport enterprise statistics rule. China Railway Press, Beijing
- 15. Liu J (2011) Energy saving potential and carbon emissions prediction for the transportation sector in China. Resour Sci 33:640–646

# Part IV Equity, Ethics, and Infrastructures

# Equity and the Ethics of Water Governance

**Neelke Doorn** 

**Abstract** Water is recognized to pose some very urgent questions in the near future. A significant number of people are deprived of clean drinking water and sanitation services, with an accordingly high percentage of people dying from water borne diseases. At the same time, an increasing percentage of the global population lives in areas that are at risk of flooding, partly exacerbated by climate change. In this chapter, it is argued that ethics should be an integrated part of water governance in order to address these pressing issues. This chapter consists of two parts. In the first part, some conceptual groundwork is done to clarify a number of persistent ambiguities and misunderstandings in the debate on water governance. In the second part, three distributive questions are outlined, concerning (1) the distribution of scarce resources, (2) the distribution of risks, and (3) the distribution of responsibilities. The chapter concludes with an outline for an ethics of water governance.

**Keywords** Water • Access • Allocation • Equity • Ethics • Distributive justice • Human rights • Values • Property regimes

#### Introduction

Water is essential for human life. However, due to its scarcity, the management of water is a topic of great concern. Inadequate management may lead to famines, food insecurity, ecological destruction, and resource-based conflicts, and

N. Doorn (🖂)

A previous version of this chapter has been published as Doorn, N. (2013). 'Water and justice: Towards an ethics of water governance'. Public Reason 5(1), 95–111.

Delft University of Technology, Department of Technology, Policy and Management, P.O. Box 5015 2600 GA Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: N.Doorn@tudelft.nl

eventually to human suffering and the loss of millions of human lives. Whereas some official organizations speak of a water crisis [27, 28], others argue that there is sufficient water but that the water sector needs to be reformed to avoid a water crisis in the future [8]. Whether or not one uses the term "water crisis," the numbers are not encouraging. In 2010, more than one out of nine people (0.8 billion people) lacked access to safe drinking water, and more than one out of three (2.5 billion people) lacked adequate sanitation. Almost 2 million people die every year from water borne diseases, most notably diarrhea [26]. There are no official numbers on resource-based conflicts, but fact is that there are over 260 river basins shared by two or more countries, which may provide a source of (regional) instability or conflicts when strong institutions and agreements are missing. In the light of climate change, the impact of the global water crisis is expected to increase in the coming decades.

Traditionally, water management has been seen as primarily a technical issue, belonging to the field of engineers and hydrologists. However, it is increasingly recognized that an adequate management of water requires that the institutional constraints and juridical context be taken into account. Both in academia and policy circles, the attention has therefore shifted from water management towards water governance, requiring the combined and coordinated effort of both technical (engineers, hydrologists) and non-technical experts (lawyers, economists, political and social scientists). Although different definitions of water governance exist, most of them refer to something like "the range of political, social, economic and administrative systems that are in place to develop and manage water resources, and the delivery of water services, at different levels of society" [23], mostly also including a reference to conflicting or diverse interests and cooperative action (cf. [3]). With the shift from water management to water governance, the principle of equitable utilization has emerged in the literature as an important principle for allocation (cf. Convention on the Protection and Use of Transboundary Watercourses and International Lakes 1992 ("Helsinki Watercourses Convention") [art. 2]; United Nations Convention on the Law of the Non-Navigational Uses of International Watercourses ("UN Watercourses Convention 1997") [art. 5]; ILA Berlin Rules on Water Resources 2004 [art. 12]).

Notwithstanding recurrent pleas to include issues of "equity" and "social justice" in the governance of water, ethicists or social philosophers have so far not or only barely been involved in the discussion. In this chapter, the author shows that water governance prompts some urgent distributive issues. I argue that moral philosophers should become more involved in the discussions on water governance in order to develop an integrated account of water governance. The outline of this chapter is as follows. After clarifying some issues concerning the nature of water and people's legal endowments in section Classification of Resources and People's Legal Endowments, section Distributive Questions in Water Governance is dedicated to three urgent distributive issues that need to be addressed. In the concluding section, I provide a preliminary outline for an ethics of water governance.

# **Classification of Resources and People's Legal Endowments**

A recurrent theme in the discussion on water governance is the common-versuscommodity controversy. This controversy is often confused with the discussion whether or not people have a basic right to water. These are two separate questions, though, and they should be kept apart. Whereas water as a human right refers to *people*'s legal endowments, the common-versus-commodity controversy is an issue of property regime, which is applicable to *resources* [4]. This section contains some conceptual background to clarify the debate.

# Typology of Goods and Property Regimes

The debate concerning the typology of goods mainly takes places in economics and public administration, where an ongoing discussion takes place on the role of government in allocating resources. In these fields, goods are usually classified along two dimensions, viz. the subtraction criterion and the exclusion criterion. The subtraction criterion distinguishes private consumption goods from public consumption goods. In case of private consumption goods, each individual's consumption of the good leads to subtraction of the amount of that good available for others. Common or collective goods, to the contrary can be enjoyed "in common in the sense that each individual's consumption of such a good leads to no subtraction from any other individual's consumption of that good" [24]. The exclusion criterion indicates whether or not someone can be excluded form benefiting once the good is produced [19]. Combining the two criteria yields a two-bytwo matrix with four types of goods, as shown in Table 1 [21].

Although classification along the subtraction criterion seems more or less given, property regimes and both technical and physical boundaries can affect the capacity to exclude potential beneficiaries [6]. Hence, it is possible—to some extent at least—to shift between the rows in Table 1. Unlike public goods, common-pool resources face problems of overuse, because they are both subtractable and without exclusion mechanisms to limit individual people's use, which may ultimately lead to a tragedy of the commons [12]. In order to avoid or solve this

<b>TADIC I</b> Typology of goods	Table	1	Typol	logy	of	goods
----------------------------------	-------	---	-------	------	----	-------

	One person's consumption subtracts from total available to others	One person's consumption does not subtract from total available to others
Exclusion is feasible	Private goods	Toll goods
Exclusion is not feasible	Common-pool resources	Public goods

Source [21]

problem, it has been proposed to implement exclusion mechanisms such that the common-pool resources turn into private goods. This "common-versuscommodity" controversy is now also topic of debate in water governance. Given the scarcity of water, water should be assigned a price in order to avoid overuse, some people argue (cf. the fourth of the Dublin principles stating that "Water is a public good and has a social and economic value in all its competing uses").

Empirical data suggest that some exclusion mechanism is indeed required for the sustainable management of scarce resources (cf. [2]). However, exclusion has its price, be it not (only) in monetary terms. Treating water primarily as an economic good in an attempt to accommodate its value may result in affordability problems and paradoxically deprive people of access to water, even though the exclusion mechanism was implemented to reduce water scarcity. Alternative exclusion mechanisms are therefore required to allocate the scarce water resources and this is where the property rights come into play. Based on her work with Schlager ([22, 25]) and the work of Aggarwal and Dupont [1], Ostrom shows how differentiation between various forms of property rights affect the incentives that people face to manage scarce resources, where property is defined as "an enforceable authority to undertake particular actions in a specific domain" [20]. By introducing so-called bundles of rights, Ostrom argues against the conventional (and simplistic) notions of full and exclusive property and ownership. She distinguishes between five types of rights, that constitute different bundles of rights associated with particular holder positions (Table 2).

Although space does not allow to go into detail about the particularities of the different property rights, the key message here is that, by varying between different bundles of rights, people may be encouraged to manage scarce resources effectively and still allow access to people who would otherwise be deprived of water.

In other words, although the *type of good* is conceptually distinct from the *property rights* that people can exercise on these goods, they are related in the sense that the different property regimes affect the possibilities of effective management and the question to what extent the good is prone to collective action problems.

	0		1		
	Full owner	Proprietor	Authorized claimant	Authorized user	Authorized entrant
Access	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Withdrawal	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Management	Х	Х	Х		
Exclusion	Х	Х			
Alienation	Х				
Source [22]					

Table 2 Bundles of rights associated with positions

#### The Human Right to Water

Over the past decade, and partly as a response to the economic approach to water governance, the discussion on access to water is increasingly framed in terms of human rights. Although often presented as an antidote to a pure economic approach to water governance, the human right approach to water does not exclude an economic or commodity approach to water. In order to understand this, it is good to take a closer look at the history of how this right became recognized by the respective UN bodies.

Although the idea of water as a human right was mentioned in several international treaties before, the political recognition came in 2002, when an expert body of the UN Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) assessed the implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR). The committee asserted that "[t]he human right to water entitles everyone to sufficient, safe, acceptable, physically accessible and affordable water for personal and domestic uses" (ECOSOC Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment No. 15 [GC 15], 2002). The GC 15 prompted discussion on the nature of this right; the formulation was not clear on whether it was to be interpreted as a subordinate right necessary to achieve a primary human right (e.g., the right to food, health, or life) or as an independent human right [5]. The committee was explicit, though, in the obligations it imposed on States. A more political recognition of the human right to water came when, based on the Millennium Development goals, the concept of water as a human right was adopted by the UN's General Assembly (General Assembly Resolution 64/292 of July 28, 2010). This decision was later confirmed by the Human Rights Council, which recognized that "the human right to water and sanitation are a part of the right to an adequate standard of living and inextricably related to the right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, as well as the right to life and human dignity" (Human Rights Council Resolution 15/9 of September 30, 2010).

Irrespective of the (in)dependency of the human right to water to other human rights, the ECOSOC Committee identified four key elements to provide normative content to this particular right to water (GC 15, paragraph 12). First, water should be available in sufficient quantity for personal and domestic use. Second, water required for each personal or domestic use should be safe. Third, water and water facilities and services have to be accessible to everyone without discrimination. This element is further specified in terms of (a) physical accessibility (distance from each household, educational institution and workplace); (b) economic accessibility (affordability); and (c) non-discrimination (accessibility to all). Fourth, information concerning water issues should be accessible. It is debatable whether these criteria are not equally applicable to, for example, the human right to food. However, it should be clear that the way this human right is formulated

does not exclude privatization of the water sector. It should suffice that people have access to water, by whomever this is provided.

One important point of criticism against the idea of water as a human right is that it lacks enforcement mechanisms and arrangements concerning water use [9]. Equity and sustainability, for example, would seem to require specific mid-level principles concerning "minimum water rights" and "maximum water use" [13]. There are examples where the introduction of a water right has increased water use by already well provided people at the expense of downstream users, simply because people want to exercise their right [18]. Hence, implementing water rights is not trivial and does not automatically lead to an improved situation for the people who are deprived of water.

#### **Distributive Questions in Water Governance**

In this section I discuss some distributive issues or questions that should be included in an integrated account of water governance. Space does not allow to describe all aspects that are relevant for an ethics of water governance in full detail, so I will limit myself to three important points.

#### Distribution of a Scarce Resource

Water is both a source of risks and a scarce resource. Most of the literature on water governance focuses on the scarcity of water, operationalized in the notion of access to water. One of the complicating issues of water governance is that access to water includes the need for an adequate infrastructure for delivery and sanitation services. Discussing access to water solely in terms of available quantities misses (a) the fact that people have to travel unequal distances to collect their water, (b) the importance of water *quality*, and (c) the issue of infrastructure maintenance. Concerning the first point, in most developing countries, an extensive range of people is deprived of adequate access, most notably women, people with disabilities, children, refugees, prisoners, and nomadic communities [14].

Concerning water quality, current discussions on water governance seem too one-sidedly focused on water supply, overlooking sanitation and wastewater management. The latter are equally important for human health and they should therefore be taken into account when talking about water governance. This holds even more in situations where the use of water leads to pollution of traditional water sources, for example due to agricultural run-off or industrial waste. As for the issue of maintenance of water infrastructure, insufficient funding may aggravate water shortage problems. It also prompts distributive questions concerning responsibilities, which I will discuss in section Distribution of responsibilities.

#### Distribution of Risks

Most discussions in water governance focus on water scarcity. However, the risk of flooding is, in some areas at least, equally or even more urgent. Especially in places where the local hydrological circumstances are affected by large infrastructural projects (such as hydro-power plants), both the risk of flooding and potential water scarcity may be present and solutions to the one problem may exacerbate the other problem. Where water scarcity prompts distributive questions concerning resources, flood risks prompt distributive questions concerning "safety": where to implement flood risk measures, what level of safety is required, is it acceptable that people living in one area have a higher level of safety compared to people living in another area?

In the philosophy of risks, several criteria have been developed for assessing the acceptability of risks [11]. These considerations should also be taken into account in the context of flood risk mitigation. For flood risks, three criteria are especially important. The first concerns the distribution of risks and benefits. When implementing measures to reduce existing risks, it is important to take into account the degree to which risks and benefits are distributed. It is, for example, not fair if the same people always have to carry the risks whereas others gain benefits. The second concerns the question to what extent people have consented to the risk. If people have freely chosen to live in particular flood-prone areas, they can be considered to have consented to a lower level of safety. The word "freely" is crucial, though. If people have no other place to live, the choice for this flood-prone area cannot be considered to be made with full consent. This brings us to the third point, viz. the question whether or not people exposed to a particular risk have alternatives at their disposal.

To illustrate this, consider the following two hypothetical situations. In the first situation, a group of farmers live in a polder that is vulnerable to flooding but which is also very fertile, especially for the type of crops these farmers are growing. There is no land nearby with similar favourable characteristics. Now compare this situation with a typical commuter town in a similar polder. Most residents work in the city 50 km away. They do not like to live in the city and prefer to live in the countryside. However, they are indifferent as to which particular area. There is an area nearby with a significantly lower risk of flooding. In the first situation (farmers), the inhabitants do not really have an alternative place to live. In the second situation (commuters), the inhabitants have alternative places to live. Even if they do not want to live in the city, there is an alternative location nearby where they could live with a lower risk of flooding. If people still prefer to live in the polder with the high risk, it seems that they have voluntarily chosen to be vulnerable to this risk level. From the perspective of social justice, if may be defensible that the government provides different standards of safety against flooding in these two situations.

This simple example shows that the choice for particular safety measures and safety levels cannot be made on sheer numbers. Other considerations play a role

when deciding on the acceptability of particular safety levels and, accordingly, on the distribution of risks.

#### Distribution of Responsibilities

The last distributive question I would like to discuss is the distribution of responsibilities. In terms of responsibilities, water governance is very complex. In this chapter, I briefly touch on three points that may often obscure the distribution of responsibilities in water governance. The order in which I discuss these points does not reflect any priority or importance.

First, water governance is often closely related to a particular infrastructure, which needs to be constructed, operated, and maintained. These tasks do not necessarily have to be done by one and the same actor. This prompts questions concerning the definition of different actors' responsibilities: Where does one person's responsibility stop and begins the other person's responsibility? The responsibility for maintenance, for example, may be unclear when large water infrastructures are built with a double purpose, such as hydro-power plants which are also intended as flood risk measures [15].

Second, the distribution of responsibilities may become unclear when certain tasks are delegated, for example, the implementation of water rights. With water services increasingly being privatized, it is important that the different actors' responsibilities are identified and that some regulatory system is put in place to guarantee compliance ([16, 17]).

Third, water governance is a global issue. Only rarely is water flow confined within state boundaries. In most situations, rivers flow through several countries. Upstream activities in one country may affect water availability in downstream countries, which may pose a source of potential conflict. In international law, the principles of equitable and reasonable utilization and of diligent prevention of significant transboundary harm have been introduced to facilitate peaceful cooperation with respect to scarce water resources [7]. These global arrangements seem indispensable for coordinating water withdrawals with transboundary impact. However, at the institutional level, the subsidiarity principle requires addressing water issues at the lowest community level possible. As a result, the water sector has seen a significant change, with water users and other stakeholders gradually playing a much more active and constructive role; a trend which is widely supported by academics and field workers alike. There is a potential tension between the need for global arrangements and a meaningful mandate at the lower community levels. The question how to strike the balance between local and global arrangements and how to distribute the responsibilities (between states and between the different management levels) is one of the pressing challenges for water governance at this time [13].

#### **Concluding Remarks**

In the previous section, I derived three important distributive questions: distribution of scarce resources, distribution of risks, and distribution of responsibilities. I hope to have shown that these questions cannot be answered on the basis of efficiency criteria alone. Ethics should be an integral part of water governance. Although the terms "equity" and "reasonable utilization" are often mentioned, they are only weakly substantiated in the legal literature, whereas it is recognized that they play a vital role in building cooperative relations in water networks [17]. Moreover, questions concerning risks and questions concerning different actors' responsibilities are often left aside or based on misleading dichotomies between privatization and commodification on the one hand, and water rights on the other. Herewith, I do not want to claim that we should adopt an economic approach to water, but I want to avoid muddled debates based on fuzzy conceptions.

The claim in this research is that applied philosophers should become more actively involved in the water debate, in particular for clarifying and trying to answer the distributive questions that are characteristic for water governance.

How are we to proceed? For sure, philosophers do not have the answer to all questions, especially not if they lack practical knowledge of the issues at stake. Addressing real-world problems also requires empirical insight in these processes. I therefore argue for a multidisciplinary approach and to let philosophers join forces with disciplines like law, hydrology, policy science, and new institutional economics (see [10] for a similar plea). If the ethical aspects of water governance are to be adequately addressed, the philosophical skills should be complemented with profound knowledge of water, including partly technical (hydrological) knowledge, knowledge of the prevailing legal constraints, combined with insights from policy sciences and institutional economics. Debate should be conducted at various levels of generality and specificity, and so must a proper account of water ethics include an assessment at various levels of abstraction. At the most abstract level, basic moral concepts, such as equity, justice, and democracy, need to be developed assessed, which requires the involvement of both legal and political theorists, and philosophers. At the mid-level, principles of equity and efficacy need to be translated to actual water governance practice. This cannot be done without also paying attention to local socio-cultural and hydrological circumstances. Additionally, the legal context (international treaties, national water law, etc.) determines the room for maneuver and should therefore be taken into account as well. At the most concrete level, specific institutions and strategies need to be designed. At this level, the involvement of policy theorists and scholars from institutional economics may play a crucial role. By including these different perspectives, we may contribute to the articulation of detailed and useful moral principles of water governance.

# References

- 1. Aggarwal VK, Dupont C (1999) Goods, games, and institutions. Int Polit Sci Rev 20:393-409
- 2. Agrawal A, Goyal S (2001) Group size and collection action: third party monitoring in common-pool resources. Comp Polit Stud 34:63–93
- Bakker KJ (2003) From public to private to mutual? Restructuring water supply governance in England and Wales. Geoforum 34:359–374
- 4. Bakker KJ (2007) The "commons" versus the "commodity": alter-globalization, antiprivatization and the human right to water in the global south. Antipode 39:430–455
- 5. Bluemel EB (2004) The implications of formulating a human right to water. Ecol Law Quart 31:957–1006
- 6. Cornes R, Sandler T (1994) Are public goods myths. J Theor Polit 6:369-385
- Dellapenna JW (2003) The customary international law of transboundary fresh waters. In: Fitzmaurice M, Szuniewicz M (eds) Exploitation of natural resources in the 21st century. Kluwer Law International, The Hague, pp 143–190
- 8. FAO/Kijne, JW (2003), Unlocking the water potential of agriculture. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome
- 9. Grafton RQ (2000) Governance of the commons: a role for the state? Land Econ 76:504-517
- Gupta J, Lebel L (2010) Access and allocation in earth system governance: water and climate change compared. Int Environ Agree-Polit Law Econ 10:377–395
- 11. Hansson SO (2003) Ethical criteria of risk acceptance. Erkenntnis 59:291-309
- 12. Hardin G (1968) The tragedy of the commons. Science 162:1243-1248
- 13. Hoekstra AY, Chapagain AK (2008) Globalization of water: sharing the planet's freshwater resources. Blackwell Publishing, Malden
- Langford M (2005) The United Nations concept of water as a human right: a new paradigm for old problems? Int J Water Resour Dev 21:273–282
- 15. Lejon AGC, Malm Renöfält B, Nilsson C (2009) Conflicts associated with dam removal in sweden. Ecol Soc 14:4
- 16. Lundqvist J (2000) Rules and roles in water policy and management—need for clarification of rights and obligations. Water Int 25:194–201
- 17. Meinzen-Dick RS (2007) Beyond panaceas in water institutions. PNAS 104:15200-15205
- Merrey DJ (2008) Is normative integrated water resources management implementable? Charting a practical course with lessons from Southern Africa. Phys Chem Earth 33:899–905
- 19. Musgrave RA (1959) The theory of public finance. McGraw-Hill, New York
- 20. Ostrom E (2003) How types of goods and property rights jointly affect collective action. J Theor Polit 15:239–270
- Ostrom V, Ostrom E (1977) A theory for institutional analysis of common pool problems. In: Hardin G, Baden J (eds) Managing the commons. W.H. Freeman, San Francisco, pp 157–172
- Ostrom E, Schlager E (1996) The formation of property rights. In: Hanna S, Folke C, Mäler K-G (eds) Rights to nature. Island Press, Washington
- 23. Rogers P, Hall AW (2003) Effective water governance. global Water Partnership Technical Committee (TEC) Background Papers No. 7
- 24. Samuelson PA (1954) The pure theory of public expenditure. Rev Econ Stat 36:387-389
- 25. Schlager E, Ostrom E (1992) Property-rights regimes and natural-resources: a conceptual analysis. Land Econ 68:249–262
- 26. WHO (2010) Progress on sanitation and drinking water. Update 2010. WHO, Geneva
- 27. World Bank (2006) World development report 2006: equity and development. World Bank, Washington
- World Water Forum, DC (2009) Global water framework. Outcomes of the 5th World Water Forum, Istanbul 2009. World Water Council, Marseilles

# Alternative Urban Technology for Future Low-Carbon Cities: A Demonstration Project Review and Discussion

Kien To and John E. Fernández

**Abstract** This is the century of the city. Climate change, fossil fuel depletion, rapid urbanization and the continued escalation of energy consumption are accelerating the critical and global need for resource efficiency toward a future of low-carbon cities. To that end, new waves of development in novel urban technologies may play an important role in sustaining the growth of existing cities as well as empowering the sustainable planning and design of new townships. First, this chapter highlights renewable energy–based alternative urban technologies (AUTs) that may aid in the significant reduction of urban carbon emissions, and then proposes a general classification system of technological systems and discusses AUT future trends. The review part of this chapter seeks to establish state of the art of AUTs that target three primary urban systems: the built environment, transportation and energy.

**Keywords** Alternative urban technology • Renewable energy • Demonstration projects • Resource efficient • Low-carbon

#### Introduction

In 2008, for the first time in history, the world reached an invisible but momentous milestone: more than half of its human population lives in urban areas [1]. With this new urban reality, coupled with challenges of climate change, escalation of demand

К. То (🖂)

J. E. Fernández Department of Architecture, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), Cambridge, MA 02139, USA

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_12, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

SUTD-MIT International Design Centre, Singapore University of Technology and Design (SUTD), 20 Dover Drive, Dover 138682, Singapore e-mail: tokien@sutd.edu.sg

for and actual consumption of fossil fuels and energy, depletion of critical resources, and the rapid urbanization occurring in different parts of the world particularly in Asia, the global demand for urban resource efficiency has become greater than ever. China, the world's second largest economy as well as top energy consumer [2], is a good example. The Chinese government considers urbanization to be the main engine of growth for domestic economic activity in the years ahead, giving the government scope to boost domestic demand and infrastructure investment [3]. As cities grow to create expanded metropolitan regions, they compete with each other for economic growth and infrastructure improvements that require reliable and perpetual access to critical resources. Some cities will be far better positioned than others partly due to their capability to properly assess novel technologies available to assist in the development of their built environment, transportation and energy systems, thereby increasing their overall resilience and competitiveness. The potential for adopting innovative strategies will partly rely on the development of alternative urban technologies (AUTs) which are substantially based on renewable energy (RE). The most important developments will be those that can replace the least efficient components of the least efficient urban infrastructure while continuing to allow for robust and sustained economic growth. Besides development, sustaining and improving the quality of life should be aware and valued, and AUTs are expected to offer novel solutions to achieve this goal.

With regard to terminology, *urban technology* refers to the technology primarily applied in cities or towns, which are in contrast with other geographical contexts such as sub-urban and rural areas, deserts, mountains, oceans, etc. *Alternative technology* refers to any source of innovative and environmental friendly technology (also often known as clean-tech) intended to replace polluting and high carbon footprint (CF) technology.

To illustrate and document the sustained wave of AUT development in practice, this chapter reviews state of the art of AUT demonstration projects from around the world, with a focus on three primary urban domains: the built environment, transportation, and energy (Fig. 1). AUTs focused on energy, and in particular RE, will serve to illustrate developments in both the built environment and transportation in a holistic viewpoint. In order to ensure that the latest and ongoing developments as well as up to date introduction of novel technologies are highlighted, this chapter cites diverse sources of information, particularly numerous web-based resources. The authors are aware of the risks that accompany such an approach but wish to provide a review that is both relevant to current practice and illustrative of future trends.

#### Background

Recently, there have been a number of reviews of technological development directed toward urban contexts. For instance, Moreno reviews technologies applied to urban sustainable development [4], while Hounsell et al. review urban



traffic management and the impacts of new vehicle technologies [5]. Liserre et al. [6] and Kateeb et al. [7] assess future renewable energy sources and the advent of the green smart grid, while Sheikh and Kocaoglu take a more focused approach to comprehensively assess solar photovoltaic technologies [8]. Sithan and Lai analyze the application of green technologies in developing countries [9], and Pacheco et al. review the energy efficient design of buildings [10]. For sustainable buildings, Shi and Chew review the state of the art in designing RE systems, specifically solar-based energy system to gain optimal performance [11], while Hepbasli reviews low exergy heating and cooling systems [12]. Leung and Yang review wind energy development and its environmental impact [13], while Taibi et al. review and analyze the potential for RE in industrial applications [14], etc.

However, much of the literature of urban technologies focus on one or two urban domains, have a geographical focus, and/or aim to describe and elaborate the technologies themselves rather than highlighting test bed introductions and demonstration projects. Moreover, due to the increasing awareness and demand for novel resource efficient solutions in this "flat and crowded world", the pace of development and introduction to the marketplace of AUTs is proceeding at an accelerating pace and therefore demands a periodic review to understand the breadth of these activities.

#### **AUT Demonstration Projects**

In most AUT demonstrations, harvesting, storage and distribution of RE is an essential pathway toward resource efficiency while promising a fundamental impact on both the built environment and transportation sectors. Another form of non-RE AUTs that we review relates mostly to energy efficiency technologies.

RE often refers to natural replenish-able energy source such as solar energy (photovoltaic-PV and thermal), wind, rain, tides, biomass and geothermal heat. According to the "Renewables 2011 global status report", "changes in renewable energy markets, investments, industries, and policies have been so rapid in recent years that perceptions of the status of RE can lag years behind the reality" [15]. The report also shows that the renewable energy sector continues to perform well despite continuing economic recession, incentive cuts, and low natural-gas prices. In 2010, RE supplied approximately 16 % of global final energy consumption and delivered nearly 20 % of global electricity. Renewable capacity now accounts for about a quarter of total global power-generating capacity. "During the period from the end of 2005 through 2010, total global capacity of many renewable energy technologies—including solar PV, wind power, concentrating solar thermal power (CSP), solar water heating systems, and biofuels-grew at average rates ranging from around 15 % to nearly 50 % annually. Biomass and geothermal for power and heat also grew strongly. Wind power added the most new capacity, followed by hydropower and solar PV" [15]. The "World Energy Outlook 2012" by International Energy Agency stated that "the rapid increase in renewable energy is underpinned by falling technology costs, rising fossil-fuel prices and carbon pricing, but mainly by continued subsidies: from \$88 billion globally in 2011, they rise to nearly \$240 billion in 2035" [16].

In this chapter, the authors classify AUT projects by their energy features. RE projects include solar (PV and thermal) energy (S), wind energy (W), hydroenergy (H), geothermal heat (G), biomass (B) and the hybrid RE systems among some of them (E.g. S+W, S+B+G, etc.). Non-RE projects primarily relate to energy efficient technological solutions. The demonstration projects' profiles are introduced in the following formats:

- For projects: Project name (location/expected year of completion/developer or designer).
- For products: Product name (place of origin/year of unveil or launch/developer or designer).

#### **Built Environment Projects**

The built environment sector has been widely affected by RE technology and energy efficient solutions (such as passive building design). Therefore, this review classifies projects by their RE types. The reviewed projects vary in size (such as city-scale down to building-scale) and sector (such as commercial, industrial and residential).

#### **Solar Energy Projects**

At the small town/district scale, the *Fujisawa Sustainable Smart Town* (Fujisawa, Japan/2014/Panasonic company) is expected to be one of the most advanced eco towns in the world (Fig. 2). About 1,000 homes, stores, healthcare centers, public parks and green spaces will be built on the site of an old Panasonic manufacturing plant. Each house will be equipped with a solar panel system that can produce more energy than the household's needs (energy positive), making the town completely energy independent. The community aims to reduce 70 % of  $CO_2$  emissions and 30 % of household water usage [17]. This is not only a model for new urban low-carbon lifestyle but also may hold the potential as a profitable business model by developing a brownfield site resulting from structural shifts in the industrial sector of the corporate owner. Major challenges that exist with these kinds of projects are typical of much real estate development; correlating market needs for housing with the particular conditions of the site and the amenities that coexist with the green technologies deployed on site.

For industrial and big complex projects, the *Kansai Green Energy Park* (Kansai, Japan/2011/Sanyo Company) is another notable example. The park has a 1 MW solar panel system and a 1.5 MWh Lithium-ion mega battery system, which can produce and sustain enough electricity for about 330 standard house-holds. The park has also advanced sensors and energy usage visualizations with real-time data. The administration building of the park has double-facade panels on its roof and facades that can absorb solar radiation from both the back and the front sides. PV panels can be found on many other buildings in the compound. The company encourages their staff to use electric bikes to commute and to move around the park, and provides a solar roof parking lot that charges the e-bikes parked there [18].

The two projects have become more important as examples of pathways forward particularly after the Great East Japan Earthquake followed by the catastrophic nuclear crisis in 2011 that highlighted the advantages of the clean energy



**Fig. 2** Fujisawa sustainable smart town (*Source* [17])

movement in the country as well as in many parts of the world. Specifically within the country, there has been growing interest in RE infrastructure that is safe and secure with storage battery systems installed on a community basis.

At the building-scale, the *Federation of Korean Industries Tower* (Seoul, Korea/2014/Adrian Smith + Gordon Gill Architecture) will incorporate a photovoltaic wall system that reduces energy usage while generating power. The 800 foot-tall tower will feature large solar electric facades on all sides that generate almost enough energy needed for the building. The accordion-style exterior wall will contain building-integrated PV panels facing upward, while glazing is inclined toward the ground. This setup exploits the potential of the panels by giving them a preferred orientation, and the glass will be able to reflect a larger percentage of summer sun, thus reducing cooling loads [19]. Nevertheless, the simplicity of the design may also suffer from being "too simple" or monotonous when deployed on large areas. In addition, the investment in placing PV panels on the facades that receive much less sun light than others is questionable.

Another new project of note is Brackfriars Railway Station (London, UK/2012/ Solar Century Company) (Fig. 3). This project features 4,400 solar panels developed by Solar Century that can generate about 900 MWh per year, and help provide half of the station's electricity need. The solar panels do not simply generate electricity but also provide shading on the bridge. In this way, it offers thermal comfort to the people who travel under shade and may enable drivers to reduce their air conditioning when waiting in slow traffic; a possible improvement on the energy intensity of idling traffic. Another benefit of this deployment of RE in coordination with large scale infrastructure is the diversification of the sites for RE energy production. This may lead to the lessening of development pressures on peripheral urban and rural land as the sites for large scale RE PV farms. This would also address the growing concern that RE sites, both PV and wind, are considered by some communities as industrial in nature and unsightly. Infrastructure, as essentially the machinery of the city, is an ideal armature for the inclusion of RE technologies at very large scales. Brackfriars Railway Station also sun pipes to provide natural lighting, so less electric lighting is required [20]. This project, when completed, will be one of the largest solar bridges in the world, and will hopefully prompt a new wave of solar bridge development, and infrastructure generally as the site for large-scale RE installations.

The *Mehrfamilienhaus in Liebefeld* (Bern, Switzerland/2008/Peter Schurch) is one of a growing number of examples of affordable eco-house (Fig. 4). Having won the 2010 Passivhaus Architecture Award, the house is a highly energy efficient three-apartment building that achieves a strict 13 kWr/m<sup>2</sup> of energy consumption per year. The building features comprehensive passive house design by applying natural and local materials, harvesting plenty of daylight (by using glass over 50 % of the façade), and having r-52 walls and a solar-electric green roof. The apartment building was also awarded the Minergie (minimal energie) certification, a low-energy standard in Switzerland [21]. Of particular note is the contention that residences like this apartment building can be built at lower cost than many other comparable homes. This assertion gives positive reinforcement, if





**Fig. 4** Mehrfamilienhaus in Liebefeld (*Source* [21])



proven at the scale of the mass market, that passive energy design and innovations can substantially contribute to the reduction of carbon emissions and energy consumption.

#### Wind Energy Projects

The *Strata* (London, UK/2010/Multiplex Living), also known as "the Razor" by its look, is one of the world's first buildings with integrated wind turbines built into facades (Fig. 5). The building can generate about 8 % of its energy needs. It also achieves 6 % above the energy efficiency requirement under building regulations by different approaches, e.g. via a natural ventilation system or a natural light system through massive glass facades that also increase insulation and reduce noise [22]. However, the aesthetics of the design have been criticized and the building was voted "Britain's ugliest new building" by readers of the Building Design magazine. Another concern is whether it is windy enough to activate the turbines frequently.



**Fig. 5** The Strata building in London (*Source* [22])

The Strata is not alone among efforts to build wind-powered skyscrapers. The *Bahrain World Trade Centre* (Manama, Bahrain/2008/Atkins) has wind turbines hung between its two towers [23]. And the *Phare Tower* (Paris/2015/Morphosis) will be Paris's tallest new building with a rooftop wind farm by its completion in 2015 [24]. Although the amount of wind energy harvested in these projects is not significant, the eye-catching turbines in the first two projects may help raise public awareness on RE technologies and their proliferation. The obvious drawback of the wind turbines, however, is that the spinning blades generate a range of noises and vibrations that affect adjacent occupied floors.

#### **Hydro Energy Projects**

The renovation project of the *New Deutsche Bank towers* (Frankfurt, Germany/ 2011/Deutsche Bank) received the Best Green Intelligent Buildings Award in 2011. The towers were built during 1979–1984, and refurbished between 2008 and 2010 (Europe's largest building renovation at that time). The project highlights the importance of recycling, local sourcing, energy savings and stakeholder engagement in a retrofitting project. In particular, the building features a number of green features; for example, the building is highly hydro powered,  $CO_2$  is cut by almost 90 %, electrical use is cut by half, water use is cut by almost 75 %, heating energy is cut by 2/3, thermal concrete mass of the old building is used to collect and store heat, etc. [25, 26]. This project is important as it pushes forward the retrofitting movement and shows how beneficial retrofitting can be, particularly in the European context with many protected classical buildings and complexes. Nevertheless, it is also important to consider the variety of negative impacts of hydro power (as discussed in "AUT Future Trends").

#### **Biomass Energy Projects**

The 7 *More London* (London, UK/2011 (renovation)/PricewaterhouseCoopers) combines RE with other energy innovations. The building is biodiesel-fueled, and its good energy performance provides a 70 % improvement on building regulations with an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) "A" rating and 25 % of its energy need will be produced on-site. There are other environmental innovations such as the recycling of 80 % concrete used, recycling of waste heat to cool and warm the building [27]. The fact that this is the first major office in the UK to receive the BREEAM "outstanding" rating has proved the project's success in practicing and promoting green innovations at the highest level.

#### Hybrid RE System Projects

Hybrid RE system projects are some of the most important projects in the built environment, and the featured demonstrations vary dramatically in scale and typology.

At the city-scale, ecocity projects are highlighted here. Richard Register first coined the term "ecocity" in 1987 and defined "ecocity as an ecologically healthy city" [28]. An ongoing ecocity project is the *Sino-Singapore Tianjin Eco-city* (Tianjin, China/2020–2025/Surbana Urban Planning Group/RE: S+W+G). Once an uninhabited wasteland of abandoned salt pans, this environment was badly polluted by chemicals from the nearby factories. The Sino-Singapore Tianjin Ecocity (Fig. 6) is taking shape with an aspiration to be environment-friendly with green spaces distributed all over the city and the existing wetlands and biodiversity to be preserved. Harvested RE will include solar, wind and geothermal energy. 3R-based integrated waste management will be implemented. A light-rail transit system supplemented by a secondary network of trams and buses will be the main low-carbon transportation system in the city [29]. The Sino-Singapore Tianjin



**Fig. 6** Sino-Singapore Tianjin eco-city (*Source* [29])

Eco-city is another example of brownfield regeneration in this case driven by strong political support from two national governments. However, there is cause for some concern regarding the top-down approach, consequent suburbanization of the core city Tianjin, limited impacts on neighboring cities as well as others in the country, etc.

Another ecocity project under construction is the Masdar Eco City (Abu Dhabi, UAE/2020-2025/Abu Dhabi Future Energy Company/RE: S+W+G+H). In 2007, the government of Abu Dhabi announced that it would build "the world's first zero-carbon city" called Masdar, which would rely entirely on RE (mostly solar) and would produce zero waste. All transportation was to be via PRT vehicles (see "Personal Rapid Transit") -and use half the energy of a settlement of the same size, etc. However, reality has proved "truly zero-carbon city" to be too challenging, given the current limitations of RE-so now the target is for low carbon. Transport within the city will include electric buses and other mass transit to the PRTs. Some completed parts of the city are good examples of proven urban green features; the streets are narrow and friendly to pedestrians, sheltered by walls that block the desert sunlight, while openings in the walls channel a refreshing wind that-according to Masdar officials-makes the city feel as much as 21 °C cooler than its surroundings. The buildings take advantage of green materials (e.g. durable Douglas fir, super strong tetrafluoroethylene plastics that redirect sunlight and insulate the interior, etc.). Windows have shades angled to avoid direct sunlight, providing light without unwanted heat. There's a 43 m wind tower-a contemporary and high-tech version of traditional Arabic design-that can funnel wind to the street [30]. Although many of the stated goals or claims by the government have been questioned and directly challenged, the project still serves as an important large scale test bed for new urban form and technologies.

At the district-scale, the *Hammarby Sjöstad New Eco-district* (Hammarby, Stockholm, Sweden/2011/the city of Stockholm/RE: S+B), situated to the south of Stockholm's city center, was one of the first eco-districts to implement a holistic environmental system incorporating waste, energy and water aspects as part of an integrated sustainable system. Regarding RE, solar energy is harvested to primarily heat water, accumulated waste is used to produce electricity and heating, waste heat is extracted from the wastewater of a nearby wastewater treatment plant. Figure 7 shows a district cooling network in Sweden [31, 32].

The eco-district features a new eco-model often known as "Hammarby Model," which promotes the integration of a wide range of technical supply systems, and the waste of one system can be a resource for another to make an eco-cycle [33]. Figure 8 shows a theorized version of the Hammarby Model, that signals potential scalability for future eco-district design.

For large complexes, the *Denver International Airport Parking* facility (Denver, USA/2010/DesignworksUSA/RE: S+W+G+B) is a LEED Gold certified project that aims to reduce energy consumption and emissions by applying a variety of solar, geothermal and wind power systems. The shuttles are also powered by compressed natural gas, biodiesel and hybrid fuel. The lot is also equipped with ten free Juice Bar chargers for those who drive electric cars [34]. Although



Fig. 7 Hammarby eco-city (Source www.sweden.se)



Fig. 8 A theorized holistic eco-cycle based on Hammarby model (Adapted from [33])

car parking is actually not "green" as private cars are not among greenest modes, the effort that Denver International Airport took in this project is encouraging, as it helps shift American driving habits toward resource efficiency by promoting RE systems, electric vehicles (EV) as well as the necessary infrastructure that support EVs.

*Berghotel Muottas Muragl* (Alps, Switzerland/2010/not available/RE: S+W+G+B) is a 104-year-old hotel that has recently completed a renovation that incorporates RE and resource sustainability (Fig. 9). The hotel generates RE through different sources. For instance, the 750 m long solar panel system along the side of the tramway leading to the hotel produces enough electricity for the entire hotel. Additionally, sixteen thermal loops at the lower levels of the building

generate geothermal energy and store the unused energy gain. The loops can also recover waste heat from other cooling units and exhaust air from the machine room, making the system a closed energy cycle [35]. The hotel won the 2011 Swiss Solar Award and 2011 PlusEnergieBau Solar Award. This is an important project because of its utilization of RE strategies in a remote and environmentally challenging location.

#### **Non-RE Energy Efficient Systems**

A Passive House is a building, for which thermal comfort can be achieved solely by post-heating or post-cooling of the fresh air mass, which is required to fulfill sufficient indoor air quality conditions—without a need for recirculated air [36]. It is a very well-insulated, virtually air-tight building that is primarily heated by passive solar gain and by internal gains from people, electrical equipment, etc. Energy losses are minimized. Any remaining heat demand is provided by an extremely small source. Avoidance of unwanted heat gain through shading and window orientation also helps to limit any cooling load, which is similarly minimized [37]. One of the very few disadvantages of the Passive House is that super insulation requires significantly thicker exterior walls resulting in smaller interior spaces unless the increase in dimension can be accommodated by an overall increase in the building footprint. Passive House is well-known for its innovative energy efficiency and reduction of ecological footprint. Passive energy systems can work together with RE systems to achieve a zero or low carbon target for the building.

H27D (*Constance, Germany/2012/Kraus Schoenberg*) is a passive house example awarded the Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) 2012 EU Award. This private apartment building of four units with a ground floor retail shop was constructed entirely with lightweight fair-faced concrete that serves as both structural support and thermal insulation. The walls (50 cm thick) reflect medie-val-style solid walls which perform as a weather membrane and thermal mass storage, yet are built with modern methods and advanced materials. These lightweight concrete walls can be demolished easily and the material is fully recyclable, so no waste is ultimately produced. Moreover, the building utilizes solar thermal energy system for domestic hot water, a high efficiency gas boiler for heating with under-floor heating, and waste water collection for flushing toilets and irrigating gardens. The thermal mass of the exterior reduces energy use and the covered south-facing arcade in the courtyard and the balconies work to minimize solar heat gain in summer [38].

Aside from the passive house example, there are many low energy and green buildings that could be highlighted here; for example, the *Volkswagen's Plant in Chattanooga* (TN, USA/2011/Volkswagen). The building was the first automotive manufacturing plant in the world to receive LEED Platinum. It is located in a former brownfield, which has been revitalized. LED lights are extensively used, and dedicated special parking spaces for green vehicles, carpoolers and cyclists are





arranged. There are large tanks located around the plant that store rain water for use in gardens, toilets and cooling towers. The plant is also well insulated, boasting six-inch insulated walls in some areas (twice as thick as what is standard). Almost half of the materials used to build the plant were recycled from previous products, and the used materials can be reused and recycled should the plant ever shut down [39]. The new plant features brownfield rehabilitation, passive design solutions and sustainable systems toward high energy efficiency in the industrial sector.

In a number of instances, *Urban Farming* is beginning to provide examples of solutions toward resource efficient and low-carbon food production for contemporary societies. This type of agriculture is the practice of cultivating, processing and distributing food in, or around, a village, town or city [40]. Urban farming purports to deliver numerous socio-economic and environmental benefits. It reduces the CF in the city, provides more "green lungs" as well as ecological landscape, with the added value of improving freshness, nutrition, the taste of the food and the elimination of the need for preservatives. In terms of energy efficiency, urban farming is beneficial as it provides food locally and thus can save the energy used to transport food from distance. In contrast, urban farming may result in issues such as the risk of spreading of diseases and harmful insects from vegetation to urban communities, the competition and conflicts against urbanization for the access and use of limited land and against rural agricultural production that may cause more rural unemployment and poverty, land ownership, etc.

Urban farming comes in two forms: the traditional horizontal farms (typically on rooftop) and vertical farms (built structures for high-density and intensive urban farming). The first form can be found in many locations (For example, just within New York City, there are at least five successful horizontal farms: *Brooklyn Grange*-the largest rooftop farm in the country (Fig. 10), *Added Value, Tenth Acre Farms, Urban Farm at the Battery* and *Gotham Greens*) [41].

This chapter aims to address the second and relatively newer form, in which more new technologies are applied to increase the intensity and productivity. Covered in plant material the *London Tower Farm* (London, UK/not available/ Xome Arquitectos) is a combination of vertical farm and residential building that creates a mini eco system (Fig. 11). Roof-top RE systems generate power for the
**Fig. 10** Brooklyn Grange urban farm (*Source* [41])



**Fig. 11** London tower farm (*Source* [41])

building and rainwater is collected and used for tank farming, showers and toilets. Food is grown in the center of the tower, so residents can easily access that area from all directions. The harvested fruits and vegetables are produced for the residents as well as for sale to the public [42]. Some concerns are, for instance, how the lower growing areas receive light, or how to prevent dead and decomposing leaves and plants from spreading diseases in this dense setup, etc. In the US, a proposal of similar concept is the *Whittier Organic Food Center* (Los Angeles, USA/not available/Daniel Toole) [43].

A supporting technology for urban food production is the product: the *Verti*-*Crop*<sup>TM</sup> (Vancouver, Canada/2009/VertiCrops Company). This patented technology may represent a paradigm shift in farming and food production, and was selected in 2009 by TIME magazine as one of the World's Greatest Inventions. The technology was developed to grow food naturally in bustling urban environments and in any climate, with a small environmental footprint. The system can be positioned vertically or horizontally on rooftops and other tight spaces. It can provide up to 20 times the yield of normal field crops while using only 8 % of the water typically required for soil farming. LED lights are on standby to supplement waning natural light when necessary [44].

In fact, green vertical systems may provide another pathway that is closely related to passive buildings. Green vertical systems of buildings are comprised of four fundamental functional attributes similar to those used by passive buildings. These functional attributes are the interception of solar radiation by vegetation, the thermal insulation provided by vegetation and substrate, the evaporative cooling that occurs by evapotranspiration from the plants and the substrate, and finally, the variation of the effect of the wind on the building [45]. While this loose association between passive house strategies and urban farming, and more generally plant material itself, is possibly inspirational much work needs to occur to arrive at a point in which urban farming and low energy building are directly collaborating in the improvement of urban resource efficiency.

#### Transportation Projects/Products

Like the built environment, the transportation sector is beginning to be influenced by RE and energy efficient solutions. Our review covers technology scenarios from large-scale transportation systems down to a variety of innovative traffic modes, and projects/products, also classified by their RE types.

#### **Solar-Powered Vehicles**

*Tindo* (Adelaide, Australia/2010/Designline International) is the world's first solar-powered electric bus that uses 100 % solar energy. The bus is airconditioned, can carry up to 40 passengers, and provides free wifi internet and particularly free service to the people of Adelaide. Tindo is able to travel about 200 km between recharges under typical urban conditions. The bus has no combustion engine so it operates quietly and produces zero emission. Another positive feature of the bus is the regenerative braking system that saves up to 30 % energy consumption. In its first year of operation, the bus saved an amount of over 70,000 kg of CO<sub>2</sub>-e [46]. Although it is necessary to consider the latent CF of the components within the entire system (see discussion in Technological Systems: A Proposed General Classification System) as well as the land required for solar arrays to power this bus, the development of a solar bus like Tindo is still encouraging, and may help boost the potential lucrative market of the green bus, thereby reducing CF.

#### **Electric Vehicles**

The *Honda Fit EV* (USA/2013/Honda) has been given the EPA's highest fuelefficiency rating ever: 118 MPGe (EPA: US Environmental Protection Agency; MPGe: miles per gallon gasoline equivalent). The EV's 20-kWh lithium-ion battery can give it a range of 82 miles, which surpasses range ratings of the Ford Focus Electric and the Nissan Leaf [47]. This product is one of the successful examples of achieving both zero-emission and high-energy efficiency.

Mercedes-Benz-owned Smart has unveiled an ultra-compact plug-in electric pickup truck called the *For-us pick-up truck* (Germany/2012/Mercedes Benz). The vehicle will use the same platform as a Smart manufactured car, but only seats two and provides a rear docking station for two e-bikes, so the driver can charge the e-bikes while traveling to or from an e-bike ride [48]. This pick-up may suit young couples with an active lifestyle, and is a smart solution for combining short and longer travel distances to be covered by two green modes. However, since it is just a small car with a short range (86-miles on a full-charge), it may not be adopted in low density markets like the United States and Australia. And although it is a "green" car that can carry "green" bikes, the battery itself is still a "un-green" component.

#### Hydrogen-Powered Vehicles

Hydrogen-powered vehicles have gained more attention particularly since the 2011 Tokyo motorshow, when Toyota unveiled their new *fuel cell concept car FCV-R* (Japan/2011/Toyota Company). The car seats four and has a travelling range of about 434 miles on a full tank. The company aims to launch the product in 2015 [49]. In UK, an initiative called *UKH2Mobility* (UK/2012/UK government and industry) has been launched by the government and 13 companies. According to UK Business Minister Mark Prisk, "hydrogen fuel cell electric vehicles are increasingly being recognized as one of the viable options as we move to a lower carbon motoring future [...] The UK wants to play a major part in their manufacture for global markets, and fuel cell vehicles could hit the road in 2015" [50]. These two initiatives show a good addition of eco-car choices for future customers and signals future competition in this new market share that may help lower car prices.

#### **Other Smart and Eco-Transport Systems**

#### New Electric Vehicle Infrastructure

*New infrastructure for electric vehicles* (Israel, Denmark and others/2012 (pilot)/ Better Place Company) is an example of this type of hybrid system. A startup called Better Place has been installing about 500,000 charging outlets at parking spaces in Israel and subsequently in Denmark, which provide sufficient changing outlets for EVs during the day. The company has partnered with the automaker Renault to manufacture EVs for sale, which have over a hundred miles of range (good for most daily driving) and their batteries can easily be swapped out. For longer trips, the depleted battery can easily be exchanged to a new fully charged one at a station by a simple robotic system within a few minutes. Better Place will build 125 such stations in Israel and slightly more in Denmark. EVs are typically recharged at night, so the system may match well with wind power, since at night the wind is strong and demand for electricity is usually low. To make this system work, the company will sell cars in an unusual way: Drivers will sign a contract for a set number of miles and buy a car for a subsidized cost. The subscription will cover the cost of battery renting, changing, and the electricity for charging it up. The number of miles driven will be tracked using a wireless network and the cost of the car will depend on the contract length. It is expected that the car will cost no more than a comparable gasoline model [51].

#### Personal Rapid Transit

Personal Rapid Transit (PRT), also called podcar, is a new public transportation mode of small automated vehicles running on built guide ways. Each vehicle typically carries around 3–6 passengers. The guide ways are built in a network, with frequent merge/diverge points. This design allows nonstop, point-to-point trips that bypass all intermediate stations. The point-to-point service can be compared to a taxi. A 1.2 km PRT system (one way) was developed by 2getthere [52] and went into operation in Masdar City, UAE in November 2010. The *PRT system at Heathrow Airport, Terminal 5* (London, UK/2011/ULTra PRT) also came into service in 2011 (Fig. 12) [53].

Several cities have recently expressed interest in PRT, and two small city-based systems are currently under development: *Personal Rapid Transit Unit* (Suncheon,



**Fig. 12** PRT system at Heathrow Airport, Terminal 5, London (*Source* [53])

Korea/2013/Posco) [54] and Automated Personal Transportation System (Amritsar, India/2012/ULTra Global PRT) [55].

#### Fuel-Efficient Vehicle

The *Hypermiling concept car* (Cambridge, UK/2011/Cambridge Design Partnership) is an example of high fuel efficient vehicles that can travel 1,325 miles on a single gallon of diesel.

The car was designed for the educational purpose of engineering, technology and ecological sustainability. Cambridge Design Partnership used some new technologies for the car such as lightweight oxygen concentrator and a special "Go" real-time tracking service for system optimization. The car also features low-friction tires that can increase mileage [56]. As gas prices rise rapidly and the trend will likely continue, fuel-efficient vehicles like Hypermiling have been becoming more crucial than ever. The perpetual search for higher fuel efficiency is foreseen as a common trend for most automobile companies in the future.

#### Vehicle Automation

An autonomous or driverless car is a car that can sense its environment and navigate by its own. A destination may need to be chosen, but no human operator on the vehicle is required. Autonomous vehicles are illegal to operate on public roads anywhere in the world except in the state of Nevada, USA (from June 2011) [57]. The *Google driverless car* (San Francisco, USA/2010/Google Company) is one of the pioneering products, alongside programs such as the DARPA Grand Challenge, a prize competition for American driverless vehicles, funded by the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency. There are a number of advantages of driverless car. We may potentially:

- Reduce the number of cars, thereby reduce fuels consumption and carbon emissions.
- Reduce the number of accidents, thereby eliminate all adding up costs such as medical costs, property damage, productivity loss, legal costs, etc.
- Reduce the number of wasted commute time and energy.
- Reduce the required parking space thanks to reduced necessary gaps between cars or the car can self-drive to a distant parking place to park.
- Reduce costs for road construction, traffic control.
- Increase roadway capacity.
- Increase traffic management quality.
- Create lucrative business opportunities to serve new customer needs etc. [58].

On the other hand, there are certainly disadvantages involved in vehicle automation, such as legal issues, high cost or the complexity of technical maintenance, etc. For instance, in the event of an accident, who would be liable, the person sitting by the steering wheel (but not actually driving) or the maker of the software? However, with vehicle automation, there is a major potential to significantly improve the traffic system, automobile industry, energy systems as well as the environment. If driverless cars will be legalized to operate more broadly, they may substantially change our mobility as well as way of life.

#### Bicycle Sharing System

Bicycle sharing systems are a service that provides free or affordable access to available bicycles for temporary shared use to the public who do not own them. It has evolved greatly since the first program was launched in the Netherlands in the mid-1960s. As of May 2011, there were estimates for 136 bike sharing programs in 165 cities around the world, with 237,000 bikes on the streets [59]. The latest systems to be launched include Bixi (Montréal, Canana/2009/Public Bike System Company), Capital Bikeshare (Washington D.C., USA/2010/Alta Bicycle Share), Shanghai Bike sharing Program Forever (Shanghai, China/2010/Xuhui District's Tourism Bureau), New Balance Hubway (Boston, USA/2011/Alta Bicycle Share), Decobike (Miami, USA/2011/DecoBike LLC), etc. The Hangzhou bike sharing system (Hangzhou China/2008/Hangzhou's Public Transport Corporation) was recently developed to become one of the largest bike sharing systems with 60,600 bikes [60]. Bicycle sharing system is typically used to cover short-distance trips in an urban context and solve the "last mile" problem, which refers to the provision of travel service from the nearest public transportation node to a home or office [61]. It is as an alternative and green mode to motorized transport, thereby reducing traffic congestion, noise and air pollution. The blossoming of bicycle sharing system around the world is an important achievement of the global green movements, particularly those originating in cities and local communities.

#### Smart Bicycles

Weighing 10.8 kg, travelling at 23 km/h and being able to fold/unfold in just 15 s, the *Yikebike* (Christchurch, NZ/2010/Grant Ryan) is among the smallest folding electric bikes in the world. Having anti-skid regenerative brakes, the bike allows the rider to stop with confidence on different kinds of surfaces while charging the battery for maximum efficiency, and the charging cost at any power outlet can be very low (Fig. 13) [62]. The bike can be carried into trains, buses and even airplanes, so theoretically you can go almost everywhere with it. However, it may be challenging for many people to carry the bike along. The first author has tried riding a Yikebike, and it was fun but the bike was heavy. Adding ones belongings, it is challenging to carry them.

Smart and responsive, the *Copenhagen Wheel* (USA/2009/MIT SENSEable City Lab) is also another novel design for urban mobility. It transforms ordinary



**Fig. 13** Yikebike, the world's smallest folding electric bike (*Source* [62])

bikes into hybrid e-bikes that also serve as mobile sensing units. Controlled through the rider's smart phone, the wheel can capture the energy produced during cycling and braking and save it for future need. It can also map pollution levels, traffic congestion, and road conditions in real-time [63]. Nevertheless, there may be some drawbacks for some people in certain contexts, such as the great difficulty to read the screens in the sun or when used by the elderly, the added weight of the wheel, the cost, potential vandalism issues, etc.

#### Special Smart Grid Linking Homes and Vehicles

Toyota has developed a new vehicle-to-home (V2H) power system (Japan/2012/ Toyota) for the mutual power sharing between EVs and homes, that can greatly contribute to low-carbon and efficient electricity usage. The electric power supply system can work two-way: from home to vehicle and vice versa. Toyota plans to test the system with their Toyota Prius plug-in hybrid vehicle (PHV). An AC100 V inverter of the Prius PHV converts stored power into AC for home use. The power flow is controlled according to communication between the EV, the charging stand and the home. With this new technology, the vehicle's drive battery can store lowcarbon electricity generated from regional or home solar generators and then supply power back to the home during peak consumption times. Particularly during a power outage, the EV's batteries can substantially provide power for the home. The company estimates that with a fully charged battery and full tank of gasoline, a Prius PHV can supply enough electricity for an average Japanese household to use for four days [64]. This system is useful since the recent nuclear crisis in Japan that caused electricity shortages and scheduled power cuts. Moreover, since Japan is a country with frequent disasters, Toyota also developed



devices that can supply electricity directly from PHVs to devices at emergency shelters.

Based on the concept of this system, a "near-zero carbon home + mobility" model is proposed (Fig. 14). In this model, assuming that powerful integrated RE sources (such as rooftop solar panels and wind turbines, etc.) can be installed for a home that will provide enough energy for the home uses plus charging the electric vehicles used by the household. In this case, traditional commercial grid power (that latently carries CF, dotted line) will not be required. The whole system can provide a "near-zero carbon" life for the home's residents (at least their home living and moving around). The term "near-zero carbon" has been used after taking consideration of possible latent CF as discussed in Technological Systems: A Proposed General Classification System.

#### **Discussion and Future Trends**

#### Technological Systems: A Proposed General Classification System

As we can see through various AUT demonstration projects reviewed above, incorporating RE sources can apparently make the system cleaner and "greener". But in fact, it does not mean the system can become completely clean and "green", that is, extremely low or zero carbon emission. That is because many people including various stake-holders of the RE industry are either not aware of or ignore the "big picture" of the system's CF, and consequently overvalue their projects and/or products.

For instance, an electric car can be seen as a greener mode, but in fact, it can only be called a green mode if it is charged by RE sources, not by conventional commercial power, which latently carries CF from unclean factories that generated the electricity. Let's take this viewpoint further by looking at an electric car that is traveling from city X to city Y. The car, if charged by commercial grid in city X may bear a CF ratio that is different from the CF ratio when charged in city Y, if

level
ootprint
Carbon f
based on
systems
ogical
technolo
of
Classification
le 1

Table 1 Clas	ssification of technolog	ical systems based on	Carbon footprint level	
Type	Traditional		Alternative	
Class	1.Traditional System	2.Improved System	3.Novel System	4.Advanced System
	Comprises of high CF elements	Comprises of conventional high CF elements and new green elements	Comprises of all new green elements	Comprises all new green elements
	Conventional	Innovative	Novel	Breakthrough, advanced, ideal
	Resource inefficient	More resource efficient	Very resource efficient	Extremely resource efficient
Description	High CF	Middle CF	Low CF	Ultra low or zero CF
	Un-green, unclean	Greener, cleaner	Green and clean But its elements, if "zoomed" in, are made of various commonents	Its elements, if "zoomed" in, are made of "near- zero CF" components
			including high CF ones	
Example	A conventional household commercial power grid	A household power grid combined of conventional commercial power sources (PV panels, wind turbines, geothermal)	A household power grid supplied entirely by RE sources. In this case, the house is often called zero- emission house, and can be a zero- energy or energy-plus home. But some components of the RE devices may have been manufactured in un- green factories and transported by un- green vehicles, and thus bear latent CF, so the entire system is ultimately not clean. Some components are made from non-recyclable materials	A similar grid as in class 3, but the components of RE sources were made in "green vehicles, and transported by green vehicles, and thus originally had ultra-low CF. The components are made from recyclable materials. This is the ideal system but may not be eachieved in the near future, because an "almost zero CF" system means the entire production chain from factory, logistics to end-user should be completely clean
Schematic diagram				



the grids in the cities are supplied by different factories that produce different carbon emissions.

Table 1 introduces a new classification of technological systems in terms of CF level based on this viewpoint about "the big picture" of CF. It ranks the traditional technological system as class 1 (most unclean, un-green) and then describes alternative technological systems, which are ranked as class 2, 3 and 4. Most of the AUT demonstration projects in Section AUT Demonstration Projects fall into class 2. Some are moving forward toward class 3 (e.g. "near-zero carbon home + mobility" model). Class 4 is ideal and can unlikely be achieved in the near future.

#### **AUT Future Trends**

AUTs are an important element of the continued development of the built environment, the transportation and RE potential of current and future urbanization. The trends for the development of diverse AUTs demonstrate strong growth and investment across all of these sectors. North and central European countries such as Germany, Denmark, Sweden, Finland, etc. are still leading the world in terms of green technologies development while United States and China are accelerating their direct investment and application of AUTs.

However, there is a great challenge ahead for RE sector and for the majority of AUTs. "Wind and solar power are ramping up quickly, but the world's demand for electricity is growing much faster. The use of wind and solar power rose almost ninefold from 2000 to 2009, the most recent year for which the International Energy Agency has made data available, but that has not significantly shifted the overall mix of the world's electricity supply. Worldwide demand for power is growing on a different scale. Figure 15 shows that from 2000 to 2009, as the annual generation from wind and solar rose by about 260,000 GWh, total



generation increased by nearly 4.7 million GWh. As a result,  $CO_2$  emission from electricity production, which represents roughly 40 % of the world's energy-related emissions, keeps rising. Asia, the continent of the world's fastest urban growth, is also the region that consumes energy the most [...] In short, RE still has a long way to go" [65].

Other challenges may include some of the negative impacts of RE development that may hinder them from thriving further. For example, currently both solar farms and wind farms require huge areas of land, so the loss of land as well as its potential economic benefits that could be gained if no solar farm or wind farm was to develop will significantly add in the costs of the RE investments. This is one of the reasons why many solar farms and wind farms are being developed in rural or ocean areas. Another example of the negative impacts of RE development—the case Hydropower—are the issues of high construction cost, flooding in rainy season and droughts in dry seasons, land use and landscape changes (not to mention the catastrophic risk of dam breaking), the water scarcity of the downstream regions (e.g. the current Xayaburi dam project on the Lower Mekong River in Laos and its threats to food security in Cambodia and Vietnam), etc.

In the future, it is forecast that the next generation of energy systems would be based heavily on RE systems and energy efficient systems (passive) and hybrid or full hybrid systems will be dominant. Hybrid RE systems are the integrated systems of two or more RE types (e.g. S+W, W+G+B....) while full hybrid energy systems are formed by both RE systems and energy efficient systems (Fig. 16). In theory, this type of full hybrid energy systems is the most advanced and "greenest" as it empowers the building to naturally respond to the dynamics of the local environment on one hand (passive way) while ensuring the possibility to use a selection of RE on the other. It can potentially make the building become an energy-plus one (a building that produces more energy than it consumes).

With regards to energy efficient systems, it may be necessary to mention the "rebound effect", which measures the behaviorally induced offset in the reduction of energy consumption following efficiency improvements. The fundamental spirit of the "rebound effect" lies on a hypothesis that greater efficiency leads to even greater energy use because it causes people to consume more goods and services [66].



There have been a number of debates about this and how big rebound effect is. For instance, Frondel and Vance warn not to belittle the rebound effect in energy efficiency [67], while Gillingham et al. prove that in energy policy, the rebound effect is overplayed [68]. Sharing the same opinion that the rebound effect is small, Steve Nadel, executive director of American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy (ACEEE) writes in an ACEEE white paper that: "Overall, even if total rebound is about 20 percent then 80 percent of the savings from energy efficiency programs and policies register in terms of reduced energy use. And the 20 percent rebound contributes to increased consumer amenities and a larger economy. These savings are not "lost" but are put to other generally beneficial uses" [69]. This chapter agrees with the notion that the counterproductive aspect of the rebound effect should be taken into account, yet many of the reviewed demonstration projects show that improving energy efficiency apparently makes direct positive impacts on the environment.

The current global economic recession may slow down the investments in RE and AUTs in the short run (e.g. the year 2012) but not in the long run. In fact, it may provide good opportunities for their development, as many enterprises, institutions as well as households are looking for innovative solutions to harvest "free" energy resources and/or save energy to cut costs. In the next coming years, it is forecasted that RE, AUTs, green development/renovation as well as many other green initiatives will continue to grow strongly, particularly thanks to:

- The competition among cities/regions and the competition in the global technological market, which substantially decreases the upfront investment costs and boosts up the race of AUT development.
- The increasing global consensus and movement on going-green and the blossom of green initiatives.
- New governmental spending, regulation and policies on RE. For examples, after the launch of the "American Recovery and Reinvestment Act" in 2009 that includes more than \$70 billion in direct spending and tax credits for clean energy and associated transportation programs [70], Cleantech Group has reported that in 2011, U.S.-based venture capital investments in clean technologies increased from \$5.1 bill. in 2010 to \$6.6 bill. in 2011 (30 % up) [71].

The latest report of Clean Edge's Annual Trends Report (Mar 2013) outlines five key trends that will impact clean-energy markets in 2013 and beyond:

- Smart devices and big data empower customers, open new chapter in energy efficiency.
- Distributed solar financing comes of age.
- Under the electric vehicle radar, microhybrid technology saves big on fuel consumption.
- In the U.S. and overseas, geothermal picks up steam.
- Perfectly natural: Biomimicry makes its mark on clean tech.

The report also provides a global clean energy projection as seen in Fig. 17 [72].



Fig. 17 Global clean energy projected growth 2012–2022 (\$US Billions) (*Source* Clean Edge, Inc [72])

#### Conclusion

This chapter is a review of state-of-the-art AUT demonstration projects around the world, with a focus on three primary urban systems: the built environment, transportation and energy. Through this study, we can see the important role of RE as well as its broad and diverse application in changing our traditional urban technologies substantially in order to transform our cities innovatively toward a low-carbon future. The classification of technological systems shows that there are different levels of alternative solutions in correspondence with different levels of environmental impacts. However, all of the three latter classes (2, 3 and 4) are seen as "alternative" technological systems to replace the traditional anti-ecological ones (class 1), and thus, should be explored, praised and learnt from.

From this review, we can also see that RE-based projects have not only developed strongly within a respective RE sector (such as solar, wind, geothermal...) but also thrived dramatically in forms of hybrid RE systems, as showcased in Hybrid RE System Projects. Those hybrid RE systems can potentially provide the greatest harvest of RE, have the least CF and thus, become the cleanest systems. More significantly, several novel showcase projects show that some RE types can be intelligently combined and greatly complementary to each other (e.g. PV panels harvest the sun energy during the day for the system where energy storage is not available, and wind turbines work at night when it is most windy). For example, Toyota's vehicle-to-home system is an example of a smart integration system and from there we could move forward toward a more advanced "near-zero carbon home + mobility" model as seen in Fig. 14. In addition, the Brackfriars Railway Station project (Solar Energy Projects) proves a novel and innovative solution for developing solar infrastructure as shelter for an urban bridge, while reducing the opportunity cost and lessening the pressure on land use for large scale RE farms. Finally, new infrastructure for electric vehicles (New Electric Vehicle Infrastructure) demonstrates an innovative method for promoting the sales of electric cars, overcoming one of the biggest challenges that have kept AUTs from being widely adopted: the high upfront cost.

By proposing a general classification system (Technological Systems: A Proposed General Classification System), this chapter emphasizes the importance of taking into account the "big picture" as well as "latent impacts" of the entire system, as discussed with the examples of CF, hydropower, land loss due to solar/ wind farm development, etc. Also, by exploring some of the most innovative demonstration projects, it addresses the important potential prospects of AUTs (as articulated in AUT Future Trends.), and provides the basis for informed speculation about moving toward a low-carbon and sustainable future for our cities.

**Acknowledgments** This research has been supported by the SUTD-MIT International Design Centre of the Singapore University of Technology and Design (SUTD). Special thanks go to Prof. Erik Wilhelm (SUTD) for his proofreading and comments on this chapter.

#### References

- 1. http://www.unfpa.org/swp/2007/english/introduction.html
- 2. International Energy Agency (2012) Key energy statistics 2010
- 3. Today News (Singapore). China sees urbanization as main growth driver. 7 March 2013, p 10
- Moreno SH (2009) Current technologies applied to urban sustainable development. Theor Empirical Res Urban Manage 4(13):125–140. Available online at: http://um.ase.ro/no13/ 8.pdf
- 5. Hounsell NB, Shrestha BP, Piao J, McDonald M (2009) Review of urban traffic management and the impacts of new vehicle technologies. IET Intel Transp Syst 3(4):419–428
- Liserre M et al (2010) Future energy systems: integrating renewable energy sources into the smart power grid through industrial electronics. IEEE Ind Electron Mag 4(1):18–37
- Kateeb IA et al (2011) Back to the future renewable energy sources and green smart grid. In: Proceedings of IEEE, Southeastcon, pp 147–152
- Sheikh N, Kocaoglu DF (2011) A comprehensive assessment of solar photovoltaic technologies: literature review. Technology management in the energy smart world (PICMET), 2011. In: Proceedings of PICMET '11, pp 1–11
- Sithan M, Lai LL (2011) Application of green technologies in developing countries—reduced carbon emission and conservation of energy. Power and energy society general meeting, IEEE. San Diego, USA, pp 1–7
- Pacheco R, Ordónez J, Martínez G (2011) Energy efficient design of building: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 16(6):3559–3573
- Shi L, Chew MY (2012) A review on sustainable design of renewable energy systems. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 16(2012):192–207
- 12. Hepbasli A (2012) Low exergy (LowEx) heating and cooling systems for sustainable buildings and societies. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 16(1):73–104
- Leung D, Yang Y (2012) Wind energy development and its environmental impact: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 16(2012):981–989
- 14. Taibi E, Gielen D, Bazilian M (2012) The potential for renewable energy in industrial applications. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 16(2012):735–744
- Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century (REN 21). Renewables 2011 Global Status Report. Available: http://www.ren21.net/Portals/97/documents/GSR/REN21\_ GSR2011.pdf
- International Energy Agency (2012) World energy outlook 2012, p 6. Available: http:// www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/English.pdf

- 17. http://inhabitat.com/fujisawa-smart-town-planned-for-japan-to-be-most-advanced-eco-cityin-the-world
- http://inhabitat.com/photos-inhabitat-explores-sanyos-5200-solar-panel-clad-kasai-greenenergy-park/
- 19. http://inhabitat.com/korean-tower-boasts-one-of-the-worlds-most-efficient-solar-facades/
- 20. http://cleantechnica.com/2012/07/07/worlds-largest-solar-bridge-is-halfway-complete/
- 21. http://inhabitat.com/stylish-super-efficient-swiss-home-wins-the-2010-passivhaus-award/
- 22. http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2010/mar/14/razor-tower-wind-turbines
- 23. http://inhabitat.com/bahrain-world-trade-center-has-wind-turbines/
- 24. http://www.designbuild-network.com/projects/le-phare/
- 25. http://www.banking-on-green.com/en/content/news\_3705.html
- 26. http://www.triplepundit.com/2010/04/deutsche-bank-green-building-leed/
- http://www.ukmediacentre.pwc.com/News-Releases/First-UK-outstanding-environmentalrating-for-an-office-building-achieved-by-new-PwC-London-site-e04.aspx
- 28. Register R (1987) Ecocity Berkeley: building cities for a healthy future. North Atlantic Books, Berkeley, CA, p 3
- 29. http://inhabitat.com/tianjin-eco-city-is-a-futuristic-green-landscape-for-350000-residents/
- 30. Walsh B (2011) Masdar city: the world's greenest city? Time Magazine 25 Jan 2011. Available: http://www.time.com/time/health/article/0,8599,2043934,00.html
- http://www.switchtraining.eu/fileadmin/template/projects/switch\_training/files/Case\_studies/ Case\_study\_Stockholm\_preview.pdf
- 32. http://greenconcretecanyon.wordpress.com/2011/06/02/hammarby-sjostad/
- 33. www.educate-sustainability.eu/kb/content/hammarby-sjostad-stockholm
- 34. http://inhabitat.com/worlds-greenest-parking-lot-to-be-at-denver-intl-airport/
- 35. http://inhabitat.com/switzerlands-berghotel-muottas-muragl-is-the-first-energy-plus-hotel-inthe-alps/berghotel-muottas-murgal-10/?extend=1
- 36. http://www.passivhaustagung.de/Passive\_House\_E/passivehouse\_definition.html
- 37. http://www.passivehouse.us/passiveHouse/PassiveHouseInfo.html
- http://inhabitat.com/h27d-is-a-zero-waste-urban-infill-apartment-building-in-constancegermany/
- 39. http://inhabitat.com/volkswagens-brand-new-chattanooga-plant-awarded-leed-platinum/
- 40. Bailkey M, Nasr J (2000) From brownfields to greenfields: producing food in North American cities. Community Food Security News, pp 6
- 41. http://inhabitat.com/nyc/top-5-urban-farms-in-new-york-city/
- http://inhabitat.com/beehive-inspired-vertical-farm-is-a-self-sufficient-mini-ecosystem-forlondon/
- 43. http://inhabitat.com/new-post-submission-93/
- 44. http://www.verticrop.com/
- 45. Pérez G, Rincón L, Vila A, González JM, Cabeza LF (2011) Green vertical systems for buildings as passive systems for energy savings. Appl Energy 88:4854–4859
- 46. http://www.adelaidecitycouncil.com/environment/energy/tindo-solar-bus/
- http://inhabitat.com/2013-honda-fit-ev-is-rated-at-118-mpge-the-highest-epa-rating-evergiven/honda-begins-deliveries-of-the-2013-fit-ev-2/
- http://inhabitat.com/smart-will-reveal-the-ultra-compact-for-us-electric-pickup-truck-at-thedetroit-auto-show/rsz-smart-for-us-pickup-3/
- 49. http://www.engadget.com/2011/12/01/toyota-fcv-r-concept-brings-fuel-cell-cars-closer-to-reality-ai/
- 50. http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-16608892
- 51. http://www.technologyreview.com/energy/20488/?mod=related
- 52. http://www.2getthere.eu/?page\_id=58
- http://inhabitat.com/londons-heathrow-airport-ultra-personal-electric-transportation-podnow-open-to-the-public/
- 54. http://koreajoongangdaily.joinsmsn.com/news/article/article.aspx?aid=2910573

- 55. http://inhabitat.com/worlds-largest-driverless-personal-transportion-system-to-break-groundin-india/ultra-fairwood-passenger-rapid-transport-2/
- 56. http://inhabitat.com/1325-mpg-hypermiling-car-piloted-by-11-year-old-student/
- Knapp A (2011) Nevada Passes Law Authorizing Driverless Cars. Forbes. Available: http:// blogs.forbes.com/alexknapp/2011/06/22/nevada-passes-law-authorizing-driverless-cars/
- 58. Mui C (2013) Fasten your seatbelts: Google's driverless car is worth trillions. Forbes magazine online. 22 Jan 2013. Available at: http://www.forbes.com/sites/chunkamui/2013/01/22/fasten-your-seatbelts-googles-driverless-car-is-worth-trillions/
- 59. http://www.uctc.net/access/39/access39\_bikesharing.pdf
- 60. http://76.12.4.249/artman2/uploads/1/China\_s\_Hangzhou\_Public\_Bicycle.pdf
- 61. http://ares.lids.mit.edu/fm/papers/Wang.Odoni.11.pdf
- 62. http://www.yikebike.com
- 63. http://senseable.mit.edu/copenhagenwheel/
- 64. http://inhabitat.com/toyota-develops-system-that-enables-electric-vehicles-to-power-your-home/
- 65. Orcutt M (2011) Small gains. Technology Review March/April 2012. Available: http:// www.technologyreview.com/graphiti/426980/small-gains/
- 66. Jevons WS (1875) The coal question. MacMillan Publishers, London
- 67. Frondel M, Vance C (2013) Energy efficiency: don't belittle the rebound effect. Nature 494:430. Available: http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v494/n7438/pdf/494430c.pdf
- K.Gillingham et al. (2013). Energy policy: the rebound effect is overplayed Available: http:// www.nature.com/nature/journal/v493/n7433/pdf/493475a.pdf
- 69. Nadel S (2012) The rebound effect: large or small? American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy (ACEEE) white paper. Available: http://aceee.org/files/pdf/white-paper/rebound-large-and-small.pdf
- http://www.renewableenergyworld.com/rea/news/article/2009/02/renewable-energyindustry-reacts-to-stimulus-package
- 71. http://www.cleanedge.com/reports/clean-energy-trends-2012
- 72. Clean Edge Inc. (2013) Clean energy trends 2013, pp 1–2

## **Complex Socio-Technical Problems for Engineers: Pedagogical Motivation and Experience at the Undergraduate Level**

#### Afreen Siddiqi, Regina R. Clewlow and Joseph M. Sussman

Abstract Engineering courses, focused on complex, sociotechnical systems, at the undergraduate level, have been rare. Traditionally, most students develop technical understanding in a specific engineering discipline, but get little opportunity to analyze engineered complex systems, where both technical and social issues need to be well understood for devising long lasting solutions. In this chapter, authors describe the motivation, design, and learning outcomes of an introductory course on Engineering Systems that has been developed and offered at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. The course is based on the theme of critical contemporary issues (CCIs) including energy, mobility, sustainability etc. The aim of the course is to expose undergraduates to quantitative tools for methodically analyzing complex contemporary engineering challenges. The course consists of lectures on system dynamics, networks and uncertainty, along with semester-long team-based projects. For the first pilot offering of the class (Spring semester 2011), the students gave an average rating of 5.9/7.0 regarding how likely they were to recommend this class to others (7 being absolutely certain). There was also evidence (however, based on limited and anecdotal data) of continued student interest (outside of class) in engaging with the complex socio-technical problems they worked on during the term.

A. Siddiqi (🖂)

J. M. Sussman

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_13, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

Research Scientist, Engineering Systems Division, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA e-mail: siddiqi@mit.edu

R. R. Clewlow Lecturer and Postdoctoral Fellow, Stanford University, MC 3-68, 450 Serra Mall, Stanford, CA 94305, USA e-mail: rclewlow@stanford.edu

JR East Professor of Engineering Systems and Civil and Environmental Engineering, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Cambridge, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA e-mail: sussman@mit.edu

**Keywords** Socio-technical systems • Project-based learning • Undergraduate engineering curriculum

#### Introduction

Many of our most interesting, complex engineering challenges do not fit into the neat silos of academic disciplines-they are interdisciplinary and require systems thinking. The level of complexity and interactions in modern systems requires a new level of expertise and trans-disciplinary perspectives that perhaps were not needed before. Systems thinking, and the skills to tackle complexity, need to be inculcated in engineering students sooner rather than later. It is becoming more important for young engineers (not just senior practitioners) to obtain such skills. To date, the development of analytical skills for studying such problems has been largely reserved for graduate-level engineering education. However, engineering students are increasingly interested in working on contemporary challenges earlier in their careers. Students entering engineering programs today are more aware and better equipped for conducting sophisticated analysis due to their access to information, knowledge and tools that previously were not available to prior generations. It is therefore, important—both for retaining students in engineering and for harnessing their curiosity towards potentially finding new solutions-to offer undergraduate courses that allow them to engage with complex, contemporary problems.

This chapter describes the development and implementation of a novel course, ESD.00- *Introduction to Engineering Systems*, offered by the Engineering Systems Division (ESD) at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology [1]. Primarily intended for first and second year engineering students (but open to all undergraduates), it has been designed to engage and challenge a new generation of students who are passionate and more involved than ever before in understanding and impacting contemporary problems.

The new course centers around the theme of Critical Contemporary Issues (CCI)—important and difficult problems pertinent to our present times on topics including sustainability, mobility, energy and the environment, healthcare, communication, the internet etc. In this course, we integrate introductory instruction in system dynamics, networks and uncertainty with team-based semester-long projects. Through this approach, we enable students to engage in and understand the issues related to a problem of their interest, appreciate the scope of the sociotechnical complexities in CCIs, and gain an introduction to analytical tools that can help in addressing some of these issues. This chapter discusses the overall philosophy and motivation for establishing the course, the design of the curriculum, the execution and integration of team-based projects, the teaching and learning experiences over two terms, and plans regarding its future evolution.

#### Motivation

Historically, engineers have largely acquired expertise and understanding of complex systems through practice in their profession. Little attention was paid to creating structured curricula, classes or degree programs focused on studying complex engineering systems. However, we are presently part of an era in which the inventions of the past two centuries for energy, transportation, and communication have coupled together to form highly interdependent, large-scale systems [2]. Thomas Edison's light bulb, James Watt's steam engine, and Alexander Graham Bell's telephone have not only transformed into more sophisticated devices today—but they also now form only a part of larger systems within which they function and without which they will not deliver value. The light bulb requires a functioning electric grid, the locomotive engines require transportation networks, and the modern phones are of use within the larger signal and communication networks. While we have, to a great degree, advanced our knowledge in the art and science of designing new products, we have yet to explore the domain of design, operation, and management of complex engineered systems with considerable nonlinearity and feedback.

Furthermore, engineering education has traditionally focused on systems where the boundaries encompassed materials, machines and constructed facilities. It is has now become important to expand those boundaries to include humans and institutions. Such an expansion essentially extends the focus from simply technical to *sociotechnical* systems, where technical as well as societal, economic, political, and regulatory factors weigh in prominently.

As historically disparate technical systems become inter-twined and humans and societal factors become non-negligible variables in design decisions, engineers of tomorrow will need to deal with requirements that are not just physical, but also increasingly social, political, economic in nature. At some level, this has always been the case. However, such considerations were not needed to be as integrated in the design, management and operation of engineering systems as they are increasingly required now. This new, increased level of integration requires a rethinking and redesigning of how we go about training our future engineers who will, for instance, have to deal with global manufacturing and supply chains, create and maintain new interdependent infrastructures, design systems for accessible and affordable healthcare and so on.

This course is an initial step, at the undergraduate level, towards inculcating broad, holistic thinking in our next generation of engineers. While learning the technologies central to these systems is essential, our students need to learn how social sciences and management ideas are integrated into our study of CCIs, creating that holistic individual. It is necessary to teach methods related to analysis of natural phenomenon and material or component behavior (such as Finite Element Analysis, Computational Fluid Dynamics etc.) to engineering students. It is now also important to offer the students an exposure to sophisticated methods for understanding system interdependencies (using tools of networks and graph theory), understanding uncertainty (based on probability theory) and tools for decision-making (such as decision analysis, multi-attribute utility theory) etc.

The Engineering Systems Division at MIT is driven by this vision of research and education in large-scale engineering systems and is focused on complex, socio-technical problems. The division was established in 1998, and since its inception there has been strong and increasing student interest in terms of enrollment and class registrations (see Fig. 1).

However, to date the educational efforts of the division have been primarily targeted towards graduate students. Figure 2 shows the total graduate-level course offerings (across all semesters) by departments in School of Engineering at MIT. This data counts joint-listed courses (i.e. same classes listed with different numbers in multiple departments) only once. Joint-listed classes were associated with a department that is designated as 'Master' department for the class in the registrar's office. Furthermore, course numbers for thesis work and directed/individual student research classes were not counted. It can be seen, in Fig. 2, that while the number of graduate courses offered by ESD are significant, the undergraduate courses are the smallest in number within the school.

A more in-depth analysis of the course offerings was done to determine how many classes were focused on 'systems' (in any domain or context). As a crude proxy of this measure, class titles that had the keyword 'system' were tallied for each department. The results are shown in Fig. 3. The reader should note that from the viewpoint of full-time equivalent (FTE) faculty, ESD is the smallest unit in the School of Engineering with 13 FTEs.

A review of the undergraduate classes currently offered by ESD shows, that apart from ESD.00, there are 6 listings. These include courses related to engineering leadership offered through the Gordon-MIT Engineering Leadership program [3], statistics and data analysis, technology and public policy etc. There had been no undergraduate class, offered by ESD, which focused on concepts and methodologies for analysis of complex large-scale, engineering systems from a



Fig. 1 Student enrolment in ESD classes at MIT [2]



Fig. 2 Number of classes currently offered (across all semesters) in School of Engineering. *Abbreviations: EECS* Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, *ME* Mechanical Engineering, *CEE* Civil and Environmental Engineering, *ESD* Engineering Systems Division, *AA* Aeronautics and Astronautics, *Chem E* Chemical Engineering, *Mat Sci* Materials Science and Engineering, *NE* Nuclear Engineering, *BE* Biological Engineering

domain neutral perspective. The new course, ESD.00, was thus developed to close this gap and create new learning opportunities for undergraduates. The one undergraduate 'systems' class shown in Fig. 3 for ESD is due to the recent inclusion of ESD.00 in the listing.



Fig. 3 Number of courses with keyword 'system' in course title

#### **Introducing Socio-technical Problems to Engineers**

#### **Objectives**

The basic objective of the course was to expose undergraduate students to concepts and methods that can be used for tackling critical, contemporary issues associated with socio-technical systems such as that of energy, mobility, communication, healthcare etc. A key feature was emphasis on project-based learning [4], and the goal was to have student teams work on specific projects as part of this class. There were seven goals that were outlined for the course:

- 1. To introduce concepts and methods of engineering systems at a level that can be understood and applied by undergraduate students in real-world projects.
- 2. To enable students to gain conceptual understanding of the complex interplay among technical, social political, and cultural aspects of socio-technical systems.
- 3. To motivate and energize students via project work with student teams and faculty mentors on complex global issues.
- 4. To develop students' problem solving and critical thinking abilities in deciding how to model and analyze a complex socio-technical system as part of their project work.
- 5. To enable students to draw directly on their math, science, and social studies background in conceptual understanding and practical application of engineering systems concepts and methods.
- 6. To introduce and provide practice in use of mathematical methods and computer simulation tools used in modeling, analysis and design of engineering systems.
- 7. To develop students' abilities in teamwork, oral communication and written communication as part of completion of team projects.

These objectives were largely driven by motivation to expand course offering for undergraduate students on topics of engineering systems (as discussed above in Sect. 2) as well as to use projects to enrich their learning experience. In retrospective analysis, we evaluated the goals using program-level outcomes defined by the Accreditation Board of Engineering and Technology as a basis of assessment [5]. The outcomes (commonly referred to as Outcomes 3a–3k and described in Table 1) are used to evaluate engineering programs.

The expectation is that the core set of classes in a program will collectively produce the outcomes at the required levels [6]. While the outcomes are for program-level evaluations, they provide a basis for assessing specific courses as well. In general, a single course cannot fully cover the full spectrum (from 3a to 3k). A comparison of how the goals (from 1 to 7) for the course connected with the outcomes 3a–3k is shown in Fig. 4. A dark blue box in the matrix indicates that the goal in its corresponding row is linked with the outcome in its corresponding

Table 1 Program-level outcomes 3a-3k as defined by ABET [6]

- 3a An ability to apply knowledge of mathematics, science, and engineering
- 3b An ability to design and conduct experiments, as well as analyze and interpret data
- 3c An ability to design a system, component, or process to meet desired needs
- 3d An ability to function on multidisciplinary teams
- 3e An ability to identify, formulate and solve engineering problems
- 3f An understanding of professional and ethical responsibility
- 3g An ability to communicate effectively
- 3h The broad education necessary to understand the impact of engineering solutions in a global and societal context
- 3i A recognition of the need for and an ability to engage in lifelong learning
- 3j A knowledge of contemporary issues

Fig. 4 Comparison matrix of

class objectives with ABET's

program-level outcomes

3k An ability to use the techniques, skills, and modern engineering tools necessary for engineering practice



column. Note that in this figure only links are marked, but the level of connection (i.e. *how strongly* a goal links to an outcome) is not assessed at this stage.

#### Structure and Content

In terms of class structure, we designed it to be principally a project-based class, grounded with weekly lectures and a few supplemental tutorials. The lecture component provided the means for introducing the concepts and methods relevant for the class as well as a forum for in-class discussions. The projects were supervised by a graduate student or faculty member, and were conducted in small teams over the course of the entire semester. The projects served to engage the students' interest and provided real-world examples for applying the concepts and methods introduced in the lectures. Figure 5 provides a schematic representation of how the class was structured.

The lecture topics were selected carefully to reflect the introductory level of the course, but also to enable the students to acquire understanding of important concepts related to complex engineering systems. We selected three key topics:



systems dynamics, uncertainty and networks. These topics collectively provide means for studying non-linearity, feedback, interconnections, and ambiguity that characterize most real-world problems and are often not adequately covered in classical engineering courses at the undergraduate level. Given the rich body of literature and a fair level of maturity that exists for these topics, a substantive and well-grounded material, suitable for undergraduate instruction, could be presented. Additionally, the *application* of these methods towards studying sociotechincal systems is well developed and recognized not just in a theoretical sense, but also in actual practice and real-world applications [7-9]. The application of these methods and approaches towards modeling and analyzing systems with both technical and social aspects was emphasized and demonstrated. Usually, these topics are covered in various engineering courses (especially uncertainty and to some extent systems dynamics through differential equations); however, the examples and applications are typically focused on technical and physical modeling only. The key difference in this class was how these topics were introduced and explained, and the kinds of examples used so that the students could understand how these methods apply to analysis of sociotechnical systems.

In addition to the key topics that were treated in depth (with multiple lectures devoted to each), we included lectures on basic systems concepts and definitions, stakeholders and evaluative complexity, and other lectures on related topics.

We took special care to integrate the two segments, the lecture and the projects, of the course. The integration was done through assigning mini-project deliverables to each team, in which the methods and concepts discussed in lectures were applied to the projects. For instance, each team was asked to create causal loop diagrams (as taught in systems dynamics approach), identify key uncertainties, and create network models for their respective systems. This integration of lecture material with projects was expressly designed to ensure cohesion between the two threads of the course as well as to allow students to apply the concepts to actual applications.

A detailed description of the course and the syllabus can be accessed at [10]. The class materials (as offered in Spring 2011) are also available through MIT's open courseware website [11].

#### **Term Projects**

As discussed earlier, this class was fundamentally designed around term projects. The idea was to have students grapple with open ended problems with no canned methods to apply or 'right' answers to compute. The students were equipped with instruction on multiple methodologies, and were given freedom to choose appropriate methods and tools that would be applicable in their judgment to the questions under investigation.

In the first offering of the course (in the spring semester of 2011), the students worked on three projects on healthcare, transportation, and communication that were broadly designed and supervised by ESD faculty and engineering systems Ph D students. In the second offering (currently on-going at the time of submission of this article), the student teams have projects on using electricity from renewable energy sources, decision modeling for flu vaccination, and site selection for nuclear waste disposal in the US. It is noted that the projects touch upon different critical contemporary issues, and are in fact well aligned with a number of grand challenges of engineering that have been outlined by the National Academy of Engineering [12]. Figure 6 shows how the fourteen grand challenges, as described in [12], connect to more general categories into which the ESD.00 projects (that have been offered to date) can be classified.

The project numbers in Fig. 6 (in the small inner most circles) correspond to projects 1–6 discussed as follows:



Fig. 6 Mapping grand challenges in engineering to projects offered in ESD.00

#### Life-Cycle Assessment of High-Speed Rail and Aviation

This project focused on a life-cycle assessment of high-speed rail and air transportation in the U.S. Northeast Corridor. The primary objective was to compare energy use and  $CO_2$  emissions of the Acela Express as compared with short-haul flights in the Northeast Corridor.

The team examined future projections of demand for both modes of transportation between three corridors: Boston to New York, New York to Washington, D.C., and Boston to Washington, D.C. The life-cycle energy consumption and  $CO_2$ emissions associated with these corridors were assessed utilizing a combination of the Economic Input–Output Life Cycle Assessment (EIO-LCA) method for transportation infrastructure and "well-to-wheel" approach for vehicle emissions.

#### Stroke Care Chain

The objective of the project was to analyze and then suggest improvements to the process of how patients are provided medical care after they suffer a stroke. The students were provided with an elementary systems dynamics model executable in VensimTM (originally prepared by a team of MIT and Harvard graduate students that had conducted exploratory work on the topic).

The students focused their analysis on the state of North Carolina, a state that has a 10 % higher death rate from strokes as compared to the US national average. The students used the model to first determine key variables that impact the stroke care process and can lead to tangible improvements, and then explored various policy options based on costs and benefits. The policy options included deployment of in-field ultrasound technology, increasing staffing of stroke care personnel at medical facilities, and increasing awareness through public out-reach and education.

#### The Digital Divide

Broadband has increased from 8 million in 2000 to 200 million in 2009 in the US, but there are still 100 million Americans that do not have broadband. The focus of this project was to understand the barriers to broadband adoption in the US, and to identify solutions that may help in increasing broadband accessibility. The team analyzed recently released (February 2011) data from a large Federal Communications Commissions (FCC) survey. The students used R, a statistical package, to compile and visualize the data in order to formulate a broadband adoption model. The key task was to explore the social, economic and technical factors that contribute to broadband and internet access trends in the US.

# Electricity Power: Combining Renewables, Capacity Expansion, and Demand Response

This project explores the challenges in using electricity generated from renewable sources. Production of electricity with renewable will reduce carbon emissions but will increase the cost of electricity and require the electric power system to adapt in order to absorb the characteristic intermittency of wind and solar generation. Motivated by the need for low emissions, low cost and security of supply, a number of questions regarding optimal technology choices to balance competing objectives, and role of demand response were investigated.

#### Finding a Nuclear Waste Repository Site in the US

A multi-attribute approach to evaluating nuclear waste sites was designed in the late 1980's. Using expert elicitation to determine rank orderings and estimates for repository impacts, the methodology was applied to five potential waste repository sites, including Yucca Mountain. This project aimed to update that methodology for the new political and public resistance in 2011 in which the Yucca Mountain site has been ruled out. The team project consists of establishing a value tree (considering a wide range of metrics that should be used in selecting a site for a waste repository in the U.S); a network analysis on five candidate waste sites to determine which are optimal from a transportation-minimization perspective; a multi-attribute analysis of two possible project sites, and then inclusion of uncertainties using a decision-analytic approach.

#### Multi-Criteria Decision Models and Influenza Vaccination

This project is based on modeling decision making for vaccination and evaluating effectiveness of vaccination policies. Every year, a new influenza vaccine is available for the general public during the influenza season (October–March) and there is a brief period to monitor the outcomes of this vaccine—both its safety (adverse events) and its effectiveness (avoidance of influenza-related illnesses). Of course, the effectiveness of the vaccination policy depends on the public's perception of the benefits and risks of influenza versus getting vaccinated against influenza. These are dynamic measures that only become fully known after an influenza season is over. Federal regulators have a difficult job communicating these changing/developing benefits and risks for a myriad of reasons and continually cope with significant scientific misinformation surrounding vaccination and vaccines. The project uses Systems Dynamics modeling to investigate the problem.

#### Assessment

The course was reviewed by both students (through end-of-term evaluations) and by the faculty to gauge learning outcomes (largely based on final project presentations). At the time of submission of this article, data regarding assessment and evaluation of the first offering (of Spring 2011) was available. The second offering (of Spring 2012) is on-going, therefore its evaluation data was not available.

#### Student Assessment of Learning

Student feedback for the course was elicited through a focus group at the end of the semester and through an online course evaluation form. The course evaluation was specially customized for the class and was not simply the generic evaluation used for all classes at the Institute. The response rate was 100 %, and the overall feedback was very positive. Many students gave the highest 'strongly agree' rating to the question of whether they would recommend this class to others. Across all responses, the average rating for this question was 5.9 on a 7-point scale.

Table 2 summarizes students' expectations of their learning outcomes, and the extent to which the course met their expectations. These results are based on responses the students provided in the customized, end-of-term course evaluation. The responses were on a 7-point scale defined as follows: 1 = Not at all, 4 = Somewhat, 7 = To a Very Great Extent.

In general, the effectiveness of the course in meeting their expectations was ranked highly, with the highest mean score (6.7) associated with the project-related expectation. The students also agreed that they had "gained knowledge" about tools used to analyze engineering systems, as well as learned to "apply" those tools analyze engineering systems. The students' strong self-assessment of their ability to "apply" tools for engineering systems analysis is a useful initial evaluation that could be strengthened with further outcomes-based assessment of the course.

#### Faculty Assessment of Learning

In terms of faculty assessment, the evaluations for student learning were made through a combination of individual homework assignments (given in first half of the class), quality of class discussions, mid-term oral presentations and final project oral presentations and a written report. As a sample of the evaluation that was conducted, Table 2 shows the rubric used for evaluating the oral presentations of the final projects. A total of 10 evaluators (faculty and research staff with four who were not affiliated with the ESD.00) attended the presentations and orally quizzed the students on their work. A scale of 1-7 was used which was defined as follows: 1 = poor, 4 = satisfactory, 7 = superior. The results are summarized in Table 3 and also shown in a radar plot in Fig. 7.

		Mean score	Responses	Standard deviation
Student expectations	What were your expectations of the class? Expected to learn about engineering systems and how they connect with some critical contemporary issues	6.0	Ζ	1.0
	Expected to work on a complex, engineering systems project Expected to gain knowledge about tools used to analyze engineering systems	6.6 5.7	۲ ۲	0.79 0.95
Effectiveness meeting	Expected to learn to apply tools used to analyze engineering systems	5.6	7	1.27
expectations	Learned about engineering systems and how they connect with some critical contemporary issues	6.4	7	1.13
	Learned to work on a complex, engineering systems project	6.7	7	0.49
	Gained knowledge about tools used to analyze engineering systems	6.0	7	0.82
	Learned to apply tools used to analyze engineering systems	6.1	7	0.0

Complex Socio-Technical Problems for Engineers

Table 2 Summary of student evaluations

Category Proje												
	oject 1		Project	2	Project	3	Project	4	Project	5	Project	9
[MCa]	ean Sti are de	andard	Mean	Standard								
		VIAUUII	2010		z o		store		2010		score	
<ol> <li>Understanding of engineering 5.6 systems concepts</li> </ol>		0	5.7	1.1	5.8	1.1	0.0	0.7	5.9	0.7	6.3	1.0
<ol> <li>Conceptual understanding of 5.3 interplay of social, technical, political factors</li> </ol>	1	10	4.9	1.4	6.1	0.9	5.7	0.4	5.8	0.8	6.6	0.8
3. Understanding of different 5.2 stakeholder perspectives	5.0	•	5.1	1.3	6.3	0.6	5.6	0.4	5.6	0.8	6.3	0.5
4. Application of quantitative modeling 5.9 methods	0.0	~	6.0	1.1	5.4	1.2	6.7	0.7	6.5	0.7	5.8	1.0
<ol> <li>Analysis of results and 5.3 understanding implications, limitations</li> </ol>		_	5.4	1.6	5.4	0.7	5.6	0.9	5.4	1.1	6.4	0.8
6. Teamwork 5.4	1.2	0	5.9	1.1	6.0	1.0	6.0	2.9	7.0	3.8	6.7	3.4
7. Oral communication 5.8	0.0	•	5.5	0.8	5.6	0.6	6.1	1.0	5.9	0.2	5.8	1.0

208



Fig. 7 Project evaluations

#### Summary

The Engineering Systems Division at MIT, in building up from its advances in graduate-level teaching and research, is now making efforts towards unique additions to the undergraduate engineering curricula. ESD.00 represents an initial attempt into defining and establishing a new set of topics that have largely been absent at the undergraduate level.

#### Lessons Learnt

Based on student reviews of the first completed class (of 2011) and the instructors' experiences, this effort has taken off on a strong footing. The overall experience has been encouraging. Perhaps a key indicator of success was the fact that some students were drawn into the problems they worked on in class to the extent that a few expressed desire in continuing work on their project after the conclusion of the course. They were interested in subsequent undergraduate research experience and wanted to pursue actual implementation. Since a main motivation in creating this

course was to enable undergraduates to engage with real, complex socio-technical problems, this outcome of continued student interest was greatly encouraging. A related factor regarding the student enthusiasm was the reality and relevance of the problems. Ranging from nuclear waste disposal (where the project leader is engaged with actual policy makers and shapers on the issue), to the stroke care chain project (where the researchers are working with practitioners on the issue and so on, the projects connect the students to actual, on-going problems. The students show great motivation and excitement to work on such projects (rather than on hypothetical scenarios and issues).

At a structural and organizational level, a mix of different class-years in the student teams (e.g. a mix of freshmen and sophomores) worked well. It allowed and enriched a collaborative learning experience for the students. Furthermore, the varied background of the students (with majors spanning mechanical engineering, biological engineering, civil and environmental engineering, chemical engineering, mathematics and biology) provided a unique opportunity to students to participate in a multi-disciplinary forum—something that is not typically available to undergraduates within engineering classes.

A key issue, pertinent to replicating this class model, is its scalability. A large degree of success at MIT has been dependent on active participation of engineering systems PhD students and multiple faculty members who are engaged in research on contemporary problems. At institutions where a large research base may not exist, this model will be difficult to replicate. Even within ESD at MIT, there can be challenges towards sustaining this model for large class sizes. Another issue—which we hope to resolve over time—is to expand the supplementary reading material that touches upon topics and concepts of engineering systems, systems architecture, performance, evaluation, modeling methodologies etc. While a rich body of literature (books and teaching notes) exist—the majority cater to graduate-level studies. A long-term goal is to create suitable instruction and reading material for engineering students at the undergraduate level.

#### Future Directions

In the future, our vision is to offer a suite of courses that collectively offer undergraduates the opportunity to learn—and to a modest degree specialize—in the methodologies that allow for analyzing and designing complex, large-scale, engineering systems. For a new generation of engineers, that needs to address the *grand challenges* [12] of its times, augmenting the skill-set knowledge with tools for modeling complexity, interdependency, emergent behavior, and trading off technical as well as environmental, social and regulatory constraints will be greatly beneficial. Our hope is that this course, and others motivated by this broader vision, will serve to provide this opportunity to our future engineers.

Acknowledgments We gratefully acknowledge support from the d'Arbeloff fund in providing financial support for developing and offering ESD.00. The projects for this class were designed and supervised by Dr. Stan Finkelstein, Regina Clewlow, Jesse Sowell, Abby Horn, Fernando De Sisternes, Daniel Livengood, Lara Pierpoint and Judith Maro. Their participation made this course possible over the two years it has been offered. We thank Stephen Carson of MIT Open Course Ware (OCW) who helped in obtaining data of course numbers and types. We are also greatly appreciative of the support and encouragement from Professor Daniel Frey (Professor of Mechanical Engineering and Engineering Systems), Professor Yossi Sheffi (Director of ESD 2007–2011), Professor Olivier de Weck (Associate Director of ESD 2007–2011), and Professor Daniel Hastings (Dean of Undergraduate Education at MIT).

#### References

- 1. MIT News (2011) Cited, Available from http://web.mit.edu/newsoffice/2011/esd00-courseoverview.html
- 2. de Weck OL, Roos D, Magee C (2011) Engineering systems: meeting human needs in a complex technological world. MIT Press, Cambridge
- 3. GEL Gordon-MIT engineering leadership program (2012) Cited, Available from http:// web.mit.edu/gordonelp/
- Blumenfeld PC, Soloway E, Marx RW, Krajcik JS, Guzdial M, Palincsar A (1991) Motivating project-based learning: sustaining the doing supporting the learning. Educ Psychol 26(3&4):369–398
- 5. ABET Accreditation board for engineering and technology (2012) Cited, Available from http://www.abet.org
- 6. Felder RM, Brent R (2003) Designing and teaching courses to satisfy the abet engineering criteria. J Eng Educ 92(1):7–25
- 7. Sterman J (2000) Business dynamics: systems thinking and modeling for a complex world. McGraw Hill, New York
- 8. Bertsekas D, Tsitsiklis JN (2008) Introduction to probability. Athena Scientific, Cambridge
- 9. Newman MEJ (2003) The structure and function of complex networks. SIAM Rev  $45{:}167{-}256$
- 10. ESD.00 (2012) Cited, Available from https://stellar.mit.edu/S/course/ESD/sp12/ESD.00/
- 11. MIT Open course ware (2012) Cited, Available from http://ocw.mit.edu/
- 12. NAE (2008) Grand challenges for engineering

# Part V Modeling and Simulation

### Infranomics Simulation: Supporting System of Systems Understanding by Gaming

**Andreas Tolk** 

**Abstract** This contribution evaluates serious gaming as a mean to better educate decision makers that have to manage system of systems. Systems of systems are understood to be operationally and managerially independent, geographically distributed, are developed evolutionary, and show emergence. Each infrastructure is constrained by the principles of infranomics, embracing the totality of the technical components, stakeholders, mindframes, legal constraints, etc. In simulation, the agent-based paradigm has been identified to support systems that can best support such an environment for a game.

**Keywords** Agent based paradigm • Decision support systems • Infranomics • Serious gaming • Simulation • System of systems

#### Introduction

Learning to make better decisions in complicated, complex, or agile environments is difficult. In many domains, learning on the job is not possible, as bad decisions are connected with severe consequences. The idea to use games to train decision makers is a logical consequence [5]. Driven by the defense industry, Serous Games are used in many domains to enable better decision-making. Nevertheless, the use of such approaches in systems engineering and engineering management is not very well established.

Moreover, there are exceptions. Professor Frederic Vester (1935–2003) was an environmental entrepreneur long time before environmental concerns became ubiquitous. He introduced the idea of interconnected thinking to European

A. Tolk (🖂)

Department of Engineering Management and Systems Engineering, Old Dominion University, Kaufman Hall, Room K241E, Norfolk, VA 23529, USA e-mail: atolk@odu.edu

decision makers: the idea, that in a system all components are interrelated, and that this relations are often not linear. To make people aware of what this means for decision makers, he developed the game "Ökolopoly" around 1978. The game first was designed as a board game, published by the Otto Maier Verlag, Ravensburg, Germany, followed by various computer game adaptions, often used in schools. Today, the current version is distributed under the name "Ecopolicy" and is still used for education purposes in Europe.

The idea behind the game is to control a country by using your action points to influence domains. You can add action points to the domains of production, quality of life, cleanups, und education. These domains are interconnected with the additional domains environmental effects, population, reproduction rate, and policy. All the domains are interconnected finite automata. Once the action points are distributed, the new states of all domains are calculated and new action points are computed as well.

All rules and connections are pretty obvious and more or less self-explaining, such as that cleanups reduce negative environmental effects or that negative environmental effects decrease the quality of life. However, even with such a limited number of finite automata interrelated by non-linear control cycles players easily lose oversight and therefore control and cannot avoid that their economy collapses, as they underestimated the negative effects. After several rounds, players usually understood the dynamics of this game enough to avoid crashes and make better decisions. Vester [10] is a collection of related ideas in English, although most of Vester's work is published in German.

#### Serious Gaming for System of Systems and Infranomics

The observation described in the introduction motivates the idea to use gaming for system of system thinking and understanding in general and infranomics in particular.

Although the term *system of systems* has no widely accepted definition, Maier [3] notes that the notion itself is widespread and generally recognized. The following distinguishing characteristics have been proposed [3, 6]:

- Operational Independence: A system of systems is composed of systems that are independent and useful in their own right. If a system of systems is disassembled into the component systems, these component systems are capable of independently performing useful operations independently of one another.
- *Managerial Independence*: The component systems not only can operate independently, they generally do operate independently to achieve an intended purpose. The component systems are generally individually acquired and integrated and they maintain a continuing operational existence that is independent of the systems.
- *Geographic Distribution*: Geographic dispersion of component systems is often large. Often, these systems can readily exchange only information and knowledge with one another, and not substantial quantities of physical mass or energy.
- *Emergent Behavior*: The system of systems performs functions and carries out purposes that do not reside in any component system. These behaviors are emergent properties of the entire system of systems and not the behavior of any component system. The principal purposes supporting engineering of these systems are fulfilled by these emergent behaviors.
- *Evolutionary Development*: A system of systems is never fully formed or complete. Development of these systems is evolutionary over time and with structure, function and purpose added, removed, and modified as experience with the system grows and evolves over time.

When a decision maker works in an environment characterized by these attributes, many of the usual means are not applicable or may fail. It is pivotal to understand that operational and managerial independence require to work with establishing common objective and constraints instead of directly influencing the system specific decision processes, e.g., by giving orders or rules. The geographic distribution may result in longer times before effects can be observed. Emergent behavior is another factor that is not part of the usual and expected feedback for decision makers, as emergence results in behavior outside of the expected and designed system results. Finally, the fact that systems evolve adds another level of complexity for the decision maker.

For a decision maker, a system of systems is worse than a black box: it is a collection of interrelated black boxes, each of those following their own rules and regulations, governed by decision makers with their own agendas and objectives. What makes it even more complicated is the fact that these systems of systems are embedded in a multitude of tangible and intangible value systems that do not even have to be correlated. You can make the same request to two systems, and based on their managerial independence they will react differently. Actions and reactions will be time delayed; emergence will contribute to blur effects and effect of effects into observable system states. While the tool set the decision maker learned from academia works well in systems, this hostile environment breaks such tools easily. New methods are needed, or at least a better understanding of this environment.

To make things worse, the mostly technology driven world-view is no longer sufficient to address the new challenges the decision maker is faced with. In order to address these new challenges better, Gheorghe and Masera [2] identified infranomics as a crucial discipline for this century.

• *Infranomics*: the body of disciplines supporting the analysis and decisionmaking regarding the metasystem. The metasystem is defined by the totality of the technical components, stakeholders, mindframes, legal constraints, etc., composing the set of infrastructures. It is the set of theories, assumptions, models, methods, and associated scientific and technical tools required for studying the conception, design, development, implementation, operation, administration, maintenance, service supply, and resilience of the metasystem. As such, Infranomics will be the discipline-of-disciplines grouping all needed knowledge.

While interconnected systems address one system, the system of systems idea extends these ideas into an infrastructure that connects several of those systems to provide for a new common objective without touching their operational and managerial independence. Infranomics provides the framework of ideas to cope with challenges if several of these infrastructures need to be addressed in a common objective as well. Examples are the national critical infrastructures that provide the backbone of each nation's economy, security and health. Each component is already by itself a system of system, such as the transportation infrastructure, or the electric power infrastructure. In addition, they are interrelated, as the electric power infrastructure needs a working transportation infrastructure to provide the necessary fuels, etc. Vice versa, the transportation infrastructure needs electricity for their traffic lights and more complex control means. The information infrastructure emerged as the common component of many infrastructures, as all of them require some form of information processing support, be it for health records, financial transaction, or operationally relevant information needed to support decisions.

Nevertheless, how can games help to support gaining a better understanding? Games are usually associated with entertainment. However, as Smith [7] points out, most games are built on competition. The players are trying to achieve their objective within the context of the game. In earlier games, several players were needed, but with the rise of computers and artificial intelligence, which includes the sub-domain of heuristic optimization and implementation of decision making algorithms, in particular in computer or video games the player can play without any partners involved. Zyda [12] introduced a series of definitions leading to the term serious game as follows:

- *Game*: a physical or mental contest, played according to specific rules, with the goal of amusing or rewarding the participant.
- *Video game*: a mental contest, played with a computer according to certain rules for amusement, recreation, or winning a stake.
- *Serious game*: a mental contest, played with a computer in accordance with specific rules that uses entertainment to further government or corporate training, education, health, public policy, and strategic communication objectives.

Serious games have been developed on game consoles, gaming PCs, portable handhelds, and cellular phones. Recently, hybrid devices that combine games with other devices are gaining popularity as well. According the Smith [7], the reason why serious games became quite successful in particular for training is that they support active, realistic and engaged learning environments. Training conducted with a serious game is not only engaging and accurate; it also provides variability, measurability, and repeatability. In particular, digital natives are very comfortable with the idea to train in virtual worlds for real world challenges.

Besides training, decision-making support is another application domain of serious games. As stated by van Dam [9]: "If a picture is worth a 1000 words, a moving picture is worth a 1000 static ones, and a truly interactive, user-controlled dynamic picture is worth 1000 ones that you watch passively." This observation makes simulation in general and serious games in particular very interesting for managers and decision makers. Tolk [8] introduced the definition of decision support simulation systems that can easily be adapted to serious gaming applications:

• Decision Support Simulation Systems: simulation systems supporting operational (business and organizational) decision-making activities of a human decision maker by means of modeling and simulation. They use decision support system means to obtain, display and evaluate operationally relevant data in agile contexts by executing models using operational data exploiting the full potential of M&S and producing numerical insight into the behavior of complex systems.

The highly agile, complex, and non-linear context of infranomics and system of systems is therefore an ideal realm for the use of serious gaming for training and decision support simulation systems.

### Using Agents to Provide Training and Decision Support for System of Systems and Infranomics

Among the different simulation paradigms used to develop serious games, the agent paradigm showed a significant growth and richness of applicability [11]. Agents have been defined to be situated, it perceives its environment, and it acts in its environment. It communicates with other agents for collaboration or completion, e.g., it shows social ability. Agents are autonomous; they act free without the need for interaction following their internally coded value system. Agents mediate between reactive behavior, being able to react to changes in its environment, and deliberativeness to pursue its goals. Agents also learn from their experience and often are mobile.

These characteristics make agents particularly interesting for infranomics and system of systems. Márquez et al. [4] show the need to support a variety of value systems in the agent population in order to support the analysis of complex social systems. This variety is not implemented by agents representing different value system, but each agent follows a multi-dimensional value system that reflects that the same agent can be driven be different motivations, that may be correlated, independent, or even contradicting. An agent can, e.g., represent a Christian scientist who believes in a Creator but also tries to understand and contribute to the scientific explanations of his area of expertise. This kind of multi-dimensionality is needed for system of systems and infranomics as well: the operational independency is supported by individual agents representing the building systems. Other systems or agents can request services, but it is in the decision space of the representing agent if and how to react to such a request. The internal rules that are followed in this process represent the managerial independence. Each agent maximizes his objectives. As agents are social, they can be mutual supportive or competitive in their best effort to reach their goals. The distribution of agents also supports the geographic distribution of systems of systems. Their ability to adapt their rules and learn supports the evolutionary development. Finally, emergent behavior is understood as one of the must distinguishing characteristics of agent simulation approaches since Axelrod's work on the complexity of cooperation [1].

These agents, representing the system of systems, are situated within the set of infrastructures defined by infranomics: the totality of the technical components, stakeholders, mindframe, legal constraints, etc. Each infrastructure establishes at least one-value systems, so that the set of infrastructures results in the multidimensional approach envisioned by Márquez et al. [4]. These value systems are furthermore defined by a set of theories, assumptions, models, methods, and associated scientific and technical tools. They can furthermore be modified based on the phase of study: conception, design, development, implementation, operation, administration, maintenance, service supply, and resilience evaluations.

Like the decision maker in Vester's ecopolicy games, the manager who needs to be trained to better understand the constraints and potentials of system of systems and infranomics can now slip into the role of the controller in charge. However, his decisions are going to trigger a far more complex chain of reactions in the agentbased implementation of system of systems.

In this agent-based serious game, however, the manager is not only confronted with a set of interconnected nonlinear effects, but each system will make its own decisions regarding the requests, based on operational and managerial independence. There are also spatio-temporal considerations to be taken into account, as the systems are geographically distributed and evolve over time. Furthermore, emerging effects can influence the reaction that is furthermore defined by the current phase and infrastructure, defined in the realm of infranomics.

### Conclusion

The use of serious games to train managers and provide them with decision support has already a long history in domains such as defense and healthcare. Agent-based technology can help to provide a realistic, yet measureable and repeatable virtual environment for system of systems and infranomics. Such an environment can be used effectively to provide high-level decision makers with tools to better understand the constraints and potentials of this new reality of agile, complex, and non-linear decision spaces as defined in current situations.

### References

- 1. Axelrod RM (1997) The complexity of cooperation agent-based models of competition and collaboration. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- 2. Gheorghe AV, Masera M (2010) Infranomics. Int J Crit Infrastruct 6(4):421-427
- 3. Maier MW (1998) Architecting principles for systems-of-systems. Syst Eng 1(4):267-284
- 4. Márquez BY, Castañón-Puga M, Castro JR, Suarez ED (2011) A distributed agency methodology applied to complex social systems-a multi-dimensional approach. In: Proceedings international conference on enterprise information systems (ICEIS), pp 204–209
- 5. Michael DR, Chen SL (2005) Serious games: games that educate, train, and inform. Course PTR, Independence
- 6. Sage AP, Cuppan CD (2001) On the systems engineering and management of systems of systems and federations of systems. Inf Knowl Syst Manage 2(4):325–345
- Smith RD (2012) Serious games, virtual worlds, and interactive digital worlds. In: Tolk A (ed) Engineering principles of combat modeling and distributed simulation. Wiley, Hoboken, pp 357–383
- Tolk A (2010) Using simulation systems for decision support. Abu-Taieh EMO, El Sheikh AAR (ed) Discrete event simulation environments. Information Science Reference, Hershey, pp 317–336
- 9. van Dam A (1999) Education: the unfinished revolution. ACM Comput Surv (CSUR) 31(4), Article No. 36
- 10. Vester F (2012) The art of interconnected thinking: tools and concepts for a new approach to tackling complexity. MCB Publishing House, Munich
- 11. Yilmaz L, Ören T (eds) (2009) Agent-directed simulation and systems engineering. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim
- 12. Zyda M (2005) From visual simulation to virtual reality games. IEEE Comput 38(9):25-32

## Speeding Up Energy Transitions: Gaming Towards Sustainability in the Dutch Built Environment

Iman Mohammed and Erik Pruyt

**Abstract** The built environment accounts for a significant proportion of energy consumption in the Netherlands and elsewhere. It is estimated to be responsible for 33 % of national greenhouse gas emissions. This substantial proportion makes it an essential sector to address in the sustainable transitions agenda. In the Netherlands, it is apparent that the energy transition of the built environment with the current policies is much slower than required given the urgency of the foreseeable problems and the substantive system delays. Hence, there seems to be a need for experimentation with innovative policy instruments, governance mechanisms, and systemic conditions to fill the gaps in understanding. In this context, this chapter explores the use of games for understanding why there is so much inertia in the transition process. To arrive at some conclusions the authors develop a System Dynamics Model-Based experimental game, for hypothesis-testing purposes. Results of the game are provided and the chapter concludes with exploring possible future research.

**Keywords** Simulation game • Energy transition • Built environment • Inertia • Learning effect • Model-based gaming • Hypothesis-testing

### Introduction

### Transition and Inertia

The Dutch energy system needs to become sustainable over the next 10–50 years in order to dramatically reduce its climate change impact and to be able to deal with foreseeable energy supply problems. However, energy systems and societies

I. Mohammed  $(\boxtimes) \cdot E$ . Pruyt

Policy and Management, Delft University of Technology, 5015 2600 GA, Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: I.S.Mohammed@tudelft.nl

e-mail: 1.5.Monammed@tudeift.ni

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_15, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

are examples of large-scale socio-technical systems (STS) that generally change slowly and gradually—typically with time horizons of 50–100 years—and not necessarily in the desired direction, even if many actors see the urgency of system changes. This phenomenon is also reflected in the current state of the Dutch energy transition. The ranges of possible sources of clean energy are plenty and concepts for a successful transition are available or are currently under development. In the residential sector alone, many technologies already exist that are proven, available and affordable. Yet, the adoption of these concepts are much slower than required given the urgency of the foreseeable problems and the substantive system delays. Hence the system is characterized by high inertia.

The literature on the causes of inertia is fragmented and dispersed. There seems to be gaps in knowledge and understanding that cannot be closed with traditional approaches. Although plausible causes of inertia have been recognized, it is still not fully understood what inherently holds back real energy system actors, how their individual actions cause inertia and slows down energy transitions towards sustainability, and what may actually speed up energy transitions. In view of this, we have developed an integrative conceptual framework, which combines the explanations giving in transition and urban sustainability literature [1-5, Rogers 2003], on the possible key barriers to the diffusion of innovations in the built environment as illustrated in Fig. 1. Distinguishing between different barriers to the diffusion of innovations is important for designing appropriate policies for coping with the inertia. In this research, we classified the barriers to the realization of significant energy and emission saving potential into four main categories based on the major categories observed by the European Alliance of Companies for Energy Efficiency in Buildings (EuroACE): Market and information barriers, political and institutional barriers, technological barriers and behavioural barriers.

### **Barriers to the Diffusion of Innovations in the Built Environment**

### **Economic and Information Barriers**

The Economic barriers refer to all those barriers that are financial (i.e., stem from the market environment such as the costs of energy, low access to capital by home owners and high initial costs of the energy efficient innovations) as shown in Fig. 1. The information barriers refer to those barriers that are inherent due to a lack of, or exchange of, information such as that associated with asymmetric information and knowledge on sustainable buildings.



Fig. 1 Conceptual framework, outlining the physical environment, key barriers and policy instruments in the diffusion of innovations in the built environment

### **Technological Barriers**

These forms of barriers refer to those that are specific to the energy efficient technology itself, for example, technological uncertainty in terms of costs and performance. In addition, the ease of process integration of the new technology and the lack of proven innovation effectiveness all serve as impediments to the adoption of those particular technologies.

### **Political and Institutional Barriers**

Political barriers refer to those barriers relating to government and its conduct. Institutional barriers on the other hand, consist of formal, planned institutions such as (state) organizations and regulations, and, more informal evolved institutions characterized by ground rules: institutions act as interaction patterns that structure, but do not determine behavior, and they define the space within which actors act, select problems and solutions, and set priorities [6]. Some examples of political barriers related to the diffusion of innovations include political uncertainty (uncertainty about governmental behaviour, regimes, and policies) and ambiguity

in interpretation of current policy (see Fig. 1). With regards to institutional barriers a typical example is related to the overall characteristics of the building sector—which generally comprises many small players and risk avoiding behaviour [4], resulting in a sector resistant to change, innovation and to government interventions (including voluntary policy instruments for the promotion of change).

### **Behavioral Barriers**

Behavioural barriers are sometimes referred to as 'social barriers' because they are comprised of society's attitudes and beliefs which then act as barriers to action (Reed and Wilkinson [23]). For example, one particular group of barriers revolves around a lack of knowledge or understanding of issues. An example is the rebound effect; this effect in this context refers to the situation where a measure aimed at reducing environmental impact induces a behavioural response (or any other systematic response) that actually offsets the intended effect of the measure in question [4]. It happens that sometimes, interventions aimed to support sustainability have undesirable effects. Well-known examples of how technological innovation aimed to save energy backfired include the standby feature of home appliances. Instead of turning off the appliances, people leave the appliances running on stand-by mode [4], thus using more instead of less energy, our perspective is that user-convenience, in itself, may be problematic in this context.

### Model Based Gaming

Figure 1 also illustrates the conceptual model of key components of the physical and social characteristics of the Dutch built environment. Essentially, the model depicts the complexities (multiple dimensions and multiple actors involved at different life cycle phases of buildings) as well as the uncertainties (technological, market & political uncertainty) which act as barriers to the diffusion of innovations in this environment. One of these barriers is the focus of this chapter. Namely the market and information barriers with regards to the lack of understanding (information) of key actors and the tendency for potential adopters to look at upfront initial capital costs rather than project life costs. This chapter makes use of a system dynamics model- based simulation game to test one of many hypotheses of this highly complex setting.

It is challenging to make appropriate policies/decisions for issues that are particularly characterised by complexity, uncertainty and multiple stakeholders without using some form of simulation model that allows for an illustration of the dynamics of the system of interest and allows for the assessment of the long term effects of specific interventions. However, traditional quantitative models generally assume that decision makers are rational agents or make optimal decision routines, based on traditional economic assumptions. Model-based simulation games provide a means to challenge these assertions as it provides an environment where the decisions of actors are directly imputed into the model.

Furthermore, decision makers and individuals in general tend to be mostly reluctant when it comes to making policies/decisions when facing deeply uncertain dynamic issues, such as climate change, adoption of unfamiliar energy innovations etc., despite the professional advice of experts or scientists. There seems to be a need to go beyond knowing, but also feeling that a particular policy/decision is the appropriate one. As noted by [7]. Our opinion is that the complicated and anomalous explanations for inertia in energy transitions suggest that it would be futile to attempt to explain it solely through economic rational actor models and implementing economically rational policies.

The added value of simulation games in this context is in multiple ways: (1) it may allow for real experimentation with policy instruments, governance mechanisms, and systemic conditions (e.g. competition between innovative technologies, interaction between different actors, deep uncertainties and lack of information etc.) before real-world policy implementation, hence, assisting policy makers in responsible decision making (2) improvement and validation of decision making agents and decision routines in quantitative transition models, and (3) accelerated experiential learning by real system actors. In light of these possibilities, we aim to develop and use several model-based system games, ranging from simple flight simulators to multi-actor systems games for multiple purposes, in order to understand what the causes of inertia and what policies could be used to speed up the transitions in the built environment.

In this chapter, we explore how we can use simulation games in an experimental fashion to test for some hypothesis, as derived from our conceptual model with a focus on the market barriers to the diffusion of innovations in the built environment. Our case study focuses on energy used to supply domestic hot water and evaluates the extent to which market and information barriers, such as a lack of understanding of basic dynamic systems, as represented by learning curves of domestic energy technologies (Micro—CHP and high efficiency boilers) in the residential sector as well as the extent to which the initial costs of these technologies have an impact on decision-making.

Section Methodology introduces the system dynamics (SD) model—supported interactive game and illustrates the use of the model-based game (MBG) for testing hypothesis related to inertia in transitions in the built environment. In section Results and Discussion we present the results of the game and discuss possible reasons for the performance of the participants. As our results did not find many significant performance differences, the conclusions section (Concluding Remarks and Future Steps) focuses on future research.

### Methodology

### Introduction

Simulation games server several purposes. Through a review of simulation game literature [8-13], we derive some of the common uses/types of simulation games:

- 1. Experimental games
- 2. Learning Games
- 3. Training Games
- 4. Validation Games
- 5. Evaluation Games
- 6. Fun Games
- 7. Experiential Games.

This types of games listed above are by no means exhaustive, however, they point to some interesting uses of games that may be useful for facilitating decisionmaking. In this study, we make use of model based experimental game to test for hypothesis related to the lack of understanding of learning effects. Experimental games may be a useful approach as its benefits are twofold, first, by providing a much needed safe setting for participants to experiment and second, the possibility for analysts to make use of the results of the game for testing relevant hypotheses.

### Illustration/Case: Learning Curves in Dynamic Systems

The challenges faced with decision making under complexity in dynamic systems have been researched by a number of authors [14–21]. Learning curves, one of these complex dynamics, have been identified in a range of industries their strategic implications have also been extensively explored. Learning curve research indicates that as cumulative production increases, unit costs decreases due to cumulative firm experience (Dutton and Thomas 1984). In simple terms, it expresses the relationship between production experience over time and unit costs of a good or service. These resulting learning effects have an effect in dynamic systems, where their impact is associated with delays, nonlinearities and feedbacks. Such systems are usually quite complex, and research has shown poor decision making in these settings. A number of articles [1–4, Itard and Meijer 2009] have emphasized the negative impact of high costs on the market diffusion of novel and efficient energy technologies, however few have explored the possibility of a lack of understanding of these dynamics as a key barrier to the market diffusion/adoption of energy innovations.

Here we address this knowledge gap by making use of the system dynamics (SD) model—supported interactive game, called the 'Learning Effect Sim'. We randomly

selected two domestic heating boilers in the residential sector (Micro-CHP and High Efficiency boilers), which provide substantial energy savings and are at different phases of the market diffusion and technological life cycle phases of development; thereby making it easier to distinguish between the learning curves of both technologies.

### Hypotheses

The main purpose of this experimental game was three fold: (1) To test whether there will be a difference in responses between learners who received both textual and graphical information about learning effects on the interface as compared to those who received only textual information (2) test whether highly educated people faced with graphical dyamic effects, can successfully interpret these graphs and (3) test whether people show better performance after having made a model about the learning curve (specific modelling experience).

### Method and Materials

The experiment made use of an online, web based system dynamics simulation (constructed on http://www.forio.com). 131 participants from the Bachelor of Science courses of the Faculty of Technology Policy and Management of Delft University of Technology took part in the experiment. The students were divided into two groups, the treatment group and the control group.

### **Experimental Design**

The whole experiment was conducted in three versions. In the first version of the interface, the research participants were assigned randomly to one of two experimental conditions (one with graphical and textual inputs) and the other without the graphical input. After reading this information players proceeded to the actual simulation page where they could actually adjust sliders for the main input variable of the model (desired fraction of gas boilers), based on the required amount of boilers to be installed and see the effects in the form of graphs on the sales price/unit cost of both boilers (gas (high efficiency) boilers and solar (micro-CHP) boilers.

Figures 2, 3, and 4 shows that performance in the first version of the game was poor. Performance was improved using information provided in our interface as well as the underlying model itself which led to the creation of version 2 of the game.



Fig. 2 Interface of the learning effect simulation (version 2, instructions page) decisions page

The Simulation Use the slider below, to decide on the desired fraction of micro-CHP you would like to install based on the required number of heat boilers. After deciding on the desired fraction, click on 'stap' to advance the sim 4 years or click on 'stap to end' to advance the sain to the end. The game lasts for for years.			Sim Number 1 Sales price of heat boilers
B: Both fractions of micro-CHP and High Effle o 1: so 100% micor-CHP results in 0% HR-Kete	lency Bollers (HR-Ketels) sum ls.	up 6825	
equired number of boilers to be installed in ye	ar 100: 144999	14 - A	
sired fraction of micro-warmtekrachtkoppeling (Constant for the next 4 years)	0 0.5 1	4550	
Debrief Step	Step to End		
Sales price of boilers	100		
Sales price of HR-ketel	Euro 2500		
Sales price of micro warmtekrachtkoppeling	Euro 878	0	10 20 30 40 80 80 70 80 90 100 Years
		18 - Maria	Sales price of HR-ketel
			Sales price of micro-warmtekrachtkoppeling

Fig. 3 Interface of the learning effect simulation (version 2, treatment)

### Version 2

In the second version of the learning effect simulation, there were a number of changes made to the previous version mainly with respect to information provided on the interface: (1) We used different domestic boilers, Micro-CHP and High efficiency boilers (2) Version 2 provided information that learning and experience had already occurred on the previous boilers installed (3) In version 2 there was an explanation of the steepness of the learning curves. Micro-CHP boilers was said to have a steeper curve because it was newer and hence there was much more room for learning and hence cost reducing (this gave some suggestion into which investment would have higher net gains) (4). In this version it was explicitly



Fig. 4 Full stock and flow diagram underlying the learning effect simulation interface

explained that the area between the curves provided information about the cumulative cost advantage of Micro- CHP boilers over high efficiency boilers, a quick look at the graph would have shown that there was more cost advantage in the Micro-CHP boiler over the high efficiency boiler. Though results here were still disappointing they were slightly better than version 1.

### Multiple Choice Examination Question

In order to test for learning outcomes and ensure that participants were obliged to make the best decisions as they possibly could, we made use of an objective multiple-choice examination question at the end of the course as Table 1 shows. Those multiple choice questions tested understanding of the model (e.g. the main cause-effect relationships), provided perfect information on learning effects, provided full control over learning effects (no global effects) and specified that there was no discounting required. This ensured that players could make the best decision possible without worrying other factors coming into play.

### The Benchmark

An optimal solution is intuitively simple given that we have provided players with the definition and effects of learning over time on the unit costs of the two technologies; additionally, we provided them with graphical evidence of the learning effects of both innovations over time. The graph shows that though one technology (in version 1 solar boilers, in version 2 Micro-CHP boilers) has a higher initial value than the other (in version 1, gas heat boilers, in version 2 high efficiency boilers) an increase in its cumulative installation over time reduces its unit costs to

#### Table 1 Multiple choice question

- As manager of a large Dutch housing corporation, you must decide on the types of boilers that will be installed by the housing corporation in the next 100 years. Suppose you can only choose from two types of boilers: HE-boilers or micro-CHP installations. Micro-CHP installations are still very expensive to buy, e9100 per unit (one unit corresponds to one boiler), but recent cost reductions have been spectacular. Experience with micro-CHP so far, 20,000 micro-CHP units in total, shows that the 'progress ratio' equals 0.75. HE-boilers nowadays only cost e2500 because of years of experience (equivalent to 7.5 million installed HE-boilers), and are characterized by a 'progress ratio' of 0.75 too.
- The graph below shows a perfect prediction of the cost reduction of both types of boilers if all 14 million boilers to be installed in the next 100 years by your housing corporation are either of the micro-CHP type (red curve) or of the HE-boiler type (green curve). The red curve is much steeper because micro-CHP is new and there is still much room for descending the learning (hence the marginal cost) curve.
- The 'learning curve effect' is the relationship between production costs and the cumulative production over time: the *progress ratio* provides insight into the cost reduction for each doubling of cumulative production. So, if a boiler has a progress ratio of 75 % and it costs e10000 to produce the 1,000th unit, then it will cost 7500 Euros to produce the 2,000th unit.
- The red curve (or green curve) in the graph is thus the perfectly predicted production cost per micro-CHP device (or boiler) if you install 100 % in micro-CHP (or HE-boilers) the next 100 years. Note: the surfaces between the curves provide insight into the cumulative cost advantages of one technology over another.
- Suppose that you are the only one installing boilers (hence, the destiny of your housing corporation is fully under control), and the future is perfectly predictable (no surprises, perfect foresight), and discounting is not required (e1 now is worth as much as e1 in 100 years and at any time in between), which of the following strategies minimizes the total investment costs over the full 100 years (or 14 million boilers)?
- (a) 100 % in HE-boilers: HE-boilers are cheaper and will always be cheaper.
- (b) 100 % in micro-CHP: the surface area to the right of the intersection point is much larger than the surface area to the left.
- (c) 100 % HE-boilers for the first 10 years and 100 % micro-CHP afterwards in order to take advantage of the lowest cost over the full 100 years.
- (d) not 100 % in HE-boilers nor 100 % in micro-CHP, but somewhere in between (which could be calculated), in order to fully profit from the evolution of both technologies.

values below that of gas heat boilers. More importantly the area between the two graph curves reveal that there is more cost advantage in investing in solars (Micro-CHP) boilers than gas (high efficiency) boilers.

### Procedures

The participants themselves were introduced to the interface during the lecture and encouraged to participate in the simulation. Participants could log in for the study and, based on their user names, were randomly directed to one of two web URLs, one of which pointed to test game (with graphical information) and the other to the control game (without information) of the program. Participants were only allowed to play the game once. Data was automatically stored to a secure web server. After 2 weeks, a debriefing of the results occurred via email.

### **Results and Discussion**

### Hypothesis 1

Our first hypothesis was the following: (1) to test whether there will be a difference in responses between learners who received both textual and graphical information about learning effects on the interface as compared to those who received only textual information. The statistical test revealed that there was no significant difference between the participants given the graphical information on the interface and those only giving textual information. Somewhat disappointedly, the overall performance on the game with graphical information in both versions of the game was only marginally better than the game without information (version 1) 12 % better and version 2: 6 % better) as Table 2 shows. Because the tests were not significant, we cannot make any firm conclusions that participants performed better or worse across the game types. However it is interesting to consider the possible reasons for the poor performance.

In this case, motivation may play a significant role, participants were not rewarded for their efforts played in the game and hence may have lacked the necessary motivation or time to carefully read and understand the information before proceeding to make a decision. This rationale is supported by the higher performance score in the exam where participants were obliged to put in their best and carefully read and understand all information.

### Hypothesis 2

The next hypothesis question was to test whether highly educated people faced with graphical dynamic effects, can successfully interpret these graphs. In order to test for this hypothesis, we added a multiple choice question based on the 'learning effect sim' to the examination (to ensure full effort). Table 4 shows the overall results with significant improvement in the performance as illustrated by a Wilcoxon signed rank test—comparing the game score to the exam score on a person to person basis. The test showed that there was indeed a statistically

 Table 2
 Results from a cross tabulation concerning percentage-wise differences between control and treatment game

	Version 1 (% of correct answers)	Version 2 (% of correct answers)
Treatment group (with graphical information)	17 % (rounded off to one decimal place)	27 % (rounded off to one decimal place)
Control group (without information)	11 % (rounded off to one decimal place)	15 % (rounded off to one decimal place)

Game Score * Exam_answer Crosstabulation							
			Exam_answer		Total		
			Incorrect	Correct			
Game score	Incorrect	Count	62	44	106		
		% within game score	58.5 %	41.5 %	100.0 %		
		% within Exam_answer	84.9 %	75.9 %	80.9 %		
		% of Total	47.3 %	33.6 %	80.9 %		
	Correct	Count	11	14	25		
		% within game score	44.0 %	56.0 %	100.0 %		
		% within Exam_answer	15.1 %	24.1 %	19.1 %		
		% of total	8.4 %	10.7 %	19.1 %		
Total		Count	73	58	131		
		% within game score	55.7 %	44.3 %	100.0 %		
		% within Exam_answer	100.0 %	100.0 %	100.0 %		
		% of total	55.7 %	44.3 %	100.0 %		

 Table 3 Results from a cross tabulation of the game performance in relation to the exam performance

*NB* This table matches the number of people whom had played the correct and incorrect strategy in the game against the exam answers (correct/Incorrect). Here we used the percentage of total row for our analysis

significant increase in the number of correct answers at the phase of the exam as compared to the game (p < 0.001 with a medium effect size (r = 0.27)). Confirming that under exam Pressure/conditions students generally pay more attention to case descriptions and choices than in other conditions (learning environments included). Regardless of the better performances in the exam compared to the game, the overall results in the exam were still low optimal as seen in Table 3 (56 % incorrect and 44 % correct). This may indicate that even with a high level of education people faced with graphical dynamic effects still find it difficult to interpret such graphs.

### Hypothesis 3

To test whether people show better performance after having made a model about the learning curve (specific modelling experience) we developed a cross tabulation matching modelling experience against game performance. The results were surprising and counter intuitive. For instance, it appears that those with experience in modelling learning curve still performed poorly in the game phase (78 %). About 22 % had it correct, whereas of those that had no modelling experience, 73 % performed poorly in the game and 26 % played the correct strategy as Table 5 shows. This means that about 5 % more participants performed better without

Ν	Percentiles			
	25th	50th (Median)	75th	
131	0.00	0.00	0.00	
131	0.00	0.00	1.00	
Exam_answer—Game score				
$-4,450^{a}$				
0.000				
	N 131 131 Exam_answer -4,450 <sup>a</sup> 0.000	N         Percentiles           131         0.00           131         0.00           Exam_answer—Game score           -4,450 <sup>a</sup> 0.000	N         Percentiles           25th         50th (Median)           131         0.00         0.00           131         0.00         0.00           Exam_answer-Game score         -4,450 <sup>a</sup> 0.000         0.000	

Table 4 Results form a Wilcoxon signed rank test-to compare the game score to exam score

<sup>a</sup> Based on negative ranks

<sup>b</sup> Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

 Table 5 Comparison of game performance and learning curve modelling experience in modelling learning effects

Model_Expe	erience crosstabulation			
		Model_Experience		Total
		No	Yes	
Incorrect	Count	41	11	52
	% within Model_Experience	73.2 %	78.6 %	74.3 %
	% of Total	58.6 %	15.7 %	74.3 %
Correct	Count	15	3	18
	% within Model_Experience	26.8 %	21.4 %	25.7 %
	% of Total	21.4 %	4.3 %	25.7 %
	Count	56	14	70
	% within Model_Experience	100.0 %	100.0 %	100.0 %
	% of Total	80.0 %	20.0 %	100.0 %
	Model_Expe Incorrect Correct	Model_Experience crosstabulation Incorrect Count % within Model_Experience % of Total Correct Count % within Model_Experience % of Total Count % within Model_Experience % of Total % within Model_Experience % of Total	Model_Experience crosstabulation         Model_Experience         No         Incorrect       Count         % within Model_Experience       73.2 %         % of Total       58.6 %         Correct       Count       15         % within Model_Experience       26.8 %         % of Total       21.4 %         Count       56         % within Model_Experience       100.0 %         % of Total       80.0 %	Model_Experience         Model_Experience           No         Yes           Incorrect         Count         41         11           % within Model_Experience         73.2 %         78.6 %           % of Total         58.6 %         15.7 %           Correct         Count         15         3           % within Model_Experience         26.8 %         21.4 %           % of Total         21.4 %         4.3 %           Count         56         14           % within Model_Experience         100.0 %         100.0 %           % of Total         80.0 %         20.0 %

*NB* This table matches the number of people whom had played the correct and incorrect strategy in the game against the modelling experience of the participants ('yes' means with experience and 'no' without experience). Here we used the percentage within model experience, as we want to know the score within this variable

prior experience modelling the learning curve than those with such experience. More research into these strange results is required for further analyses.

Given the overall performance of the participants across all the tests, there seems to be an urgent need for model-based decision support because people, when faced with (even simple) dynamic effects simply cannot make good estimations. Policy makers may perhaps need to be given the solutions to a problem (if possible) before they make decisions. Providing further assistance, for example [22] suggest the provision of a help navigation system or an animated pedagogical agent, which might have even greater impact than providing information like we did via information transparent interfaces.

### **Concluding Remarks and Future Steps**

Although our results were not statistically significant, they were sufficient to suggest modifications to our methodology and research. Solutions may be provided to participants prior to the decision making phase and the learning environment may be incorporated into a serious examination environment for evaluation purposes. This experiment was part of a suite of simulation games to be carried out in phases. Our next goal with this experiment was to test for decisions under uncertainty and complexity; however in view of this results, as at the simplest level providing information about structural effects does not guarantee that learners perform better, it may not be wise to proceed to even more complex versions of the simulation, where uncertainty and other multi-player activities come in to play. We plan to further investigate more interactive strategies, which can help us to effectively test hypothesis related to inertia in the built environment.

### References

- 1. Beerepoot M (2007) Energy policy instruments and technical change in the residential building sector, vol 15. Ios Pr Inc
- 2. Itard L, Meijer F (2009) Towards a sustainable Northern European housing stock. IOS Press, Amsterdam
- 3. Rogers EM (2003) Diffusion of innovations. Everett M. Rogers
- 4. Van Bueren E, Van Bohemen H, Itard L, Visscher H (2011) Sustainable urban environments: an ecosystem approach. Springer
- 5. Van Hal A (2000) Beyond the demonstration project: the diffusion of environmental innovations in housing. Uitgeverij Æneas BV
- 6. Ostrom E (1990) Governing the commons: the evolution of institutions for collective action. Cambridge University Press
- Pruyt E (2011) Mind meets heart: smart transition management to smarten energy systems in a deeply uncertain world. In: Proceedings of the 29th international conference of the system dynamics society, 24–28 July, Washington DC, USA
- Bots PWG, van Daalen CE (2007) Functional design of games to support NRM policy development. Simul Gaming 38(4):512–532
- 9. Duke R, Geurts J (2004) Policy games for strategic management. Dutch University Press, Amsterdam
- Maier FH, Größler A (2000) What are we talking about?—A taxonomy of computer simulations to support learning. Syst Dyn Rev 16(2):135–148
- 11. Uithol F, Zanting HA, Doef R, Bots P, Smallegange R (2001) Spelsimulatie ondersteynt ruimtelijk planvorming. ROM Mag 19(3):8–11
- Meadow DL, Fiddaman T, shannon D (1993) Fish banks Ltd. Available through the Sustainability Institute: www.sustainabilityinstitute.org/tool-resources/games.html (20 July 2007)
- Sterman JD (1989a) Modeling managerial behavior: misperceptions of feedback in a dynamic decision making experiment. Manage Sci 321–339
- 14. Brehmer B (1992) Dynamic decision making: human control of complex systems. Acta Psychol 81:211–241

- Funke J (1991) Solving complex problems: exploration and control of complex systems. In: Sternberg R, Frensch P (eds) Complex problem solving: principles and mechanisms. Lawrence Erlbaum, Hillsdale, pp 185–222
- 16. Jensen E (2005) Learning and transfer from a simple dynamic system. Scand J Psychol 46(2):119–131
- Moxnes E (1998) Not only the tragedy of the commons: misperceptions of bioeconomics. Manage Sci 44(9):1234–1248
- Moxnes E (2004) Misperceptions of basic dynamics: the case of renewable resource management. Syst Dyn Rev 20(2):139–162
- Rouwette EAJA, Größler A, Vennix JAM (2004) Exploring influencing factors on rationality: a literature review of dynamic decision-making studies in system dynamics. Syst Res Behav Sci 21(4):351–370
- Sterman JD (1989) Misperceptions of feedback in dynamic decision making. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 43(3):301–335
- Sterman JD (1989) Modeling managerial behavior: misperceptions of feedback in a dynamic decision making experiment. Manage Sci 35(3):321–339
- 22. Kopainsky B, Alessi SM, Pirnay-Dummer P (2011) Providing structural transparency when exploring a model's behavior: effects on performance and knowledge acquisition. Paper presented at the 29th international conference of the system dynamics society, Washington, DC
- Reed R, Wilkinson S (2011) The structural and behaviourial barriers to sustainable real estate development. Paper presented at the American real estate society (23rd Conference 2007, San Francisco, Calif), San Francisco, Calif
- 24. Dutton JM, Thomas A (1987). Treating Progress functions as a monogonal opportunity. Academy of Management Review, 9(2), 235–277

# Boats and Bridges in the Sandbox: Using Role Play Simulation Exercises to Help Infrastructure Planners Prepare for the Risks and Uncertainties Associated with Climate Change

### **Todd Schenk**

Abstract Climate change poses a range of threats to our various infrastructure systems. Among the myriad of hazards, increased precipitation and sea level rise may inundate transportation networks and heat waves may stress our electricity grids. These threats may require new ways of managing uncertainty and making decisions. Climate change adaptation planning is being proposed as an important part of infrastructure management and decision-making moving forward, but is not vet well developed or integrated as an area of practice. Various tools and approaches may be employed under the umbrella of effective adaptationincluding scenario planning and multi-stakeholder decision-making—but they have not been fully embraced by stakeholders. Facilitating the uptake of new tools to effectively address nascent, complex and uncertain challenges by infrastructurerelated institutions is no easy task. Role-play simulation exercises (RPS) offer one way in which we can explore issues and options with decision-makers and other stakeholders. These exercises provide safe spaces in which stakeholders that are not used to working together directly can interact and experiment with tools and approaches not traditionally employed. Simulations make it possible to zero in on the key issues while pushing those of less importance into the background.

**Keywords** Role-play simulation exercise • Serious game • Stakeholder engagement • Adaptation planning • Scenarios • Multi-stakeholder engagement

T. Schenk (🖂)

Department of Urban Studies and Planning, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA e-mail: tschenk@mit.edu

### Introduction

The consequences of climate change—including sea level rise, more frequent and intense storms, higher temperatures and water shortages—pose a range of threats to our built environments, including key infrastructure [1-4]. Climate change adaptation planning has emerged as an area of practice and research, focused on helping planners and decision-makers better understand, prepare for, and respond to the risks and uncertainties associated with these threats [5, 6].

Efforts to address the risks and uncertainties posed by climate change, and advance sustainability in general, require working across traditional disciplinary, methodological and sectoral boundaries [7]. They require the effective integration of systems of knowledge and action [8–10]. They also require new ways of framing uncertainty and approaching complex and dynamic problems [11, 12]. Successful climate change adaptation requires cooperation and communication across traditional institutional boundaries, and effective means for making decisions in spite of significant uncertainty.

Actually achieving the necessary degree of collaboration and introducing new ways of managing risks presents substantial challenges. In the public sector, governance typically follows well-entrenched institutional norms, or patterns, that make systemic change and cooperation outside of established, discrete relationships difficult [13–18]. Politics and the tension between competing interests typically bound what is possible and highly influence the decisions made.

Institutional and political norms have evolved over time to more or less effectively manage persistent problems. However, environmental perturbations rife with uncertainty and complexity - like those associated with climate change—may go beyond what is possible under existing institutional arrangements. More flexibility and cooperation across boundaries is required. In addition, competing interests, jurisdictional jealousies, limits on professional expertise, and constraints on resource availability have to be overcome.

The problem is that changing governance paradigms to better account for dynamic and uncertain risks is no easy feat. It requires the collective realization that change is necessary, the identification and adoption of new and widely supported tools for framing uncertainty, and a commitment to take the results these new tools generate seriously in planning and decision-making. But where do we start? How do we explore this uncharted territory with decision-makers and other stakeholders? How do we experiment with possible tools and solutions that increase cooperation and help deal with uncertainty?

Role-play simulation exercises (RPS) offer one way in which we can explore issues and options with decision-makers and other stakeholders. *This chapter focuses on the use of RPS as tools for exploring complex issues like climate change in the context of multi-stakeholder decision-making environments, like those associated with the construction and management of major infrastructure.* The proposition is that these exercises provide safe spaces in which stakeholders that are not used to working together directly can interact and experiment with tools and approaches not traditionally employed. The fact that the simulations are abstractions makes it possible to zero in on the questions deemed central for consideration while pushing those of less importance into the background. It also obviates participants' reticence to talk about adaptation in their real world contexts.

### The Problem

Every planning and decision-making process involves uncertainty and complexity. In planning a road, for example, traffic forecasts are based on a variety of assumptions about economic growth and future trends in transportation. Noise and air quality models incorporate many variables but cannot possibly account for every factor. The weather is even more uncertain; roads in continental climates must be constructed to withstand a wide range of conditions, from snow and ice to the hot summer sun. Politically, a range of stakeholders influence planning processes as they attempt to defend and advance their respective interests; a community might successfully fight to have a route altered away from residential areas, while commercial users lobby to have additional lanes built.

Yet decisions are made. Decision-makers and supporting experts get the technical data they need from existing standards, guidelines and officially sanctioned and generally trusted models and forecasts. The future can never be known in advance, but the assumption is that conditions will generally remain within certain ranges over at least the medium term. The weather may be particularly uncertain, but the probability of a one-in-a-hundred year flood is expected to stay constant at 1 % each year. Models and forecasts are inherently imperfect and sometimes disagreements around their veracity emerge, but they are generally accepted as *good enough* by decision-makers and other stakeholders.

When and how decisions are made, and how various interests and other factors are incorporated into complex decision-making processes is highly institutionalized. Which variables should be taken into account and how they should be modeled or forecasted is often codified in regulations. This is not to say that decision-making is always formal. In fact, a substantial proportion of the interactions that influence decisions are informal, whether they are between agency experts and decision-makers or involve external interest groups. Still, these interactions have generally become patterned, following institutionalized norms that have emerged and evolved over time. The various actors are aware of each other and have established both the means for communicating and particular shorthand for doing so.

Climate change may substantially increase the degrees of uncertainty and complexity, necessitating changes in the institutional status quo. It may also introduce new threats or variables that need to be accounted for. Existing policymaking frameworks and institutional arrangements are ill suited to dealing with dramatic uncertainties that cross existing institutional boundaries. Adequately assessing possibilities outside traditionally expected dimensions requires new levels of cooperation and an ability to tap multiple sources of knowledge. Such changes necessitate new ways of thinking and doing in our infrastructure planning and decision-making.

There are various ways in which climate change adaptation planning for infrastructure may be advanced. Two areas in which challenges lie and solutions are needed are the accounting of persistent uncertainties and the effective engagement of multiple stakeholders. Substantively, we need tools designed to help reconcile decision-making with substantial and potentially unresolvable uncertainty. Procedurally, we need effective techniques for bring various actors together to collaboratively identify and address emerging threats. We turn to these challenges, and possible solutions, next.

### **Reconciling with Uncertainty**

Uncertainty may be resolved or managed in various ways. Traditionally, experts have attempted to remove, or at least reduce, uncertainty by conducting more research. This is an appropriate response when *the* answer can be known, or at least accurately estimated, after further analysis.

The problem is that it is typically impossible to resolve uncertainty completely. Reconciling with this fact, some have resorted to exploring the likely range of possible future conditions and making decisions based on *worst-case scenarios*. This is deemed particularly appropriate when the failure of the infrastructure in question is deemed untenable, and thus decision-makers have a mandate to invest significant resources *just in case*. For example, the primary dike network in Holland is designed to withstand 1 in 10,000-year flood levels. The probability of a 1:10,000-year event is highly unlikely, but this level of protection is deemed worth the cost for this low-lying region of the Netherlands. For less critical infrastructure, a middle-range forecast might be used in the establishment of design standards.

Climate change may complicate matters further, involving *deep uncertainty* in which future conditions are completely unknown [19]. One response to deep uncertainty is to increase flexibility in planning and decision-making. *Robust Decision Making* [20] and *Dynamic Adaptive Policymaking* [21] are two similar approaches that can be used to develop flexible policies that involve ongoing monitoring and amendments over time as conditions change and new information is revealed. Similar flexibility has also been called for in the design of infrastructure [22].

Whether for static or dynamic planning processes, having an explicit set of possible future scenarios in-hand can be valuable. The idea is not to predict the future, but to recognize that there are a range of possible futures in any situation, and layout what they might look like for the sake of better decision-making today [23]. In practice, the use of multiple scenarios in planning and decision-making is uncommon and not without its challenges. There is a relative dearth of academic evaluation of scenario planning, but various critiques have been leveled, including:

Scenarios are subjective in nature; the limited number of scenarios can be problematic; scenarios do not account for *deep uncertainty* and the diverse range of possible futures; the process is prone to political interference and constraints; users often focus on what they know or want to see in the future rather than on the uncertainty; and it is unclear how the scenarios connect and translate into better decisions in practice [19, 23, 24].

Despite the challenges and lack of widespread use in practice, some publicsector institutions are finding the explicit recognition of multiple possible futures to be invaluable in their long-range planning efforts [25]. Multiple scenarios provide opportunities for decision-makers to bracket the range of possible futures and make choices despite the lack of certainty. The use of scenarios and flexibility in planning are not mutually exclusive. In fact, many climate change adaptation measures do not require absolute certainty, but greatly benefit from an understanding of what seems possible, as this motivates flexibility and allows for the identification of various options that could be implemented as conditions change or become more apparent [26].

The question of whether or not the explicit identification of multiple possible futures (i.e., scenarios) makes a difference in how decision-makers advance with adaptation planning is important and insufficiently answered. If the use of scenarios—rather than single forecasts of possible future conditions—is found to make a positive difference, much more substantial work on improving the practice of scenario planning would be justified. Questions also remain around how scenario planning might be institutionalized into infrastructure planning in practice.

### Stakeholder Engagement in Infrastructure Planning

Consensus-based collaborative planning (or governance) is normatively advanced as a powerful way to engage the range of decision-makers and other stakeholders associated with a particular problem or management challenge, bringing them together to collectively analyze the situation, solicit and evaluate information, and seek out solutions that are both robust and widely supported [27–29]. It is proposed as a way to overcome the barriers to effective and efficient interaction that are often present in institutions.

While notable criticisms of collaborative planning exist [30, 31], there is substantial evidence that it can lead to better outcomes when the conditions are right [27, 29, 32]. An important question is whether, and how, collaborative planning can make a difference in situations rife with complexity and uncertainty, such as those involving climate change. Can collaborative processes bridge the gaps between stakeholders and effectively help them to identify new ways to manage nascent and dynamic threats?

Margerum [29] suggests that collaborative processes are more successful when embedded within the institutional fabric of management and decision-making processes, and across networks of processes. An important corollary question is how to better embed multi-stakeholder collaboration into existing institutional regimes. The relative lack of up-take thus far suggests that this is not easy. Work remains to be done in better understanding the barriers and how they might be overcome.

The presence of competing interests cannot be ignored in the context of climate change adaptation. Each adaptation option is bound to garner support from some and opposition from others, depending on their interests. The construction of hard infrastructure, like seawalls and storm surge barriers has, for example, often faced opposition from environmental groups due to the associated ecological damage and disruption. In contrast, coastal landowners often champion such infrastructure projects due to the protection and relative stability they provide. Various political and citizen groups may oppose or support for a myriad of reasons. Environmental groups often favor allowing nature to run its course and reclaim areas vulnerable to sea level rise and storm surges, an option typically untenable to landowners with thousands if not millions of dollars of property and invaluable memories and emotional attachments at stake. Insofar as climate change may accelerate the extent and rate at which controversial adaptation-related projects are being initiated, the tensions among stakeholders are likely to increase. How can these tensions be managed as we adapt? This is a question of stakeholder engagement and collaborative management.

On a related note, it is quite possible that accounting for and responding to climate change is a *hot potato* that stakeholders are aware of, but that no one wants (or knows how) to handle. Because responsibility for newly emerging threats is often unassigned, it is all too easy for stakeholders to assume that someone else will take the necessary action. To what degree are stakeholders aware of the risks associated with climate change, but expecting others to take responsibility for them? Are processes being initiated to collectively identify the risks and apportion responsibility? These are questions of institutional design.

### **Role-Play Simulation Exercises for Research and Learning**

The explicit use of multiple scenarios and structured collaborative planning are two of the many possible tools and approaches that may be employed in addressing the risks and uncertainties climate change poses to our infrastructure. Critical questions remain unanswered around the veracity of these particular instruments and how they may be implemented in practice. In general, there has been insufficient opportunity to experiment with various tools and approaches for adapting to climate change.

The challenge is how to effectively and efficiently introduce possible solutions to decision-makers and other stakeholders so that their efficacy and viability may be jointly evaluated. The relative nascence of climate change adaptation as an issue means that those engaged in infrastructure development and other forms of project planning and implementation have little or no experience incorporating the potential impacts of climate change into their analysis and decision-making. The dearth of cases in which climate change has been meaningfully integrated into project-level planning makes learning from others difficult.

Role-play simulation exercises (RPS) can help. They are powerful instruments for introducing scenarios, collaborative planning and virtually any other tool or approach to decision-makers and other stakeholders in a relatively low-cost simulated environment. RPS can present one or more possible futures and ask participants to work through how they might react. This can help researchers, advocates, and decision-makers to assess tools, prepare for the particular scenarios presented and, at a broader level, shed light on how they might respond so that plans, policies, and management and decision-making structures may be modified and capacity provided proactively. In other words, decision makers can experiment with alternatives around how to prepare and who should be responsible.

While traditionally discounted as merely entertainment or ice breakers, serious games are increasingly recognized for the value they can add to the public policy making process, providing safe spaces to explore information and alternative pathways forward. RPS can serve as *diagnostic tools* to help groups collaboratively explore how they can and do manage uncertainty and dynamic risks, like those associated with climate change. In fact, RPS—and serious games in general—may be all the more valuable when planning for climate change, as stakeholders enter uncharted territory facing greater uncertainty and increasingly volatile situations [33]. We have certainly found them very useful in prior climate change adaptation work with stakeholders at the Consensus Building Institute and the MIT Science Impact Collaborative [34].

When different stakeholders are brought together to play a simulation exercise, the experience helps them to understand each others' points of view, interpretations of data, and sets of interests around how to best adapt to projected climate change impacts. Decision-makers in complex environments with a range of stakeholders responsible for discrete pieces of the puzzle may not be aware of who the other players are, how they make decisions, or what their priorities are. RPS exercises force them to confront one another and experiment with collaborative decision-making. Effective exercises can help stakeholders to appreciate the value of engaging with each other to grapple with challenges that are not currently accounted for in decision-making processes, yet may impact everyone.

Conflicts around how data should be collected, analyzed and interpreted have often impeded decision-making on a range of science-intensive policy issues [35]. RPS exercises help stakeholders to understand where the data is coming from and how scientists are generating it, thereby increasing the credibility of the information in stakeholders' minds. Scientists play a key role in providing information, but it is only useful if others have confidence in it and are able to use the data appropriately. Technical information—real or simulated—can be provided in such a way that participants have the freedom to process it outside of their traditional roles and settings. Simulations also provide a *sandbox* in which decision makers can wrestle with situations or data that has not yet manifested or is not yet conclusive in their real-world situations, but that may have major implications down the road. As noted

previously, they can also experiment with new tools for processing this data and making decisions, like scenario planning.

This *sandbox* environment also provides participants with the space to explore options without committing to things they may not be prepared for or politically able to do yet in their real world positions. Participants can discuss issues in reference to the fictional case presented rather than their real situations, which is less threatening. Once they have gone through this experience, they are often more willing to open up and put their real-world issues on the table in the debrief conversation. The hope is that this new willingness and ability to discuss these important issues with other stakeholders continues beyond the RPS exercise itself. Getting the right people in the room to start the discussion is contingent on having influential local conveners or project partners.

Reflecting on a fictionalized yet realistic situation as a group helps stakeholders to better understand potential adaptation options, and to start grappling with the choices they may need to make. RPS exercises force participants to deal with concrete decisions. They have to make difficult choices, or be creative in identifying potential *no regrets* options.

Addressing the risks associated with climate change is no easy task given the high degree of uncertainty, complex decision-making environments into which this new challenge must be inserted, and competing priorities. RPS exercises provide a powerful way to introduce decision-makers to the uncertain risks climate change poses and how they might respond in concert with other stakeholders. To be effective, exercises must acknowledge the institutional environments in which planning and decision-making takes place, the competing priorities of various stakeholders, and the fact that resources are limited. They should encourage stakeholders to work together and consider new ways of making decisions while recognizing existing decision-making structures and competing agendas.

Many of the aforementioned benefits of RPS are primarily educational and motivational in nature. That is, they highlight the value RPS can provide directly to groups initiating discussion and planning for climate change adaptation. For researchers, the benefits of RPS are twofold: First, observing how participants respond within the simulations can provide substantial insights into how they might respond, or at least some of the issues they may face, in analogous real-world situations. These insights can contribute to new theories on how actors will behave, and lead to new proposals on what support might be provided proactively. Second, RPS serve as inflection points with participants, creating powerful windows for both individual and collective reflection and analysis. Debrief conversations and follow-up interviews can be used to discuss experiences and reflections with participants, paying particular attention to how the insights gleaned from the RPS translate to or may reflect their real world situations. Established qualitative research techniques, including effective semi-formal interviewing and data coding and analysis can be applied to make the most of the information collected.

The employment of RPS for both education and research is certainly not new. Scholars and practitioners have been using RPS with a wide range of different groups in a variety of contexts around the world for more than sixty years [36–48].

Parson [43] identified four ways in which RPS may be used: As experiments to test what happens when certain dynamics are presented in a scenario; to teach particular skills to participants; to foster creativity; and to facilitate the integration of knowledge. These uses are not mutually exclusive—the game introduced below was designed as part of an experiment, but facilitating the integration of (new) knowledge is at its core. The hope is that it is also fostering creativity and potentially even teaching, or at least introducing, some new skills.

Surveying the literature and considering his own experiences with RPS, Najam [46] offers the following lessons on using exercises for research purposes in particular:

- They are good for theory-building, and less appropriate for theory-testing;
- RPS are particularly appropriate for novel, complex and high-stake problems that are difficult to explore via more traditional research techniques;
- They can be very useful in shedding light on possible process issues, and for soliciting insights and feedback from participants, but are not good for predictive research;
- Ideally, RPS should be used with other methods as part of any research project;
- To be effective, the RPS themselves must be well-designed and substantively accurate, while accepting that they are greatly simplified reflections of reality; and
- RPS are most effective when the participants come from, or at least are highly familiar with, the real-world situation that the scenario reflects.

In addition to the limitations embedded within these lessons Najam [46] drew, using RPS also presents other challenges. Preparing appropriate RPS can take a great deal of time and resources. While ideally usable in more than one situation, RPS are increasingly being tailored to the unique situations of the time and place for which they are developed, limiting their portability. There is inherently a tradeoff in any RPS between universality and particularity. When being used for research purposes, it is all the more important to lean towards particularity, including elements that reflect the analogous real-world situation that may influence the outcomes. On the other hand, any RPS is necessarily a simplification and not a perfect representation of reality. Both researchers and participants must acknowledge and work to understand the gaps and how they make what happens in the game different than what might happen in the real world. These gaps are precisely why RPS are better for theory building than testing, and are not ideal for predictive research. Finally, getting decision-makers and other stakeholders to participate in RPS can be challenging. They must be convinced that the experience will be valuable.

Despite these challenges and limitations, the existing literature and anecdotal experience suggest that RPS can be very powerful tools for both research and teaching. Yet, there is not a great deal of scholarship testing this assertion or identifying best practices for their development and application. This represents an opportunity for further research.

# A Role-Play Simulation Exercise in Practice: A New Connection in Westerberg

The Harboring Uncertainty: Exploring how decision-makers can prepare for uncertain climate futures research project is engaging infrastructure planners, decision-makers and other stakeholders to explore how the risks and uncertainties posed by climate change might be more effectively managed. The foci include: Assessing if and how the uncertainty associated with climate change is posing any unconventional challenges, particularly to existing decision-making processes; discussing how new risks and uncertainty may be incorporated into institutions and streams of decision-making; discussing how the interests and perspectives of various stakeholders impacted by both climate change and proposed responses might be reconciled; and considering potential tools for decision-making in the face of risks, and scenario planning in particular.

The project is still underway, but so far interviews and surveys have been conducted and two versions of an RPS called *A New Connection in Westerberg* have been run with decision-makers in the Netherlands. *A New Connection in Westerberg* revolves around a proposal to build a new highway to address critical congestion issues in a coastal city with a major port. The highway would potentially serve both port users and the wider fictitious city the port is situated in. Money has been allocated and the project is on the cusp of proceeding when a new regional climate change assessment suggests that there may be vulnerabilities if certain route and design options are chosen. A group of stakeholders from both the local and national levels, and from both within and outside of government, have subsequently been brought together to consider the various options they have against the uncertain climate risks.

RPS participants may assess the climate change risks differently, and their particular interests inevitably shape their opinions, but the group's goal is to come to consensus on how to proceed. General instructions introduce the situation and options to participants. In addition, each player is given individual confidential instructions that provide background information and explain how they should fill the unique role they have been assigned. Participants intentionally do not fill their own real-world roles in the exercise, but rather are assigned those of other stakeholders. Interviews were conducted with real world stakeholders as the exercise was developed to make the case and roles as accurate as possible.

The *A New Connection in Westerberg* RPS will be run in at least two other cities around the world –New York and Singapore—in the coming months. Participant observation, pre- and post-exercise surveys, in-depth interviews, and debrief focus groups are used to collect data in each place.

These three different port cities are being used to test for variation across governance regimes. Governance (or policy) regimes, including their institutional norms and standards and how they relate to infrastructure planning, are not universal [18]. From an institutional theory perspective, these three cases are interesting because of their distinctive governance regimes: Rotterdam operates

within a *neo-corporatist* framework of decision-making with a strong tradition of seeking broad consensus on issues, often known as *poldering* [49]. Decision-making in New York occurs within a *neo-pluralist* and *neo-liberal* governance paradigm with regular contention between interest groups and a strong market orientation. Singapore's decision-making environment is *top-down technocratic* in nature, with a strong civil service left to make many decisions unilaterally [50]. How the differences between these three governance models impact their approaches to adaptation planning, and use of scenarios in particular, remains an important open question. Insights are being gleaned from assessing how groups in the different cities perform and respond to the RPS.

Two separate versions of the RPS are being run with different groups in each city: One version provides a single forecast (or 'risk assessment') of probable future conditions under climate change. The other includes a set of four possible futures (i.e., scenarios). These parallel RPS are used to test for variation based on the presence or absence of explicit scenarios in adaptation planning processes, accounting for the variation in governance regimes. In addition to observing how participants respond differently, the surveys allow for pre- and post-exercise comparisons between those that use each of these versions.

Both versions of the RPS involve face-to-face collaborative multi-stakeholder engagement. For this element of the research, there is no control group against which participants' actions and reflections are compared. Participants are observed interacting in this format and asked afterwards to assess the influence and efficacy of this particular type of collaborative planning effort compared to the typical modes of collaboration and decision-making in their respective real worlds. The pre- and postexercise surveys allow for limited analysis, but not against a control group.

The RPS exercises serve as critical interventions in the research agenda, but are not the only element. As noted previously, directly observing how each plays-out is important and should yield insights, but data will also come from debrief conversations with the groups post-exercise, in-depth interviews with participants, and pre- and post-exercise questionnaires. The RPS themselves serve as tools to introduce the issues and foster reflection among participants. The goal within the wider *Harboring Uncertainty* research project is to draw generalizable conclusions that can inform infrastructure planners and other stakeholders around the world, and that support or refute various theories around governance, decision-making and the use of tools like scenario planning. The expectation is that the exercises are also of direct value to the participants in each city, providing them with an opportunity to collectively grapple with the nascent challenge of incorporating climate change into their planning and decision-making.

Initial results indicate that those that participated in the *A New Connection in Westerberg* RPS in the Netherlands found it to be a useful experience. The two runs also provided valuable insights on the underlying research questions. Participants noted that the exercise helped them to think about the climate-related problems they may face in new ways and appreciated the opportunity to interact with other stakeholders around this nascent issue. Those coming from more technical backgrounds said it helped them to understand how the competing

interests of various stakeholders influence the decisions made. Decision-making around infrastructure is not merely a technical process, but also a political one. Conversely, policy-makers appreciated the opportunity to explicitly explore questions of uncertainty, which are typically buried within the models and recommendations they receive from their technical counterparts.

The presentation of scenarios made uncertainty more explicit, which many viewed as useful yet also complicating and potentially paralyzing. Among other issues, those opposing action can use uncertainty as a stall tactic. In the end, the RPS group with the more traditional risk assessment reached a consensus recommendation on how to proceed while the group with multiple scenarios concluded that they would need more information before they can make a decision. Despite the explicit lack of probabilities, participants quickly found themselves arguing over which scenarios are more likely and thus should be designed for. This suggests that genuinely accounting for multiple possible futures can be difficult when planners and decision-makers are used to working with single sets of parameters and design conditions, or, at most, probability distributions.

Not all agreed that climate change involves an abnormal degree or particularly complex form of uncertainty. Some argued that we already know enough about what is happening to move ahead with adaptive measures. Conversely, others said that status quo infrastructure design and decision-making processes are already robust, and that there will be plenty of opportunity to adapt as the climate changes and particular problems emerge. A common view within the latter camp is that we have more immediate challenges to address in infrastructure planning and management than slow-moving climate change, although those with this sentiment still found this 'what if' exercise useful. No one doubted that climate change might be an issue at some point, if not today. Maintaining flexibility was identified as a viable way to start thinking about the impacts of climate change on infrastructure today so that future problems may be avoided, or at least are easy to mitigate, while putting off making expensive investments.

### **Other Experiences with Role-Play Simulation Exercises**

Various organizations, including the Consensus Building Institute (CBI) and the MIT Science Impact Collaborative (MITSIC) have been using RPS exercises for decades to help decision-makers and other stakeholders work through a wide range of issues [34, 51]. Many of these exercises—which deal with a range of topics—are available via the Program on Negotiation at Harvard Law School Clearing-house (*See:* http://www.pon.harvard.edu/store/). CBI and MITSIC are now applying their expertise in the climate change arena [34, 52].

One CBI project involved developing and running a comprehensive RPS grappling with the risks and uncertainty climate change poses to the hydroelectricity sector in Ghana. The project was commissioned by the World Resources Institute and brought together several high-level Ghanaian decision-makers (*See:* http://www.wri.org/node/40358). Data on climate change, including both hydrologic and meteorological projections, future energy sector plans and information on the decision-making environment was used to prepare the exercise. This information was gleaned from interviews with a wide range of stakeholders and a thorough literature review. The exercise introduced issues or questions that decision-makers may face in the not so distant future in light of climate change, but was abstracted to a fictitious place and situation similar to but not exactly the same as Ghana so that participants could engage without compromising their real-world positions or getting stuck in the minutia of what was and was not accurate in the instructions.

The scenario presented was that a new dam has been approved and construction is about to begin when a report by highly regarded experts is released suggesting that climate change may significantly alter the hydrology of the river on which the dam will be located. The questions participants grappled with included: Should the dam project be modified (or halted) in light of this new climate information? If so, how should it be modified? What data is necessary for making a decision? What degree of certainty is necessary? Who is responsible for collecting data and making decisions? Moving forward, how should monitoring, evaluation and decision-making in the face of climate change be institutionalized? Each participant was assigned a role (e.g. Energy Authority) and provided confidential instructions outlining their interests vis-à-vis these questions.

The exercise was facilitated in November of 2010 with a group of high-level decision-makers and other stakeholders in Ghana. An extensive debrief discussion was facilitated with participants to extract lessons learned from the experience. Participants were first asked a series of questions to engender reflection on the exercise itself. They were then asked to connect the exercise to their real-world situations. The challenges associated with balancing competing priorities and grappling with climate change-related uncertainty were very apparent. Participants struggled with the question of how to meet current development needs while protecting against uncertain future risks, fostering discussion around how much risk is tolerable, and how risk can be reduced and better understood. The question of how decision-makers can assess the veracity of data was also discussed. Participants also wrestled with the questions of how these climate change-related issues should be incorporated into the decision-making process, given that it is a complicated system with a variety of actors often unaware of how or why others are making decisions that have significant impacts on the overall outcomes.

In a different project, CBI and MITSIC partnered with the Maryland Department of Natural Resources and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration to develop a role-play exercise exploring how Maryland's coastal communities might adapt to climate change (*See:* http://maryland.coastsmart.org). The exercise was run with over 170 mayors, county commissioners, environmentalists, business leaders and state officials during an interactive summit in April of 2009. The exercise is quite comprehensive with nine stakeholders, plus a mediator, tackling questions in the areas of 'reducing vulnerability of the built environment'; 'water and waste water infrastructure'; 'protecting wetlands and wildlife'; 'farm and forestland preservation'; and 'public education'. How to deal with disagreements around information through *joint fact-finding* is an important element of this exercise.

CBI and MITSIC continue to use RPS exercises with decision-makers ranging from those engaged in local planning to stakeholders participating in international negotiations (*See:* http://cbuilding.org/blog/2011/building-national-consensus-international-climate-change-negotiations *and* http://cbuilding.org/publication/article/2011/ adapting-climate-change-managing-tomorrow039s-risks-today039s-decisions).

### Conclusion

Role-play simulation exercises offer unique opportunities to immerse decisionmakers and other stakeholders in hypothetical yet realistic situations that present threats like climate change and ask them to make decisions. RPS can engage participants to introduce and explore issues and experiment with potential tools like the explicit use of scenarios (i.e., multiple possible futures) and collaborative planning—in safe and low-cost environments. RPS can also help participants to assess, or even generate, potential concrete solutions to problems. RPS are particularly appropriate for nascent and complex threats like climate change for which there is not a great deal of previous practice to learn from and around which strong institutional norms have not yet emerged.

RPS can be invaluable both for teaching and research. Ideally, participants learn from their involvement while researchers glean valuable data. This chapter has introduced an RPS—called *A New Connection in Westerberg*—being used with infrastructure planners in three cities around the world for exactly this purpose; it is too early in the research project to draw substantial conclusions, but the work so far suggests that their use is promising. In general, the value of RPS in teaching is well established, but their use for research purposes is rare and not well understood. More work remains to be done here in assessing their efficacy in various situations and when different research questions are on the table.

### References

- 1. de Sherbinin A, Schiller A, Pulsipher A (2007) The vulnerability of global cities to climate hazards. Environ Urbanization 19(1):39–64
- 2. Dorfman M, Mehta M, Chou B, Fleischli S, Sinclair Rosselot K (2011) Thirsty for answers: preparing for the water-related impacts of climate change in American cities. Natural Resources Defense Council, New York
- 3. HM Government (2011) Climate resilient infrastructure: preparing for a changing climate. Presented to parliament by the secretary of state for environment, food and rural affairs by command of her majesty. TSO (The Stationary Office), Norwich

- 4. Rosenzweig C, Solecki WD, Blake R, Bowman M, Faris C, Gornitz V, Horton R, Jacob K, LeBlanc A, Leichenko R, Linkin M, Major D, O'Grady M, Patrick L, Sussman E, Yohe G, Zimmerman R (2011) Developing coastal adaptation to climate change in the New York city infrastructure-shed: process, approach, tools, and strategies. Climatic Change 106:93–127
- 5. Schipper ELF, Burton I (eds) (2009) The Earthscan reader on adaptation to climate change. Routledge, New York
- 6. National Research Council (2010) Adapting to the impacts of climate change. America's climate choices: panel on adapting to the impacts of climate change. National Academies Press, Washington
- 7. Young OR et al (2006) A portfolio approach to analyzing complex human-environment interactions: Institutions and land change. Ecol Soc 11(2)
- Cash DW, Clark WC, Alcock F, Dickson NM, Eckley N, Guston DH, Jager J, Mitchell RB (2003) Knowledge systems for sustainable development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(14):8086–8091
- Clark WC, Holliday L (2006) Linking knowledge with action for sustainable development: the role of program management-summary of a workshop. National Academies Press, Washington
- van Kerkhoff L, Lebel L (2006) Linking knowledge and action for sustainable development. Annu Rev Environ Resour 31:445–477
- 11. Rahman SA, Walker WE, Marchau V (2008). Coping with uncertainties about climate change in infrastructure planning—an adaptive policymaking approach. Final report. ECORYS Research and Consulting, Rotterdam
- Marchau VAWJ, Walker WE, van Wee GP (2010) Dynamic adaptive transport policies for handling deep uncertainty. Technol Forecast Soc Chang 77:940–950
- 13. Baumgartner FR, Jones BD (1993) Agendas and instability in American politics. University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- 14. Downs A (1967) Inside bureaucracy. Little, Brown and Company, New York
- 15. Perrow C (1986) Complex organizations: a critical essay. Random House, New York
- Powell WW, DiMaggio P (1991) The new institutionalism in organizational analysis. University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- 17. Pressman JL, Wildavsky AB (1984) Implementation: how great expectations in Washington are dashed in Oakland. University of California Press, Berkeley
- 18. Marshall T (2013) Planning major infrastructure: a critical analysis. Routledge, Abingdon
- Walker WE, Lempert RJ, Kwakkel JH (2013) Deep uncertainty. In: Gass S, Fu M (eds) Encyclopedia of operations research and management science, 3rd edn. Springer, Berlin. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-1153-7
- Lempert RJ, Popper SW, Bankes SC (2003) Shaping the next one hundred years: new methods for quantitative long-term strategy analysis, MR-1626-RPC. The RAND Pardee Center, Santa Monica
- Walker WE, Rahman SA, Cave J (2001) Adaptive policies, policy analysis, and policymaking. Eur J Oper Res 128(2):282–289
- 22. de Neufville R, Scholtes S (2011) Flexibility in engineering design. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA
- 23. Schoemaker PJH (2004) Forecasting and scenario planning: the challenges of uncertainty and complexity. In: Koehler DJ, Harvey N (eds) Blackwell Handbook of Judgment and Decision Making. Blackwell Publishing, Malden
- 24. Chermack TJ, Lynham SA, Ruona WEA (2001) A review of scenario planning literature. Future Res Q Summer 2001:7–31
- 25. Quay R (2010) Anticipatory Governance. J Am Plann Assoc 76(4):496-511
- 26. Sapuan M (2012) Using uncertain sea level rise projections: adaptation in Rotterdam and New York. Master of Science Thesis in the Department of Urban Studies and Planning. Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge
- 27. Innes JE, Booher DE (2010) Planning with complexity: an introduction to collaborative rationality for public policy. Routledge, New York

- Susskind L, Cruikshank JL (1987) Breaking the impasse: consensual approaches to resolving public disputes. Basic Books, New York
- 29. Margerum RD (2011) Beyond consensus: improving collaborative planning and management. MIT Press, Cambridge
- 30. Few R, Brown K, Tompkins EL (2007) Public participation and climate change adaptation: avoiding the illusion of inclusion. Clim Policy 7:46–59
- 31. Layzer JA (2008) Natural experiments: ecosystem-based management and the environment. MIT Press, Cambridge
- Ansell C, Gash A (2008) Collaborative governance in theory and practice. J Public Adm Res Theory 18:543–571
- 33. Mendler de Suarez J, Suarez P, Bachofen C, Fortugno N, Goentzel J, Gonçalves P, Grist N, Macklin C, Pfeifer K, Schweizer S, Van Aalst M, Virji H (2012) Games for a new climate: experiencing the complexity of future risks. Pardee Center Task Force Report, Boston: The Frederick S. Pardee Center for the Study of the Longer-Range Future, Boston University
- Plumb D, Fierman E, Schenk T (2011) Role-play simulations: a useful roadmap for decision makers. CBI reports. http://cbuilding.org/publication/article/2011/roleplay-simulationsuseful-roadmap-decision-makers
- 35. Susskind L, Field P, van der Wansem M (2005) Integrating scientific information, stakeholder interests, and political concerns in resource and environmental planning and management. In: Hanna KS, Slocombe DS (eds) Fostering integration: concepts and practiced in resource and environmental management. Oxford University Press, Cambridge
- Barringer RE, Whaley B (1965) The MIT political-military gaming experience. ORBIS—J World Aff 9(2):437–458
- 37. Boocock SS, Schild EO (eds) (1968) Simulation games in learning. Sage, Beverly Hills
- Carlson E (1969) Learning through games: a new approach to problem solving. Public Affairs Press, Washington
- 39. Becker HA (1980) The emergence of simulation and gaming. Simul Games 11(1):11-25
- 40. Doerner D (1980) On the difficulties people have in dealing with complexity. Simul Games 11(1):87–106
- 41. Bloomfield LP (1984) Reflections on gaming. ORBIS 27(4):783-790
- 42. Dolin EJ, Susskind LE (1990) A role for simulations in public policy disputes: the case of national energy policy. PON working paper 90-16. Program on Negotiation at Harvard Law School, Cambridge
- 43. Parson EA (1996) What can you learn from a game? In: Zeckhauser RJ, Keeney RL, Sebenius JK (eds) Wise choices: decisions, games, and negotiations. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, pp 233–252
- 44. DeNeve KM, Heppner MJ (1997) Role play simulations: the assessment of an active learning technique and comparisons with traditional lectures. Innov High Educ 21(3):231–246
- 45. Susskind LE, Corburn J (1999) Using simulations to teach negotiation: pedagogical theory and practice. PON working paper 99-3. Program on Negotiation at Harvard Law School, Cambridge
- 46. Najam A (2001) Getting beyond the lowest common denominator: developing countries in global environmental negotiations. PhD Dissertation in the Department of Urban Studies and Planning Cambridge: Massachusetts Institute of Technology
- 47. Mayer IS (2009) The gaming of policy and the politics of gaming: a review. Simul Gaming 40(6):825–862
- Grüne-Yanoff T, Weirich P (2010) The philosophy and epistemology of simulation: a review. Simul Gaming 41(1):20–50
- Schreuder Y (2001) The Polder model in Dutch economic and environmental planning. Bull Sci Technol Soc 21(4):237–245
- Rodan G, Jayasuriya K (2007) The technocratic politics of administrative participation: case studies of Singapore and Vietnam. Democratization 14(5):795–815
- CBI—Consensus Building Institute (2013) Tools: role-play simulations. http://cbuilding.org/ tools/role-play-simulations. Last accessed 18 Feb 2013
52. Schenk T (2011) Building national consensus for international climate change negotiations. CBI reports. http://cbuilding.org/blog/2011/building-national-consensus-internationalclimate-change-negotiations

# Game-Like Characteristic of Engineering Design

Sertaç Oruç and Scott W. Cunningham

**Abstract** Engineering design is conventionally regarded as a mono actor optimization problem and modeled accordingly. Decision-making, values and optimality are building blocks of conventional engineering design. However, with the advent of decentralized decision making processes, various actors are more likely to be involved in decision making processes in engineering design. As a response in this chapter, authors attempt to claim that engineering design is inherently multi actor and has game-like characteristics. Accordingly, a research agenda is put forward.

Keywords Multi actor systems · Engineering design · Game theory

#### Introduction

In the process of designing engineering components and systems, optimization approach has been the conventional choice. In this context, we regard optimization as formulation and execution of problems instead of the narrower use of the word as a mathematical technique. As a mathematical technique, optimization is a pragmatic tool and an important step to bring about the final design, although not in focus of our discussion.

In our context, engineering design refers to the plan for construction of an engineering artifact. It is a specification of the artifact intended to accomplish a certain designated goal. Moreover, optimization is the traditionally applied approach to guide this process. Engineering design, being based on optimization, is directly related to value paradigm and decision theory.

S. Oruç (🖂) · S. W. Cunningham

Policy Analysis Section, Faculty of Technology, Policy and Management, Delft University of Technology, Jaffalaan 5, 5015 2600 GA Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: S.Oruc@tudelft.nl

Decision making, and therefore decision theory, is directly employed in the current theory and practice of engineering design. It is important to distinguish theory of engineering design and theory of engineering modeling at this point as the latter aims to asses and predict the performance of engineering artifact whereas the former is related to the total design of the artifact anew.

Multi actor engineering design refers to the engineering design that involves more than one actor. In our framework, we consider initially a customer who funds and utilizes the design artifact and a designer who actually designs the engineering artifact. However, the conceptual framework we consider here can be applied to other type of business models that involve various other types of actors.

In the following section, we give the engineering design in terms of optimization problem. A methodological review is presented in this section. Later game like character of engineering design is presented and it is formalized with a game theoretic model. In the subsequent section new approaches to engineering design is discussed briefly. Lastly, concluding remarks and reflections are presented.

#### **Engineering Design Optimization Problem**

Engineering Design is historically seen as a mono actor optimization problem. Here in this section, we present the conventional approach to engineering design and discuss a brief methodological review on this issue. Revisiting conventional approach makes it possible to extend the framework to equilibrium approach in the subsequent sections.

Conventionally engineering design is associated with giving the "appropriate" design decisions. Appropriateness in this context is determined by an optimization process, which is sometimes only intuitive and sometimes grounded on rational choices based on values and analytical techniques [1]. The decision making in engineering design process begins with the very basic components such as the kind of steel to be used or engine oil to be utilized. These basic component decisions permit certain measures for design characteristics such as engine power, machine weights etc. Then the design characteristics constitute various values that are considered to be maximized or minimized according to the "wishes" of the designer. Optimization of the engineering design may hold for the case where only one designer and accordingly one wish is at stake. How to handle the situation in case there are more than one designer or choice is the central question of this chapter.

#### **Optimization Concepts**

Consider the following linear program, where x are decision variables, c parameterizes the objective function, and A and b parameterize the constraints.

$$\min Z = c^T x \tag{1}$$

subject to 
$$Ax \ge b$$
 (2)

$$x \ge 0 \tag{3}$$

The solution to this optimization problem can be expressed in terms of a set of algebraic equations; indeed, this is the core of the simplex algorithm. Investigation of the solutions to this set of variables reveals a fundamental insight that only the set of linear operations (addition and subtraction) are needed to find the optimum solution. Furthermore, the derivation of any solution can be exclusively expressed in terms of its slack variables. This fundamental insight leads immediately to the duality theory of linear programming. Furthermore, the use of the dual program is useful since it provides insight into the trade-offs at the optimum, without requiring extensive re-optimization of the problem from scratch [2].

The vector of decision variables x is an optimum solution to the problem if the vector is a feasible solution, and if there is a dual vector y. The vector y must satisfy the following optimization problem:

$$\max_{y} Z = b^{T} y \tag{4}$$

subject to 
$$A^T y \le c$$
 (5)

$$y \ge 0 \tag{6}$$

This linear optimization problem can be transformed, with no loss of generality, in various ways. The maximization can be reduced to a minimization, the constraint equalities can be transformed into inequalities, and the constraint boundaries transformed to various forms. There is an account of this point in [2], but also in [3].

#### **Engineering Design Optimization**

Consider the following model of the design process. A designer has  $i = \{1, ..., m\}$  design options. A customer has  $j = \{1, ..., n\}$  criteria for choice. The customer expresses a weighting of their preferred criteria,  $w_1 \dots w_n$ . The designer has a score card, a matrix U which is dimensioned  $i \times j$ . Each element of the score card,  $u_{ij}$ , expresses the utility obtained by the designer for selecting a particular technological option. Utilities are a function of expressed customer satisfaction  $(w_j)$  minus the implementation cost  $(k_{ij})$ . Thus  $u_{ij}$  can be expressed using the following function.

$$u_{ij} = \left(w_j - k_{ij}\right) \tag{7}$$

The designer's choice is to combine or blend technological functions to achieve maximum utility. This involves playing a mixed strategy,  $v_1 \dots v_n$ . The design problem is conditioned on the designer's knowledge of the game matrix U, the costs of implementation  $k_{ii}$ , and the preferences of the customer  $w_i$ .

This problem, given fixed preferences of the customer, reduces to the following classic expression of an engineering design problem.

$$\max_{v} Z = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} v_{i} u_{ij}$$
(8)

subject to 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} v_i = 1,$$
 (9)

$$v_i \ge 0. \tag{10}$$

This optimization model implies a mono actor, monoobjective problem. This actor objective problem constitutes one side of the multi actor problem. Unilaterally formulated optimization problems from various actors constitute multi actor problem. Later we show how the above listed mono actor optimization model is fit into multi actor problem.

#### Methodological Review

The use of formal optimization modeling in engineering literature dates at least back to the early 1970s [1, 4, p. 13]. Most expressions of the problem involve non-linear optimization, although the use of linearization procedures as a means of approximation are common [3, p. 131]. Variant expressions of the problem include multiobjective optimization, as well as optimization under risk [5, ff. 164]. Others [6] question the engineering optimization paradigm on fundamental questions of value.

Infrastructure problems of design, planning, allocation and control all invite the use of optimization techniques [7]. Consider for instance the canonical example of optimization, linear programming. Despite the considerable usefulness of linear programming in decision-making, this technique depicts the system preferences of just a single actor. Arguably, the most apt use of linear programming has been in command and control environments such as planned economies, the military, and oligopolistic corporations. In these environments, there is less capacity for the system to rebound in response to decisions or tactics. Linear programming is one of the premier tools for computer modelling of decision-making under constraint. Linear programming, and its extensions, is widely applied across many fields of application. Dantzig discovered the principle computer algorithm for the technique in 1948, as reported in a memorandum of the United States Air Force [8]. Linear sensitivity analysis, and ultimately a full expression of a strategic theory of games, emerged organically from this initial research in linear programming [9].

#### Variant Statements of the Problem.

Research into engineering optimization has been productive, resulting in a burgeoning literature. Previous research, less than ten years old, provides a survey of multi-objective optimization in engineering [10]:

This survey excludes many of the technical details and, instead, provides a road map of currently available continuous nonlinear methods and literature. General concepts are briefly described, and references are included for further investigation. In addition, this paper consolidates seemingly different concepts, methods, and terminology stemming from diverse applications (p. 369).

The fact that this work has been cited by more than 189 authors (Web of Science 2012) suggests that the question of multi-objective optimization remains of essential interest to designers, and is still subject to rapid progress. Further, the field requires multi-disciplinary surveys to keep abreast of the varied technical details from the various literatures.

Modern infrastructure supports the exchange of multiple kinds of goods and services. Flows are becoming multi-commodity, multi-modal, multi-sectoral and multi-faceted. For instance, the shipping industry has long been a multi-commodity enterprise. Multi-modal traffic is increasingly being considered, for instance, in the design of rail links. Multi-faceted infrastructure is leading to an explosion of new consumer options, and new concerns for decision-makers. For instance, consumers may choose "green" electricity: this formerly homogeneous good grows more diversified as consumers are presented with increasing amounts of information about the environmental impacts of their choices. Thus, network infrastructures are inherently multi-objective in character.

#### Multi-Actor Design Problems.

Despite this interest in formal models of multi-objective optimization, very little synthesis and review is available on the related but distinct question of multiactor design. As evidenced by the multi-objective setting, there is a proliferation of specialized applications, rich in technical detail, in the multi-actor design setting. There however, has been little effort in consolidation. Two exceptions are [9, 11].

Infrastructure is inherently multi-actor in character. Infrastructure is commissioned, designed and built, and utilized by multiple stakeholders. There is no single objective function held in common between these stakeholders; rather, an expression of opposing economic, social or physical forces is a more useful paradigm for expressing network usage. This realization is often a better depiction of system behavior. In network infrastructures—such as highways, airports, water systems, electrical transmission and distribution systems—there are always multiple actors making multiple if interdependent decisions.

Our question concerns whether the classic design problem continues to hold in a multi-actor setting. Can design effectively be expressed as an optimization problem, even in the simplest of multi-actor settings? Can the design problem be reformulated to better encompass a fully multi-actor setting? If so, what are the consequences for engineering practice?

#### The Game-Like Character of Engineering Design

In this chapter, the game like character of multi actor engineering design is emphasized. Theory of games traditionally analyzes multi actor behavior in situations where individual interests conflict or coincide with each other. Actors in scrutiny are considered to be interested in their own pay off function and alter their strategies in order to maximize their utilities. Von Neuman and Morgenstern's seminal work *Theory of Games and Economic Behavior* [12] laid down the mathematical foundations of game theory, which triggered various theories around the idea of *equilibrium* instead of *optimum*.

In this section we hypothesize that engineering design could be considered as an equilibrium problem instead of an optimization problem unlike the conventional approach to the field.

#### **Previous Work**

Social choice theory stands as a prominent field in this regard. Collective decision making influence and determine various outcomes of formal institutions, i.e. laws. "Voting paradox" and Arrow's "impossibility theorem" are two generally acknowledged.

Arrow's impossibility theorem implies that when voters have more than two distinct options no voting system can convert ranked individual preferences into a collective ranking while also meeting a specific set of criteria [13]. These criteria can be listed as;

- Non-dictatorship: No single member's choices should prevail in every voting instance. The social welfare function should account for multiple voters' wishes.
- Universality: The function should yield a unique and complete ranking of societal choices.
- **Independence of irrelevant alternatives**: Changes in individuals' rankings of irrelevant alternatives of a certain subset should have no impact on the collective ranking of the subset.
- **Pareto efficiency (Unanimity)**: If every voter prefers a certain option to another then the collective preference must make the same preference.

Arrow's impossibility theorem points out that if the decision making group of individuals. Various formal and informal proofs follow in literature [14, 15].

Arrow's impossibility theorem showcase one particular case where social processes build up game like consequences. The implication of impossibility theorem in engineering design is that the different interests of different actors in a multi actor engineering design setting satisfaction of all individual choices of the actors is less likely than intuition may suggest. A thorough examination in this regard is usually required.

Following the formal modeling approach in game theoretical analysis in the next sub section we give an effort to present engineering design problem in formal model format. Creating a formal model of the problem would enable policy testing and operational insight into engineering design.

#### A Formal Model of Engineering Design

The first step in formulating the game-like setting of design activities is to specify the rules of the game. These rules may be presented by means of the "order of play" [16, p. 14]. The essential elements of a game, that is players, actions, payoffs and information should be attributed in the model.

#### A Game of Multi-Actor Design

#### Rules

- 1. The designer presents the customer a set  $i = \{1,..., m\}$  of technological options. Included in these options are one or more status-quo options (resulting in the use of alternative technologies), and a null option (resulting in a failure to adopt any technology at all). The customer knows their own utilities (X), as well as the costs of the designer.
- The designer elicits preferences from the customer, requesting a set of weights or utility scores for each design criteria, w<sub>i</sub>.
- 3. The designer completes the design, and the artifact is developed or implemented, thereby becoming available to the customer.
- 4. The customer then expresses their true preference for the product by choosing between the finished product and the null option.

#### Pay-Offs

The customer receives utility  $x_{ij}$  for objective j, under option i. The choice of the null option is set to zero for all criteria, with no loss of generality. The designer's pay-offs are as stated previously.

We offer two propositions concerning engineering design and an extended game between designers and customers. The first concerns the efficacy of engineering optimization in a multi-actor setting. The second concerns the capability of obtaining truthfully stated preferences from customers prior to the design process.

**Proposition 1** The multi-actor design game rarely results in an optimization problem.

*Proof* The minimax theorem, which is closely related to the strong duality principal of linear programming, demonstrates that any zero-sum game is reducible to an optimization problem expressed in minimax form. The proposition restated is therefore the question of whether the multi-actor design game is inherently zero sum. This is tantamount to asking whether there must always be a proportional relationship between customer utility and the cost to the designer.

**Corollary** In those cases where optimization is an effective expression of the design problem, there is a direct transfer of utility from the customer to the designer in proportion to technological performance. This can occur only in those cases where it is possible to fully and completely valorize product performance.

**Proposition 2** Stated preferences, given the rules of the game, are rarely those actually expressed by customers.

**Definition** (*Strategic Complements*) Strategic complements occur whether one player acts it encourages the other player to do more of the same.

**Definition** (*Last-Mover Advantage*) A last-mover advantage occurs whether taking the first action in the game benefits the player. Gal-Or [17] provides a generic result concerning the relationship between strategic complements and last-mover advantages. There are always last-mover advantages where there are strategic complements.

*Proof* Since the utility of the designer is proportional to the interests of the customer, there are strategic complements in this game. Since there are strategic complements, there must also be a last mover advantage for the customer. Since there is a last mover advantage, the initial expression of values by the customer cannot be in equilibrium. This follows directly from the definition of the Nash equilibrium.

**Corollary** It follows from the revelation principal that it is not incentive compatible for the customer to fully reveal their preferences in the presence of the designer prior to the actual design of the product.

The model can be expanded in various ways. It could be revised to be a game in continuous strategies. This would be more general, without reducing any of the findings. Also the model can deal with incomplete information situations such as the case when the customer knows about the engineering costs.

#### New Approaches to Engineering Design

In engineered systems equilibrium is ever present. Mechanical, thermal, electrical, fluidic—all these systems are engineered for a robustness requirement determined by some specifications. The specifications vary depending on the nature of the environment that the engineered artifact is built or utilized in. For instance, in construction sector requirement of resilience to external disturbances such as

earthquakes is different in Japan compared to the Netherlands. However, in both cases some specifications are designed and propagated. The equilibrium concept that guarantees a certain specification is always employed in engineered systems. In addition, social equilibrium is an extremely useful concept that has seen application in both economics and the theory of games. Inarguably, network equilibrium is an important and useful concept for analysis and design. We do however, draw a cautionary note, in recommendations for future research, about the appropriate use of equilibrium analysis.

#### Conclusions

In this chapter, a new approach to engineering design is debated. The traditional approach to engineering design is contested with a multi actor approach that emphasizes game theoretical modeling. With this approach, the top down characteristic of engineering design optimization is challenged with a decentralized approach of equilibrium. Multiple actors (involving customers, funders, suppliers, and a designer) approach is considered as opposed to mono actor (i.e. designer) setting.

Engineering design is historically been considered as a mono actor multi criteria decision problem. Decision models, which most of the time emphasize optimization based approaches leave their place to equilibrium models where multiple actors take part in decision making process. Game theoretical concepts have increasing importance in analyzing such decision processes. In this chapter, authors attempt to formulate the game like characteristic of the engineering design problem.

New methods provide better insights as they encompass multi actor processes. Readily available multi actor theories can be applied in engineering design as opposed to traditional optimization modeling.

Finally, we see a pathway for continuation of laid down approach to engineering design. This work as presented here is to be expanded with an articulated model in continuous strategies form. The implications of the model for engineering design is also to be articulated and discussed. The model could be articulated within incomplete information settings, which is a widely encountered case in engineering design.

#### References

- 1. Siddall JN (1982) Optimal engineering design: principals and applications. Marcel Dekker, New York
- 2. Hillier F, Lieberman G, Hillier M (1990) Introduction to operations research. McGraw-Hill, Singapore
- 3. Papalambros PY, Wilde DJ (2000) Principles of optimal design: modeling and computation, 2nd edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge

- Lifson MW (1972) Decision and risk analysis for practicing engineers. Barnes and Noble, New York
- 5. Buede DM (2000) The engineering design of systems: models and methods. Wiley, New York
- Cummings ML (2006) Integrating ethics in design through the value-sensitive design approach. Sci Eng Ethics 12(4):701–715
- 7. Flintsch G, Chen C (2004) Soft computing applications in infrastructure management. J Infrastruct Syst 10:157
- 8. Dantzig G (1998) Linear programming and extensions. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- Cunningham SW (2008) A review of complementarity problems for the design and analysis of infrastructure. In: Proceedings of the infrastructure systems and services conference, 10–12 Nov, Rotterdam
- Marler RT, Arora JS (2004) Survey of multi-objective optimization methods for engineering. Struct Multi Optim 26:369–395
- Cunningham SW, van der Lei T (2009) Decision-making for new technology: a multi-actor, multi-objective method. Technol Forecast Soc Change 76(1):26–38
- 12. Von Neumann J, Morgenstern O (1944) Theory of games and economic behavior. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- 13. Arrow KJ (1950) A difficulty in the concept of social welfare. J Polit Econ 58:328-346
- 14. Hansen P (2002) Another graphical proof of arrow's impossibility theorem. J Econ Educ $33(3){:}217{-}235$
- 15. Geanakoplos J (1996) Three brief proofs of arrow's impossibility theorem. Manuscript, Cowles Foundation, Yale University, New Haven
- 16. Rasmussen E (2007) Games and information: an introduction to game theory, 4th edn. Blackwell Publishing, Malden
- 17. Gal-Or E (1985) First mover and second mover advantages. Int Econ Rev 26(3):649-653

## Part VI Governance

### System Governance: Emergence of Practical Perspectives Across the Disciplines

#### Behnido Y. Calida and Charles B. Keating

Abstract As the eventual concept of governance has yet to emerge, traditional sources of power and authority symbols will always be at risk of falling short or even failing catastrophically. This is a daunting challenge since the actual governance landscape have dynamically evolved far more sophisticatedly than the usual well-framed "control" models that are embedded within traditional domains of administrative, public administration and political theories. The purpose of this paper is to articulate an alternative analysis of governance-relevant themes based on systems theoretic principles. This study utilizes a system-of-systems (SoS) conceptualization of governance that relates (1) a 'governed' system—the target of governance, with (2) a 'governing' system—the direct controller of the 'governed' system, (3) a 'metagovernance' systems—a metasystem that strategically influences the 'governing' system directly and the 'governed' system indirectly, and (4) its contextual environment—as anything external to the supposed SoS boundary. The paper will discuss how the symbols of governance that perpetuate "myths of control" thinking within the emergent infranomics discourse will be better understood incorporating for instance pluralist perspectives, role of the observer, and information-a few example of concepts and principles that are well-articulated in systems-based theories and approaches. The main contribution of this study is a set of systems-based ideas representing governance that will continue to remain relevant in spite of emergent problems and increased complexity.

**Keywords** System theory • Governance • Infranomics • Transdisciplinary • Clustering analysis

B. Y. Calida  $(\boxtimes) \cdot C$ . B. Keating

Department of Engineering Management and Systems Engineering, Old Dominion University, Kaufman Hall, Rm. 241, Norfolk, VA 23529, USA e-mail: bcalida@odu.edu

#### Introduction

Keeping in mind the context of infranomics, in what ways should the governance of a complex system change? The body of knowledge has shown that the answers to such questions varies and are as diverse as the held meanings of governance either in the context of research or in practice. Established 'old-fashioned' disciplines have attempted to reinvent their take on governance while upcoming multi-disciplinary initiatives suggest a somewhat radical transformative take of governance. The challenge therefore is to attempt to clarify the ambiguous nature of ideas relevant for a precise articulation of system governance. This entails an investigation at the conceptual level of ideas that broadly embraces mental images, memories, concepts, propositions, theories, inferences, problems and many more.

This research will focus primarily on the exploration of the concept 'governance' from a system view. There is increasingly some regularity in the body of knowledge that criticizes how existing notions of governance have been perpetuating the "myth of control", such belief which over a period of time has determined current forms and distributions of power and authority across different levels of society. Before dispelling any myth, it would be useful to describe what the 'myth of control' refers to in the first place. Bijlsma-Frankema and Koopman [1] regard the 'myth of control' as "a barrier that has to be shattered to open the way in the direction of more optimal mixes between commitment and control" (p. 211). In general, the 'myth of control' refers to pretentious attempts by entities to impose their capacity to control in enormous proportions all organized activity. These entities can vary from individuals to groups, to organizations and to governments. If only one can guarantee a complete grasp of a myriad of possible control factors to ensure goals are always met, then we can call it a perfect world-a closed-loop world. From the management paradigm that closely reflects and helps perpetuate the current views on control, Mintzberg [2] reflects on the assumptions that he claims to rarely apply in practice and argues for a normative control model that supports Bijlsma-Frankema and Koppman's view towards a new rationality of governance. In a much mature view of reality, the world as everyone experiences it is far from perfect in as much the same ways reflected in the social artifacts produced by human societies throughout its history. Complete control is not readily achievable, if not entirely unrealistic, given that we try to impose closed-systems constraints on an open-system world [3]. The purpose of this paper is to articulate an alternative analysis of governance-relevant themes based on systems-based principles. The analysis of governance is facilitated by a system-of-systems (SoS) conceptualization of governance that relates (1) a 'governed' system-the target of governance, with (2) a 'governing' system-the direct controller of the 'governed' system, (3) a 'metagovernance' systems-a metasystem that strategically influences the 'governing' system directly and the 'governed' system indirectly, and (4) its contextual environment—as anything external to the supposed SoS boundary.

#### The Complex Domain of Infranomic Governance

#### Limitations of Current Forms of Governance

The limited conceptualizations of governance are fast becoming a daunting challenge in an transdisciplinary domain like infranomics. Reasons for these can be interpreted as likely due to several factors among which include: (1) an unrealistic interpretation of governance based on ideal-types; (2) a natural fixation on hierarchical notions of authority; (3) a simplistic theoretical depiction of power, and lastly, (4) unerring resolve or determination to preserve non-compromise seeking solutions. These different reasons will each be elaborated in turn.

One suggested limitation of contemporary understanding of governance can be traced back to its original interpretation based on ideal-types, which is specifically framed using Weber's bureaucratic versus patrimonial administration and charismatic leadership concepts [4]. Such seminal work by Weber has afforded distinct explanations of authority and administration that relied on formal contrasts using ideal-types. Traditionally, governance as a "bureaucratic administration" has remained dependent for its effectiveness in realizing goals on the degree of congruence between authority and power. Ideal-types are but imaginative constructs with varied implications to governance. As a result an understanding of reality emerged that interprets human events in terms of relationships and regularities but not to necessity, i.e. it is governance by meaning, not by laws (p. 200). Likewise, as an ideal-type, authority is: "... in administrative structures, is based on adherence by participants to the expectations associated with their formal roles, that is, on the assumption that incumbents' motives and orientations will be sufficiently congruent with formal role expectations, and relationships are re-cast in terms of power." (p. 198); "... exists when participants do what is required of them by virtue of their organizational roles." (p. 206). However, this preeminent ideal-type explanation of authority may be challenged by instances where power may emanate from outside of existing "administrative structures" (p. 198). That is, administrative structures are human as much as they are mechanical contrivances. Participant's performances are affected by the variability in an individual's purposes, will, and capacities, organizational effectiveness will vary over time. Formal rationality (and technology) may help but can lead to inefficiencies themselves.

Unlike authority (that is constant and calculated within formal rationality), new concepts of power indicate that it is variable and mercurial where its amount and distribution vary over time as a function of (1) purposes and interests of participants, (2) distribution of power relevant resources, (3) participant's control of uncertainty and discretion, (4) participants' willingness to apply or withdraw efficiency and effect, and (5) unstable and conflict-based power relationships. (p. 206). Power struggles then ensues where a power struggle is a general phenomenon resulting when individuals, isolated groups, and alliances attempt to realize values, interests and goals of their own choosing that conflict with those of the administrative

structure. Events that unfold as a part of its history are viewed as an evolutionary process of adaptation that was at least universal, inevitable, and accessible to human understanding and explanation. From Weber's original conceptual frame (i.e. rational-legal authority and formal rationality), there exists the inability to account for existence and use of power within and outside organizations and of the persistence of patrimonial features. Without a clear basis for understanding power, abuse of power may easily end up in conflict and problematic pathologies. Conflict situations result when what is good for organizations is not necessarily good for their participants and for society. Even much disconcerting is the possibility of resulting to a pathological tendency where even if participants serve the legitimate values and interests of participants and actors in the organizations environment, 'unintended consequences' can still have benign consequences. That may provide the impetus to instead adopt patrimonial features in promoting administrative effectiveness by mitigating conflict and promoting organizational loyalty, discipline and efficiency (i.e. Godfather effect). Beyond these ideal-type concepts, instead, there is a need to consider an alternate and "modest" conception of power based on formal rationality. For instance, new concepts of governance should consider Simon's system's view of 'satisficing' invoking a recognition of reality that is imperfect, limited, highcost nature of information, variability and uncertainties of commitments to 'strict obedience', organizational goals (p. 210). Further, there has to be an inclusion of an environmental dimension as imperative for a new view of power (p. 211). Formal organizations are profoundly affected by environmental forces that try to influence or control their goals, policies, and resource allocations, and by the participants' efforts to use environmental forces to benefit the organization or their own positions within it. Dilemma in the environment is heterogonous and pluralistic. In other words a hybrid solution is necessary, or at least a "differentiated view" (p. 217) as a viable alternative.

Moving on to the next limitation is that of a natural fixation towards hierarchical notions of authority. This is at odds with recent non-hierarchical aspects of modern day cooperative roles and relations with respect to citizens that are meant to be serviced by such authority. The underpinning involved is such a conceptual switch may possibly undermine actual epistemological and political foundations [5]. That is, in public administration, various capacities are endowed with authority to carry out specific functions to do the people's business (p. 86-87). These capacities may come in either by personality or by institutional structure. However, once endowed with that authority, same capacities can lose sight of what the people want and are in positions where they can do damage. Also, institutions are single-minded and rule-bound in focus, thereby insulating from continuing critique and oversight. There is a thin line between formal authority and extreme authoritarianism. Lesson is, authority structures should be breathable (and not impervious to change; p. 95) and able to think outside of the hierarchy, ... a case for a self-aware public administration. How do we implement such measures? These can be integrated into a governance approach by (1) strengthening public life and institutions such that citizens can reduce reliance on authority; (2) synthesize truth with others (authority is collective rather than hierarchical), and (3) adapt a lens of a higher ethical standard beyond self as truth claims are always revisable, contestable, and potentially democratic (p. 99).

The next limitation pertains to a simplistic theoretical view of power that cannot take into account non-formal and emergent forms of power. Unlike in some instance where simplicity is preferentially targeted, the resulting trade-off is that 'simplistic' accounts of power have an insufficient analytic propensity to explain power that may have different sources in organizations. Astley and Sachdeva [6] and Salancik and Pfeffer [7] have previously insisted separately in their analysis on a need for a conception of power that is meaningful beyond social interaction and organization. In their analysis, they have also alternatively observed a proliferation of multiple subtypes of power is also a problem (p. 105). Hence, their works have suggested an analysis of power in organizations as a function of (1) hierarchical authority, (2) resource control, (3) network centrality. Furthermore, these also suggests that even as we understand that power needs to be linked to structures of intra-organizational nature, the power structure needs to also include the role of the wider environment itself (p. 111).

Finally, the last limitation of current forms of governance can be broadly categorized as the inherently built-in tendency of existing governance forms to resist changes themselves. That is, despite the growing pressure and acknowl-edgement of weaknesses attributed to their current form, a negotiating process promotes non-compromise seeking solutions that allow administrators to retain power and authority, while encouraging collaboration and decision making [8].

## The Challenge of Synthesis Across Practice and the Different Disciplines

It will not be surprising that the scope of governance literature just about covers any problem as a problem of governance. For instance, one account of the problem of governance in modern society suggests that it is a problem of adaptation, capacity and scale [9]. Under the paradoxical reality of globalization and devolution, terms used to refer the simultaneous internationalization and in parallel localization of traditionally government-centered decision processes (pp. 490–492), the agenda for modern governance must find ways to address these problems. The problem of adaptation, specifically in government, refers the need for non-traditional structured and staffed bureaucracies to support newer strategies and tactics, suggesting the role as "fitting traditional vertical systems to the new challenges of globalization and devolution, and integrating new horizontal systems to the traditional vertical ones" (p. 495) The problem of capacity is a call for effective management and accountability as enhancing government's ability to govern and manage effectively in this transformed environment. This is uncharted territory not accounted for in traditional intellectual foundations supporting hierarchical authority, bureaucratic exchange mechanisms and delegation of power practices.

Closely related to the problems of adaptation and capacity, there is also the problem of scale that makes issues harder to address, as it remains unclear as to which levels of governance are best suited or best fit to address it. In other words, the problem of scale implies sorting out the functions of different levels of governance and finding better alternatives of channeling available expertise and machinery rather than relying on ad hoc mechanisms most of the time.

Though examples of these problems were found in very distinctly different disciplines and problem domains, the rhetoric sounds all too familiar and almost resounding very similar themes.

#### Need for a Systems Perspective on Governance

Theorizing system governance would imply an attempt at formulating an acceptable multilevel abstraction of the system. This allows for the accommodation of underlying worldviews to be made explicit and perceived governance situations to be accurately depicted. To help confront this issue, a systems based approach is the primary study lens where perceived systems of interests will provide the focus to study generalizable aspects of governance situations. The process of governance and the system of interest themselves exist as independent societal entities and are embedded within the society at large. As such, they are easily captured conceptually as complex systems, as system-of-systems (SoS), or just simply, as systems. Motivated by several system-based principles, certain anticipated paradoxical divergences of perspectives helps in resolving the practical difficulties in theorizing about governance. Keating [10], similarly by Baldwin et al. [11], promoted the use of system-based articulations of context and its associated boundaries as the key tools in resolving such paradoxical perspectives. Whereas several definitions were available, Lycan [12] suggests a definition of paradox as "an inconsistent set of propositions, each of which is very plausible" where its resolution is a matter of deciding, on principled ground, which of the propositions are to be abandoned. This is the usual case and the domain of complex system governance. Paradoxes can be traced to propositional inconsistencies arising from philosophical, methodological, axiological, axiomatic and even application logical levels of divergence (Keating p. 2). Without a way to study these paradoxes, it would be impossible to even begin to understand how to design or embark on development of a system governance platform that would make sense with the vast array of other relevant theories and/or frameworks. Any resemblance to replicable governance phenomena, though interesting and novel, is coincidental and, at best, existential in the context of time, place and prevailing logic of someone else's decisions and actions. In other words, while there are examples of the utility in examining particular accounts of governance, the main argument in this dissertation is towards an attempt for a well-articulated universal governance concept. It is a grand and complicated effort but it should be attempted nonetheless because of its greater relevance to resolving paradoxical dead ends that confound day-to-day practice related to governance.

Hence, moving forward it would be convenient to explore the notion of the concept of governance in greater depth. Current understanding of governance is either conceived too broadly or too narrowly, limiting the recognition of the paradoxical phenomena that carries over to conflicting approaches of implementation.

#### **Diverse Understanding on Governance**

The literature is replete with studies that are about governance but are totally standing on very dissimilar conceptual bases. To date, there is still no comprehensive conceptual account of "governance" Kjaer [13, 14]. This does not imply a shortage of well-thought rigorous scholarly studies at all. In fact, several works on the usual "what" question has have been articulated quite sufficiently and extensively [15–17]. Multidisciplinary literature would reveal two prevailing perspectives in the practice of "governance". Either governance is deployed supposedly for a system of interest for purposes of (1) maintaining its operation despite any recurring problem, and/or (2) adapting its capabilities in anticipation of future challenges. While it is the contention in this study that existing governance systems were predominantly designed towards either one of the previously mentioned perspectives, new and existing governance systems will benefit from a step back analysis that reaches back to of basic concepts and approaches supporting such perspectives. In reality, most governance systems will have to merge both perspectives given their underlying purposes. Such an appreciation is starting to emerge as evidenced by many studies about governance within the specific topical contexts of the internet [18], urban culture [19], knowledge [20], enterprise information systems [21], networks [22], resilience and vulnerability [23] to name a few.

In some general sense, all these initiatives seem to converge on governance as either the last resort solution or as the ultimate cause of failure. There are several successful realizations where resulting outcomes can be evaluated against some theoretical backdrop of "governance". In each of those instantiations, however, the claims will not allow for enough comparison to suggest similar conceptualizations of 'governance'. In some instances, one implicitly assumes that "governance" is viewed not as the problem but the solution. Conversely, the problem perspective is stated in terms of the "lack of" where new efforts towards correct "governance" will progress towards improvement. There is also the difficulty to clearly draw out what is being governed and to what end. Presumably, a system is assumed at the receiving end where governance reflects the effort to realize a system's purpose. However, each one unique system state often invariably requires its own unique kind of governance. The current state is described by an internal differentiation of dynamics and complexity residing within the system in relation to its environment [24]. There are of course several available ways to reveal the state of a system by way of systematic classifications or typologies [25-29]. These have been instrumental in advancing understanding that are useful for application in real-life complex systems. Therefore, the rich diversity of interpretations for governance brings to life like a key systems notion concept, specifically the notion of multiple perspectives. This consideration has implications to for anyone responsible with for the design, development or transformation of governance systems. They will have to utilize these perspectives in order to comprehensively allow the system to accomplish their underlying purpose.

#### **Increasing Relevance of Governance: Perception or Fact**

There are now several examples of existing governance systems that are said to be unprepared for the practical difficulties of increasing complexity, change, emergence or uncertainty. Another set of suppositions hint on the need for governance within the context of the system. That is to say that there must of course be a priori an established awareness of a system in the first place. The focal question becomes, "Was the system developed with governance in mind?" And inextricably related to it is the question, "When exactly was governance conceived with respect to a system's own conceptualization and development?" As one possible starting point, one may hold that no attempt of governance was conceived to begin with. For such a conceptual case, a complex organismic philosophy is adopted where a system, as it is starting out, evolves without any notion of governance similar to natural, biological and ad hoc network systems, making it likely that such systems (simple or complex) can exist without any form of governance. On the other hand, as another starting point, a mechanistic philosophy adopts the prevailing view of purposeful, carefully planned systems. The base assumption for such a technical view, whether tacit or implicit, is that governance is in fact present, and pre-planned during the conceptualization, design and development stage of the system. In either case, both assumptions can thus be simply a matter of how the system boundaries are being perceived, studied and established, whether naturally or by purposeful design.

Governance is dependent on how one draws the respective boundary regarding the exact state of the system by looking at one's experience with the system or any relevant documented or historical accounts. If one considers a system without any pre-conceived notion of governance, the main task is to design, develop and implement a suitable governance system. If governance is already built-into the system, then the argument shifts into how to proceed towards "good" or "effective" governance as a system response to recurring system problems.

#### **Irresolvable Conflicts of Perspectives**

Several reasons for conflicts in perspectives on governance are traceable to the multiple "levels" and roles of different actors and their associated interests in implementing governance. Because each perspective held by every actor are important in the actual implementation of governance, blurring of traditional "functional" boundaries (i.e. political, administrative, public, private, etc.) is

inevitable. Having no clear delineation presiding over practice, the active 'governance' concept is a tenuous implementation of overlapping and often conflicting hierarchical and network/collaborative paradigms. We can draw perspectives based on both assumptions from a single very recent real-life example-the US financial market collapse that triggered damaging effects throughout the global economy. Depending on how an individual's epistemological stance or knowledge boundaries are drawn, one can make a good case either way that some form governance already exists or was in fact absent. Before the financial collapse, the financial market is a good case example of sophisticated layers of governance. Governance in the financial market can be described as a dizzying array of regulations, policies, laws, standards through a complex interaction between public, private and government sectors [30]. Shortly after the collapse, everyone was insisting on better governance as a pressing concern since taxpayers' money was used for bailout or stimulus money. However, if one is a keen fan of Adam Smith's genius, the financial market as it was conceived was one that can function without any individual's awareness of obvious governance, whether minimal or if any at all. Hence since then, free markets are famous for the "Invisible Hand" metaphor [31]. This shows that no matter which assumption is held, governance is perceived sometimes as a solution and sometimes as the problem.

#### **Uncovering Underlying Philosophical Debates**

Undoubtedly, there are much larger philosophical roots underlying the debates that feature these differing perspectives. This goes back to the great debates between philosophers like Plato, Aristotle and much more recently Kant regarding the very nature of existence, of reality, of knowledge and of truth, of wholes and of entities [32]. It is not the intent of this dissertation to offer a resolution to these debates as they are expected to persist irrespective of any ongoing scholarly deliberation of governance. Instead, it is supposed that to have a good foundational understanding of governance, an integrative philosophy should be adopted that is appreciative of the different ontological, epistemological and axiological perspectives found in the literature. While governance can mean very different things based on which philosophical strand dominantly persists, it will be helpful to establish the preliminary conceptual boundaries before going any further in this study.

As such, the body of knowledge introduced here highlights the multidisciplinary lens to investigate system governance. Having implemented a thorough literature review process, an overview of the body of knowledge (BoK) was produced to help narrow down the key literature boundary themes on system governance. Both systems and governance are well studied terms with each having undergone advanced conceptual development and a long history from the purview of multiple independent disciplines and practice domains [33]. System governance, however, is not an easy transition from both key ideas (e.g. systems and governance), although there were already a few recent studies which used the compound notion of 'system governance' [34]. The difficulty was in the heterogeneous paradigms and plurality

of conceptions expected when associated ideas were cultivated from the diverse world of traditional disciplines and practice [35, 36]. These were evidenced by a set of systemic themes emerging from the literature.

#### **Approach to Extracting Governance Themes**

#### An Overview

Content analysis is "a research technique for making replicable and valid inferences from texts (or other meaningful matter) to the contexts of their use" [37]. It has several advantages, chiefly, its objectivity. Governance and systems related research, in possessing strong grounding in values and attitudes, and havings social science derivatives, must employ repeat methodologies which avoid subjective biases [38]. Specifically, properly use of content analysis tends to avoid recall biases [39]. Furthermore, it can be performed utilizing unstructured input data, a feature which was very useful given the diverse nature of scientific input likely to be employed in a given literature review process. Dealing with diverse input was one promising feature of content analysis as it is often highly utilized to obtain otherwise unavailable information [40].

#### **Content Analysis Process**

To begin with the quantitative phase of this research, the textual data sets were made ready for use in the modified content analysis procedure, which employed a novel clustering text analysis method. The novel method employed a clustering technique that helped to extensively discover any important concepts and interrelationships that are reflected in frequently recurring themes. The methodology, shown in Fig. 1 first proposed in Calida and Hester [41] and employed in this research study utilized a modified three-stage approach.

Stage 1 consisted of data generation and pre-processing. A literature review process was typically undertaken by performing a search in a library database using research relevant keywords, thereby identifying a set of potentially relevant articles from only peer-reviewed journal sources. In depth process and other details of the content analysis as part of the literature review is further discussed in Appendix 1. Peer-reviewed journal articles feature the intellectual hallmarks for validated forms of knowledge [42, 43] that may eventually impact and shape the



research field. In this regard, the ISI Web of Knowledge social science citation index (SSCI) and science citation index (SCI) was the selected database since it was the most comprehensive database of peer-reviewed research work for both the social sciences and sciences. All material available in the database for years available up to the time of the research: from 1992 through 2011 was used. Another key consideration was the determination of the relevant keywords to be used for the search. Given the plurality of meanings attached to the word 'governance' and 'systems', the search query employed was intentionally crafted to be as broad as possible, as a general selection requirement, to maximize the inclusion of all the relevant studies. The initial search of the SSCI and SCI database was performed using the basic keywords: 'governance' and limiting to descriptive 'systems' and its derivatives of systems-related research work (i.e. Title = (governance) AND Topic = (systems OR system OR systemic)); document type 'article' and 'review' (not including book reviews); language as 'English'. The search was further delimited to include only articles that also mention 'systems' (and its derivatives) in the relevant topic search fields. This was an important reduction step that significantly narrowed the search field and yet still remained inclusive to relevant works that write about governance within the context of a system. The system delimitation was an important distinction to other research available on governance that often specifically talks on a rather narrow view of the concept.

A digital copy of each identified full text of each article was then retrieved, excluding those that were identified as irrelevant (e.g. a book review or editorial). This pool of articles was considered the text for proceeding to the literature review process. All baseline articles were then converted to ASCII text files. This preformats the articles in order to enable the next step in the clustering process.

In stage 2, each ASCII text file was subjected to cluster analysis. Cluster text analysis was performed through the use of computer software. Articles were automatically processed using computer software in a textual analysis program. Stage 3 ensured the subsequent proper validation of the identified common thematic elements present in the articles.

The textual network clustering established conceptual linkages between different literature sources using textual frequency, location and relevance within the text. Clustering results were verified and validated by comparing the two modes of clustering undertaken in Stage 2. In Stage 3, clustering results were compared in terms of the themes identified and membership of the themes. In line with the earlier discussions, validation at this point was achieved in terms (1) obtaining well-structured clusters, (2) agreement with existing literature results and expert intuition, and (3) demonstrated stability robustness of the clusters found. Not involving any expert inputs in the validation steps, this enabled the advantages described earlier in the study to be fully realized, namely, the analysis and synthesis of large amounts of information, unable to be analyzed by a human-only system.

#### **Content Analysis: The Emergent Themes**

#### Governance Noun-Phrase Networks

Despite the broad reach of the concept, governance is not necessarily articulated consistently in theory and much more so practice. The content analysis method realizes the added value in determining the common coherent linkages of disparate concepts. Derived common conceptual threads were useful in articulating the thematic basis needed to produce a rigorous conceptual understanding of a meaningful "system governance" theory, framework and application development. This section present the results of the content analysis phase of the research.

The preliminary stage of the content analysis methodology consisted of generating noun-phrase information networks for the entire sampled set of literature as a whole and their aggregation into categorized groups (Groups 1 through 3). The results for the entire data set and those at the group level were found in Table 1 where the table only shows the top 25 words for clarity. The combined articles appearing in multidisciplinary publications within the 1992–2011 timeframe revealed a number of interesting features. First and foremost, the number of nodes—herein referring to the number of noun or noun phrase in the network was 27,912. The density score was ~0.001 (the density score was determined by calculating the ratio of the number of network connections that directly links the nodes compared to how many linkages were possible within the network). The group influence score, which signifies the level of coherency of the entire network of noun phrases, was 0.069. Note that the density and group influence scores were standardized measures with minimum–maximum score ranging between [0,1].

When segregating the results according to different article categories (Groups 1, 2 and 3), the specific noun phrase network similarly demonstrate loosely connected networks. Moreover, it also demonstrated having a slightly higher level of group influence or focus for all groups with the exception of Group 2. In particular, the density of the texts segregated by group was similar to those for the "All Groups Combined" dataset (Table 1). For Group 1 articles, the number of nodes was 11,170. The density score and group influence score were 0.0014 and 0.074, respectively. In comparison, Group 2 has 16,007 nodes, 0.0013 density score and 0.05 group influence score. Rounding out the category, Group 3 has 13,500 nodes, 0.001 density score and 0.078 group influence score. The density scores range from a high of 0.00143 for Group 1 to a low of 0.0013 for both Groups 2 and 3. The Group influence values range from a high of 0.07789 for Group 3 and a low of 0.05102 for Group 2 (M = 0.0947, SD = 0.014179). These density and group influence scores suggest that the article texts selected are composed of fairly diverse discussions.

In addition to the descriptive node, density and group influence calculations of the selected dataset, the top influential words for all the groups of text were produced. As previously mentioned, the influence score is normalized and ranges from [0,1]. The higher the influence score, the more influential the word is.

Table 1 Noun	phrase netv	work summary information					
All groups com	ıbined	Group 1-perspectives, revi-	ews and meta-analysis	Group 2-highl	ly cited	Group 3-recent articles	from high IF journals
Nodes	27,912	Nodes	11,170	Nodes	16,007	Nodes	13,500
Density	0.00086	Density	0.00143	Density	0.00131	Density	0.00133
Influence	0.06873	Influence	0.07483	Influence	0.05102	Influence	0.07789
Word	Influence	Word	Influence	Word	Influence	Word	Influence
System	0.04806	System	0.07503	System	0.05115	System	0.0549
Governance	0.03332	Governance	0.04446	Governance	0.04314	Governance	0.04619
Policy	0.0239	Management	0.0416	Policy	0.02553	Policy	0.02891
Management	0.02371	Fishery	0.03463	Management	0.0221	Management	0.02531
Change	0.01411	Policy	0.03222	State	0.0203	Food	0.01946
State	0.01275	Health	0.02465	Corporate	0.01832	Public	0.0178
Public	0.01211	Change	0.02309	Change	0.01742	Forest	0.01747
Social	0.01156	Social	0.0193	Firm	0.01709	Research	0.01636
New	0.01057	Ecosystem	0.01794	Industry	0.01341	State	0.01538
Research	0.01003	Process	0.01422	Company	0.01323	Social	0.01534
Process	0.01003	Environmental	0.01312	Director	0.01322	Change	0.01345
Resource	0.01002	Public	0.01295	University	0.01282	Resource	0.01312
Firm	0.00946	New	0.01206	Process	0.01197	Development	0.01184
Fishery	0.00897	Resource	0.01171	Environmental	0.01176	Model	0.01132
Environmental	0.00896	Development	0.01167	Economic	0.01174	University	0.01132
Forest	0.00885	Information	0.0116	Market	0.01174	Local	0.01094
University	0.00873	Climate	0.01148	Public	0.01166	Information	0.01043
Food	0.00859	Political	0.0112	Social	0.01163	Global	0.01023
Corporate	0.00847	Level	0.01084	Global	0.01122	Analysis	0.01005
Global	0.00836	Science	0.01071	Research	0.01102	Government	0.00966

Specifically, influence score of 0.10 or higher imply that the words are *significantly* influential which further implies of its tendency to become the center point tying together thoughts and meanings of the diverse text sampled. The more influential words across all the dataset and within each group include system, governance, policy, management, change, social, and process. Other influential words appearing denote specific domains or context of governance including economy, market, fishery, health, ecosystem, environmental, corporate, food, forest, research, and water to name a few. Still in others, influential words like public, organization, government, director, organization, industry, firm, and university highlight the diversity of entities involved in the process of governance. The influence of these words was interesting particularly because of the fact that it comes from multidisciplinary sources reflecting on separately distinct issues and problems. Although it should be expected that system and governance as the top influential words from the sampled dataset, it is still interesting to note that there were unanimous even though the context or perspective may be different. In particular, the results highlight policy and management as jointly important perspectives when it comes to the topic system governance. While the top influential words may present some interesting narratives and insights of themes characterizing the system governance literature, further thematic analysis was pursued to derive a refined perspective of the field.

#### **Emerging Governance Themes**

All literature identified and categorized in the previous section where further analyzed deeper for much more refined themes. Themes were identified based on state-of-the-art computer-assisted clustering Crawdad software [44]. Given the large-sized clusters detected across the scholarly literature sampled, several relevant system governance themes emerged and were discussed accordingly in this section.

A software built-in exploratory factor analysis (EFA) using the 250 most influential words appearing across three (3) or more articles within the sampled dataset of articles and publications was performed. Having computed the influence values as score values for each of the variables, EFA used principal components analysis (PCA) with varimax rotation to assess the underlying thematic structure of the body of abstract texts. Having designated an eigenvalue cutoff of two (2), those factors having values greater than the cut-off were extracted. As a result, we determined forty-eight (48) as the final number of factors to extract from the resulting factor solution. Using the top factor components identified, the EFA process provided a first look at emerging themes and provided a good basis to develop system governance themes. The eigenvalue cut-off resulting in 48 factors represents a combined explained variance of 82.63 %. As shown in Table 2 after rotation, the top 15 resulting factors accounted for 30.66 % of the dataset variance.

Component	% of variance explained	Cumulative %
Factor 1	3.33	1.33
Factor 2	7.10	4.17
Factor 3	5.52	6.38
Factor 4	7.98	9.58
Factor 5	5.37	11.73
Factor 6	7.25	14.63
Factor 7	3.63	16.08
Factor 8	5.03	18.09
Factor 9	4.39	19.85
Factor 10	5.28	21.96
Factor 11	3.59	23.40
Factor 12	4.45	25.19
Factor 13	4.97	27.17
Factor 14	3.67	28.64
Factor 15	5.05	30.66

 Table 2
 Breaking down EFA % explained variance per factor component

Note 1 Remaining factors 16 thru 48 accounts for 51.96 % of explained variance

The remaining component factors (Factors 16 thru 48) accounts to a combined explained variance of 51.96 % that brings the cumulative variance to 82.63 %.

Recall, from the first study objective which was to identify generalizable elements of governance. In relation to this, recall too the research question posed as *What are the distinctive characteristics of governance?* The preceding objective and research question provide the basis for further elaboration of themes as suggested from the sample of articles collected. The analysis of the relevant themes continued by using the rotated factor loadings to provide a preliminary basis for evaluating the emergent themes for the first 20 factors where only the highest loading components were included for clarity. As shown in Table 3, the first factor reflected strong factor loadings on influential words *performance, shareholder, investor, finance, firm, control,* and *market* (0.715, 0.714, 0.559, 0.539, 0.469, 0.400, and 0.390, respectively). For comparison purposes,

Table 4 shows the same factors but omitting the most influential list of words that appear in previous noun phrase information (as shown in Table 2). The comparison allows for thoroughness by also increasing the possibility of identifying useful terms other than the most influential ones. For instance, omitting the most influential words for the first factor introduced into the analysis more descriptive terms such as *corporate* (0.356) and *executive* (0.335). Moving to the second factor, the results show strong loading on the words *press*, *large*, *university*, *change*, *new*, *problem*, *international*, and *system* (in Table 3); add to that *human*, *institution*, *stakeholder*, and *theory* (in Table 4). The same process was performed for all the different factors thereby producing the rest of the tabular data presented in Tables 3 and 4. Together with the examination of the factor loadings, the texts from the dataset were reviewed. Additionally, a secondary latent coding analysis was performed to "logically connect words to themes and strengthen the face

Table 3	Factor loadings fc	or the rotate	d factors								
Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading
1	Performance	0.715	9	nsmd	0.992	11	Fishing	0.946	16	Stockholder	0.988
				Audience			Commission			Director	
	Shareholder	0.714		Pragmatic	0.984		Stakeholder	0.941		Reform	0.947
				Legitimacy			Stock			Investor	
	Investor	0.559		Environmental	0.959		Reform	0.489		Corporate	0.784
	Finance						Process			Board	
	Firm	0.539		Certification	0.512		Community	0.435		Law	0.714
	Control			Forestry							
	Market	0.469			0.445			0.397			0.449
		0.400			0.426			0.252			0.350
		0.390			0.318			0.248			0.267
2	Press	0.166	٢	Transnational	0.964	12	Coordination	0.600	17	Product	0.961
	Large			Accountability			Assessment			Safety	0.434
	University	0.157		Global	0.946		Organizational	0.406		Information	
	Change			Network			Learning			Data	0.418
	New	0.154		International	0.621			0.401		Good	
	Problem			Actor			Commission			Environmental	0.239
	International	0.145		Governance	0.469		Cost	0.315			
							Pragmatic			Shareholder	0.236
	System	0.137			0.292		Level	0.262		Carbon	0.129
		0.134			0.284			0.236			0.125
		0.122			0.279			0.213			0.119
		0.117		National	0.253			0.155			
										3)	ontinued)

284

Table 3	(continued)										
Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading
3	Adaptive	0.847	8	Press	0.135	13	Theory	0.110	18	Governance	0.132
	Socio-ecological			Approach			Human				
		0.733		Management	0.130		Governance	0.098			0.105
	Resilience			Different							
		0.681		Problem	0.107			0.098			0.104
		0.630		Governance	0.105			0.078			0.100
		0.577			0.102			0.078		Control	0.097
										Data	
	Management	0.457			0.099		Business	0.077		Approach	0.095
							New			International	
					0.095		Institutional	0.077		Market	0.093
	Change Social	0.413		Institution			Change			State	
	FCOSVStem										
4	Emission	0 941	0	Executive	0.842	14	Urhan	0 987	19	Incident	0 989
+	Policy	11/10	`	Performance	100	5	City	10/-0	2	Case	00.0
	Federal	0.612		Company	0.506		Energy	0.986		Network	0.687
	Carbon			Innovation			Local			Federal	
								0.456		Control	0.605
		0.585		Board	0.425		Scale			Theory	
	Energy			International			New				
	Government	0.543		Business	0.412		Change	0.440		Research	0.495
	State	0.507			0.368			0.349			0.202
		0.422			0.332			0.263			0.163
		0.382			0.311			0.239			0.151
											continued)

Table 3	(continued)										
Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading
5	Approach	0.136	10	Large	0.113	15	System	0.142	20	Press	0.139
	Public			Problem			Governance			University	0.119
		0.126		Stakeholder	0.104			0.126		Level	
	Group			Financial						Governance	0.111
				Stock	0.100			0.125			
	Business	0.106		Market							0.106
	Information			Action	0.094			0.100			
	Bank	0.102			0.093			0.095			0.106
							Press				0.105
	Board	0.100					Control	0.095			
					0.090		Change			Institutional	0.100
		0.097					National	0.094		Process	
		0.089			0.086		Large			Social	
Note Inc	luding words from	influential 1	list (first 2	20 factors only for	r clarity)						

286

Table 4	Factor loadings fc	or the rotated	l factors								
Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading
1	Performance	0.715	9	Nsmd	0.992	11	Commission	0.941	16	Stockholder	0.988
		0.714		Audience	0.984			0.489			0.784
	Shareholder	0.559		Pragmatic			Stakeholder			Reform	
								0.435		Investor	0.714
		0.539		Legitimacy	0.959					Board	
							Stock	0.397		Law	0.350
							Reform			Executive	
	Investor	0.469		Certification			Community	0.248		Rule	0.267
	Finance	0.356			0.512		Rule				
	Control	0.335		Case				0.202			0.247
	Corporate			Organization	0.426		Control				
	Executive				0.196			0.162			0.239
					0.193						
										3)	ontinued)

System Governance: Emergence of Practical Perspectives Across the Disciplines

Table 4	(continued)										
Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading
2	Press	0.166	7	Transnational	0.964	12	Coordination	0.600	17	Product	0.961
	Large	0.157			0.946			0.406		Safety	0.434
	Problem			Accountability			Assessment			Data	
	International	0.134			0.469		Organizational	0.401		Good	0.239
	Human									Shareholder	0.236
	Institution										0.125
	Stakeholder										0.119
	Theory									Carbon	0.078
										Law	0.049
								0.315		Standard	
								0.262			
								0.236			
				Network				0.213			
		0.122		International	0.292						
					0.284		Learning				
		0.112			0.253		Commission				
				Actor			Cost	0.112			
		0.102		National			Pragmatic				
				Legitimacy	0.245		Agency				
		0.098		Approach	0.105						
		0.097									
										3	continued)

288

Table 4	(continued)										
Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading
3	Adaptive	0.847	8	Press	0.135	13	Theory	0.110	18	Data	0.104
	Socio-ecological	0.733		Approach	0.130		Human	0.098		Approach	0.100
				Different			Business			International	
	Resilience	0.681		Problem	0.105		Institutional	0.078			0.097
	Human			Institution	0.102		Control	0.077		Stakeholder	0.061
		0.297		Society			Data			Institution	0.061
	Group			Study	0.095		Stakeholder	0.072		Performance	
	Learning	0.248		Data							0.058
	Society				0.095		Model	0.072		Value	
	Agency	0.243			0.093			0.068		Service	0.056
		0.207			0.090			0.68			0.054
		0.196									
4	Emission	0.941	6	Executive	0.842	14	Urban	0.987	19	Incident	0.989
	Federal	0.585		Performance	0.506		City	0.986		Case	0.687
	Carbon						Energy			Network	
	Energy	0.543		Innovation	0.412		Scale	0.456		Federal	0.605
		0.507			0.368			0.349			0.495
										Control	0.202
										Theory	0.163
							Institutional	0.190		Actor	0.126
					0.332		Emission	0.165			
		0.422		Board	0.311		Problem	0.150			
				International	0.196						
		0.151		V							
	Government			Ownership							
	National	0.124									
	International										
										5)	continued)

Table 4	(continued)										
Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading	Factor	Component	Loading
5	Approach	0.136	10	Large	0.113	15	Press	0.125	20	Press	0.139
	Group	0.106		Problem	0.104		Control	0.100		Institutional	0.106
	Business			Stakeholder			National				
	Bank	0.102			0.100		Large	0.095		Control	0.080
	Board			Financial			Group			Area	
	Human	0.097		Stock	0.094		Action	0.094		Society	0.076
	Organization			Action			Theory			Executive	0.075
		0.089		Scale	0.093			0.089		Theory	0.073
		0.088			0.086			0.074			0.070
		0.081			0.073			0.071			
Note Exc	sluding words from	influential 1	ist (first 2	0 factors only for	clarity)						

validity of the theme" (Tate et al. [45], p. 25). These two data considerations were synthesized to express the dataset themes. Starting with the rotated factor solution, descriptive labels in each factor was generated. The labels indicated the themes that were logically inherent in the texts (or components) associated with each of the factors. The emergent final themes were then presented in Table 5.

The first theme emerging from the dataset was concerning open-system issues and combined factors 2 and 7. Although the texts were reflected from different contexts (international development and global environment), some of the consistent key terms referenced to this theme (and as reinforced by its associated factors) were *legitimacy*, *accountability*, *deliberative*, *discourse* and *public*. An implication would be that the assumed boundaries need to be enlarged to include those beyond the traditional notions of an organization or a system in general. Unlike in closed-systems where boundaries are more definite, decision making in this new context need to be deliberated in discourse (with the public as an additional stakeholder) and also with enlarged new concerns for legitimacy and accountability of authorities as it applies to their decision making processes.

The next theme, *Operational quality standards*, is another resonant research topic reflected by Factors 6 and 12. Strong loading on the following components represent this theme including: *quality, service, improvement, standards, safety, assessment*, and, *external certification*. The related articles that strongly emphasize these themes reveal a deeper context of large complex systems, specifically in pertinent areas of healthcare, clinical practice, and hospital systems among others. In closer review, the needs for quality and safety system practices are highlighting current challenges to service-intensive and publicly-scrutinized aspects of the health care system. This is consistent with the domain of contemporary governance systems where the larger involvement of external stakeholders (e.g. the public) in a healthcare practice would require certain incorporation of quality and service standards to appease the plurality of interests that are entangled within the operation-level decision-making processes.

Closely related to the previous theme, the next theme *New regulatory tools* highlight a different set of themes as reflected by strong loadings (Factors 17 and 18) on the components as follows: *standards*, *policy*, *traceability*, and *certification*. Whereas the previous theme reflects the clamor for solutions to problems at the operational level, this current theme reflects the needs for enhanced regulation at the higher levels of policy which does not necessarily exists within the influence or control of an organization or system. It is also a reflection of the interconnectedness of multiple systems. Articles reflecting these theme reports on the importance of recognize higher level systems in addition to the current level system at issue. External standard, traceability and third-party certification was meant to regulate processes and interactions between disparate large systems involved in food or agricultural supply value chains, for instance between the global food markets, the consumer, the private and public enterprises, and the state.

*Recognizing multiple perspectives* is the next dominant theme emerging from the dataset. It shows strong loading on components like *adaptive, management, governance, policy, local, global,* and *scale* (Factors 3, 10, and 14). The specific context

Table 5 Emerging themes on system governance		
Emergent themes	Descriptive components	Factors
Theme 1. Extending boundaries beyond the organization	Legitimacy, accountability, deliberative, discourse, public	2, 7
Theme 2. Operational quality standards	Quality, service, improvement, standards, safety, assessment, external certification	6, 12
Theme 3. New regulatory tools	Standards and policy, traceability, certification	17, 18
Theme 4. Recognizing multiple perspectives	Adaptive, management, governance, policy, local, global, scale	3, 10, 14
Theme 5. Enhanced performance monitoring	Financial, value, incentive, corporation, control, ownership, board	1, 9, 16
Theme 6. Evolving governance structures and organization	New, change, network, industry, corporate, school, company, organization, market	10, 13, 19, 20
Theme 7. Advancing analytic tools	Ostrom, rules, economic, game, theory, institution, analysis,	11, 13, 14
Subtheme 7a. Institutional analysis	common, resource change, management, information,	4, 5, 8, 15, 20
Subtheme 7b. Group policy development	research, process, social, public	
Theme 8. Implementation modeling	Complex, adaptive, systems, levels, resilience action, coordination,	3, 13
Subtheme 8a. Conceptual approaches	learning, organizational, pragmatic	6, 11, 12
Subtheme 8b. Action learning-based approaches		
of articles that reflect the theme focuses on bridging the gap between diverging views of governance like policy versus management, social and ecological, local versus global, and scalability from human to institutional resource levels. Frequent terms associated with this theme is the need for adaptive measures—to enhance resilience and to improve the learning capacities with regards the relevant changes. This is another closely familiar theme to systemic thinking which also considers incorporating multiple perspectives to large, complex problem situations.

The fifth theme, *Enhanced performance monitoring*, is one theme that emerged within the context of system governance. Although most of the articles that capture this theme emanate from the wider context of financial markets and related industries, the strong loading on the components: *financial*, *value*, *incentive*, *corporation*, *control*, *ownership*, and *board* (Factors 1, 9 and 16) signify the much more general need for specific governance performance mechanisms (e.g. incentives, board structure, and ownership influence, etc.) to ensure greater value is promoted. Performance monitoring is indeed a very important governance theme whilst to embed control in the design of any system of interest.

Another emerging theme is *Evolving governance structures and organization* which at its core reflects the need for better governance structures within and beyond any organization or initiative. It recognizes that whereas existing structures are acknowledged to exist, new or better changes to its governance structure have to take place. These themes highlight strong loadings on the factor components: *new, change, network, industry, corporate, school, company, organization,* and *market* (Factors 10, 13, 19 and 20). In particular, the component *network* strongly implies a structural dimension to system governance and is in itself an increasingly strong topic in governance, having its own body of multidisciplinary literature (e.g. network governance) that broadens the scope of any system of governance across traditional governance disciplines and areas of practice.

Several factors combined to create the major theme of Advancing analytic tools which comprised of factors 4, 5, 8, 11, 13, 14, 15, and 20. After reviewing several of the texts associated with the influential words from this theme, the sub-theme Institutional analysis became apparent within the major theme of Advancing analytic tools. Another sub-theme that seemed to reveal itself from the Advancing analytic tools was Group policy development. For the Institutional analysis subtheme, the texts highlighting the sub-theme include: Ostrom, rules, economic, game, theory, institution, analysis, common, and resource (Factors 11, 13 and 14) which appear to index Nobel-prize winning work by Elinor Ostrom's and her colleagues on an integrated framework to analyze institutional rules at work in common-pool resource governance problems. From this theme, it highlights the importance of advanced analytical frameworks incorporating into governance practice the latest in game theory and economic modeling approaches. Group *policy development* is the second sub-theme of the Advancing analytic tools theme and the words found in factors 4, 5, 8, 15, and 20 ways to engage and manage group initiatives through collective, collaboration, and coordination in the texts. The components change, management, information, research, process, social, and public all provided perspectives about this theme; some of the articles were directly related to various complex system issues pertaining to forestry governance, climate change, emergence of nanotechnologies, energy and innovation policy to name a few. In all of these discussions, it highlights the need for new analytic approaches to collectively analyze and inform the mobilization of groupbased multilevel efforts to address the complex issues involved. All together these two sub-themes comprise the larger theme of developing or introducing new enhanced analytic approaches to analyze and guide a governance system.

Lastly, the final theme (e.g. Implementation modeling) that emerged from the dataset is again comprised of two subthemes. The words associated with rotated factors 3 and 13 all reference a major subtheme, Conceptual approaches, and the texts that the influential words (complex, adaptive, systems, levels, resilience) of each factor point to support it. Breaking down the *Implementation modeling* theme further, the texts associated with the influential words of factor 6, 11, 12 supports a sub-theme of Action learning-based approaches. In this sub-theme, the specific component indicate strong loading on the terms action, coordination, learning, organizational, and pragmatic. Although the theme, Implementation modeling: *Conceptual approaches*, addresses articles discussing the trend of adopting new concepts terms not traditionally associated with the practice of governance and outside its own disciplines, the sub-theme Implementation modeling: Action learning-based approaches recognizes articles discussing result-driven approaches that need to be adopted within involved organization or components of governance systems. Altogether, both subthemes comprise an emergent complementary schema to model and implement governance systems. It entails the necessity to engineer a pragmatic approach that encompasses new conceptual theoretical advances but still firmly implanted on delivering results through action and collective engagement.

#### **Conclusion and Recommendations**

The content analysis phase of the research yielded several interesting themes relevant to system governance. In relation to the first study objective, the earlier discussed themes is an identification of the different generalizable elements of governance which was in response to the research question posed as "What are the distinctive characteristics of governance?" Since the research purpose was for an integrated articulation of the philosophical, theoretical, axiomatic and methodological basis for system governance, and the research objectives attempts for a comprehensive theoretical formulation, the content analysis results have produced a set of closely interrelated themes (8 major themes with 4 sub-themes in 2 of the major thematic categories). These themes are broad and multidisciplinary in order to take into account the wide range of definitional, conceptual, operational and theoretical similarities and differences pervasive in this "governance" research domain. Each of these themes will help to inform and properly contextualize the system framework development phase that follows next in the research agenda.

#### References

- 1. Bijlsma-Frankema K, Koopman P (2004) The oxymoron of control in an era of globalisation: vulnerabilities of a mega myth. J Managerial Psychol 19(3):204–217
- 2. Mintzberg H (1996) Managing government. Governing Manage Harvard Bus Rev 74(3):75–83
- 3. Orton JD, Weick KE (1990) Loosely coupled systems: a reconceptualization. Acad Manag Rev 15(2):203–223
- Rudolph LI, Rudolph SH (1979) Authority and power in bureaucratic and patrominal administration: a revisionist interpretation of weber on bureaucracy. World Politics 31(2):195–227
- 5. Eagan JL (2007) Is authority in public administration separable from authoritarianism? personalities, institutions, and resistance. Admin Theor Praxis 29(1):83–101
- 6. Astley WG, Sachdeva PS (1984) Structural sources of intraorganizational power: a theoretical synthesis. Acad Manage Rev 9(1):104–113
- Salancik GR, Pfeffer J (1974) The bases and use of power in organizational decision making: the case of an university. Adm Sci Qual 19(4):453–473
- 8. Holland J (1998) Emergence: from Chaos to order. Addison-Wesley, Reading
- 9. Kettl DF (2000) The transformation fo governance: globalization, devolution, and the role of government. Public Admin Rev 60(6):488–497
- Keating C (2005) Research foundations for system of systems engineering. In: IEEE international conference on systems, man and cybernetics 2005, vol 3, pp 2720–2725. doi:10.1109/ICSMC.2005.1571561
- Baldwin W, Sauser B, Boardman J, John L (2010) A typology of systems paradoxes. Inf, Knowl, Syst Manage 9(1):1–15
- 12. Lycan WG (2010) What, exactly, is a paradox? Analysis 70(4):615-622
- 13. Jose J (2009) Conceptualising governance: discourse, theory and ontology paper presented at the annual meeting of the WPSA annual meeting ideas, interests and institutions, Hyatt regency Vancouver, Canada, Online <PDF>. 2010-11-11 from http://www.allacademic.com/ meta/p316878\_index.html
- 14. Kjær A (2004) Governance: key concepts. Polity Press, Malden
- Kooiman J (2003) Activation in governance. In: Bang HP (ed) Governing as social and political communication. Manchester University Press, New York, pp 79–98
- Pierre J (2000) Conclusions: governance beyond state strength. In: Pierre J (ed) Debating governance: authority, steering, and democracy. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 241–246
- 17. Stoker G (1998) Governance as theory: five propositions. Int Social Sci J 50(155):17-28
- 18. Mathiason J (2009) Internet governance: the new frontier of global institutions. Taylor and Francis, New York
- Ostrom V (2008) Constitutional foundations for a theory of system comparisons. In: Sproule-Jones M, Allen B, Sabetti F (eds) The struggle to constitute and sustain productive orders: vincent ostrom's quest to understand human affairs. Lexington Books, Plymouth, pp 11–26
- Stehr N (2004) A world made of knowledge. In: Stehr N (ed) The governance of knowledge, pp 9–26. Transaction Publishers, New Brunswick
- 21. Marks E (2008) Service-oriented architecture governance for the services driven enterprise. Wiley, Hoboken, New Jersey
- 22. Provan K, Kenis P (2008) Modes of network governance: structure, management, and effectiveness. J Public Admin Res Theor 18(2):229–252
- Gheorghe AV (2004) Risks, vulnerability, sustainability and governance: a new landscape for critical infrastructures. Int J Crit Infrastruct 1(1):118–124
- 24. Luhmann N (1982) The world society as a social system. Int J Gen Syst 8(3):131-138
- 25. Ackoff RL (1971) Towards a system of systems concepts. Manage Sci 17(11):661-671

- 26. Boulding KE (1956) General systems theory-the skeleton of science. Manage Sci 2(3):197–208
- 27. Boulding K (1985) The world as a total system. Sage Publications, New York
- Simon H (1996) The architecture of complexity. In: Simon HA (ed) Sciences of the artificial, 3rd edn. MIT Press, Cambridge
- 29. Weaver W (1948) Science and complexity. Am Sci 36:536-544
- 30. Willke H (2007) Smart governance: governing the global knowledge society. University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- 31. Williamson OE (1994) Visible and invisible governance. Am Econ Rev 84(2):323-326
- 32. Santas G (2001) Goodness and justice: Plato, Aristotle, and the moderns. Wiley-Blackwell, Malden
- 33. Bevir M (2006) Democratic governance: systems and radical perspectives. Public Administration Rev 66:426–436
- 34. Bevir M (2006) Democratic governance. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- 35. Dixon J, Dogan R (2002) Hierarchies, networks, and markets: responses to socieetal governance failure. Admin Theor Praxis 24(1):175
- 36. Kersbergen K, Waarden F (2004) 'Governance' as a bridge between disciplines: crossdisciplinary inspiration regarding shifts in governance and problems of governability, accountability and legitimacy. Eur J Political Res 43:143–171
- 37. Krippendorff K (2004) Content analysis: an introduction to its methodology, 2nd edn. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks
- Duriau VJ, Reger RK, Pfarrer MD (2007) A content analysis of the content analysis literature in organization studies: research themes, data sources, and methodological refinements. Organiz Res Methods 10(1):5–34
- Barr PS, Stimpert JL, Huff AS (1992) Cognitive change, strategic action, and organizational renewal. Strateg Manag J 13:15–36
- Kabanoff B, Waldersee R, Cohen M (1995) Espoused values and organizational change themes. Acad Manage J 38(4):1075–1104
- 41. Calida B, Hester P (2010) Unraveling future research: An analysis of emergent literature in open innovation. Ann Innov Entrepreneurship, 1(1) doi:10.3402/aie.v1i1.5845
- 42. Bedeian AG (2004) Peer review and the social construction of knowledge in the management discipline. Acad Manage Learn Edu 3(2):198–216
- 43. Mahoney MJ (1985) Open exchange and epistemic progress. Am Psychol 40(1):29-39
- 44. Corman S, Dooley K (2006) Crawdad text analysis system (v 2.0). Chandler AZ: Crawdad Technologies, LLC
- 45. Tate WL, Ellaram LM and Kirchoff JF (2010) Corporate Social Responsibility Reports: A Thematic Analysis Related to Supply Chain Management. J Sup Chain Management, 46: 19–44

### **Capacities and Governance in Kenya:** Lessons in Technology Transfer

#### J. Otto Kroesen and David J. Ndegwah

**Abstract** First, the authors set the scene by exploring the main lines of the present development debate. They take a nuanced stand, not only looking at failures of Western development initiatives, but also going into the internal dynamics of African societies that stand in the way of social and economic development. Next, authors present some case studies of entrepreneurial development initiatives in Kenya. These cases show the difficulties in terms of organization and capacities such initiatives have to deal with and they take into consideration the bigger picture in terms of sector development, regulation, and finally civil society and governance issues. Kenya is caught up between a value set of traditional values adapted to small-scale ethnic societies, which doesn't exercise its cohesive function like it once did and the modern large-scale and open civil society values, which are not yet fully in place. Authors contend that progress must involve a mutual reinforcement involving combination of entrepreneurial skills and capacities (i.e. initiatives from below and adequate institutionalization and regulation from above).

**Keywords** Technology transfer • Entrepreneurship • Cultural and institutional transition • Civil society

#### Introduction

In 2007 the board of the TU Delft decided to give cooperation with, and technology transfer to Africa a high priority on its agenda. Lustrum activities were devoted to Africa. Since that time, especially within the framework of the minor

J. O. Kroesen (🖂)

D. J. Ndegwah

Department of Values, TPM, TU Delft, Jaffalaan 5 2628 BX Delft, The Netherland e-mail: J.O.Kroesen@TUDelf.nl

Jaramogi Oginga Odinga University of Science and Technology, School of Education and Social Sciences, P.O. Box 210Bondo, Kenya

'International entrepreneurship and Development', many internships were completed in technology transfer, innovation and sustainable entrepreneurship in Africa. Besides that a number of master theses combined with entrepreneurial internships were completed.

This contribution especially focuses on Kenya, where an extensive internship program has been developed in cooperation with NGOs, entrepreneurs and universities, especially with teachers from Jomo Kenyatta University, Tangaza College and Jaramogi Oginga Odinga University of Science and Technology. Some case studies from Kenya will be reported and experiences, both in terms of obstacles and opportunities will be evaluated with a view on further steps to be taken. Before going into these case studies the reader will be introduced to the development debate and its different and competing positions, as well as the sociocultural dynamics of the sub-Saharan countries in order to set the scene.

Both opportunities and obstacles have been discovered. Among the opportunities are the discovery of many relevant partners and initiatives: entrepreneurial, from NGOs, vocational training and higher learning institutions. Among the barriers are the strong compartmentalization of the African society, insufficiently universalistic governance, a relatively weak civil society interaction, insufficient development of skills and capacities.

#### The Development Debate Focused on Sub-Saharan Africa

What is it in the African culture that stands in the way of modernization? We echo some voices from the debate without aiming at completeness. Sachs [1] mentions the poverty trap as a self-perpetuating vicious circle; while Collier [2] adds other traps like the land lock trap (say, being surrounded by badly functioning neighbours, without opening to the sea), the civil war trap (once a civil war has happened it is very difficult to build up the economy, because of lack of trust; which, in the end, leads to more civil wars), the natural resources trap (revenues from natural resources make it possible for autocratic leaderships to evade democratic elections). Easterly [3] adds the Western habit of making big plans to the list, which mostly are designed to suit the Western electorate ('We are doing something about it!') and show no accountability to the poor they claim to help. He further mentions insufficient professionalism with the donors, who want to be involved in everything and refuse to specialize and professionalize in anything. Chang [4] primarily criticizes neo-liberal economic policies of the 'unholy trinity' of the IMF, the World Bank and the WTO, constantly calling for a 'level playing field' [4] between unequal forces. In effect such neo-liberal policies, following the ad hoc streams of capital, prevent developing countries from installing effective long-term industrial policies and building up productive capabilities. And yet such capabilities need a long-term investment in order to flourish, even though this requirement doesn't meet the demands of present-day neoliberal economy, which claims that immediate profitability is more important and that capital streams should merely follow the highest revenue. If, however, capital flows only go after short-term gains, no long-term productive capability can ever be built. Instead, it is often destroyed if a short-term competitive advantage robs existing technicians and professionals of their jobs, making their capacities useless.

All of this may be true, also true in Africa, but nevertheless experts in development are also increasingly pointing the finger at the African actors and stakeholders, especially the leadership, as causes of persistent poverty. Robert Calderisi mentions mismanagement of the political leadership, high production and distribution costs, a poor investment climate and lack of unified policies among African states [5]. He also criticizes the political correctness, due to colonial history and slavery, of the West, as giving 'a final touch to Africa's misery'. On his part, Roel van der Veen gives an insight into the tribulations that Africa has faced right from the time of the Cold War; the economic decline the continent went through, the many civil wars, of which some amounted to genocide (as it happened in Rwanda, in 1994) and finally the disintegration of some states: as witnessed in Somalia, twenty years after the overthrow of Mohamed Siad Barre [6]. He points out that the failure of Africa to develop can be blamed on internal as well as external factors, as most people have always done, but he insists that external factors are not the overriding cause. He has finally blamed this state of affairs on misappropriation of funds from the donors, selfishness and greed, among the leaders; all of which can be summed up in one word—corruption [6]. Maybe one of the most radical solutions for development has been proposed by Dambisa Moyo by arguing that development aid as such should stop, especially government to government aid [7]. That, in her perspective, would force African governments to be more accountable to their populations. Although this last point may be true, at least in some cases, nevertheless, merely stopping all development aid doesn't solve the aforementioned capacity problem either. If untrained and uneducated masses have to compete on the international market with a well-trained and well-educated labour force elsewhere in the world the division of losers and winners is quite predictable.

Looking at the broader picture of development approaches Gasper [8] gives an overview of five decades of development; he criticizes the emphasis on development in purely economic terms of the early years. Some large projects involved conscious sacrificing of the well-being of certain groups like indigenous peoples whose land and resources were taken from them. The structural adjustment programs of the World Bank often made things worse; because the concentration on the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth does not say much about the distribution of welfare and general employment. Merely cutting the budgets enlarges the gap between those who have access to state services and those who haven't. The so-called efficient development aid is not helpful, either, because it often did not answer the question: 'efficient in what respect'? Efficiency also implies certain assumptions and beliefs concerning what can be considered as valuable and what cannot. He, therefore, welcomes the broadening of the ideas on development in the 1990s; including matters of personal security and societal peace. This broadening of the development approach became necessary, to a large extent, due to the neoliberal so-called economic 'reforms', which have set in motion a process of socio-political decay. The reason for this is that cutting budgets mostly also means cutting productive power and capacity.

Whereas, during the 1980s, comparative economics was in the driver's seat, in the 1990s the many conflicts, in Africa and around the world, in developing countries, led to new views on development. People should at least be able to exercise their humanity. The rights-based approach and the capabilities approach entered the scene of the development debate. The capability approach makes us look at a set of life options that every person has, or should have. Des Gasper values the approach of Amartya Sen, in the sense that he emphasizes positive freedoms and capacities to achieve things, which one has reason to value [9]. The 'good life' in this approach, a life which is worth living, once more becomes part of the development debate. Interestingly, Des Gasper also calls attention to the socalled 'significative values'. Only if people feel they need a meaningful life, do they find inspiration to work hard and get disciplined. These 'significative values' give meaning to life and are often religious, in origin. And yet, he laments that 'Despite the pre-eminence of religions historically and still in the lives of vast numbers of people, development discourse has largely ignored them' [8]. This brings us to the role of culture.

#### **Traditional African Values**

We would like to call for attention to the original unity of religious and social or cultural values; which, in the African context, are one and the same thing. Traditionally it was impossible to separate respect for the elders from belief in the authority of the ancestors, the first being a social value, while the second is a religious belief. We, however, see that this is not always the case any longer; in the name of being enlightened or developed (often put pejoratively—we are not backward!). And yet in the traditional African culture these two dovetail into each other, and are not separable. The word culture itself is derivative of another English word, 'cult', signifying the religious origin of the so-called cultural values; as it does in other languages of the Western society too. For this reason, we would like to analyse the deeper meaning giving cultural layers and mindsets. Religious or not, people in Africa as elsewhere are driven and motivated by strong values which are seated in deep existential layers.

Calderisi gives a short survey of the African values, attributing the typical communal values of Africa to its harsh natural circumstances. Traditionally, he says, only harmonious groups, families and tribal relationships could help to surmount the obstacles thrown up by nature [5]. In addition Africans live in the here and now and enjoy life as it is; which can lead to remarkable paradoxes. An international survey, in 2003, found that Nigeria, despite its dictatorship and corruption, had the highest percentage of happy people in the world. Authority is venerated; people do not easily speak out in a group, while a large group of uneducated Africans are fatalistic, and feel there is little they can do to control events. In general Africans are patient and endure long periods of suffering—a

quality without which Africa could not have survived its tribulations, according to Calderisi.

Traditionally indeed, Africa, throughout history, has been mainly organized in tribal societies. These tribal formations showed delicate equilibriums in power and jurisdiction between men and women and between old and young. There was authority, difference in status and power, but there also were countervailing forces. For instance, the age groups would come to power, rule for a limited time, and then abdicate. This system worked well in the sense that it created equilibrium of powers and promoted internal cohesion of social groups coming to power the one after the other. This was important in a vast continent, like Africa is, where in case of disagreement and conflict it was always possible to flee and join another tribe or start a new one. This system also met the requirements of the small scale of a nomad or agrarian society, organizing groups between 300 and 3,000 people. It cannot be expected that this social system can also serve the needs of a society of millions of people, mixed and organized by modern institutions and sophisticated technology. An important question, at this juncture, is: how much of the old mentality of autocratic chiefs (ruling over 300 to 10,000 people) has gone into the mentality of modern dictatorial leaders like, Amin, Ngueso, Mobutu and Mugabe, among many others; now ruling over millions of people and doing so with the help of sophisticated institutions and technology?

This is, however, not to say that other parts of the world have not produced their share of bad leaders. It is not a matter of bad or good leaders. In the present situation the checks and balances of the old system are gone; and yet new ones, suitable to present needs, are not yet in place. On the one hand, without modern technology, serving the centralized administration, such dictatorial political units would not have been possible. The autocratic rule of the old chiefs is transplanted into a context of modern communication, transportation, and, not to forget, military technology. Originally the power of the chiefs was kept in check by the age group system, by which in general a closely knit together group of men of about the same age would come to power and devolve their office after about 15 years [10]. At the high point of colonialism there were still no more than a thousand British civil servants administering the whole of Africa. They ruled by means of the chiefs they appointed, and beckoned at will by their military force. By this system colonialism reinforced the autocratic authority of the African chiefs, because the English administration used the chiefs as intermediaries [3], who could now bypass the old-time delicate system of equilibriums and checks and balances. However, the patriarchal community values, by which these chiefs ruled small political units turn into dictatorial control, if transplanted to bigger and modern political units, especially if they are, thanks to mineral resources or outside support, not dependent on consent of their own population in order to maintain power. The authoritarian paternalism of the old tribes can easily turn into dictatorial despotism in the new situation, which is provided with a powerful government bureaucracy and making use of modern technology. The devil-so to saydoes not change the label if he changes the content of the bottle.

#### **Civil Society and Governance**

Although traditional values underwent such deformation institutional checks and balances, like a free press, independent judiciary, independent accountancy of expenditures, a strong civil society and so forth, are often not functioning. Old checks and balances disappeared, while new ones are not yet in place. At the background of this scenario is the complex relationship between state and society [11–13]. Good governance requires a strong state, setting rules and standards, as well as accountability towards its citizens. These are in themselves opposing forces; and yet, both the citizens and the state should act according to universalistic rules and roles, also without thirdly granting privileges and promoting particularistic relationships [14]. An open civil society can only function if a strong and accountable government enforces such universalistic rules, so that particularistic mindsets and patronage systems cannot obstruct an open process of constantly regrouping of social actors [14, 15], which is indispensable for innovation. If collectivistic political parties, which only serve their own ethnic or regional constituencies, conquer the state bureaucracy, they easily destroy the delicate system of equilibrium between a strong state, on one side and strong universalistic rule on the other side, which is supposed to maintain equal access to the state power for all citizens. In line with this analysis Gyekye [16] sees development bottlenecks in Africa within cultural practices that do not help in building a modern society. These are: (1) a negative attitude towards science; (2) ethnicity over and above humanity; (3) apathy towards public service and (4) primacy of the community over the individual. For him, an emphasis on educational and training programs in science and technology can go a long way to help and turn round cultural attitudes. A substitution of the bottlenecks related to extreme communitarianism with a stronger focus on individual responsibility and equality could obtain a credible dialogue with modernity. Indeed, as Nyasani [17] observes, '...Africa which is hankering after the attainment of the Western model of development cannot actually achieve it without changing its reveterate habits and attitudes in the most radical and deliberate manner possible in tune with the West's development fervour, pace and rigour.' Museveni [18] is even more pessimistic on the continent's economic survival: 'Societies that do not master science and technology will either be slaves, surviving at the mercy and sufferance of others, or will perish altogether.' In this regard we need to note that technology and large scale cooperation have implications on each other. New technologies can only become affordable if they are produced on a large scale, which implies cooperation of many different actors. It also implies a standardization of institutional, logistical and technical procedures. The history of Europe shows a complicated process in which technical development, large-scale governance, and an open civil society came into existence in such a mutually reinforcing process [19].

#### **Entrepreneurial Activities and Their Context**

The attention for rights, capacities and social values in development theory has grown along with the emergence of another development approach, i.e., development by entrepreneurship. For a long time the development debate has been dominated by a community approach. Local communities were to be organized to take responsibility for their development by means of participation and involvement in community-based programs and community committees [20]. In this approach institution building and a common support base for the creation of equal access to basic services were of primary importance. However, in recent years the emphasis shifted towards entrepreneurship. The millions at the bottom of the pyramid were considered as consumers and producers [21]. Where Prahalad initially focused on large-scale enterprises producing cheap commodities for mass consumption in developing countries, others came in with the idea of bottom to bottom business ventures. They put more confidence in many small-scale initiatives, since markets at the bottom of the pyramid are difficult to penetrate by large scale one-size-fits-all entrepreneurial approaches. If productive capacities and business skills are lacking small enterprises which are thoroughly contextualized can have a bigger impact [22]. As will be corroborated by the case material presented below, however, such small-scale initiatives need to be embedded in larger scale policies, visions and therefore within the framework of complete innovation systems [23] in order to be effective. They also will have to take the cultural specificities into account in their management system and capacity development, including cross-cultural learning processes [24]. Some cases will be put forward as illustrations of this complicated process, and to show the links between small-scale entrepreneurial initiatives and the large-scale analysis of governance and civil society. They will also help to underline the importance of a well ordered regulatory framework as a necessary precondition to make those local initiatives flourish.

#### Solid Waste Management in Nairobi

In Nairobi students from the Technical University Delft studied the business model of different solid waste recycling companies [25]. It appears that a business in the recycling of solid waste has to operate in a challenging and complex environment. The defunct Nairobi City Council (NCC) charged every area in Nairobi for waste collection. But NCC did not have enough equipment itself to pick up all the waste. Since the 1990s the quantity of waste increased, whereas the number of trucks to collect it decreased. There were 1,000 tons of waste per day and 100 trucks in the 1970s and 1980s, but in the 1990s the waste increased to 1,600 tons per day and the number of trucks decreased to 40. During the research there was 2,400 tons of waste per day. For that reason 80 % of all the waste was picked up by either community-based organizations or small and medium enterprises.

Although there were a lot of laws and policies related to solid waste management, actually and effectively a broader policy framework is lacking. Targets were set for the amount of waste to be collected and the amount of trees and public gardens in Nairobi. Every quarter there was an evaluation of these targets and new targets were set for the next quarter. Besides that NCC has divided Nairobi into different zones for waste collection. Officially the collectors could only pick up waste in the zones that were assigned to them, but due to lack of law enforcement in practice the collectors could collect wherever they want. Most collectors, especially the smaller ones, collected waste only in their neighborhood. Plastic was the most valuable product to be recycled. Occasionally it occured that the competition had already picked up all the plastic and the collectors had to go to another place. A lot of areas in Nairobi were partially or completely not served by the NCC or any other collection company. Nevertheless competition in the solid waste sector was really stiff, exactly because it was not regulated at all. Illegal dumping was not prevented and not controlled by NCC, although it was one of the causes of unfair competition. Companies were sometimes afraid to invest also because of the uncertain future in view of the legislation on waste collection companies and truck requirements. Other complaints about NCC were that sometimes plastic recyclers had to pay a corruption (dubbed 'protection') fee; moreover, NCC made top-down decisions without consultation of collecting companies, which led to legislation and statistics based on theory instead of practice and experience. In the long run, there was no cooperation between the collection companies and the NCC.

After collecting the solid waste the companies started separating the plastic. Sometimes this was already done during transport. In order to add value plastics were sorted by color and type. Then it was washed in a big tank and cut to pieces by a machine and finally it is put in bags. It could be sold in a minimum amount of one and a half ton. At another project bones were also reused and toxic waste was dealt with by means of incinerators and the rest of the waste, which is useless, was dumped.

There were many companies working together with community-based organizations, which collected the waste and brought it to the collection place. Most of the companies also had a goal to help the community and create jobs. This was a reason for them to employ street boys. One of the biggest challenges for solid waste management was insufficient organization so that waste is piled up at the source. In addition there were other challenges for small companies, like pay delay of customers, the high cost of the operations, poor infrastructure, harassment by NCC, high costs of operation licenses, obstacles to recycling and the insecurity of the dump site. Then there was lack of protective gear as well as equipment and limited space.

The students came up with some suggestions for a start-up company. Their advisory business plan proposed to start on a small scale, not to buy land and to sort the waste in the truck by which it is collected. To that end a truck should be bought (cheaper than hiring) and besides the manager and the driver two sorters should be hired. With a number of 85 residential and commercial clients such a company would be able to realize modest positive revenue. Included in their final advice was a small amount of payment to the street boys in the neighborhood in order to prevent the truck from being damaged and also such provisions as buying not worn out but secondhand tires for the truck, because that would be less expensive and more reliable than buying new ones, of which the quality is not guaranteed.

#### The Case of Wind Energy

The main focus of this project carried out in Nanyuki region, was on transferring Western-based knowledge to Kenyan stakeholders so that Small Wind Turbine (SWT) activities would continue after departure of the Western internship students [26]. The NGO where the students worked was interested in a working wind turbine for own usage, but was not eager to learn about the technology itself. The student groups succeeded in collaborating with a local welder (popularly referred to as Jua Kali, Artisan) from Naro Moru to manufacture a small wind turbine. Despite the rather straightforward technology and the welder's enthusiasm to cooperate, it took some effort for the welder to build a small wind turbine all by himself. The reason was not only that the technology was new, but also his lack of confidence and a dependent attitude towards what he considered as the experts. For example, in the beginning, the welder was over-reliant on the students' opinion and lacked initiative, despite the students' efforts to support rather than control the welder in the SWT manufacturing. Furthermore, once the welder had succeeded in building an SWT with little external help, he handed in a project proposal to NGOs for generating funds for continuing his SWT activities instead of approaching a bank for a loan. So much was it out of his scope to implement the technology in a businesslike way.

Although the primary determinant for sector growth is entrepreneurship [22], only a few retailers are actively selling imported SWTs, and only recently a second local SWT manufacturer has entered the market. This lack of entrepreneurial activities has its reasons. For many years political uncertainty and corruption were the main obstacles for individuals to engage in, or start a new business. Bribery was a common practice, and only those with good political connections were able to successfully venture into business. For example, tenders did not go to the best proposals, but to the one which was part of the right circle or patrimonial system. Since the demise of the Kanu regime in 2002 and especially after the promulgation of the new constitution of 2010, corruption has significantly reduced. However, fraud is still ingrained in the Kenyan society, and still commonly occurs in both the public and private sector. Furthermore, despite the improvements mentioned, the government still has a bad reputation regarding corruption. In particular, the removal of the immediate director of Kenya Anticorruption Authority (KACA), P.L.O. Lumumba and his deputies, is seen as a case of corruption fighting back. Still, people do not trust the government, and would rather avoid government officials than work with them.

A practical manifestation of this attitude is the attempt by one of the interns to get market information and wind data, which are two crucial pieces of informationrequired to carry out SWT experiments or start a business, from the government. Unfortunately, she could not access such data because she was required to pay for it. It is clear that such a policy puts obstacles in the way for the promotion of wind energy instead of supporting it. Later a government official confirmed that actually such wind data are supposed to be available for free, which apparently confirms that existing practices do not meet the standards of official policies. Furthermore, universities and companies, which are, or have been, involved in small wind turbines all have collected their own wind data sets and have fragmented market knowledge. This information is not shared amongst the industry players and the individual actors are left with insufficient data to develop appropriate products or successfully commercialize them. Even though the SWT companies also lack financial resources to set up a public awareness campaign, they have not marshaled forces for launching anything like that.

As previously mentioned, the high upfront investment is a key barrier for endusers to purchase a small wind turbine. The majority of the financial institutions have unfortunately been reluctant to support the purchase of SWTs, since there is lack of awareness of the technology and the business opportunities of energy products in general are not recognized. Consequently, no appropriate financing mechanisms for SWTs have been developed so far.

Generally, there are hardly any linkages between the different Kenyan SWT actors; and there is no common knowledge or database on the SWT technology and user experiences. Thus every time a new actor initiates an SWT experiment, he or she is starting from scratch instead of building upon gained experiences.

#### The Case for Solar Energy

Another internship student, Max Tack, conducted a master thesis study in Kenya on the implementation of solar energy technology and the impact of cultural characteristics on that [27]. He did an internship at Sunrays Solar, a medium-sized solar energy technology company in Kenya, and conducted many expert interviews, concentrating on the creation of stakeholder networks. This is difficult in Kenya because of a general lack of cooperation and a climate of selective trust, whereby one can only invest in a selected few that one knows all too well. He connected his analysis and findings to theories on culture from Hofstede [28] and Trompenaars [29].

Specific cultural characteristics, which have a long tradition in tribal Africa, may explain the situation. These cultural characteristics also play their part in the other cases put forward already. In the first place there is a strong *collectivist* attitude, which means, that generally people are part of closed 'we' groups. This can be the tribe or clan, or a patronage or clientele system, but also a company or a governmental organization, or even an NGO. There is competition, but no

cooperation. The consequence of this attitude is that competing companies do not cooperate in efforts to enlarge the market, say, by organizing an advertisement campaign together. In addition there is no cooperation within the sector, to put in place regulations and agreements in order to maintain the quality of the products. On the contrary, the recently founded sector of solar energy organization has set high fees for membership, thereby making it difficult for new companies to enter the market. Lack of regulation also makes it easy for 'crook companies' to spoil the market by selling bad products, which become idle after a while. This is detrimental to the reputation of solar energy in general, because the technology itself gets blamed instead of the bad organization and management.

Secondly, in Kenya there is strong *particularism*, which means that generally not rules but relationships are important and, therefore, affective relationships, likes and dislikes, preclude neutral and role dependent behavior. People of high status, or of the same group, or simply people who know and trust each other, receive a preferential treatment. This also affects the regulatory body of the government (Kenya Bureau of Standard – KEBS), which has been called into being recently. It is important to have access to high status government officials, in order to keep the company going, because it is easy for the bureaucracy to create obstacles for companies, for instance, by postponing their license, or simply delaying some important papers for the operation of the company. This means that some big players, who are well connected to politicians, actually control the market. Customers too find their way to companies via personal relationships. They do not trust a company, but they trust a person. If this person moves to another company, his customers will follow suit. There is no anonymous trust like one can expect in a situation where everybody plays by the rules, and treats everybody on an equal footing.

Thirdly, *status* usually is derived from the position within a company or group, not by achievement or by labor. Usually this also means that employees work on their status within the group and their relation with the boss more than concentrating on performance and on work and labor. Not much attention is given to maintain good relationships with the users.

In the fourth place, *sequential* dealing with time, i.e., planning and looking forward, is not strongly developed. From their side users too do not bother about a maintenance contract. Of course it costs money and their hope is that future days will take care of future problems. Apart from lack of cooperation and of networking between users and companies, there is also lack of cooperation with knowledge institutes. There is strong *traditionalism* which means that things remain as they are and as a consequence, even if there are problems, nobody takes the initiative and everybody is inclined to remain waiting. People recognize that there would be much benefit in having knowledge institutes, like universities, involved in the development of solar energy, if asked. But they are inclined to wait for the other party to start.

Traditionalism and *fatalism*, to accept things like they are, like rain and sunshine, are closely connected. These attitudes are part of a collectivist mindset that prevents people from going against the group and start something new. *Creativity*  means loneliness, but also initiative. In this regard, another cultural characteristic is also involved, i.e. *uncertainty avoidance*. Facing uncertainty of course means to face an unknown future and often implies to go a lonely way forward into novelty. Generally, people are inclined to avoid situations they do not know for certain how to deal with, lest one does something wrong. Generally, the cultural characteristics summarized here, and described by our master student in his interview reports, are typical of closed in-group societies like tribal and agrarian societies, not to open markets and to open civil society oriented societies [13].

#### Conclusion

The state of affairs, described above, leads to a situation in which it is difficult to implement sustainable technologies, because an important first step, network formation, is slow. This has its origin in the compartmentalization of the Kenyan civil society: companies, government bodies, NGOs—often—are not very accessible to each other and tend to maintain a culture of closed "we" groups. This prevents learning experiences to take their course, and finally it does not stimulate the growth of expectations. It is to be mentioned, however, that a continuous struggle is going on to create a more open society, open cooperation and anonymous trust, regulated by law and rules, involving a culture of egalitarian relationships and personal initiative. This is happening both at the national level and at the societal level; and it is reflected in many projects and partnerships. Kenyan society is moving in the direction of modernity and in this process modern technology and modern organizations play a key role.

In general, as the cases confirm, Sub-Saharan Africa appears to be caught up between two competing sets of cultural values and institutions: a set of small-scale oriented values and institutions derived from its tribal and collectivist past, which do not function anymore in a time, where large-scale politics and technology creates one system of socio–economic interaction; and a set of large-scale civil society oriented values and institutions, like free association of individuals, universalistic rule of law, checks and balances on governance, an entrepreneurial spirit etc., which is not fully functioning yet.

The challenge lying before us is to integrate technology and policy transfer into a strategy for cultural transition, in which an equilibrium and also a courageous step forward is taken by a creative combination of old and new values and policy approaches. Africa has to face a conscious cultural transition from a tribal/hierarchical clientelistic society, with selective trust towards a stable government and a strong and open civil society [15]. Such a society is characterized by pluralistic cooperation, and competition of many stakeholders; based on anonymous trust and judicial checks and balances. This cultural transition should be explicitly part of the development agenda, and be conducted in a path dependent way: preserving valuable parts from the past, but courageously entering upon a new socio-political and economic dispensation. This can address the issues of poor investment, skewed distribution of available resources, underproduction of civil servants and poor exploitation of natural resources, surfacing corruption and grinding poverty, among many other challenges. Entrepreneurial initiatives from below and consistent regulation from above together with multiple coalitions within all layers of society may create a flourishing civil society and a growing economy.

#### References

- 1. Sachs JD (2005) The end of poverty: How we can make it happen in our lifetime? Penguin Books, New York
- 2. Collier P (2007) The bottom billion: why the poorest countries are failing and what can be done about it? Oxford University press, New York
- 3. Easterly W (2006) The white man's burden: why the West's efforts to aid the rest have done so much ill and so little good? Penguin books, New York
- 4. Chang HJ (2007) Bad Samaritans—the guilty secrets of rich nations and the threat to global prosperity. Random House, London
- 5. Calderisi R (2006) The trouble with Africa: why foreign aid isn't working? Yale University Press, New Haven
- 6. van der Veen R (2004) What went wrong with Africa: a contemporary history. KIT Publishers, Amsterdam
- 7. Moyo D (2009) Dead aid, why aid is not working and how there is another way for Africa? Penguin Books, London
- 8. Gasper D (2004) The ethics of development. Edinburg University Press, Edinburg
- 9. Sen A (1999) Development as freedom. Anchor Books, New York
- 10. Reader J (1997) Africa: a biography of the continent. Penguin, London
- 11. Wiarda HJ (2003) Civil society-the American model and third world development. University of Massachusetts
- 12. Organization for Social Science Research in Eastern and Southern Africa (OSSREA) (2009) Good governance and civil society participation in Africa, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia
- 13. Kasfir N (1998) Civil society and democracy in Africa. Critical Perspectives, Routledge
- 14. Fukuyama F (2011) The origins of political order. Exmouth House, London
- 15. Popper KR (1965) The open society and its enemies. Hutchinson, London
- 16. Gyekye K (1997) Tradition and modernity: philosophical reflections on the African experience. Oxford University Press, New York
- 17. Nyasani JM (2010) Philosophy of development: African perspective—reflection on why Africa may never develop on the western model? Consolata Institute of Philosophy, Nairobi
- Museveni YK (1996) Science and technology as a solution to Africa's underdevelopment. In: Abdul-Raheem T (ed) Pan Africanism: politics, economy and social change in the twentyfirst century. Pluto Press, London
- 19. Rosenstock-Huessy E (1993) Out of revolution—autobiography of Western man. Argo Books, New York (original 1938)
- 20. Schouten T, Moriarty P (2003) Community water, community management. From system to service in rural areas. IRC, London
- 21. Prahalad CK, Hart SK (2002) The fortune at the bottom of the pyramid. Strategic Business 26
- 22. Samli AC (2009) International entrepreneurship, Innovative Solutions for a Fragile Planet. Springer, New York
- Jacobsen S, Bergek A (2006) A framework for guiding policymakers intervening in the emerging innovation systems in 'catching up 'countries. Eur J Develop Res 18(14):687–707
- 24. Kroesen O, Rozendaal A (2010) A cross-cultural management system : the Ubuntu Company as paradigm. Int J Technol, Policy Manage 10(3):284–298

- 25. Alberts A, Van Huijstee J, Vogel M (2010) Business Plan AFRIWAC: Solid Waste Management in Nairobi, students internship report TU Delft
- 26. Buntsma J, Fugers B (2009) A small wind turbine business in Kenya. Delft University of Technology, Delft
- 27. Tack M (2010) Actor network development in strategic niche management; analysis in the field of solar energy in Kenya. Master Thesis, TUDelft
- 28. Hofstede G (1997) Cultures and organizations; software of the mind. Mc Graw Hill, New York
- 29. Trompenaars F, Hampden-Turner C (1999) Riding the waves of culture. London, Brealey

# The Structural Dimensions in the Security of Power Transmission Systems

Tao Huang, Ettore Bompard, Marcelo Masera and Fei Xue

**Abstract** This chapter discusses the security of power transmission systems from a structural perspective. It introduces a systematic concept of structural analysis for power grids security assessment applying extended topological approaches based on an adaptation of the theory of complex networks modified to capture the physical behavior of transmission networks as "flow networks". The concept of structural analysis is introduced as an alternative approach for discussing the relation between structure and state of power grids. A general review of complex networks applied to power grids security serves as introduction to a discussion of the shortcomings of pure topological approaches. Finally, authors describe the proposed systematic extended topological approach. In this chapter, "entropic degree" and "T-betweenness" are used to provide a measure of the criticality of buses and lines of transmission networks. Then, authors proceed with a dynamic way to rank critical components. Third, integration the previous concepts as metrics for distinguishing important components from critical ones, and for indicating their correlations are done. Finally, taking an overall perspective, and departing from net-ability, authors discuss the concept of path-redundancy as a new metric for survivability.

**Keywords** Power system security • Power grid • Complex networks • Extended topological approach • Structural dimension

F. Xue

<sup>T. Huang · E. Bompard (⊠)
Dipartimento Energia, Politecnico di Torino, Corso Duca Degli Abruzzi, 24, 10129 Turin, Italy
e-mail: ettore.bompard@polito.it</sup> 

E. Bompard  $\cdot$  M. Masera Joint Research Centre, Institute for Energy and Transport, 2 1755 NL ZG Petten, The Netherlands

Siemens Eco-City Innovation Technologies (Tianjin) Co., Ltd., Eco Business Park, Tianjin Eco CityBinhai New Area, Tianjin, China

#### **PWRS Security Analysis Approaches and Practices**

The contemporary society increasingly relies on a high integration of different interdependent systems [1]. Electricity, as a main energy source to other infrastructures, stands in the center and is essential to the operation of all other systems. Therefore, as a critical and fundamental infrastructure, power system's security problem is a global concern strongly associated with social stability and economic development. Hence, priorities for the secure operation of the power system have always been given by different authorities, organizations, and utilities at all levels.

As the power system is evolving in many directions, such as network interconnections between nations or regions, utilizations and deployment of new technologies and controls, and operation in highly stressed conditions, different academic/industrial organizations proposed various terminological definitions based on the scenarios of their own interest. For example, Table 1 lists definitions relevant for power system security from four academic/industrial organizations, namely the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC), IEEE (the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers), ENTSO-E (the European Network of Transmission System Operators for Electricity), and NERC (the North American Electric Reliability Corporation).

In order to unify the understanding of security issues to be addressed in this chapter, we propose our perspective on these terminologies.

Reliability refers to the ability to supply loads with a high level of probability for a certain time interval. It can be described by two attributes: security and adequacy. Security means the ability to withstand imminent disturbances or contingencies, such as electric short circuits or unanticipated loss of system elements, without interruption of customer service; and *adequacy* means the ability to supply power to customers in various conditions, taking into account operational constraints. As a sub-item of security, *stability* refers to the ability to maintain or to regain a state of equilibrium after disturbances or contingencies. Here disturbance refers to an unplanned incident producing an abnormal system condition; and contingency refers to an unexpected failure or outage of a system component. In addition, vulnerability and robustness are frequently used to qualify the low reliability and the high reliability of the power systems, respectively. Moreover, similar to the concept of reliability, availability refers to the ability to be in a state to perform a required function under given conditions, and is measured as the proportion of time the power system is in operable and committable condition over a given time interval.

In contemporary system operational practices, to verify the aspects of the above mentioned securities issues, simulations are employed to assure the secure operation of the power system as well as to devise and validate emergency planes after contingency. Security is commonly analyzed by using methods completely based on operational data and physical models such as static security assessment [13, 14], and dynamic security assessment [15] for different purposes. For example, steady state analysis is called every 15 min to conduct contingency analyses with "n - 1"

Table 1 D	efinitions of security related termino	logies from academic/industrial org- TEFE	anizations ENTSO-F	NFRC
Reliability	Probability that an electric power system can perform a required function under given conditions for a given time interval [2]	The probability of its satisfactory operation over the long run [3]	A general term encompassing all the measures of the ability of the system, generally given as numerical indices, to deliver electricity to all points of utilization within acceptable standards and in the amounts desired [4]	Able to meet the electricity needs of end-use customers even when unexpected equipment failures or other factors reduce the amount of available electricity [5]
Security	Ability of an electric power system to operate in such a way that credible events do not give rise to loss of load, stresses of system components beyond their ratings, bus voltages or system frequency outside tolerances, instability, voltage collapse, or cascading [6]	The degree of risk in its ability to survive imminent disturbances (contingencies) without interruption of customer service [3]	The ability to withstand sudden disturbances, such as electric short circuits or unanticipated losses of system components or load conditions together with operating constraints. Another aspect of security is system integrity, which is the ability to maintain interconnected operations [4]	The ability of the bulk power system to withstand sudden, unexpected disturbances such as short circuits, or unanticipated loss of system elements due to natural causes [5]
Adequacy	The radiaty of an electric power system to supply the aggregate electric power and energy required by the customers, under steady-state conditions, with system component ratings not exceeded, bus voltages and system frequency maintained within tolerances, taking into account planned and unplanned system component outages [7]	A system's capability to meet system demand within major component ratings and in the presence of scheduled and unscheduled outages of generation and transmission components or facilities [8]	The ability of a power system to supply the load in all the steady states in which the power system may exist considering standards conditions [4]	The ability of the electric system to supply the aggregate electrical demand and energy requirements of the end-use customers at all times, taking into account scheduled and reasonably expected unscheduled outages of system elements [9]
				(continued)

	IEC	IEEE	ENTSO-E	NERC
Stability	The ability of an electric power system to regain or to retain a steady-state condition, characterized by the synchronous operation of the generators and a steady acceptable quality of the electricity supply, after a disturbance due, for example, to variation of power or impedance [10]	The ability of an electric power system, for a given initial operating condition, to regain a state of operating equilibrium after being subjected to a physical disturbance, with most system variables bounded so that practically the entire system remains intact [3]	The ability of an electric system to maintain a state of equilibrium during normal and abnormal system conditions or disturbances [11]	The ability of an electric system to maintain a state of equilibrium during normal and abnormal conditions or disturbances [9]
Availability	The ability of an item to be in a state to perform a required function under given conditions at a given instant of time or over a given time interval, assuming that the required external resources are provided [12]	1	A measure of time during which a generating unit, transmission line, ancillary service or another facility is capable of providing service, whether or not it actually is in service [11]	I

criteria, verifying that for each configuration no line flow limits or voltage violations are expected. It is also used to check the adequacy of the system with the 4 typical operational scenarios (summer peak/off-peak, winter peak/off-peak) per year. In addition, when new plants or transmission lines are planned, it is called on demand to test the static security impacts on the system. In contrast, the dynamic state analysis is often used as an off-line resort to understand the dynamic cascading mechanisms after a severe failure or blackout happened. More often than usual, it is conducted to assess the dynamic impacts of new planned units on other rotating components in the system in terms of angle stability, oscillation, etc. Yet, although rarely, dynamic simulation is performed online when the system is very close to violate the constraints provided by the steady state.

As mentioned, these traditional methods evaluate the security relying on a given contingency and operating condition. It is computationally infeasible to check all possible combinations of contingencies that could cause serious blackouts in practical power grids; on the other hand, operating conditions of power systems change along time due to load variations, switching actions, etc. Therefore it is difficult to prevent the collapse of electrical power grids due to unforeseen operating conditions. Besides, due to the size of large-scaled power systems, physical behaviors and the interaction among many operators over power grid add difficulty to perform a comprehensive analytic analysis and simulation of the electromagnetic processes over the whole grid. Hence, in practice, reduced systems or some simplifying hypothesis are applied to these conventional methods to simulate the network's response to various external disturbances, yet the simulation results cannot reflect the exact response of power systems.

As a result, frequent blackouts occurred all over the world although advanced technologies and huge investments have been used in assuring the reliability and security of power systems. To deepen the insight into power systems, it is necessary to develop and complement the conventional analysis technology with new points of view and analytic capabilities.

#### Structural Analysis in Power Transmission Networks

#### Relation Between Structure and State of Power Grids

In the assessment of power system security, we need to distinguish the influence of two different aspects, structure and operating states. If we only consider the vulnerability caused by structural factors or operating states, they will only represent a part, although important, of the problem. To explain the relationship between the two aspects, we give a conceptual example in Fig. 1.

As shown in Fig. 1, the cup can be considered as the transmission network, the water inside can be considered as the exact power flow depending on operative states of generators and loads. The volume of the cup can be considered as the





aptitude of the network and indicates the capacity of the cup to take water. This capacity is fixed even there is no water inside the cup. A small hole as shown in the figure is a structural vulnerability for the cup. The outbreak of a problem (leaking water) induced by this vulnerability also depends on the level of water. Only when the level of water is higher than the hole, this vulnerability will affect the function of the cup. Similarly, structural vulnerabilities in power grids are caused by the network structure and may threaten the function of the network and power system. However, the outbreak of security problems will also depend on the operative states of generators/loads and corresponding power flow. For example, if currently there is no power flow in the network, there would of course be no security problem.

#### Complex Networks on Power Grids Structural Analysis

A new approach, based on recent advances in the understanding of the structure of large complex networks, provides an emerging perspective to consider power grids security issues. By investigating the network model of the power grid from a topological perspective, it is possible to find properties and behaviors that have not been identified in traditional detailed model and analysis.

In Ref. [16], the authors built a network model based on data stored in the POWERmap mapping system developed by Platts [17]. This mapping system contains information about every power plant, major substation, and 115–765 kV power line of the North American power grid. The power from a generator is considered able to reach a consumer if there exists at least a path composed of transmission lines between them. In practice, the existence of a path between two substations does not always imply that power can be efficiently transferred through it by taking into account capacity or other constraints. Without consideration of the latter, the model only provides an idealized view.

As in general theory of CN, the node degree is a good indicator of topological importance (maybe not enough suitable for power grids, to be discussed later), the degree distribution of the power grid has been studied. Comparing the grid in Ref. [16] to scale-free and random networks (with the same number of nodes and edges), its cumulative degree distribution indicates that the probability of high-degree buses is less than in a scale-free network model, but higher than in a random network model [16].

In Ref. [18], the reliability of electric transmission systems is examined using a scale-free model of network topology and failure propagation. The topologies of the North American eastern and western electric grids were analyzed to estimate their reliability based on the Barabasi–Albert network model. A commonly used power system reliability index was computed using a simple failure propagation model. The results were compared to the values of power system reliability indices previously obtained from some standard power engineering methods, and they suggested that scale-free network models are unable to estimate aggregate electric grid reliability.

In Ref. [19], with the September 2003 actualization of the Union for the Coordination of Transport of Electricity (UCTE) power grid, the authors made an analysis of this topological structure and static tolerance to errors and attacks. Though every power grid in the study has exponential degree distributions, most of which without typical small-world topology, they were found to show patterns of reaction to node loss similar to those found in scale-free networks. Their observations stipulate that at the node removal behavior could be logarithmically related to the power grid size.

In Ref. [20], a cascading model was applied to the electrical power grid of the western United States. As a result, it was derived that global cascades are prone to be more probably triggered by load-based intentional attacks than by random or degree-based removal of nodes. The attack on a single node with large load may make the largest connected component decrease to less than half of its initial size, though the network is highly tolerant.

In Ref. [21], another cascading failure model was applied to the North American Power Grid. The model of the power grid used its actual topology and plausible assumptions about the load and overload of transmission substations. It was observed that the loss of a single substation can lead to a 25 % loss of transmission efficiency caused by an overload cascade in the network. A systematic study of the damage caused by the loss of a node suggested that the disruption of 40 % of the transmission substations may lead to cascading failures. While the loss of a single node can inflict primary substantial damage, the following removals have only incremental effects.

In Ref. [22], another cascading failure model was applied to the Italian power grid. The authors neglected the details of the electromagnetic processes and only focused on the topological properties of the grid. The objective of this study was to demonstrate that the structure of an electric power grid may provide important information about the vulnerability of the system under cascading failures. The Italian electric power grid network was built from the data on the 220 and 380 kV transmission lines of the GRTN web-site [23]. The network model has 341 nodes (substations) and 517 edges (transmission lines). Different kinds of nodes have been distinguished.

The network robustness is usually measured by the size of the largest connected component or by the average geometric distance as a function of the percentage of nodes/links removed. In the former works mentioned, the main attention has been on the number of removals needed to observe the serious decrease of system performance measured by these metrics. Nevertheless, in practical security analysis, it would be also meaningful to find what the critical components of the network are, i.e., the vertices/edges really crucial for the functioning of the network [24].

In Ref. [25], based on the general assessment of network performance in terms of efficiency, the drop of efficiency by cutting singular lines was applied to high-voltage electrical power grids to locate critical lines and best improvements. In Ref. [26], the topological properties of also high-voltage electrical power transmission networks of the Italian 380 kV, the French 400 kV and the Spanish 400 kV networks have been studied from available data. An assessment of the vulnerability of the networks has been implemented by analyzing the level of damage caused by a controlled removal of links. Such topological studies could be useful for the assessment of vulnerabilities and for designing specific actions to reduce topological weaknesses. As the analyzed grids are the same as the former case, some of their results are consistent.

#### Pure Topological and Extended Topological Approaches

Power grids have been widely acknowledged as a typical complex network because of both their huge sizes and the complex interactions among components. However, former works only apply the methodology and metrics of CN directly to power grids and consider them from a pure topological perspective. Some specific physical properties and constraints of power grids not taken into account have serious impacts on the power systems security problems. Here we will introduce the main shortcomings of the pure topological approach we found for power system security assessment.

The distance between two vertices and the length of a path are critical concepts in the definition of several important metrics in CN, such as average distance, betweenness and global efficiency. In unweighted, undirected graphs, the number of edges in a path connecting vertices i and j is called the length of the path. A geodesic path (or shortest path) between vertices i and j is one of the paths connecting these vertices with minimum length; the length of the geodesic paths is the distance  $d_{ij}$  between these two vertices [27].

However, from the perspective of engineering, distance should have a more practical meaning and should be a metric for the "cost" involved when a physical quantity is transmitted between the two nodes through the network. For electrical power grids, the cost of power transmission between two buses can be described from both an economic and a technological point of view, such as transmission losses or voltage drop. Therefore, in power system engineering, the description of distance by a pure topological approach cannot effectively reflect these related features and must be replaced by the description of "electrical distance" from an extended topological perspective. In the general theory of CN, all elements are treated identically to avoid difficulties involved with their differentiation and dynamical behavior characterization [19]. Correspondingly, vertices are considered identical in the definition of several metrics, such as betweenness and global efficiency, where transmission of physical quantity was considered from any vertex to any other one, even for power grids [25].

Nevertheless, the essential function of power grids is to transmit electrical power from any generator bus to any load bus with eligible quality. Generally, we can classify the buses in power transmission networks as generation buses  $B_g$ , transmission buses  $B_t$  and distribution buses  $B_d$ . From the point view of extended topological perspective, power transmission should only be considered from generation buses to load buses.

In the pure topological approach, edges are generally described in unweighted ways in the definition of several related metrics, such as distance, degree and betweenness [27].

However, in power system engineering, transmission lines have a very important feature that is a line flow limit, which restricts the ability of lines for power transmission according to several economic and technological factors. As this feature is critical for the network to perform its essential function, it cannot be neglected in the analysis related to security issues. In the extended topological view, different lines may have very different values of this parameter and therefore its distribution may also be important for security assessment.

As in the definition of distance, betweenness and global efficiency, the physical quantity transmission between two vertices is always supposed to be through the shortest path [27]. This assumption is still kept in some works on power grids [16, 22, 25].

This is the most unrealistic assumption from the point of view of power system engineering. Power transmission from a generator bus g to a load bus d will involve most lines or a huge number of paths with different levels of contribution. In a power flow linear model, the different contributions of lines in power transmission can be described by the Power Transmission Distribution Factors (PTDF). PTDF is a matrix that reflects the sensitivity of the power flow on the lines to the change in the injection power of buses and withdrawn at a reference bus. For a network with N nodes and Y lines, the matrix of PTDF can be written as:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & \cdots & a_{1N} \\ & & \vdots & \\ a_{Y1} & a_{Y2} & \cdots & a_{YN} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1)

where  $a_{ij}$  is the change of power in line *i* for a unit change of power injection at node *j*. The columns corresponding to node *g* and node *d* can be written as  $\{a_{ig}\}i = 1, ..., Y$  and  $\{a_{id}\}i = 1, ..., Y$ . Then the distribution factor  $a_i^{gd}$  of the *i*th line corresponding to power injection at node *g* and withdrawn at node *d* can be calculated as:

$$a_i^{gd} = a_{ig} - a_{id} \quad (i = 1...Y) \tag{2}$$

The network model in the pure topological description of CN is unweighted and undirected. The identification of possible paths connecting two nodes is based on graph theory where transmission lines are assumed bidirectional [22], whereas, as we have discussed, the power transmission behavior between two nodes completely depends on physical rules that can be reflected by the PTDF. As PTDF has signs, the lines connecting to one node should be classified as input or output lines. Therefore, some paths in the undirected model may be not valid in the directed power transmission networks.

With the shortcomings of pure topological approaches discussed above, it is obvious that new extended topological approaches with consideration of specific physical features in power system engineering would be necessary and promising.

#### Metrics for Assessing the Criticality of the Network Components

#### Entropic Degree

The connectivity of a node is traditionally measured by the degree in the unweighted topological model or strength in the weighted model. In an unweighted and undirected network model, according to traditional graph theory, the degree of a vertex i is the number of edges connected to it (or the number of vertices adjacent to it), we rewrite it as:

$$k_i = \sum_{j \in B} c_{ij} \tag{3}$$

In a weighted graph, connectivity can also be described by strength as the sum of the weights of the corresponding edges, we rewrite it as:

$$s_i = \sum_{j \in B} w_{ij} \tag{4}$$

where  $w_{ij}$  represents the weight of line connecting *i* and *j*.

As a measurement of connectivity for a vertex, the definition of degree in a weighted network model should reflect the following factors:

- The strength of connections in terms of the weight of the edges;
- The number of edges connected with the vertex;
- The distribution of weights among edges.

It is obvious that the definition in (3) loses the information of the first factor and the definition in (4) loses information of the second factor. None of them can reflect the third factor.

For example, in Fig. 2, the results of (3) and (4) would be very different:

$$k_i(A) = 1;$$
  $k_i(B) = 2;$   $k_i(C) = 3$   
 $s_i(A) = s_i(B) = s_i(C) = 1$ 

In Fig. 3, the results from (3) or (4) are all the same for both cases:

$$k_i(A) = k_i(B) = 2$$
  

$$s_i(A) = s_i(B) = 1$$

However, for case (A), both edges have the same importance for the node. For case (B), it is obvious that one edge is more important than another as it takes 90 % of the connection. Under a failure of the most important line, case (B) is more vulnerable than case (A).

We resort to the concept of entropy to define degree with consideration of all the three mentioned factors.

First, we consider  $p_{ij}$  as the normalized weight of the edge between vertices *i* and *j* for each edge  $l_{ii}$  connecting nodes *i* and *j*:

$$p_{ij} = w_{ij} \sum_{j \in B} w_{ij} \tag{5}$$



Fig. 2 Same total weight with different connections

It is obvious that  $\sum_{j\in B} p_{ij} = 1$ 



Then, the entropic degree  $g_i$  of vertex *i* can be defined with entropy as:

$$g_i = \left(1 - \sum_{j \in B} p_{ij} \bullet \log p_{ij}\right) \sum_{j \in B} w_{ij}$$
(6)

As degree is a traditional concept in graph theory and widely applied for the analysis in complex networks, the proposed entropic degree may be a good replacement for research in weighted network models which include not only power grids but also other weighted networked systems. For power grids, it may directly give a quantitative measurement to indicate the importance of buses and their difference. The most important buses may need more resource to be protected or be more likely to be selected as targets of intentional attacks. If measured with the pure topological concept of degree, the corresponding results may be far from reality. Therefore, this entropic degree can give more reasonable evaluation of the importance of buses by taking into account not only the total strength of the connection but also the distribution of strength that may be sensitive for malicious attacks.

#### **T-Betweeness for Buses**

In the traditional unweighted and undirected model, the betweenness of a component u in the network Y has been defined as the number of shortest paths traversing the component u; we rewrite it as:

$$\Gamma_{u} = \sum_{\substack{i,j \in B\\ i \neq j}} \sigma(i, u, j) \tag{7}$$

where  $\sigma(i, k, j)$  is the number of shortest paths between vertices *i* and *j*.

This definition has several shortcomings for the application in power grids:

In the traditional definition, the flow in the network has been considered from whichever node *i* to whichever node *j*. However, the essential function of power grids is to transmit electrical power from any generator bus to any load bus with eligible quality. Generally, we can classify the buses in power transmission networks as generation buses  $B_g$ , transmission buses  $B_t$  and distribution buses  $B_d$ . Power transmission should be only considered from generation buses to load buses.

In the traditional definition, the transmission between any pair of nodes i and j or g and d is considered equally. However, since each transmission line has its own specific power flow limit, the capacities of the network to transmit power from i to j and from g to d may be quantitatively different due to the configuration of all lines with different power flow limits and to the distribution of the power flow among the lines.

In the traditional definition, the physical quantity transmission between two nodes is always supposed to be through the shortest path. This is the most unrealistic assumption from the point of view of power system engineering. Power transmission from a generator bus g to a load bus d will involve most lines or a huge number of paths with different extents of contributions.

When we consider power transmission from one generator bus g to one load bus d, as PTDF has sign, we can divide the set of edges  $L^b$  connected to bus b ( $b \neq g$ ,  $b \neq d$ ) into two subsets:  $L^b_{in}$  inputting power flow into b and  $L^b_{out}$  outputting power flow from b. According to the theory of electrical circuits, as the total power injected into b must be equal to the power output from b, we have:

$$\Gamma_b^{gd} = \sum_{l \in L_{in}^b} C_g^d \left| a_l^{gd} \right| = \sum_{l \in L_{out}^b} C_g^d \left| a_l^{gd} \right| = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l \in L^b} C_g^d \left| a_l^{gd} \right| \tag{8}$$

where  $C_g^d$  is the power transfer capacity of the transmission network from generator g to load d.

If b is only connected by one single line, it is obvious that  $\Gamma_b^{gd} = 0$  in such situation since b is neither a source nor a destination of power flow.

The new T-betweenness of bus b can be defined as:

$$\Gamma_b^E = \sum_{g \in B_g} \sum_{d \in B_d} \Gamma_b^{gd} \tag{9}$$

#### **T-Betweeness for Lines**

When we consider power transmission from one generator bus g to one load bus d, as PTDF has sign, if we specify a reference direction for line l, the PTDF value  $a_l^{gd}$  should be positive, negative or zero. Then we define the positive T-betweenness of l as:

$$\Gamma_l^p = \sum_{g \in B_g} \sum_{d \in B_d} C_g^d a_l^{gd} \quad \left( \text{if } a_l^{gd} > 0 \right)$$
(10)

If there is no  $a_l^{gd} > 0$ , then  $\Gamma_l^p = 0$ .

The negative T-betweenness of l can be defined as:

$$\Gamma_l^n = \sum_{g \in B_g} \sum_{d \in B_d} C_g^d a_l^{gd} \quad \left( \text{if } a_l^{gd} < 0 \right) \tag{11}$$

If there is no  $a_l^{gd<0}$ , then  $\Gamma_l^n = 0$ . The T-betweenness of line *l* can be defined as:

$$\Gamma_l^E = MAX \left[ \Gamma_l^p, \left| \Gamma_l^n \right| \right] \tag{12}$$

As the power system can work at different configurations in terms of generation and load distributions, the positive power transmission and negative transmission along the same line l may not happen at the same time, so we use their maximum absolute value.

#### **Topological Approaches for Component Ranking**

#### Efficiency

Efficiency has been first introduced for small world networks, in which the average distance and the clustering coefficient define this property. Efficient networks are both highly clustered and closely connected averagely. The average geodestic distance is defined as:

$$D^{Y} = \frac{1}{B(B-1)} \sum_{\substack{i,j \in B \\ i \neq j}} d_{ij}$$
(13)

The definition of characteristic path length (or average distance) is valid only in a completely connected network Y where at least one path, composed by a finite number of edges, connecting any couple of vertices must exist; if two vertices *i* and *j* are not connected the relative distance  $d_{ij} \rightarrow +\infty$ , and the corresponding average distance, as defined in (13), tends to infinity [28]. In studying the network security, the removal of vertices and edges as a result of a failure is often considered and this may likely produce a non-connected network.

The concept of efficiency is closely related to that of distance. The distance, as we discussed, is generally assumed as a measure of the difficulty, cost or effort needed to transfer physical quantities over a network and so an efficiency  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  can be associated to a pair of vertices *i* and *j* and defined as:

$$\varepsilon_{ij} = \frac{1}{d_{ij}} \quad (i, j \in B, \ i \neq j) \tag{14}$$

If no path exists between vertices i and j,  $d_{ij} \rightarrow +\infty$  and, therefore,  $\varepsilon_{ij} = 0$ .

By averaging the efficiencies we can define the global efficiency  $E^{Y}$  of the network Y as [29]:

$$E^{Y} = \frac{\sum_{\substack{i,j \in B \\ i \neq j}} \varepsilon_{ij}}{B(B-1)} = \frac{1}{B(B-1)} \sum_{\substack{i,j \in B \\ i \neq j}} \frac{1}{d_{ij}}$$
(15)

The concept of efficiency can be used to assess the possible impacts of a fault or failure onto a network and its resilience; local efficiency is to quantify the performance of the connections of the vertices in the neighborhood of i after a failure of i and is a measure of the failure tolerance as well [29].

Resorting to the new metrics, small world network can be characterized by high global and local efficiencies that basically individuate the same situation pointed out by small average distance and high clustering coefficient.

The loss of a component would affect the global efficiency of the network and so the detection and ranking of the most critical components can be undertaken assessing the drop of efficiency  $E_q^{\Delta}$  that each failure would cause.

$$E_q^{\Delta} = \frac{E^Y - E_{-q}^Y}{E^Y} \tag{16}$$

where  $E^{Y}$  is the global efficiency of the original network and  $E_{-q}^{Y}$  is the global efficiency after the removal of the component (vertex or edge) q.

A global metric for the network vulnerability is the maximum vulnerability for all of its vertices:

$$E_{M}^{\Delta} = \underset{q \in \mathscr{B} \cup \mathscr{L}}{MAX} E_{q}^{\Delta} \tag{17}$$

#### From Efficiency to Net-Ability

The concept of distance within a network may be explained as the difficulty or cost to transfer physical quantities between a pair of nodes. Distance in general depends on the length of the path between the two nodes and thus should be defined as a function of the characteristics of the lines in the path. The economic and technical difficulties, which eventually amount to some sort of costs, for transmission of electrical power through a path depend on both the power flow through the lines and their impedance: with the same impedance, more power flow causes higher costs; with the same power flow, a bigger impedance causes higher costs. Consequently, the length of path k from node g to node d is related not only to the impedance of each line of the path but also to the power flows through the lines of the path. As a result, we define the electrical length of a path k as:

$$L^k = \sum_{l \in k} a_l^{gd} Z_l \tag{18}$$

where  $a_l^{gd}$  is the Power Transmission Distribution Factor of line *l* in path *k* and  $Z_l$  is its impedance.

Therefore, the net-ability based on topological efficiency with consideration of contributions from all paths (not only the shortest path as in pure topological approach) can be defined as:

$$A_{\mathscr{Y}} = \frac{1}{B_g B_d} \sum_{g \in \mathscr{B}_g} \sum_{d \in d} C_g^d \sum_{k \in \mathscr{K}_g^d} p_k^{gd} \frac{1}{L^k}$$
(19)

where  $B_g$  is the number of buses in  $B_g$  and  $B_d$  is the number of buses in  $B_d$ ,  $p_k^{gd}$  is the proportion of contribution in transmission of path k,  $C_g^d$  will be defined later as the transmission capacity from g to d.  $K_g^d$  is the set of all paths between g and d.

In the DC power flow equation, the definition of length for a path between g and d is just equal to the voltage angle difference between g and d when transmitting one unit power from g to d. Therefore, as the voltage angle difference is fixed, the length  $L^k$  is the same for any path k in  $K_g^d$  between g and d. Hence, Eq. (19) can be developed further as (with consideration of  $\sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_g^d} p_k^{gd} = 1$ ):

$$A_{\mathscr{Y}} = \frac{1}{B_g B_d} \sum_{g \in \mathscr{B}_g} \sum_{d \in \mathscr{B}_d} C_g^d \frac{1}{L^k}$$
(20)

Then  $L^k$  is just the electrical distance between g and d.

We can define the generator bus g together with all the involved paths  $K_g^d$  from it to the distribution bus d as an efficient power supply scheme h(g, d) for power consuming on d. Then the capacity of scheme h can be defined in the following way: the injection from g is increased from zero to  $C_g^d$  when the first line among all involved paths reaches its maximum power flow limit.  $C_g^d$  is the capacity of the power supply scheme h(g, d).

$$C_g^d = \underbrace{MIN}_{l \in L} \left[ \frac{P_l^{\max}}{a_l^{gd}} \right]$$
(21)

where:

L is the set of all lines  $P_l^{max}$  is the power flow limit of line *l*  $a_l^{gd}$  is the PTDF of line *l* for a power injection/withdrawal at buses g/d

We used the equivalent impedance to calculate the electrical distance  $L_k$  from the point view of power system engineering. The definition of net-ability A for a power grid Y is:

$$A_Y = \frac{1}{B_g B_d} \sum_{g \in B_g} \sum_{d \in B_d} C_g^d \frac{1}{Z_t}$$
(22)

 $B_g$  is the number of buses in  $B_g$  and  $B_d$  is the number of buses in  $B_d$ .

$$Z_{t} = \frac{U_{gd}}{I_{g}} = U_{gd} \Rightarrow Z_{t} = (Z_{gg} - Z_{gd}) - (Z_{gd} - Z_{dd})$$
(23)



Fig. 4 The computation of equivalent impedance

 $Z_t$  is the equivalent impedance from generator bus g to load bus d as described in Fig. 4.  $Z_t$  is an extended concept of electrical distance between g and d to reflect economic and technical cost for power transmission.

According to the DC power flow equation, the value of  $Z_t$  is just equal to the voltage angle difference between g and d with one unit of power injected at g and withdrawn at d. Then the value of  $Z_t$  is just the value of  $L_k$ .

#### Ranking by Drop of Net-Ability

In Fig. 5, for the ideal 1-bus case (A), all generators and loads are connected by an ideal bus with infinite capacity and zero impedance (distance) and the net-ability is infinite. In case (C) where all generator buses and load buses are isolated, the connecting impedance or zero-power transfer capacity makes the net-ability null. In real cases (B) the net-ability, as defined in (22) is between infinite and zero.

Similar to the approach from efficiency, where critical components were identified according to the relative drop of global efficiency caused by the failure of each component, we can consider the failure of each line l (removed one by one) and calculate the relative drop of net-ability, caused by each failure:

$$\Delta A^r = \frac{A_Y - A_{Y-l}}{A_Y} \tag{24}$$

The relative drop of net-ability will indicate which lines are the most critical ones for the operation of the network under current normal conditions. Furthermore, by locating critical transmission lines, it may also be useful to indicate how the performance of the network can be improved by re-enforcing its structure.

However, for a large power transmission network with real size of buses and lines, the calculation burden would be a critical issue. For calculation of netability, it has to calculate  $B_g B_d$  times of PTDF between any generation bus and load bus. To calculate the relative drop of net-ability by removing each transmission line, if the total number of lines in Y is L, generally the calculation for



Fig. 5 Reference cases

net-ability needs to be repeated for L + 1 times. For large-scale networks, such as the network of UCTE, the corresponding calculation burden may be unacceptable. Therefore, it is necessary to find valid methods to decrease the burden as later discussed.

## Important and Critical Components in Transmission Network

## What is Different Between Important and Critical Components?

To give a clear definition and description between important and critical, we begin with an example about a team composed of a group of members as shown in the Fig. 6.

As we can see from Fig. 6, in the team, the member B takes sixty percent of the work of the whole team which is much higher than the work of the other two as twenty percent respectively. So we can say that the member B is an important


member for the team since he is responsible for most part of the work in the whole team. However, if the member B is removed from this team and the other two members have enough ability to take the work left by the member B as shown in the figure, the performance and the function of the team could be as the same as before. In such situation, although we can say that B is important, but we may not consider him as critical.

Another situation can also be described by this example where we change to another different scenario as shown in Fig. 7.

This time, the situation before removing B is the same as the last example, therefore we consider B still as an important member. However, if B is removed from this team, due to any reason (ability, resource or configuration), A and C can only take very small part of work left by B, only sixty percent of the work of the whole team can be done as shown in the figure. The absence of B can impact greatly on the performance and function of the whole team. In such situation, we would say that B is both important and also critical.

This logic can be easily transferred to the contexts of complex networks where we can give clear definitions as:

A component of the network is *important* if it takes remarkably higher proportion, quantitatively defined by the users, of responsibility for function of the whole network lying on the current configuration of the network compared with other components.

A component of the network is *critical* if its absence can have remarkable impact, quantitatively defined by the users, on the performance and function of the whole network lying on the change of the network configuration compared with other components.

From the discussion before, we can see that betweenness is a typical metric to measure how much responsibility a component takes for the function of the whole network in an unweighted and undirected pure topological model. This is a static measurement since it only depends on the current configuration of the network. The relative drop of global performance is to measure the impact on the network performance by the absence of a component. This is a dynamic measurement since it depends on the network configurations both before and after the failure of the component. Therefore, important and critical components all have their own specific definitions and meaning, and should not be confused.



#### Important and Critical Components in Power Grids

According to the definition and analysis above, we can generally get a further conclusion in the contexts of complex networks: an important component may not necessarily be a critical component, however, a critical component must be an important component otherwise its absence cannot make serious impacts; or we can say that the critical components should be a subset of the important components. In a complex network, the quantity of important components may be more than the quantity of critical components.

With former definition of important components in CN, T-betweenness is an ideal indicator to reflect the responsibility of a component for the function of the whole power transmission network.

According to the definition proposed, a metric of performance is necessary to identify critical components in complex networks. Efficiency has been widely used as this type of metric in many research works, however as indicated in [30-32], it fails in describing specific features of power grids. Therefore, based on an extended topological approach, we have to resort to the concept of net-ability as the performance of power transmission networks.

The relative drop of net-ability in (24) will indicate which components (line and bus) are the most critical ones for the operation of the network under current normal conditions. Furthermore, by locating critical transmission lines, it may also be useful to indicate how the performance of the network can be improved by re-enforcing its structure.

According to what we have discussed, the important and critical components in power grids are respectively identified by their T-betweenness and relative drop of net-ability. Although T-betweenness and net-ability are two different metrics, they have deep interrelation caused by PTDF and equivalent impedance. As we can see from former definitions, both T-betweenness and net-ability depend greatly on the power transfer capacity  $C_g^d$  which are exactly defined in the same way by PTDF and transfer capacity of the lines in the two metrics.

Furthermore, the PTDF in T-betweenness depend on the relative relation in impedance of transmission lines among the whole network. Therefore, suppose that the influence from transfer capacity  $C_g^d$  can be neglected, we can generally judge that an important line should have relatively lower impedance or an important bus should connect to lines with relatively lower impedance, which cause higher PTDF compared with other lines. Meanwhile, if the absence of a critical component can cause incredibly decrease in equivalent impedance between many pairs of buses, this component must be related to lower impedance itself which may take them higher T-betweenness. However, conversely, the failure of an important line or bus described by absence of one or several lines with relatively lower impedance may not necessarily cause a serious drop in equivalent impedance between many pairs of buses because it also depends on the value and distribution of impedance in other lines. In summary, a critical component must be important, but an important component may not necessarily be critical.

Therefore, from the discussion above, we can generally conclude that the critical components in power grids should be a subset of their important components. This is important to decrease the calculation burden in ranking critical components by the relative drop of net-ability as we discussed in the last section. As the calculation burden for T-betweenness of all components is similar for calculation of net-ability for one time, we can make ranking of important components by the results of T-betweenness. Since the critical components are in subset of important components, limited top components in ranking of important components can be selected to perform calculation of (24) for relative drop of net-ability to identify critical components. In this way, the calculation burden can be greatly reduced.

#### Metrics for the Overall Topological Assessment of the Grid

#### Introduction to Path-Redundancy

Net-ability is originated from efficiency to indicate the aptitude of a network to perform its function in transmitting physical quantities between specified vertices based on current structure and physical conditions of the network. However, when we consider security, we may take care of the performance of the network after component failures or intentional attacks. Although to calculate the relative drop of net-ability in (24) can provide some detail information related to specific components, we still need a global metric as general assessment for ability of networks to survive from failures or attacks.

In a meshed system, for a given couple of buses, at least one path, composed by a sub-set of the lines of the system, can be identified. Higher is the number of paths connecting whichever couple of buses in the system higher would be the system resistance to attacks or failures.

As the PTDF indicates the contributions of all lines in power transmission from bus g to bus d, it is possible to calculate the contribution of each path (the PTDF of a path) in power transmission according to the PTDF of the lines composing the path. If we consider the PTDF values of lines as DC power flow when transmitting one unit power from g to d, we can get the power flow (i.e. PTDF) of a path by traversing the whole paths. The general procedure can be explained with the following steps:

- 1. Starting from the source bus *g*, follow an output line as the beginning of a path *p* and consider the PTDF of the line as the initial PTDF of path *p*.
- 2. When path *p* arrives at a new bus *i* and if *i* is not bus *d*, then partition path *p* into multiple new paths according to the output lines of *i* and recalculate the PTDF for each of them.
- 3. Continue to follow one of the new paths and repeat step 2 until the current path arrives at *d*.

#### 4. Repeat to follow all possible paths until they all arrive at d.

In step 2, the recalculation of the PTDF should consider the three different cases shown in Fig. 8. As the path is a different concept from the line, multiple paths can go through the same line; we indicate paths by dashed lines and lines by solid lines.

For case (a), no matter how many input paths, since there is only one output line from node *i*, the PTDF of path *p* still keeps unchanged. For case (b), since there is only one input path *p*, it would be partitioned as multiple new paths corresponding to the multiple output lines. Therefore, the PTDF for each new path is just equal to the PTDF of the corresponding output line. For case (c) where we have multiple input paths with multiple output lines, in a linear model, we suppose the power injected from different paths should be mixed completely uniformly at bus *i*. Therefore, we can summarize the three cases as: if node *i* has *U* output lines  $(l_1, l_2, ..., l_U)$ , each input path *p* with PTDF  $f_p$  would be partitioned as *U* new paths. The PTDF  $f_p^k$  of the new path from *p* through line  $l_k$  (k = 1, ..., U) can be calculated as:

$$f_p^k = f_p \bullet \left( a_{l_k}^{gd} \middle/ \sum_{s=1,\dots,U} a_{l_s}^{gd} \right)$$
(25)

Assume that  $K_g^d$  is the set of all valid paths from g to d, we can get:

$$\sum_{p \in K_e^d} f_p = 1 \tag{26}$$

 $f_p$  can be considered as a weight indicating how much path p contributes to the power transmission from g to d. According to Eq. (26), the paths redundancy  $R_g^d$  from bus g to d can be defined as the entropy of the contributions (PTDF) of all paths involved in power transmission from bus g to d:

$$R_g^d = -\sum_{p \in K_g^d} f_p \bullet \log f_p \tag{27}$$

The paths redundancy between two buses is related to the number of paths and the proportions for the power to be routed through those paths. The average paths redundancy of the whole network Y can be defined as:







$$R_Y = \frac{1}{B_g B_d} \sum_{g \in B_g} \sum_{d \in B_d} R_g^d \tag{28}$$

Paths redundancy is a concept independent of net-ability. In Fig. 9, assuming  $C_g^d$  is the same for all cases, cases (a) and (b) have different net-ability due to different impedance. However, since for each case there are two paths with equal share of power transfer (50 %), their flow paths redundancies measured by (27) are same. The cases (b) and (c) have the same net-ability due to the same capacity and equivalent impedance. However, they have different paths redundancy defined in (27). The higher paths redundancy of the case (c) results in higher resilience to attacks or failures in transmission network. Even with the same number of paths, a more averaged distribution of the PTDF in paths causes higher entropy in (27), which means more resilience to malicious attacks to the most loaded path.

As shown in Fig. 5, the ideal 1-bus case (A) can be considered as composed of infinite paths with infinite capacity and zero impedance (distance) from whichever generator to whichever load. Obviously, the paths redundancy for this case is infinite. For the opposite extreme case (C), it is obvious that the paths redundancy is zero, since there is no path. Definition in (27) can give a quantitative measurement for case (B) between these two extreme cases.

#### From Net-Ability and Path-Redundancy to Survivability

To make a new assessment of structural vulnerability for power grids with consideration of not only current static performance but also possible resilience to failures or attacks, we define here a new metric, called survivability, to indicate the capability of a network to keep on performing properly its function in the presence of limited attacks or failures on transmission paths. Therefore, this survivability depends on both net-ability and paths redundancy:

- With equal net-ability, more paths redundancy means higher survivability.
- With equal paths redundancy, more net-ability means higher survivability.

The survivability for a transmission network Y is defined as:

$$Sr_Y = \frac{1}{B_g B_d} \sum_{g \in B_g} \sum_{d \in B_d} R_g^d C_g^d \frac{1}{Z_t}$$
(29)

In Fig. 9, the survivability of case (a) is higher than that of case (b) since the former net-ability is higher and their paths redundancies are the same. The survivability of case (c) is higher than that of case (b) since the latter paths redundancy is higher and they have the same net-ability.

As shown in Fig. 5, the ideal 1-bus case (A) can be considered with infinite netability and infinite paths redundancy. Alternatively, since the survivability is only considered with reference to attacks and failures in transmission networks, the survivability of this case is infinite because there is no transmission network. For the opposite extreme case (C), with no net-ability and no paths redundancy, it is obvious that the survivability is zero. Definition in (29) can give a quantitative measurement for case (B) which is between these two extreme cases.

The relations among net-ability, paths redundancy and survivability can be explained still considering the cup in Fig. 1 as an example. While the volume represents net-ability, paths redundancy is corresponding to the strength of the cup (a cup being made of glass is more fragile than a cup being made of steel). The ability of a cup to survive from a crash (an attack) to continuously perform its function (holding water) depends on both its original volume and its strength. Therefore, survivability should take into account both net-ability and paths redundancy together to consider the both aspects.

An important problem in the calculation of survivability and paths redundancy is the calculation burden of PTDF of all paths for a transmission network of real scale. For a network with several hundred or several thousand of nodes, there may be millions of paths between two nodes. This may make the time of calculation unacceptable in practice. However, the distribution of PTDF in paths is very uneven in power transmission networks. Even with millions of paths, only a very small part of these paths (e.g. hundreds of) takes most of the power flow.

Therefore, for the calculation in (25), we can define a threshold  $\theta$ . Only when  $a_l^{gd} > \theta$ , line *l* can be considered in calculation of (25). In this way, it is possible to get meaningful results within an acceptable time.

#### Conclusions

Power systems play a pivotal role, as fundamentally critical infrastructures, in assuring the proper functioning of our societies. Therefore, the security of power systems has drawn attention since their inception. As a consequence, analysis approaches and tools have been developed to simulate the system response against any change, either internal or external. However, due to the Newtonian assumptions, they always depend on the given contingencies and operating conditions, which makes them not only computationally impractical but even impossible. As a fundamental change of ideology to combat the security problems in power systems, complex network theory, more specifically, topological analysis, was applied as a pioneer attempt. By abstracting the power system as a graph, the transmission network becomes the decisive factor. The trial showed some promising potentials in the arena, such as providing indices for overall characteristics of the system and identifying important structural components independent of the operating conditions. In any case those approaches showed some drawbacks. As the fact that, irrespective of the physical laws governing power systems, they ignore the engineering peculiarities of the system under study. All these shortcomings prompt the needs to reinforce the approach by considering aspects ignored by pure topological analysis.

We proposed a comprehensive framework composed of a set of metrics based on extended topological analysis derived from pure topological ones. The framework provides promising tools to analyze the general and overall security and identify vulnerabilities of the system determined by structural factors. More specifically, based on static assessment, "entropy degree" and "T-betweenness" can be used to measure the importance of a single component; while by ranking the drop of "net-ability" from dynamic assessment, the criticality of components can be observed. By considering both the static and dynamic results together, the correlations of the important and critical components can be revealed. In contrast, "path-redundancy" provides a global index indicating the ability of the network to survive from components failure. In light of considering the system resilience to limited failures on transmission paths, "survivability", depends on both net-ability and path-redundancy was proposed.

Although progress and improvements have been made with respect to pure topological analysis, the extended topological analysis still faces many challenges when applying to power systems.

The first and foremost problem is how to validate the results in real systems. As the topology is only one of the two dimensions of the security problem, comparisons with system data or references that are strictly connected with features other than structure may not provide satisfactory feedbacks. Also, due to the statistical property of results given by the extended topological analysis, the vulnerable points spot by them may not show in real cases used as benchmark to evaluate the results. Therefore, it seems reasonable to compare the results with statistics from system operation. However, blackouts are not so frequent enough to build up meaningful statistic results for the comparison.

Another issue involves a more complicated consideration: dynamics. In the vocabulary of power systems, dynamic refers to the quantities (e.g. voltage/angular behaviors) changes over time with stability concerns rather than topology changes and corresponding power flow changes over transmission lines. A bad news to the topological analysis, including the extended one, is that most of the blackouts happened due to voltage, frequency, or angular instability rather than overloads. Therefore, new engineering features should be incorporated into the extended topological analysis to reflect the mechanism of blackouts in reality. However, it

may force us to consider the operating conditions to reveal dynamic instabilities. Moreover, to consider the dynamic behaviors of rotating components (e.g. generators) and discrete elements (e.g. FACTS) will create mathematically and computationally dimensional disasters when facing large scale systems. Efforts then should be made to strike a balance between the details and usefulness of the extended topological analysis.

Last but not the least, complexity of power systems comes from the hectic interactions among different technical layers and various operational players. The network itself can hardly be a complex system. Although the proposed framework simply considered the interactions between power supply and demand, others are still missing, such as multiple heterogeneous decision makers at national levels and international level: policy makers, regulators, market participants, TSOs, etc. The most important revolution of intelligent grids (i.e. smart grids, super grids) in power systems pose a great challenge to the extended topological analysis to consider multiple levels of dependent systems.

#### References

- 1. Rinaldi SM, Kelly TK (2011) Identifying, understanding, and analyzing critical infrastructure interdependencies. IEEE Control Syst Mag 21:11–25
- 2. The International Electrotechnical Commission (2009) IEV number 617-01-01. International Electrotechnical Vocabulary, Mar 2009
- 3. IEEE/CIGRE Joint Task Force on Stability Terms and Definitions (2004) Definition and classification of power system stability. IEEE Trans Power Syst 19:1387–1401
- The European Network of Transmission System Operators for Electricity (2012) Glossary of terms, statistical glossary. Available at https://www.entsoe.eu/resources/data-portal/glossary/. Cited 9 Jul 2012
- 5. The North American Electric Reliability Corporation (2012) Company overview: FAQ. Available at http://www.nerc.com/page.php?cid=1%7C7%7C114. Cited 9 July 2012
- 6. The International Electrotechnical Commission (2009) IEV number 191-21-03. International Electrotechnical Vocabulary, Mar 2009
- 7. The International Electrotechnical Commission (2009) IEV number 191-21-01. International Electrotechnical Vocabulary, Mar 2009
- 8. IEEE Working Group (1978) Reliability indices for use in bulk power system supply adequacy evaluation. IEEE Trans Power Apparatus Syst PAS-97:1097–1103
- The North American Electric Reliability Corporation (2012) Glossary of terms used in nerc reliability standards. Available at http://www.nerc.com/files/Glossary\_of\_Terms.pdf. Updated 25 May 2012, cited 9 July 2012
- 10. The International Electrotechnical Commission (2009) IEV number 617-01-03. International Electrotechnical Vocabulary, Mar 2009
- 11. The Union for the Coordination of the Transmission of Electricity, Glossary of terms, version 2.2; 2004 June
- 12. The International Electrotechnical Commission (2009) IEV number 191-02-05. International Electrotechnical Vocabulary, Mar 2009
- Motto AL et al (2005) A mixed-integer LP procedure for the analysis of electric grid security under disruptive threat. IEEE Trans Power Syst 20:1357–1365
- 14. Salmeron J et al (2004) Analysis of electric grid security under terrorist threat. IEEE Trans Power Syst 19:905–912

- 15. Cai GW et al (2007) Identification of the vulnerable transmission segment and cluster of critical machines using line transient potential energy. Int J Electr Power Energy Syst 29:199–207
- Albert R, Albert I, Nakarado GL (2004) Structural vulnerability of the North American power grid. Phys Rev E 69:025103 (R)
- 17. Platts Global Energy. http://www.platts.com
- Chassin DP, Posse C (2005) Evaluating North American electric grid reliability using the Barabasi–Albert network model. Phys A 355:667–677
- 19. Rosas-Casals M, Valverde S, Sole RV (2007) Topological vulnerability of the European power grid under errors and attacks. Int J Bifurcat Chaos 17(7):2465–2475
- 20. Motter AE, Lai Y-C (2002) Cascade-based attacks on complex networks. Phys Rev E 66:065102 (R)
- Kinney R, Crucitti P, Albert R, Latora V (2005) modeling cascading failures in the North American power grid. Eur Phys J B—Condens Matter Complex Syst 46(1)
- Crucittia P, Latora V, Marchioric M (2004) A topological analysis of the Italian electric power grid. Phys A 338:92–97
- 23. GRTN S.p.A. CartograLa rete di trasmissione, http://www.grtn.it
- 24. Latora V, Marchiori M (2005) Vulnerability and protection of infrastructure networks. Phys RevE 71:015103(R)
- Crucitti P, Latora V, Marchiori M (2005) Locating critical lines in high-voltage electrical power grids. Fluctuation Noise Lett 5(2):L201–L208
- 26. Rosato V, Bologna S, Tiriticco F (2007) Topological properties of high-voltage electrical transmission networks. Electric Power Syst Res 77:99–105
- 27. Costa LDF, Rodrigues FA, Travieso G, Villas Boas PR (2007) Characterization of complex networks: a survey of measurements. Adv Phys 56(1):167–242
- Crucittia P, Latorab V, Marchioric M, Rapisardab A (2003) Efficiency of scale-free networks: error and attack tolerance. Phys A 320:622–642
- 29. Latora V, Marchiori M (2001) Efficient behavior of small-world networks. Physi Cal Rev Lett 87(19):5
- Bompard E, Napoli R, Xue F (2010) Extended topological approach for the assessment of structural vulnerability in transmission networks. IET Gener Transm Distrib 4(6):716–724
- Arianos S, Bompard E, Carbone A, Xue F (2009) Power grids vulnerability: a complex network approach. Chaos 19. 013119. doi:10.1063/1.3077229
- 32. Bompard E, Napoli R, Xue F (2009) Analysis of structural vulnerability in power transmission grids. Int J Crit Infrastruct Protection 2(1–2):5–12

## Investigating the Surrogate Worth Trade-off Method to Facilitate Technology Selection for New Systems

Aria Iwasawa, Naohiko Kohtake, Nobuaki Minato and William Crossley

Abstract When designing a new system, engineers must often select from a set of discrete technologies available for use. Once the engineers select these technologies, they subsequently determine the value of continuous variables (e.g., lengths, thicknesses, other dimensions) that describe the new system. This mix of discrete and continuous choices can make it difficult to identify the best design. Additional difficulties arise when-as for most new systems-a trade-off exists between multiple, competing objectives. From a design optimization perspective, the resulting problem is a Multi-Objective, Mixed-Discrete Non-Linear Programming (MO-MDNLP) problem. The solution to an MO-MDNLP problem is not a single design; it is a set of non-dominated designs. In this set, the performance of one objective cannot improve without degrading performance in the other objective(s). However, the design process requires that a single design emerge as the best candidate; this best design needs to reflect the decision-maker's preferences. The Surrogate Worth Trade-off (SWT) method is one approach that provides an interface between the decision-maker's preferences and the mathematical models. This paper applied the SWT method to a simple example MO-MDNLP problem to determine how this might support a decision-maker in selecting new technologies during the early phases of design.

**Keywords** Technology selection  $\cdot$  The surrogate worth trade-off method  $\cdot$  Multiobjective design

A. Iwasawa (🖂) · N. Kohtake · N. Minato

Graduate School of System Design and Management, Keio University, 4-1-1 Hiyoshi, Kohoku-ku, Yokohama, Kanagawa 223-8526, Japan e-mail: aria.iwasawa@gmail.com

W. Crossley

School of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Purdue University, 701 W. Stadium Ave, West Lafayette, IN 47907-2045, USA

#### Introduction

Decision-making occurs throughout any project life cycle. The design of engineered systems require decisions about which technologies to use, how to obtain the desired technologies, and where to acquire the technologies. The tension of cost, risk, schedule and performance in engineering design makes decision-making a paramount issue. The quality of decisions made during the early life-cycle phases determines product success.

Decision-making for technology selection can be difficult for three reasons. First, constructing new systems often deal with satisfying constraints while optimizing conflicting objectives, necessitating trade-off studies. Second, technologies involve both discrete and continuous variables; there is a discrete choice of technology type and a continuous sizing of parameters or variables associated with the design. Viewed as an optimization problem, the problem is a constrained Multi-Objective, Mixed-Discrete Non-Linear Programming (MO-MDNLP) problem, which are difficult to solve. Third, the solution to a problem with multiple, competing objectives is not a single design; rather, it is a set of designs representing best-possible trade-offs. Decision-makers (DM) must choose the "best" solution from this set.

This paper investigates a systematic and quantitative approach to select suitable technology for an engineering design that has competing objectives. Such an approach can be effective in several ways: (1) it may measure the effectiveness of decision-making, (2) it allows for collection of data and analysis of success and failure mechanisms, (3) provide justification to the project, (4) ensure feeling of stakeholder security in the selections, (5) make possible evaluation of the technology selection by a third party, and (6) raise the reliability, performance and productivity of systems.

The approach here uses the Surrogate Worth Trade-off (SWT) method [1] to help choose a preferred solution from the set of solutions to a constrained MO-MDNLP problem. The discrete technology(ies) associated with this preferred solution is (are), therefore, the preferred technology(ies) for the new design. A simple benchmark design problem provided the example; this is a constrained, multi-objective three-bar truss optimization problem in which the material used for the elements is a discrete selection or, in the context here, a technology selection.

The chapter attempted to address three questions: How can design optimization facilitate selecting technologies for new systems? How can we support the DM in choosing new technology? What are the thresholds for DM to adopt technologies that are new to systems?

#### **Multi-objective Decision Making**

#### The DM involved in Trade-off Studies

In dealing with conflicting objectives, a designer has to clarify the trade-off among the objectives; however, the relative importance of the objectives is often ambiguous. A goal in multi-objective decision-making is to incorporate the DM's judgment with the mathematical model that provides quantitative values for the trade-offs available in the problem. A DM holds the responsibility of decisionmaking, selects the compromised solution from multiple alternatives and is involved in other actions related to the decision-making process. The DM may be the analyst who generates new information based on the input information, processes the information, and takes part in final decision-making. The DM could be an individual other than the analyst, a group of individuals, or perhaps a combination of human and computer. A role of the DM is to check the validity of the computational result, which will compensate for the limits of the calculations; this check may also incorporate subjective or qualitative factors that the mathematical problem model did not incorporate.

#### Divergence of Decision Making Theory

The theory of multi-objective decision-making can be tracked back into the 1950s. Utility theory appeared in the 1960s; this includes the DM's preference *before* optimization, combining all the objectives into a single mathematical objective. Well-known approaches include Multi-attribute Utility Theory, Goal Programming and Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP). During the 1970s, new methods began to treat the objectives separately, making it possible for the DM to compare objectives paired two at a time, which made it easier for the DM to express one's preference towards the conflicting objectives. Hwang and Masud [2] classified the existing decision-making methods into three categories: *a priori, a posteriori,* and progressive articulation of preferences; each category depends upon the time when the DM assigns preferences. Utility theory belongs to the *a priori* articulation and SWT to the *a posteriori* articulation of preferences.

#### Solutions to Multi-objective Problems

In multi-objective decision-making, the DM must choose the "best" solution from multiple alternatives. When simultaneously minimizing two competing objectives, the designs providing the minimum possible values of the two objective functions are different. Engineering design problems generally have multiple objectives and constraints. The feasible optimal solutions to a constrained multi-objective problem are called "Pareto-optimal solutions". The Pareto-solutions are always on the border of the feasible solution space; they are also known as the "efficient solutions". Mathematically, these are "non-dominated" or "non-inferior" solutions. A design is "Pareto-optimal" if there is no feasible alternative that will improve one objective without degrading at least one another objective.

#### The Surrogate Worth Trade-off Method

The Surrogate Worth Trade-off (SWT) method provides an interface between the mathematical model of the problem and the DM. SWT consists of four steps: (1) generation of non-dominated solutions, (2) obtainment of relevant trade-off information for each generated solution, (3) interaction with the DM to assign preferences expressed in terms of worth, (4) finding of the best-compromised solution from the information obtained [3].

#### Rationale of Choosing the SWT Method

SWT has appeared in the areas of water resource planning and management, pollution control, power resource planning, and contract negotiation [1, 4, 5]. However, the SWT method does not appear to have had applications that involve technology selection. The fact that the SWT is an *a posteriori* method that can select from a set of non-dominated solutions motivated this investigation of how SWT might facilitate technology selection in the context of an MO-MDNLP problem.

## Steps of SWT Method

Step 1: Generation of non-dominated solutions. The SWT method requires a set of non-dominated solutions from which the DM chooses the preferred solution. There are a number of ways to generate Pareto-optimal designs. Given the simplicity of the problem in this paper, the  $\varepsilon$ -constraint method generates Pareto-optimal designs. The  $\varepsilon$ -constraint method defines a master objective  $f_k$  and converts the other objectives  $f_j$  into inequality constraints of a single-objective optimization problem:

minimize 
$$f_k(\mathbf{x})$$
. (1)

subject to 
$$g_l(\mathbf{x}) \le 0$$
  $l: 1, \dots, n_{con}$  (2)

Investigating the Surrogate Worth Trade-off Method

$$\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{X}$$
 (3)

$$f_j(\mathbf{x}) \le \varepsilon_j \quad j: 1, \dots, n_{obj} \quad j \ne k.$$
(4)

Here,  $g_k(\mathbf{x})$  are constraints on the problem, and  $\mathbf{X}$  is the bounded region. Varying the values of  $\varepsilon_j$  and solving the problem for each new value of  $\varepsilon_j$  provides non-dominated solutions, without particular restrictions.

Step 2: Obtain relevant trade-off information. Each  $\lambda_{kj}$  represents the partial trade-off rate between  $f_k$  and  $f_j$ . Using the  $\varepsilon$ -constraint method, the Lagrange multipliers of the constraints  $f_j(\mathbf{x}^*) \leq \varepsilon_j$  are the partial trade-offs at the non-dominated solution  $\mathbf{x}^*$ :

$$\lambda_{kj} = \frac{\partial f_k(x^*)}{\partial \epsilon_j} \tag{5}$$

when  $\lambda_{kj} > 0$ , there is degradation in objective *j* for any improvement in objective *k*.

Step 3: Interaction with the DM. First, the analyst prepares a table listing representative non-dominated solutions. The DM is asked: "Given a design  $\mathbf{x}^*$  with objectives  $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}^*)$ , what is your assessment of how much an improvement of  $\lambda_{kj}$  units in  $f_k$  is worth in relation to an degradation of one unit of  $f_j$ , while all other objectives remain fixed at  $f_l$ , for l = 1, k with  $l \neq j$ , k?" The DM provides the assessment on a scale of +10 to -10, where +10 means the greatest desire to improve  $f_k$  by  $\lambda_{kj}$  units per one-unit degradation of  $f_j$ , 0 means indifference about the trade, and -10 means the greatest desire to degrade  $f_k$  by  $\lambda_{kj}$  units per one-unit improvement in  $f_j$ . Values between -10 and 0 or between 0 and 10 show a proportional desire to make the corresponding trade-off. The DM's response becomes  $W_{kj}$ , the "surrogate worth" of the trade-off between  $f_k$  and  $f_j$ .

Step 4: Finding the best-compromise solution. A particular non-dominated solution  $\mathbf{x}^*$  is the best-compromise solution if the DM is indifferent to all trade-offs offered from the current point  $\mathbf{x}^*$ . In other words,  $\mathbf{x}^*$  is the best-compromise solution if

$$W_{ki}(\mathbf{x}^*) = 0 \quad \text{for all } j \neq k. \tag{6}$$

If the DM has not assigned  $W_{kj} = 0$  to any design, the analyst uses regression to construct, for each  $j \neq k$ , the surrogate worth function  $W_{kj}$  relating  $W_{kj}$  to  $f_l$  for all  $l \neq k$ . Then, the system of equations

$$W_{kj}(f_1, \ldots, f_{k-1}, f_{k+1}, \ldots, f_n) = 0 \quad j \neq k.$$
 (7)

is solved for the values of  $f_l$ , which would correspond to the best-compromised design.

#### SWT Method Applied to Technology Selection

## Three-Bar Truss Example Problem

This is a simple benchmark problem for investigating and teaching design optimization algorithms. Here, the problem combines continuous and discrete variables. The cross-sectional area of the truss elements are continuous variables, and the material selection is a discrete variable with choices of aluminum, titanium or steel. The material properties appear in Fig. 1 with a geometric representation of the truss. Using material selection as a discrete variable represents a technology choice that might be part of a larger system design problem. For instance, if a DM were asked which material would be best to minimize both mass and displacement subject to stress constraints *a priori*, the DM may select aluminum, because this material has the highest stiffness-to-weight  $(E/\sigma)$  of the available choices.

The problem is to minimize both the mass of the truss and the displacement under the design load while satisfying strength constraints and bounds on the radii of the elements. The optimization statement becomes

Minimize 
$$\begin{pmatrix} f_1(x) = \text{weight} \\ f_2(x) = \text{displacement} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (8)

subject to 
$$g_i(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\sigma_i(\mathbf{x})}{\sigma_{allow}(\mathbf{x})} - 1 \le 0$$
 for  $i = 1, 3$  (9)

$$g_{i+3}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\sigma_i(\mathbf{x})}{\left[-\sigma_{allow}(\mathbf{x})\right]} - 1 \le 0 \quad \text{for } i = 1, 3$$
(10)

$$\mathbf{x} = \{A_1, mat_1, A_2, mat_2, A_3, mat_3\}$$
(11)

$$\mathbf{A}_i \in \mathbb{R} \tag{12}$$

$$0.5 \,\mathrm{cm}^2 \le A_i \le 20.0 \,\mathrm{cm}^2$$
 (13)

$$mat_i \in \{Al, Ti, Steel\}.$$
 (14)



Fig. 1 Physical properties of the metals (*left*). E is Young's modulus,  $\rho$  is density, and  $\sigma_{\text{allow}}$  is allowable stress. Geometric representation of the *three-bar* truss (*right*)

#### **Procedure of SWT Method**

Because this problem has only three discrete options, the  $\varepsilon$ -constraint method generated Pareto-optimal designs using aluminum, then titanium, and finally steel by using mass as the master objective and constraining displacement to different values of  $\varepsilon$ . This provides the cross-sectional areas for the truss elements associated with each non-dominated solution and the value of  $\lambda_{12}$ , which is the Lagrange multiplier associated with the  $\varepsilon$ -constraint. The feasible, non-dominated solutions of the truss using each material appear in Fig. 2. This illustrates where the different "technologies" would have advantages, depending upon the DM's preferences.

#### Trade-off Matrix and Result

Two scenarios illustrate how a DM would choose the best design from the set of non-dominated solutions; the corresponding best design incorporates the preferred technology (material). The two scenarios are where the DM desires (1) a relatively low mass design and (2) a relatively low displacement design. Within the low-mass scenario, two different assignments of surrogate worth lead to different choices.

The DM is presented with a trade-off matrix containing information about nondominated designs near the area of interest. Table 1 shows the trade-off matrix containing low mass designs from Fig. 2. The values of  $\lambda_{12}$  are larger in magnitude than  $f_1$  (mass) and  $f_2$  (displacement), so a scaling factor c = 0.01 helps interrogate the DM [6]. The DM is asked: "What is your assessment of how much a decrease of 0.0772 kg in mass is worth in relation to an increase of 0.01 cm of displacement, given a truss with a mass of 4.17 kg and a displacement of 0.32 cm?" The DM has thought that he/she would like a low mass design but considered 0.32 cm of deflection too large, so he/she assigned a negative value of  $W_{12}$  because he/she does not agree with the trade-off and would prefer to increase mass by 0.0772 kg to reduce deflection by 0.01 cm. For the design in row three, the DM assigns a negative  $W_{12}$  of smaller magnitude than for the second row because he/she still liked lower deflection but the mass was starting to increase which was of concern



Material	3	Mass	Displacement	Area 1	Area 2	Area 3	$\lambda_{12}$	$c\lambda_{12}$	$W_{12}$
		(kg)	(cm)	$(cm^2)$	$(cm^2)$	$(cm^2)$	(kg/cm)	(kg/cm)	
Steel	0.320	4.17	0.32	1.950	0.50	0.817	7.72	0.0772	-7
Titanium	0.280	4.55	0.28	4.006	0.50	1.597	9.48	0.0948	-5
Titanium	0.240	5.17	0.24	4.206	0.50	2.205	20.30	0.2030	-3
Titanium	0.200	6.14	0.20	5.050	0.50	2.637	29.23	0.2923	-2
Titanium	0.180	6.79	0.18	5.613	0.50	2.924	36.08	0.3608	3
Aluminum	0.160	7.56	0.16	10.646	0.50	5.494	46.12	0.4612	5
Aluminum	0.140	8.61	0.14	12.169	0.50	6.271	60.23	0.6023	10

Table 1 Trade-off matrix of (1) low mass (case 1)

to the DM. In the sixth row, the DM assigned a positive worth value  $W_{12}$ , because the DM was willing to achieve lower mass than this design at the expense of increasing deflection.

With only two objectives, the relationship between  $W_{12}$  and  $\varepsilon$  (or  $f_2$ ) is constructed from the DM's responses; here, this is a polynomial fit as shown in Fig. 3. The preferred design corresponding to  $W_{12} = 0$  is  $f_2 = 0.190$  cm. Considering Table 1, this corresponds to selecting titanium. Solving the  $\varepsilon$ -constraint problem with  $\varepsilon = 0.190$  cm yielded  $f_1 = 6.45$  kg,  $f_2 = 0.190$  cm, with  $A_{i=1,3}^* = (5.32, 0.5, 2.77 \text{ cm}^2)$ .

In the second case of desiring low mass designs, this DM favors slightly lower displacement than the DM in the previous case and assigns different  $W_{12}$  values. The trade-off matrix appears as Table 2.

From a third-order polynomial fit for  $W_{12}$ , the value of  $f_2 = 0.173$  cm corresponds to  $W_{12} = 0$ . This value of  $f_2$  lies between aluminum and titanium designs, requiring two solutions of the optimization problem with  $\varepsilon = 0.173$  cm. For titanium, the objectives are 7.05 kg and 0.173 cm with  $A = (5.84, 0.5, 7.05 \text{ cm}^2)$ ; for aluminum, 7.02 kg and 0.173 cm with  $A = (10.1, 0.5, 7.02 \text{ cm}^2)$ . Here, the aluminum design slightly dominates the titanium design (it has lower mass for the same displacement) and is the preferred design.

The low displacement scenario considers designs nearer the other end of the Pareto frontier; Table 3 shows this trade-off matrix. Here, c = 0.001 provided scaling for interacting with the DM. Responding to questions like those above, the DM gives negative  $W_{12}$  values when he/she favors increasing mass for decreasing



Material	3	Mass (kg)	Displacement (cm)	Area 1 (cm <sup>2</sup> )	Area 2 (cm <sup>2</sup> )	Area 3 (cm <sup>2</sup> )	$\lambda_{12}$ (kg/cm)	$c\lambda_{12}$ (kg/cm)	W <sub>12</sub>
Steel	0.320	4.17	0.320	1.950	0.50	0.817	7.72	0.0772	-10
Titanium	0.280	4.55	0.280	4.006	0.50	1.597	9.48	0.0948	$^{-8}$
Titanium	0.240	5.17	0.240	4.206	0.50	2.205	20.30	0.2030	-5
Titanium	0.200	6.14	0.200	5.050	0.50	2.637	29.23	0.2923	-3
Titanium	0.180	6.79	0.180	5.613	0.50	2.924	36.08	0.3608	-1
Aluminum	0.160	7.56	0.160	10.646	0.50	5.494	46.12	0.4612	2
Aluminum	0.140	8.61	0.140	12.169	0.50	6.271	60.23	0.6023	6

 Table 2
 Trade-off matrix of (1) low mass (case 2)

Table 3 Trade-off matrix of (2) low displacement (case 3)

Material	3	Mass	Displacement	Area 1	Area 2	Area 3	$\lambda_{12}$	$c\lambda_{12}$	W <sub>12</sub>
		(kg)	(cm)	$(cm^2)$	$(cm^2)$	$(cm^2)$	(kg/cm)	(kg/cm)	
Aluminum	0.120	10.02	0.120	14.200	0.50	7.307	81.98	0.082	-6
Aluminum	0.100	11.98	0.100	17.044	0.50	8.757	118.05	0.118	-4
Titanium	0.090	13.28	0.090	11.242	0.50	5.798	144.29	0.144	$^{-2}$
Titanium	0.080	14.91	0.080	12.650	0.50	6.516	182.61	0.183	$^{-1}$
Titanium	0.070	16.99	0.070	14.460	0.50	7.439	238.50	0.239	2
Titanium	0.060	19.78	0.060	16.873	0.50	8.669	324.62	0.325	4
Steel	0.050	23.66	0.050	11.451	0.50	5.904	462.75	0.463	4
Steel	0.045	26.23	0.045	12.725	0.50	6.554	571.28	0.571	7

displacement and positive  $W_{12}$  values when favoring a decrease in mass for an increase in displacement. With a second-order polynomial fit,  $f_2 = 0.078$  cm sets  $W_{12}$  to zero; this lies amongst the titanium designs. Solving the  $\varepsilon$ -constraint problem yielded 15.5 kg and 0.077 cm, with  $A = (13.1, 0.5, 6.77 \text{ cm}^2)$ .

#### Discussion

The SWT method was applied to three cases in which a DM assigned relative worth preferences to select the preferred design from multiple points on the Pareto frontier of an MO-MDNLP problem. In Case 1, when  $W_{12}$  was set to zero,  $f_2 = 0.190$  cm was obtained for the preferred design. The value of  $f_2 = 0.190$  cm lied in the range of titanium between row 4 and 5 in Table 1. Case 2 presented a situation where the value of  $f_2$  corresponding to  $W_{12} = 0$  fell between differing materials in the trade-off matrix. In Table 3,  $f_2 = 0.174$  cm is between row 5 (titanium,  $f_2 = 0.180$  cm) and 6 (aluminum,  $f_2 = 0.160$  cm). Now, with the value of  $\varepsilon$  associated with the best design, the analyst would solve the optimization problem for both materials. In this case, the Aluminum solution dominates the Titanium solution. The former result indicates that interpolating the "nearest" optimum design point would suffice in selecting material if the value of  $f_2$  could be found within the range of the same material in the trade-off matrix. The latter result tells us that when the value of  $f_2$  falls in between the discrete material choices, the analyst is required to re-run optimization using the  $\varepsilon$  value of the preferred design and then to compare the solutions using the two different materials.

Case 3 explored the situation where the DM was searching for a low displacement design. If the DM preferred low displacement, initially he/she might have chosen steel because by glancing at the Pareto frontier in Fig. 2 where steel designs with the lowest displacement. However, consulting the DM's preference, the material choice resulted in titanium. The process the DM undergoes using the SWT method may provoke the DM to express the preference he/she holds. Coming up with a different material selection than the initial *a priori* decision implies that the SWT method has possibility in better informing the DM of his/her choice of technology.

There are some limitations to using the SWT method for this problem and for any problem in general. The  $\lambda_{12}$  values correspond to the computed predictions of the designs' performance. Issues not reflected in these predictions are difficult to capture. For example, cost was not an explicit objective in the problem, so the DM's preferred design often used titanium. However, titanium is expensive compared to aluminum or steel. In cases 1 and 3, there may have been less expensive designs that are dominated when only considering mass and displacement as objectives. Adding cost as a third objective could address this; however, many engineering problems have objectives or goals that are difficult to compute in a numerical sense.

The example problem here is quite simple; it illustrates some of the concepts involved in treating technology selection via an MO-MDNLP approach. However, most engineering design problems involve more design variables, more choices of technology, and additional objectives. Additional study of how SWT might support technology selection for a more complicated problem can provide insight into how the method scales with problem size. Further, it is not clear how qualitative or subjective assessments are best incorporated in this approach. Clearly, a DM makes some of these assessments when assigning values of  $W_{ij}$ , so an improved way of capturing the rationale behind these or providing guidance in this would help.

#### Conclusion

In this paper, the SWT method was applied to selected preferred solutions to a MO-MDNLP problem with the intent of investigating how this might assist in selecting technology from discrete alternatives. A version of the three-bar truss problem combining discrete material selection and continuous cross-sectional areas represented a possible technology selection problem. The non-dominated sets of design points were generated for Aluminum, Titanium and Steel, respectively, to represent a material choice problem to the DM.

The SWT method worked effectively in the domain of technology selection by presenting a question to the DM about the available trade-off between objectives. Introducing a value *c* to scale the trade-off function  $\lambda_{12}$  provided a more understandable question in an engineering context.

The result from investigating the SWT method indicated that a preferred design from the set of non-dominated solutions to an MO-MDNLP problem can be obtained via an *a posteriori* approach that elicits the DM's preference. The material choices obtained here may not have been choices made *a priori*; the choice of aluminum as the highest  $E/\rho$  material would not have had the performance of the titanium designs selected in this study. Obtaining designs with material choices differing from a likely initial decision demonstrated that SWT method could be applied to technology selection and could better inform the DM of his/her choice of technology.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to express deep appreciation to the CESUN organizing committee. The support from Japan Student Services Organization is gratefully acknowledged.

#### References

- 1. Haimes YY, Hall WA (1974) Multiobjectives in water resource systems analysis: the surrogate worth trade off method. Water Resour Res 10(4):615–624
- Hwang C-L, Masud ASM (1979) Multiple objective decision making, methods and applications: a state-of-the-art survey, lecture notes in economics and mathematical systems, vol 164. Springer, Berlin
- 3. Chankong V, Haimes YY (2008) Multiobjective decision making theory and methodology. Dover, Mineola
- Berizzi A, Bovo C, Marannino P (2001) The surrogate worth trade off analysis for power system operation in electricity markets. In: Power Engineering Society Summer Meeting, vol 2. IEEE, Piscataway, NJ, pp 1034–1039
- 5. Debeljak CJ, Haimes YY, Leach M (1986) Integration of the surrogate worth trade-off method and the analytic hierarchy process. Socio-Econ Plann Sci 20(6):375–385
- 6. Haimes YY, Freedman HT (1975) The surrogate worth tradeoff method in static multiple objective problems. In: 1975 IEEE conference on decision and control including the 14th symposium on adaptive processes. IEEE, New York, pp 701–710

# Part VII Engineering Design and Sociotechnical Systems

## The Historical Roots of the Field of Engineering Systems: Results from an In-Class Assignment

Christopher L. Magee, Rebecca K. Saari, G. Thomas Heaps-Nelson, Stephen M. Zoepf and Joseph M. Sussman

Abstract Although the field of Engineering Systems (ES) is young, its intellectual roots originate far back in time. Tracing these roots is the objective of an integrative capstone assignment in the first doctoral subject for incoming ES PhD students at MIT. Teams of two or three students research the intellectual connections between a specific historical root and modern ES method. The assignment has now been offered for 5 years (2008–2012). This chapter describes the faculty and student perspectives on the assignment, including the perceived learning outcomes, and insights gained into the roots of Engineering Systems. Some overall observations include: (1) Interconnections among almost all selected topics are apparent. The historical development of each topic gives rise to overlap and complex interactions between historical roots and modern methods; (2) Students cite Herbert Simon's work as most pivotal to the roots of Engineering Systems. Jay Forrester, John von Neumann, Norbert Weiner, Joseph Schumpeter and others are also identified as having a significant impact; (3) The faculty always learn something about the field from what the students find even when topics are repeated; and, (4) The assignment is a valuable, though imperfect, vehicle for learning about Engineering Systems and for launching budding researchers' efforts in the field.

**Keywords** Historical roots • Engineering systems • Methodologies • Knowledge relationships • Citation analysis • Engineering pedagogy

C. L. Magee  $(\boxtimes) \cdot R$ . K. Saari  $\cdot G$ . T. Heaps-Nelson  $\cdot S$ . M. Zoepf  $\cdot J$ . M. Sussman Engineering Systems Division, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 77 Massachusetts Ave, Building E40-369, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA e-mail: cmagee@mit.edu

#### Introduction

"Engineering Systems" is the name used at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) for the study of complex socio-technical systems. Incoming students in the Engineering Systems doctoral program at MIT are required to complete the Engineering Systems Doctoral Seminar (see [1, 2] for thorough course descriptions). The course has two overarching learning objectives:

- 1. Increasing students' knowledge of the field;
- 2. Increasing students' understanding of research in Engineering Systems.

An assignment in this course—dubbed "Historical Roots"—evolved into one of the major tools for accomplishing both learning objectives. Now that the assignment has been offered five times, the faculty decided to share their experiences and student perspectives on the nature and value of this assignment as teaching tool for ES, and its preliminary insights into the historical roots of this new and vibrant field. From these faculty and student perspectives, this chapter explores both the content of and suitable pedagogy for the intellectual foundations of the field, and the relationships among its foundations.

This chapter is structured as follows: the assignment and student submissions are described in section Historical Roots Assignment. Section Methodology describes the sources of the observations provided in this chapter, which are based on the faculty's reflections on the assignment and their review of the submitted materials. Student feedback was also solicited through the use of a web survey. A quantitative summary of the survey data is presented in section Survey Results and integrated results are detailed in section Integrated Observations and Findings. Overall discussion of the results follows in section Discussion.

#### **Historical Roots Assignment**

The Historical Roots assignment asks pairs or teams of students to explore the intellectual interconnections between two topics in ES. Each student team selects both a "historical root" *and* a "modern methodology." The assignment further requires<sup>1</sup> that each team explore forward in time from their historical root and backward in time from the modern methodology using careful historical analysis of the literature, citation analysis and other methods to explore the complex web of work which precedes current Engineering Systems practice and research. Students present their analysis in a 5,000 word report and a 25 min in-class presentation.<sup>2</sup> In the faculty's view, the historical development of these interrelated fields is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The full detailed assignment is provided as an appendix to this document.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The presentations were not part of the assignment in 2008 but were from 2009–2012.

Year	Historical root	Methodology
2012	Complexity theory	Modern network analysis
	Game theory	Decision making under uncertainty
	History of technology	Technological dynamics
	General systems theory	System dynamics
	Operations research	Stochastic optimization
	Organizational theory	System architecting
2011	Impact of technology on the economy	Technological dynamics
	Cybernetics and control theory	Strategy
	Sociobiology	Modern network analysis
	Complexity theory	Social networks
	Organizational theory	Real options analysis
2010	Equilibrium economic analysis	Benefit cost analysis for project evaluation
	(Historical) network analysis	Social networks
	Sociobiology	Agent based modeling
	Cybernetics and control theory	System dynamics
	Operations research	Stochastic optimization
	Negotiation	Consensus building
2009	Equilibrium economic analysis	Operations research network analysis
	Impact of technology on the economy	Stakeholder analysis
	(Historical) network analysis	Modern network analysis
	Supervisory control	Decision making under uncertainty
	Scientific management	Real options analysis
	Scientific management	Strategy development
	Game theory	Decision analysis
2008	Decision theory	Decision making under uncertainty
	(Historical) system dynamics	Agent based modeling
	Systems engineering	Multi-attribute tradespace exploration
	(Historical) network analysis	Social networks
	Impact of technology on the economy	Strategy
	Decision theory	Agent based modeling

 Table 1 Root and methodology pairs (on same line) for all 30 papers submitted from 2008–2012. Topics shaded in grey have been selected more than once

explored deeply in each submission.<sup>3</sup> Over the past 5 years, students have chosen the pairs of historical roots and modern methodologies shown in Table 1.

Students were free to select any pairing of the topics, including those listed in the assignment, or a topic proposed by the student. Even though a number of roots and a number of methodologies were studied more than once, only twice was the same pairing chosen. Hence, virtually all of the 30 reports submitted represent unique endeavors.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  Two example submissions have been posted by the student authors [3, 4] and are worth examination by the interested reader.

#### Methodology

In advance of the Council of Engineering Systems Universities Network (CESUN) conference in Delft in June, 2012, the authors gleaned their insights and perspectives from the 24 student submissions that had been completed by that time. This chapter's lead author generated the insights described in section Integrated Observations and Findings by reviewing the 24 student submissions and the associated faculty-provided feedback; these represent the faculty perspectives on the assignment. The authors sought the perspectives of all students to complete the course through a web survey described herein. This survey has been offered to all 60 students completing the course from 2008–2012.

#### Student Web Survey

The authors sought student perspectives on the Historical Roots assignment using a survey designed to gather information in the following categories:

- General attitude toward and retrospective feedback regarding the assignment;
- Recall of insights, ideas, skills and methodologies gleaned from the assignment and their influence on students' subsequent doctoral research activities; and
- Evaluations of the role of the assignment in Engineering Systems cohort and community building.

The survey consisted of 16 questions, including multiple-choice, Likert scale, and open-ended response.<sup>4</sup> It was offered online using Survey Monkey<sup>5</sup> to the 60 students who have completed the Historical Roots assignment in the MIT Engineering Systems doctoral seminar as of December, 2012. Invitations to participate were sent by email in early 2012 and 2013.<sup>6</sup> The survey response rate was 80 % (i.e., 48 responses out of 60), with most respondents completing the survey in 15–30 min.

To complement the multiple-choice responses, 12 of 16 questions allowed for elaboration and open-ended comments, providing a qualitative source to search for common themes in the students' perspectives. One author coded the 225 qualitative responses obtained. The coding categories were developed after reading all responses. They include responses by students about learning the history, development, and interrelation of Engineering Systems fields and scholars. They also include remarks about learning concepts and methods related to ES, and gaining

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The complete survey instrument is included as an attachment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Available at www.surveymonkey.com.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Initial survey was sent out to 2008–2011 students in January, 2012. The same survey was sent again in February, 2013 to participants in the 2012 class.

skills relevant to ES research. The codes are described in an appendix, and the results are presented in section Survey Results.

In collecting and analyzing student perspectives, the authors attempted to mitigate issues such as misunderstanding, respondent fatigue, and bias. In developing the final instrument, the authors consulted four student pre-testers and two MIT survey methodology experts. The final survey instrument was designed to guard against acquiescence bias [5], and social acceptability bias. Steps within the survey included: careful question wording; and the option to gracefully opt-out of individual questions, the whole survey, and the qualitative responses. These biases were further mitigated through measures to preserve respondent anonymity. Specifically, raw responses were available only to the three student co-authors, and were anonymized before they were analyzed; the results were aggregated before they were shared with the professorial co-authors. Certainly, selection, acquiescence, and social acceptability biases may still be present. However, the seemingly frank and sometimes critical nature of the responses provides some measure of confidence.

Another potential bias is a variation in the respondents' ability to recall the pertinent details. Given that the respondents completed this assignment between several months and several years prior to this study, a systematic bias is also possible for students of earlier years (e.g., 2008–2009). To accommodate lack of recall, survey questions included "do not recall" response options and allowed the respondent to skip questions, where appropriate. By way of reminder, the invitation to participate included a list of roots and methodologies chosen by each student pair (see anonymous list in Table 1), but no other efforts were made to aid respondents' recall.

Another potential temporal bias arises from the minor inter-annual differences in the Historical Roots assignment details (see section Historical Roots assignment), though none were deemed important enough to necessitate separate survey instruments for separate years. Instead, results were analyzed by year as well as in aggregate to identify temporal variations (see section Survey Results).

### **Survey Results**

The main survey results are briefly introduced here and later referenced in section Integrated Observations and Findings. The multiple-choice responses are summarized in Table 2, and Figs. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8. They indicate a generally positive attitude toward the assignment and a recollection of useful skills and insights, though these understandably diminish with the time elapsed since completion of the assignment (see Figs. 7, 8).

Responses to specific social and learning aspects of the assignment were generally positive. Figures 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 quantify responses to these individual questions.

In their open-ended responses, students described gaining insights into the roots of Engineering Systems, increasing their knowledge of the field, and increasing

	X = Ideas or insights	X = Skills or methodologies
Can you remember any new [X] to which you were exposed through your historical roots assignment? [If you answered yes, please describe them here]	81 % replied yes	79 % replied yes
Have you used any [X] from this assignment in your subsequent research? [If so, which ones?]	48 % replied yes	35 % replied yes

**Table 2** Survey responses (*from Questions* 3–6) indicate a positive impact of the historical roots assignment on development of student knowledge and, to a lesser extent, direct contributions to research



their understanding of research in the field. The major themes found included (number of mentions in parentheses): the interrelation of fields (18); the historical development of Engineering Systems and related fields (34), including the importance of key scholars (13); learning about concepts (38) and methods (33) related to Engineering Systems; and the development of scholarly skills (42) such as literature searches (28) and citation analysis (20). See Fig. 9.

#### **Integrated Observations and Findings**

This section summarizes the faculty and student perspectives in two broad categories: (1) development and interrelation of fields underlying Engineering Systems; and, (2) pedagogy, value and limitations of the assignment in developing



future scholars in Engineering Systems. Broadly speaking, the first section introduces some of the specific findings and meta-results from the assignments, and the second provides the student perspectives on their learning.





Fig. 5 Students were somewhat polarized by the investment of time in the assignment. (Question 12: Rate your level of agreement with the following statement: Overall, the Historical Roots assignment was worth the time I devoted to it?)





Fig. 7 Nearly monotonic decrease in recollection of new ideas or insights suggests possible recollection bias (Q3). (Question: Can you remember any new ideas or insights to which you were exposed through your Historical Roots assignment?)

Can you remember any new ideas or insights to which you were exposed through your Historical Roots assignment?



361



**Fig. 8** Responses suggest that more recent classes have a slightly more positive recollection of the historical roots assignment (Q12). Unlabeled responses indicate that no response was given. (Question 12: Rate your level of agreement with the following statement: Overall, the Historical Roots assignment was worth the time I devoted to it?)



#### Student reponses on learning outcomes 1. Concepts, method, and research 2. Historical development

Fig. 9 Students reported learning about the historical development of ES, and about ES concepts, methods, and research (open-ended responses) (The explanation of the codes is provided in Appendix C)

## Development and Interrelations of Fields Underlying Engineering Systems

The development and interrelation of fields is a pervasive theme throughout the submitted assignments and is clearly evidenced in many of the open-ended survey comments. The importance of the development and interrelations of the fields underlying Engineering Systems is embodied in several survey responses below<sup>7</sup>:

- "The fact that many of today's challenges were actually being discussed back as early in the 1960s;"
- "Establishing a new discipline (e.g., [Engineering Systems]) requires knowing history and using it in a different way;"
- "Science is a very personality driven process, with major advancements centered around specific individuals."

*Relationships Among Fields Underlying Engineering Systems.* The submissions' greatest focus is on the relationships among different fields. Some selected examples from the papers that explore these relationships are:

- A submission containing detailed expositions of the relationships among developers of linear programming, non-linear programming, integer programming, combinatorial optimization, stochastic programming and Monte Carlo methods;
- 2. A submission demonstrating that the tension between cost-benefit analysis and economic theory that continues even today had its beginnings in the 1930s [6];
- 3. Submissions demonstrating a strong link of sociobiology to modern network analysis [7] and to agent based modeling [8];
- 4. A submission identifying Homans [9] as the first to use matrix realignment in identifying social groups in Social Network Analysis;
- 5. Numerous submissions demonstrating that particular roots have direct impact on numerous modern methods—for one example, OR can be shown to have influenced stochastic optimization, strategy development, dynamic programming, and network theory among other methods of relevance to Engineering Systems.

The assignments frequently produce novel observations, including the discovery of "deep roots" of a field, surprising inter-relationships, and apparently deliberate ignoring of closely related work, among others.

"Deep roots" are those that originate in centuries past. One example is a submission tracing modern social network analysis back to a stochastic model of social networks developed in 1875 by Francis Galton. A second deep root was illustrated in a submission chronicling the evolution of cost-benefit analysis in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Note that typographical errors in student responses have been corrected when presented here. When they have been edited (either for anonymity or clarity), this is indicated by square brackets.

18th century France and its use in the early 19th century by Thomas Jefferson's Secretary of the Treasury, Albert Gallatin.

Surprising inter-relationships were those that created unexpected linkages between fields, often through convoluted pathways, individual scholars or unique works. A submission demonstrating a strong linkage between cybernetics and business strategy by emphasizing, among others, the work of Maruyama [10] and Boyd [11] is an example. A second surprising inter-relationship is identified in a submission demonstrating a strong connection between scientific management [12] and strategy development [13, 14] via the conduits of OR, organizational theory and industrial psychology. In addition to these direct and indirect links, the papers often demonstrate substantial conceptual linkages in novel ways; for example: between a "Engineering Systems framing paper" by Moses [15] and the work of Schumpeter [16–18]; and, another submission demonstrating the links from negotiation to game theory, decision-making and social psychology [19]. Another interesting if not surprising example is the influence of cybernetics on social sciences, evidenced by convincing quotations from scholars like Phillips [20] and Simon [21, 22].

The concept of "apparently deliberate ignoring" refers to a lack of citation or collaboration where it would be expected. One submission showed the total absence of references between four leaders of system dynamics and five leaders of cybernetics despite their evolution in close proximity. A quote from the openended survey results reflects on this unexpected finding, "I was exposed to the complicated relationship (or lack thereof) between Norbert Weiner and Jay Forrester. Despite largely the same subject material, their lack of collaboration is unusual."

In addition to those noted in individual submissions, some interrelations between fields became clear only during the session dedicated to student presentations. Reading and listening to each assignment gave both students and professors a wider appreciation of the breadth of Engineering Systems and the complex interlinking of its underlying fields. This element of student learning is evidenced by their responses to survey Question #9 (see Fig. 1), in which 86 % indicated that they learned a lot from listening to their classmates' presentations.

#### The Importance of Historical Context in the Development of Fields

Several students noted the importance of historical context in shaping the development of concepts and fields. For example, in their class presentation, one group noted how Euler's publication in Latin may have slowed the diffusion of his foundational contributions to graph theory. Another student noted, "how different concepts are shaped and forged depending on the historical context (e.g., the birth of Operations Research as a consequence of WWII)."

Apart from "apparently deliberate ignoring," the papers also describe how concepts can be lost in time, or discovered separately by distinct groups of scholars. Many submissions delineate differences in approaches from different



#### **Top 5 Early Contributors**

Fig. 10 Seminal engineering systems contributors most cited by survey respondents

disciplines and frequently find evidence of lost or delayed conceptual connections. (A specific example arises between de Solla Price's original work in power laws (see [23]) and independent "rediscovery" later by researchers from outside of the social networks field.) This shows that careful cross-disciplinary literature search is not always practiced as widely as would be desirable.

# The Importance of Key Individuals to the Development of Engineering Systems

An important common theme among the assignments was the prominent role of certain scholars. As one respondent put it, "Every methodology and root analyzed had not only common themes, but common actors in their past." Collectively, the assignments point to substantial intellectual legacies in multiple fields by the likes of Jay Forrester and John Von Neumann. The authors were surprised by the evidence—in the papers and from the survey—of the singular influence of Herbert Simon among these historical roots.

In response to the survey (Question 7), students named a maximum of three important early contributors to Engineering Systems as a field. Figure 10 depicts the top five contributors mentioned: Herbert Simon, Jay Forrester, John Von Neumann, Norbert Wiener, and Joseph Schumpeter. Others mentioned include (those with multiple mentions are noted in parentheses): R. Ackoff (3), P. Anderson, R. Bellman, G. Dantzig, I. de la Sola Pool, L. Euler (2), J. Holland (2), H. Kahn, D. Kahneman (2), J. Little, M. Maier (2), B. Mandelbroit, J. March, A. Marshall, D. Meadows, S. Milgram, P. Morse (2), L. Mumford, K. Popper (2), H. Raiffa (3), E. Rechtin (2), P. Romer, L.J. Savage, C. Shannon, C.P. Snow (2), R. Solow, F. Taylor, A. Tversky, and L. von Bertalanffy (3). The breadth of fields represented by this group of scholars attests to the broad foundations of Engineering Systems.

#### Pedagogy: Value and Limitation of the Assignment

From the findings described above, the assignment appears to provide, from the faculty's perspective, a valuable vehicle for meeting the two overarching objectives of the course: increasing knowledge of Engineering Systems; and increasing understanding of research in this field. This section employs the survey results to illuminate the student perspective on the relevance of the assignment to the two learning objectives, its potential limitations, and its reported value.

With respect to the course objectives, that of learning about the field was clearly met. The majority of the qualitative survey responses pertained in some way to learning about Engineering Systems. Specifically, the assignment taught them about Engineering Systems as a field, its boundaries, and its breadth. As one student put it, "I really appreciated the time we devoted to learning more about the history of [Engineering Systems] since I believe it added color and depth to my understanding of the field." Fifty-five open-ended responses describe specific insights about concepts and methods related to their chosen fields or to Engineering Systems more generally. One survey respondent said in this regard, "It was great. I learned a lot about my root and methodology and [...] I also learned about various other areas of thought from reading my classmates papers and listening to their presentations."

Students also grew as Engineering Systems scholars, and developed specific research skills. Again, many of these pertained to specific Engineering Systems methods, but fundamental skills in literature search and citation analysis proved to be an important learning outcome. That the students developed these skills is clear from their submissions and was also cited by 71 % survey respondents. Some students gained broader insights into academic research, e.g., "By encouraging us to look at the linkages among different strains in research, I gained new insights to the notion of research as a career and an industry. [...] the main takeaway was learning about the processes by which we have arrived at a new field, and the innovations necessary to be able to think critically about the massive sociotechnical systems with which we are concerned." Others, however, were pleased to learn specifically about their own area of research, e.g., "The assignment provided a great grounding in ES, an opportunity to dig into the literature of one of my areas of research [...]."

Not all students were so fortunate as to learn material that applied directly to their dissertation research. Some students noted this as a limitation of the assignment. At this early stage in their doctoral program, it can prove challenging for each student to choose a relevant root or method. Table 2 in section Survey Results gives quantitative evidence relative to this issue. While approximately 80 % of the respondents remembered new insights, ideas, skills or methodologies they learned from the assignment, only 30–50 % used them in subsequent research. Two quotes from the open-ended survey input highlight this discrepancy:

• "Not applicable to my research, but history and context for the methods one uses generally is a good thing."

• "The skills gained in performing literature searches and citation analyses were useful. The exercise of research, writing and presentation were good practice. Not "strongly agree" because the content of the paper was quite tangential to my research."

Related to these responses were indications in six open-ended comments about the (possibly excessive) time commitment needed to complete the assignment. Perhaps conversely, two other students critiqued the level of depth of study afforded by the assignment's format. The remaining critiques cited the limitations of citation analysis and suggested improvements to the assignment wording (e.g., the level of guidance). There were several strong objections to the use of assigned partners, but the majority of students were pleased to work in pairs (>70 %).

Despite these limitations, the majority of students found the assignment to be worthwhile overall (>70 %), as shown by their responses to Question 12 (see Fig. 8). In the words of the students:

- "Most valuable assignment I have completed in the doctoral program thus far. It was very time-consuming, but helped to frame what [Engineering Systems] actually is and from where it has emerged."
- "I really think this was an excellent assignment. It was a great way to explore the key methodologies in engineering systems and their roots. I really learned a lot."

Figure 11 summarizes the author and student perspectives of the learning benefits realized by students through their completion of the Historical Roots assignment.




# Discussion

Re-examining the student submissions to the Historical Roots assignment and surveying the students who completed the assignment produced a broadly consistent set of observations. Specifically, Engineering Systems roots and methodologies are intertwined in a complex fashion and arise from a wide variety of disciplines and fields. Nonetheless, several key individuals have published work which has profoundly shaped the field. In particular, the work of Herbert Simon is most notable. Having had an outsized impact on this field is consistent with Simon's tendency to cross-over strongly between technical disciplines, such as computer science and artificial intelligence, and social sciences, such as economics and social psychology, not to mention his impact on organizational theory and engineering design. Other highly cited contributors to the roots of engineering systems including von Neumann, Wiener, Forrester and Schumpeter also exhibited particularly wide-ranging intellectual pursuits and interests.

The interdisciplinary nature of Engineering Systems imparts the advantage of insight derived from disciplines in the natural sciences, engineering, social sciences and business. Consequently, however, it is difficult to isolate the impacts of these disciplines on the overall field. The origins of Engineering Systems are deep and varied, with each root bringing the intellectual imprints of its source discipline. As one might expect, it is often difficult to accurately untangle and definitively establish a clear relationship between a particular root and a modern methodology. This is not a critical problem except to budding scholars attempting to learn enough about this field to become practicing and viable researchers. One key challenge for the development of Engineering Systems as a vibrant discipline may revolve around the need to educate researchers just starting out in the field. The evidence reviewed in this chapter and summarized in Fig. 11, indicates that the "Historical Roots" assignment discussed herein can serve as a highly useful—but imperfect—tool for meeting this crucial challenge.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to acknowledge several colleagues who provided significant insight, particularly with respect to the survey instrument; both Lisa D'Ambrosio and Roberto Perez-Franco offered much appreciated advice in this area. We would also like to acknowledge our four student survey pre-testers, particularly Judy Maro for her comprehensive review of the instrument and an earlier draft of this chapter. Finally, we would like to acknowledge the 60 MIT Engineering Systems Division students from ESD.83's 2008–2012 classes for their diligent and innovative efforts on the assignment and for their participation in the assignment survey.

# Appendix A: Historical Roots Assignment as Given Fall, 2011

Author	Field or concept	Starting date (approximate)
L. Euler	Network analysis	1776
A. Marshall	Equilibrium economic analysis	1890s
F. Taylor	Scientific management	1890s
J. Von Neumann	Game theory	1928
J. Schumpeter	Impact of technology on the economy	1930
L. Bertalanffy	General systems theory	1930s
K. Lewin	Social psychology	1930s
H. Simon	Organizational theory	Early 1940s
C. Shannon	Communication theory	1940s
P. Morse	Operations research	1940s
N. Weiner	Cybernetics and control theory	1950
S. Ramo	Systems engineering	1950s
V. Hubka	The science of engineering design	1960s
R. Richta	Technological evolution	1960s
H. Simon	Complexity theory	1962
E.O. Wilson	Sociobiology	1975

The field of contemporary engineering system derives from many historical roots. Some selected roots of engineering systems are as follows: Some Selected Historical Roots of ES

From these roots (and others as well), the field of contemporary engineering systems has emerged.

One way (but far from the only way) to characterize the field of contemporary engineering systems is by considering the various methodologies that support the field now. Examples of what we might consider as methodologies for contemporary engineering systems along with key authors are as follows:

#### Some Methodologies for Contemporary ES

ES methodology	Suggested authors
Real options analysis	R. de Neufville
Stakeholder analysis	R. Freeman
Strategy development	H. Mintzburg, M. Porter
Grounded theory	B. Glaser, A. Strauss
Decision making under uncertainty	R. Keeney, H. Raiffa
System architecting	E. Rechtin, M. Maier
Social networks	S. Wasserman, K. Faust
Modern network analysis	A. Barabasi, D. Watts, M. Newman
Dynamic programming	D. P. Bertsekas

(continued)

(continued)	
ES methodology	Suggested authors
Stochastic optimization	J. Schneider, S. Kirkpatrick, J.C. Spall
OR network analysis	R. Ahuja, T. Magnanti and J. Orlin
Technological dynamics	J. Utterback, C. Magee, J. Trancik

We note that similar terms appear in both the list of historical roots and methodologies of contemporary engineering system, reflecting the evolution of these concepts. In many cases, the approaches changed over time so today's methodology is quite different from a similarly termed root.

This relationship between historical roots and current engineering systems methodologies can be approached in one of two possible ways and is illustrated in the figure below.



The first approach is to choose one of the possible historical roots noted above (or perhaps an additional one you would like to suggest) and trace it forward to indicate its impact on the field of contemporary engineering systems as characterized by the methodologies, also noted above. So you want to identify scholarly work that built upon the root, tracing it through to today's foundation methodologies. Some of the roots may impact several of the contemporary methodologies.

There is an alternative way to think about the relationship between past intellectual developments and the field of contemporary engineering systems. This involves "backcasting" from where we are today to the roots. In this construction, one chooses one of the methodologies of *contemporary engineering systems* and works backwards in time to ascertain from whence it came. Again, a methodology as used today may derive from several of the roots. We have defined each methodology as currently used by noting the work of key authors on that methodology. Again, you could suggest additional current methods or authors.

For this assignment, we ask you to work in pairs, which we have specified, to create diversity in interests. Each pair will select one historical root and one contemporary Engineering Systems methodology as currently practiced. We request that you post your selections to the ESD.83 Wiki (https://wikis.mit.edu/confluence/display/esdDOT83fa11/Historial+Roots+Assignment+Selection). We suggest (but don't require) that you choose a root and methodology that you presume are related such that the root will be one you believe a priori affects your current methodology. The instructing staff will approve your root/method pair, and

we will let you know this via email. *Remember you are invited to propose other historical roots or current methodologies.* 

It will be interesting to contrast what we learn from the two approaches—e.g., if a root-based analysis shows impact on a methodology, did the methodology-based analysis trace back to that root?

This assignment should involve careful historical research of the literature and result in a single jointly submitted paper that describes **both** the flow from historical root to current methodologies, and the flow from current methodology to historical roots. The paper should be about 5,000 words, not including tables and figures you may use to illustrate the interconnections in the literature. (Remember, visual thinking can be powerful.) It is envisioned that the references should be extensive (30–40 or more might be typical).

Some approaches you should include in your paper:

- Contributors *not* listed in the historical roots table and contemporaneous scholarly responses to the work of the author we cite
- Citation analysis to estimate the influence of various works as paths between roots and methodologies are developed
- Influences on practice and research in various domains/contexts that are clear today

#### Some useful resources

In many cases, Wikipedia may provide an excellent starting point (www.wikipedia.org). From there you may be able to identify the major works which you may then build from in more rigorous and in-depth library research. The MIT Libraries has online access to the Web of Science, a citation database that may be a good place to start your citation analysis as well as discover important works. (http://libraries.mit.edu/guides/cheatsheets/wos/)

# **Appendix B: Survey Distributed to Historical Roots Participants**

Historical Roots
In tro du c tio n
The purpose of b is survey is t gather your t oughts and opinions about t e Historical Roots assignment you completed as part of t e doctoral seminar course ESD.83 (Doctoral Seminar in Engineering Systems) which you took at MT. The survey results will be incorporated into one or more academic/conference papers which describe the assignment and analyze its strengths and weaknesses. There have only been a total 47 ES doctoral students at MT who have completed the Historical Roots assignment, so every survey response counts!
The survey should take you approximately 15-30 minutes to complete.
Please answer the following questions regarding that assignment to the best of your ability.
Historical Roots Survey Page 1 of 3
*1. W hat were your main reasons for selecting your Historical Root? Please selectall that
apply.
I do not recall
Prior knowledge in that area
Curiosity about a new field
Expected usefulness for intended doctoral research
Personal affiliation with area practitioners/theorists
My partner proposed this root
Other (please specify)
*2. What were your main reasons for selecting your Modern Methodology? Please select
all that apply.
I do not recall
Prior knowledge in that area
Curiosity about a new field
Expected usefulness for intended doctoral research
Pers onal affiliation with area practitioners/theorists
My partner proposed this methodology
Other (please specify)

The Historical Roots of the Field of Engineering Systems

Contributor 3

Historical Roots \*3. Can you remember any new ideas or insights to which you were exposed through your Historical Roots assignment? () Yes ○ No If you answered Yes, please describe them here. \*4. Have you used any ideas or insights you gained from this assignment in your subsequent research? () Yes () No If so, which ones? \*5. Can you remember any new skills or methodologies to which you were exposed through your Historical Roots assignment? () Yes () No If you answered Yes, please describe them here. \*6. Have you used any skills or methodologies you learned from this assignment in your subsequent research? () Yes O No If so, which ones? Historical Roots Survey Page 2 of 3 7. In your view, who are the most important early thinkers (i.e., with main intellectual contributions occurring prior to 1980) in the field of Engineering Systems? (up to a maximum of 3) Contributor 1 Contributor 2

Historical Ro	oots				
*8. Did your experience with the ESD.83 Historical Roots assignment encourage you to					
explore more deeply the historical roots of your subsequent doctoral research?					
O do not recall	🔿 too soon to say	O not at all	🔿 very little	🔘 somewhat	O to a great
Pleas e elaborate here	if you desire				
*9. Rate your	level of a greem	ent with the fo	llowing stateme	ent: "From liste	ning to my
classmates pr	esentations of t	heir Historical	Roots assignme	nt, I learned a l	ot about the
breadth and d	epth of enginee	ring systems."			
🔘 do not recall	Strongly agree	O somewhat agree	neither agree	O somewhat disagree	O strongly disagree
Pleas e elaborate here	if you desire				
*10.How imp	ortant was the	Historical Root	s assignment to	helping you fe	el like a part of
the emerging	Engineering Sys	stems research	com munity?		
O do not recall	O not at all im	portant Oslighti	y important O so	omewhat important	very important
*11.How imp	ortant was the	H is torica   Root	ts assignment t	o helping you fe	ela sense of
community wi	th your year's c	o hort of doc tor	al stude nts?		
O do not recall	O not applicable - not an ES doctoral student	O not at all important	slightly important	o somewhat important	O very important
Historical Ro	ots Survey Pa	ge 3 of 3			
*12. Rate vou	r level of agree	ment with the f	ollowing statem	ent: "Overall. tl	he Historical
Roots Assignm	ent was the wo	rth the time I d	evoted to it."		
do not recall	Strongly agree	Somewhat agree	oneither agree	O somewhat disagree	O strongly disagree
Please elaborate, if yo	u wish				
					×
*13 Pate ver	r level of agree	mant with the f	allowing statem	anti fil was ala	to work with a
partner on the Historical Roots assignment."					
partner on the	Il lot vile al neo.				

7-	
The assignment requirements were too m	uch for one person
My partner did as much or more work that	n I did
My partner was a pleasure to work with	
I enjoyed getting to know my partner	
My partner's differing background or insig	hts were valuable to this assignment
None of the above	
Other (please specify)	
5. If there is anything else vo	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme
5. If there is anything else yo	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5 . If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below. vonses anonymously in conference presentations and/or
5. If the re is anything else yo or this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp ournal articles?	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp purnal articles? Yes, you may quote me anonymous ly	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp purnalarticles? Yes, you may quote me anonymously No, please do not quote me	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo or this survey, please do so in	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo or this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your cost	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below. vonses anonymously in conference presentations and/or
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in * 16. May we quote your resp purnal articles?	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp ournal articles?	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp purnal articles?	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp purnal articles? Yes, you may quote me anonymous ly	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp purnal articles?	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp burnalarticles? Yes. you may quote me anonymously No. please do not quote me	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp purnal articles? Yes, you may quote me anonymously No, please do not quote me	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo r this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp purnal articles? Yes, you may quote me anonymous ly No, please do not quote me	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.
5. If the re is anything else yo or this survey, please do so in *16. May we quote your resp ournal articles? Yes. you may quote me anonymously No, please do not quote me Detional comments on quoting	u would like to tell us about the Historical Roots assignme the space below.

# **Appendix C: Explanation of Codes**

Code	Meaning of code
Interrelation of fields	Remarks that mention a link between topics or fields, or remarks in general about the interrelation of fields
Importance of key scholars	Remarks that cite learning about the importance of specific individual scholars, or of learning in general how certain scholars had particular influence
Historical development of field	Remarks that cite learning about the history of engineering systems, the history of an ES topic, or the development of the field, or the history of an ES concept or idea
Concept related to ES	Remarks that cite learning a specific new ES-related concept, (e.g., theories, definitions) or says they learned about ES concepts in general
Method related to ES	Remarks that cite learning about a specific new ES-related method, or, said they learned about methods in general
Scholarly skills	Remarks that mention scholarly skills, which primarily included citation analysis, literature search, scholar search, forward/back casting between scholars or fields, and research communication (e.g., clear writing and presentation of research)

# References

- Massachusetts Institute of Technology (2012) Open courseware. http://ocw.mit.edu/courses/ engineering-systems-division/esd-83-doctoral-seminar-in-engineering-systems-fall-2009/. Last Accessed 10 Feb 2012
- Roberts C, Magee C, Sussman J (2009) Teaching an engineering systems doctoral seminar: concepts and structure. Second international symposium on engineering systems, Cambridge, Massachusetts, 15–17 June 2009. Available at. http://esd.mit.edu/symp09/day3.html. Last Accessed 18 Feb 2012
- Santen N, Wood D (2008) Linking historical roots and current methodologies of engineering systems. Massachusetts institute of technology, engineering systems division. Working paper series (ESD-WP-2008-22). http://esd.mit.edu/wps/2008/esd-wp-2008-22.pdf. Last Accessed 18 Feb 2012
- Cameron B, Pertuze J (2009) Disciplinary links between scientific management and strategy development. Massachusetts institute of technology, engineering systems division. Working paper series (ESD-WP-2009-19). http://esd.mit.edu/wps/2009/esd-wp-2009-19.pdf. Last Accessed 18 Feb 2012
- 5. Dillman D, Smyth J, Christian L (2009) Internet, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: the tailored design method, 3rd edn. Wiley, Hoboken
- 6. Samuelson P (1938) A note on the pure theory of consumers' behaviour. Economica 5:61-71
- 7. Nowak MA (2006) Five rules for the evolution of cooperation. Science 314:1560-1563
- 8. Axelrod R, Hamilton WD (1981) The evolution of cooperation. Science 211:1390-1396
- 9. Homans GC (1951) The human group. Routledge and Kegan Paul, London
- Maruyama M (1963) The second cybernetics: deviation amplifying mutual causal processes. Am Sci 51:164–179
- 11. Boyd JR (1987) A discourse on winning and losing. Unpublished set of briefing slides available at. http://www.ausairpower.net/JRB/intro.pdf. Last Accessed 18 Feb 2012
- 12. Taylor F (1911) The principles of scientific management. Harper and Brothers, New York
- Mintzberg H (1990) The design school: reconsidering the basic premises of strategic management. Strateg Manage J 11:171–195
- 14. Porter ME (1980) Competitive strategy. Free Press, New York
- 15. Moses J (2004) Foundational issues in engineering systems: a framing paper. Massachusetts institute of technology, engineering systems monograph. Available at. http://esd.mit.edu/symposium/pdfs/monograph/framing.pdf. Last Accessed 18 Feb 2012
- Schumpeter J (1936) The theory of economic development. Trans Redvers Opie, 2nd edn. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA
- 17. Schumpeter J (1939) Business cycles: a theoretical, historical, and statistical analysis of the capitalist process. McGraw-Hill, New York
- 18. Schumpeter J (1976) Capitalism, socialism, and democracy. Harper Perennial, New York
- 19. Osinga FP (2007) Science, strategy, and war. Routledge, New York
- 20. Phillips AW (1954) Stabilization policy in a closed economy. Econ J 64(254):290-323
- 21. Simon H (1957) Models of man. Wiley, New York
- 22. Simon H (1962) The architecture of complexity. In: Proceedings of the American philosophical society, vol 106, pp 467–482
- 23. de Solla Price DJ (1965) Networks of scientific papers. Science, pp 510-515

# **Complexity Induced Vulnerability Assessment: How Resilient are Our Academic Programs?**

Behnido Y. Calida, Adrian V. Gheorghe, Resit Unal, Dan V. Vamanu and Corneliu V. Radu

Abstract Academic departments in the field of critical societal infrastructures need to assess and upgrade their existing programs and course offerings for several important reasons such as: (1) to regularly assess a curricula's structure, (2) to maintain competitiveness, (3) to assess the resiliency of a given academic program, and (4) to ensure its relevance to the fast changing environment and context among others. This work builds on previous work to apply the previously developed resiliency assessment methodology to compare and ascertain some similarities and divergences in two Engineering Management programs, albeit in the same discipline but offered in different countries. A graph theory-based complexity perspective was used as a tool to make a comparative assessment of the course offerings between the two programs. Specifically, we can regard a Graduate program offering as a multi-component (many body) system consisting of its internal connectivity (i.e. combination of course offering as member interactions) defining structural complexity and as a source of vulnerability, hence resiliency. Authors propose an alternate methodology that combines the state-of-the-art in clustering text analysis as well as complexity-induced vulnerability quantitative methodologies recently used in performance quantification of complex systems.

**Keywords** Complexity-induced vulnerability • Academic program governance • Decision support system • Engineering management • Graduate program assessment

B. Y. Calida  $(\boxtimes) \cdot A$ . V. Gheorghe  $\cdot R$ . Unal

Department of Engineering Management and Systems Engineering, Old Dominion University, Kaufman Hall, Rm. 241, Norfolk, VA 23529, USA e-mail: bcalida@odu.edu

D. V. Vamanu

C. V. Radu Economic Engineering Department, University Politehnica of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

Horia Hulubei' National Institute of Physics and Nuclear Engineering, 30 Reactorului Street 077125 Bucharest, Magurele, Romania

# Introduction

Academic departments need to analyze, assess and qualify their existing program and course offering for several important reasons such as (1) to regularly assess a curricula's structure, (2) to maintain competitiveness, and (3) to ensure its resiliency and relevance to the fast changing environment and context, among others. At the heart of these programs as promoted by every educational enterprise is a curriculum. It has been noted that the topic of curriculum development is still not a central topic in research literature for higher education although related educational institutions have expanded and become more complex [1]. Several intricate societal factors interplay continually shaping individual academic departments [2] and even the entire US education system [3, 4] as a whole to create responsive and effective educational programs. At the level of individual academic departments, as represented in Fig. 1, which is the focus of this study, findings and assessments resulting from these types of exercises are helpful in many ways. For instance, department chairs or graduate program directors need data in order to make informed decisions.

A situation arises when academic departments see the need to incorporate changes in the curricula or course program offerings. In [5], a methodology was



Fig. 1 Framing problem context in curricula assessment and development for higher educational institutions

demonstrated that will help quantify and visualize where some updating needs to be addressed in an academic department's curriculum offering. This is particularly meaningful when working in an area or discipline such as engineering management; this is as dynamic and wide-scoped domain. Interdisciplinary knowledge on management, governance, systems engineering, investment sciences, advanced modeling and simulation, inter alia, are of high relevance and practical applicability. In the context of the present work, resiliency is a system characteristic highlighting the capability of a given system/system of systems (e.g. a graduate curricula) to include, adapt, modernize in order to incorporate new knowledge, abilities, and skills, to comply with rapid developments in science, technology and practical endeavor.

The objective of this follow-on work is to compare two existing Engineering Management curricula using the methodology mentioned above. This methodology adopted a comprehensive systemic approach to analyze, assess, and quantify performance of the two identified graduate academic programs. This exercise will allow an university administrator to design or to assess *the resiliency* of a graduate program in times of dynamic societal and technological changes. The two cases in focus are about engineering management and systems engineering programs being offered at Old Dominion University and the University Polytechnica of Bucharest (Universitatea Politehnica din Bucuresti).

# **Engineering: Societal Programs Dealing with Complex Interdependent Systems**

## **Engineering Management Programs**

A quick glance of recent literature from the field of engineering management (EM) would easily include a wide-range of topics that cover hard engineering-related problems to the soft social aspects of management [6]. Still a fast-evolving discipline, scholars and practitioners find it difficult to pinpoint a core area that is unique to the field [7, 8]. Rather, many core areas give EM its multidisciplinary nature. Nonetheless, the challenge of identifying EM's core area or areas, its associated concepts and future direction are the continuing impetus for the discipline to constantly evolve and grow. Thus, EM practitioners and scholars must search for novel ways to characterize, visualize and interpret the many emergent issues in the field, in view of dealing with contemporary complex issues of infrastructures (e.g. stakeholders interactions, smart technologies).

According to Kotnour and Farr [9], the five main knowledge roles in EM can be broken down as *research*, *education*, *training*, *technical assistance*, and *service*. Obviously, research tracks areas that are growing in relevance to the EM practice, which goes hand in hand with education component, the first two have particularly strong implications in the dissemination, training and educational component of the discipline [10]. That is, one cannot interpret the variety of topics within EM to mean that *anything can be related to EM*. Rather, identifying main themes and topics within the discipline is crucial to the search for relevance and timeliness. Academic efforts should embody aspects of technical complexity e.g. infranomics, to be able to claim leadership and relevance.

# Complexity-Derived Resiliency Metrics in Multi-Attribute Decision Environment

Over the years, several different approaches evolved in modeling and structuring complex situations that will ensure a favorable decision outcome. Howard [11], it characterizes the space in terms of its (1) associated complexity, (2) degree of uncertainty, and (3) time factor elements. There is a rich tradition of techniques and tools that can be utilized specifically from the multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA) area which can fit across a decision problem space. Several of these developments followed efforts to better approach problems under conditions of risk and uncertainty. Detailed reading about these new methodologies, improvements, their theoretical progress and their corresponding applications are discussed and reported in numerous conferences proceedings or edited books [12–14].

In contrast, parallel threads of decision analysis techniques, especially for conditions with high degrees of complexity, are still not widely utilized. In this paper, we introduce one tool using the concept of complexity and an approach where it can be applied to an evolving decision context. Utilizing the rigor of complexity-derived constructs from the principle of maximum entropy and graph theory, [15] introduced the concept of *complexity-induced vulnerability*, as a substitute resiliency metric. In the context of this work, resiliency is defined as the system's structural ability to survive external disturbances, within a non-linear dynamic and even wicked operational/behavioral environment. It is one of several tools developed as part of the Quantitative Vulnerability Assessment (QVA) application toolkit originally developed for critical infrastructure protection and management. To begin applying the suggested approach, the problem system needs to be described using graph theory notations and subjected to a '*breadth-first*' algorithm.

An excerpt from the application software documentation describes the over-all methodological approach below:

"A 'breadth-first' search consists in identifying all knots in a graph that can be reached by way of continuity, that is, by walking the edges, starting from an initial, given knot, known as 'the source' of the search... The relevance of 'breadth-first' sets of knots for the QVA issue is as intuitive as its links to system's complexity:

• The deeper the breadth-first sets go into the overall system (graph) structure, the ampler the potential influence on the system, of a single defect, at any given knot;

• On the other hand, the more complex, that is—less modular, a system is, the larger the number of source-knots that would associate extended 'breadth-first' trees into the system.

...(T)o make the QVA assessment as general as feasible, it is proposed that two quantities be defined, to feature a system as a result of 'breadth-first' investigations:

- (a) The Average System Penetrability—obtained by computing the penetration numbers of all knots in the system's graph, and then taking their average; and
- (b) The *Maximum System Penetrability*—obtained by sorting the penetration numbers in process above."

#### **Centering Resonance Analysis**

Centering resonance analysis (CRA) seemed the most appropriate method for text analysis because it is used to identify the most crucial words and link these words into a network; which is also helpful in organizing these structures of words in a holistic manner by looking at the influences of these words due to their locations within the structure [16]. Overall, CRA involves three steps namely selection, linking and indexing. First, the selection step categorizes texts by recognizing connective patterns between words that are crucial to the centering process. Compiling the words and their connections across all utterances in a text yields a CRA network representing the text. In a second linking step, it converts the word sequences into networks of relationships between words. The author or speaker of a text being analyzed with CRA intentionally groups the words into noun phrases and strings these phrases together (using verbs, pronouns, determiners and so forth) to form an utterance. Accumulating links over a set of utterances comprising a text (or paper, collection of papers, transcribed speaking turn or set of turns) yields a symmetric, valued, undirected network whose nodes represent the center-related words. Finally, the third indexing process analyzes the network of word associations to determine the relative influence of each word (or node).

The noun-phrases will be the basis for computing an internal influence and over-all resonance measure. Using word and word-pairs, (pp. 177–179) describes this operational sequence of steps to represent influence and resonance mathematically. Using individual words as the unit of analysis, influence and resonance is given as follows:

The influence I of a word i in text T is given by:

$$I_i^T = \frac{\sum_{j < k} g_{jk}(i) / g_{jk}}{[(N-1)(N-2)/2]}$$
(1)

where  $g_{jk}$  refers to the quantity of shortest paths connecting the jth and kth words,  $g_{jk}(i)$  is the quantity of those paths containing the word *i*, and *N* is the number of words in the network. Once influence *I* is measured throughout the analyzed data text, the over-all resonance or a combined resonance in the presence of another CRA network can be determined next. This can be directly calculated easily using the influence scores of words belonging to two different data text sets. Let the individual words belonging to text A be represented by  $\left[w_1^A, w_2^A, \ldots, w_{N(A)}^A\right]$  with accordingly influence scores given by  $\left[I_1^A, I_2^A, \ldots, I_{N(A)}^A\right]$ . N(A) is the quantity of unique words found in text A. In the same manner, suppose that we have a secondary data text B having a similar representation form given by  $\left[w_1^B, w_2^B, \ldots, w_{N(A)}^B\right]$  with again the influence scores given by  $\left[I_1^B, I_2^B, \ldots, I_{N(B)}^B\right]$  where N(A)  $\neq$  N(B) in general. Let us also assign an indicator variable  $\alpha_{ij}^{AB}$  as equal to 1 if  $w_i^A$  and  $w_i^B$  are the same words and 0 otherwise. The word resonance (p. 178), WR<sub>AB</sub> between text A and B can be calculated using:

$$WR_{AB} = \sum_{i=1}^{N(A)} \sum_{j=1}^{N(B)} I_i^A \cdot I_j^B \cdot \alpha_{ij}^{AB}$$
(2)

To standardize [7] similar to how covariance between two random variables is used to establish a measure of correlation, [7] can also be handled similarly to show:

$$WR'_{AB} = WR_{AB} / \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{N(A)} \sum_{j=1}^{N(B)} I_i^A \cdot I_j^B \cdot \alpha_{ij}^{AB}}$$
(3)

where  $WR'_{AB}$  is the appropriate standardized measure of resonance. The full mathematical representation for using word-pairs as the unit of analysis for computing resonance is shown in detail in [14] (pp. 176–178).

# A Methodology for Resiliency Assessment of Academic Graduate Programs

#### An Overview

The general schema is shown in Fig. 2. This simplified systems analysis diagram represent the over-all approach towards 'resilience' measurement of academic programs, which helps to further analysis and facilitate inquiry. It involves three steps, namely: (1) determining contextual conditions ( $\sim$  the story), (2) data processing, and (3) analysis, The specific methodology employed for data processing and analysis utilizes a two-stage approach using cluster analysis as input to a novel



Fig. 2 General schema arriving to a conceptual 'resilience' measure

complexity-induced vulnerability DSS application. Text data was extracted from Old Dominion University's (ODU) 2008–2009 Graduate Program Catalog, specifically the Department of Engineering's Engineering Management and System Engineering (EMSE) graduate-level course offerings. Using individual courses as the unit of analysis, each data file per course were subjected to cluster analysis. The textual network clustering establishes the conceptual linkage association between courses. This is an important input to the second-stage which in terms of the tools specific notation, individual courses can be regarded as 'knots' with the provision of the 'knot neighbors' or cluster links identified in the prior stage. Output analysis results from the second-stage allow an insightful characterization of the over-all system (in terms of *average system vulnerability* and *total system penetrability*) and/or individual components of the system (in terms of quantitative vulnerability or penetrability from a given *knot—cluster item*).

#### Data Preconditioning and Cluster Analysis Process

Resonance itself, while a latent property of a single CRA network structure, is only realized in the presence of an external signal (i.e., another network). Hence, word resonance is a more general measure of the mutual relevance of two texts. The more frequently two texts (communicators) use the same words, especially in influential positions, the more the word resonance and the more prominent those words in structuring the text's coherence. We carried out the CRA using the Crawdad Text Analysis System software, which eliminated many of the problems often associated with traditional content analysis (e.g., individual bias) that may affect reliability.

To make it implementable and produce a resonance textual network structure, each Graduate Catalog course description is extracted and saved as individual ASCII-text files (\*.txt) and saved inside a single directory folder. The assigned single directory folder will be the main folder where the clustering analysis software can automatically perform its unique clustering algorithm. Each of these text files undergoes preliminary text parsing to extract significant noun-phrases, to extract influence and resonance measures accordingly.

# Complexity-Induced Resiliency Comparative Assessment: The Two Cases

In this study, we performed the analysis of curricula from two independently developed engineering management programs. One is from the Engineering Management program at Old Dominion University. The other one are the related programs offered in University Poltechnica of Bucharest (Universitatea Politehnica din Bucuresti). Specifically, Table 1 is a quick profile of the different programs that were assessed using the developed resiliency assessment methodology.

- Quien prome of two engineering manage	inent departments
Old Dominion University	Universitatea Politehnica din Bucuresti
EMSE graduate program currently has 5 degrees offerings namely:	Master's level programs with two focus areas:
1. Master of Engineering Management (MEM)	1. MANAGEMENT și INGINERIE ECONOMICĂ
2. Master of Science in Engineering	2. MANAGEMENTUL și INGINERIA
Management (MSEM)	AFACERILOR
3. Master of Science in System Engineering	
(MSSE)	
4. PHD	
5. D. Eng in EMSE	

Table 1 Quick profile of two engineering management departments

Briefly, the EMSE Graduate program currently has five degrees e.g. Master of Engineering Management, Master of Systems Engineering, Master of Science in Systems Engineering, Doctor of Philosophy, and Doctor of Engineering, with focus on different core areas/methods: empirical, analytic, social research, professional development, amongst others. The department offers over 50 different courses, distributed between 15 faculty members. More information about the program and the different faculty can be found at http://eng.odu.edu/enma/. Meanwhile, the Universitatea Politehnica din Bucuresti offers two similar programs, specifically the graduate level programs in Business Management Engineering (Ingineria Afacerilor) and in Economics Engineering (Inginerie Economica). As with its US counterpart, these programs also offer a similar set of focus areas. Detailed information about their program offerings can be accessed at http://www.upb.ro/en/.

We now use the specific terminologies known as graphs, knots and links. A *graph* is a multi-component system consisting of the following:

- The members, or constituents, or parts, of the system are the graph's *knots* (e.g. clusters from the semantic analysis);
- The interactions of the clusters/classes are represented by directed knot *links*; and
- The graph is customized to a system by attaching to knots a set of *features*, appropriately quantified and normalized on a resiliency-relevant scale.

The knots are the irreducible components or 'atoms', of a system, and the subjects of the analysis. The type of knots identified depends on the nature of the targeted system. These may represent employees, departments, subsidiaries, *or collections of these*. Together knots show a sufficient degree of coherence to play a coordinated part in the overall system's internal interaction game.

Using the above terms, the graduate program offerings can be regarded as a multi-component (many body) system, with its internal connectivity (member interactions). From the inherent definition of complexity arising from these interactions, knots or a collection of knots may be to some extent act as a source of vulnerability. We can describe the interaction or interconnection between knots such as exchange of information, energy, and/or substance—defines the system structure, by way of its exchange boundaries. Links enter the model by *Connection Lists* attached to each and every knot in the system's graph. Normally, exchanges between knots proceed under an authority rule, or otherwise said—in hierarchic fashions. That is why links are *directed* (i.e. knot A may have knot B on its connection list, while knot B may not necessarily have knot A on its connection list).

What relevant features can we represent as proxies to be able to arrive to a scaled quantification for complexity induced resiliency? Tentatively, we assigned features we picked up from the graduate program description. All the EMSE courses in Graduate Program Catalog can be considered either as a *core course*, an *elective* or a *program degree requirement* depending on the specific graduate

program level, i.e. Master's or PhD. These assigned features were meant to characterize the knots. To introduce some level of assessment, we describe quantitative vulnerability through *values*, and *weights*. 'Values' are attached to system's 'knots'. A feature 'value' is a decimal number in the range 1 through 9, assumed to be in direct proportion to the degree of *vulnerability relevance* that the feature may attain for different knots. 'Weights', on the other hand, compare features in terms of their *relative* vulnerability relevance and are assigned according to the individual or group decision maker's subjective preference.

Here are some operational assumptions that need to be highlighted. The expression higher connectivity is taken as interchangeable with higher vulnerability. Specifically, a higher internal connectivity in a system is a desirable quality only to the extent that the cumulated vulnerability relevance of the connected knots is tolerable. The higher the vulnerability relevance of the knots involved in the exchange path of any knot of origin, including the relevance of the knot of origin itself, the higher the vulnerability induced in the overall system by the respective knot of origin. Hence conversely, the higher the cumulated vulnerability relevance of the system's knots, the higher the system vulnerability itself.

Having necessarily transformed the system using the above notations, it is easy to introduce the associated metrics namely system penetrability and vulnerability relevance. System' *penetrability*—a quality that may have as a metrics the (average) number of knots that can be accessed starting from a (any) given knot in the system; and The connectivity's *vulnerability relevance*, depending on the penetrability defined yet also on the vulnerability relevance grades assigned to knot features. This is can be displayed as separate dashboard style visualizations outputs of the DSS and will be shown together with the results in the next section.

# Quantitative Resiliency Assessment for Two Academic Graduate Programs

# **Conceptual Linkages Overview**

For brevity, the methodology is demonstrated only on the ODU EMSE programs though the same methodology was also done on its counterpart programs. For the ODU EMSE programs, the clustering analysis solution shows five distinct 'conceptual' clustering effects between the different courses. Average size per cluster is around 9.80 with a minimum cluster size of 5 and a maximum cluster size of 19.

In Table 2, the five distinct clusters are as follows: (1) Operations Research (O.R.) and related techniques, (2) Systems and Project Management Theory and Application, (3) EM Degree and Program Requirements, (4) EM Core and Related Courses, and lastly, (5) EM Special Topics and Dissertation Research.

A similar analysis was conducted for the two Engineering Management degree programs offered at University Polytechnica of Bucharest. For the Business

 Table 2
 Clustering analysis of EMSE graduate courses

Cluster #	Cluster name/KNOT ID (course ID)	Cluster size
37	O.R. and related techniques	5
	ENMA 603_Operations Research	
	ENMA 607_Stochastic Decision Methods	
	ENMA 613_Logistics and Supply Chain Management	
	ENMA 703_803_Optimization Methods	
	ENMA 710 810 Modeling and Analysis of Systems	
39	System and project management theory and application	11
	ENMA 604_Project Management	
	ENMA 614_Quality Systems Design	
	ENMA 640_Integrated Systems Engineering I	
	ENMA 704_804_Design of Project Knowledge System s	
	ENMA 711_811_Methodologies for Advanced Engineering Projects	
	ENMA 714_814_Cirsis Project Management	
	ENMA 715_815_Systems Analysis	
	ENMA 717_817_Cost Engineering	
	ENMA 721_821_Research Methods in Engineering Management	
	ENMA 743_843_Reliability and Maintainability	
	ENMA 763_863_Robust Engineering Design	
42	EM degree and program requirements	7
	ENMA 605_Program Capstone	
	ENMA 641_Requirements Management, Verification and Validation	
	ENMA 667_Cooperative Education	
	ENMA 668_Internship	
	ENMA 669_Practicum	
	ENMA 688_Preparation Seminar for Systems Engineering Certification ENMA 999 Engineering Management 999	
43	EM core and related courses	19
	ENMA 600 Cost Estimating and Financial Analysis	
	ENMA 601 Analysis of Organizational Systems	
	ENMA 602 Systems Engineering Management	
	ENMA 606 Engineering Law	
	ENMA 616_The Entrepreneurial Engineering Manager	
	ENMA 660_Systems Architecture and Modeling	
	ENMA 700_800_Economic Analysis of Capital Projects	
	ENMA 702_802_Methods for Rational Decision Making	
	ENMA 705_805_Financial Engineering	
	ENMA 712_812_Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis and Decision	
	Support Systems	
	ENMA 716_816_Complex Adaptive Situations Environment	
	ENMA 723_823_Enterprise and Complex System Dynamics	
	ENMA 724_24_Risk Analysis	
	ENMA 725_825_Team Performance and Decision Making in	
	Engineering	
	ENMA 750_850_System of Systems Engineering	
	ENMA 751_851_Complexity, Engineering and Management	
	ENMA 771_871_Risk and Vulnerability Management of Complex	
	Interdependent Systems	
	ENMA /80_880_Leadersnip for Engineering Managers ENMA 888_Ph.D. Seminar	

(continued)

Cluster #	Cluster name/KNOT ID (course ID)	Cluster size
44	EM special topics and dissertation research	7
	ENMA 695_896_1 opics in Engineering Management	
	ENMA 697_Independent Study in Engineering Managem ent ENMA 699 Thesis	
	ENMA 727_827_Engineering Management and Technology	
	ENMA 797_897_Independent Study in Engineering Management	
	ENMA 898_Research in Engineering Management	
	ENMA 899_Dissertation Research	

Table 2 (continued)

Management Engineering (Ingineria Afacerilor) program, the clustering analysis solution shows six distinct 'conceptual' clustering effects between the different course offerings. Average size per cluster is around 3.33 with a minimum cluster size of 2 and a maximum cluster size of 7. A stark difference was observed in the six distinct clusters as follows: (1) Managerial Psychology, (2) Financial Accounting, (3) International and European Economics, (4) Statistical Economics and Techniques, (5) Ecological Economics and lastly, (6) Operational Supply chain Management. In the same fashion, for the Economics Engineering (Inginerie Economica) program, the clustering analysis solution yielded four distinct clusters namely: (1) Operational Supply Chain Management, (2) Intellectual Property Management, (3) Ecological Economics, and (4) Miscellaneous Topics (to include Negotiation tactics, strategic management, multimedia marketing, etc.). For this group of courses, Average size per cluster is around 3.75 with a minimum cluster size of 2 and a maximum cluster size of 7.

The clustering results allow us to establish a conceptual association between the different courses. This conceptual association between courses makes it easier to define links and knot neighbors and will be an input to the next stage of the analysis. With these as preceding stage inputs (see Table 2), there are different possible output analysis that can be performed at the succeeding stages. We can consider an overview picture such as Over-all system penetrability or an individual analysis such as system penetrability from a knot. Both typical sample outputs are elaborated in the following sections.

## **Over-all System Penetrability**

The overall system penetrability analysis generates a report of penetrability percentage for every source knot. As earlier described, penetrability is taken as a measure of how deep a specific source knot can easily reach other distinct knot neighbors. Average knot penetrability percentage and its associated average knot vulnerability relevance can then be simultaneously plotted on a vulnerability status



Fig. 3 Overall system penetrability and vulnerability status dashboard for ODU EMSE

dashboard and a quick assessment of vulnerability status. Vulnerability status can fall in either one of three regions namely: (1) inacceptable, (2) critical, and (3) acceptable. Based on Fig. 3, and given the weights assigned to the three features (i.e. core course, program requirement, and elective), EMSE overall resiliency assessment is in the acceptable region despite having some knots have a high number of direct knot neighbor contacts.

A similar analysis conducted on the two other counterpart programs also showed their over-all vulnerability in the acceptable region.

#### System Penetrability from a Knot

The next set of analysis as shown in Fig. 4 is a demonstration of the breadth-first algorithm in action. The department chair may be interested in finding out how a specific knot contributes to the over-all system penetrability and which vulnerability status region a specific knot falls. For example, consider Knot ID #11 that has an 19-order knot neighborhood is calculated to have a vulnerability relevance index (VRI) equal to 3.40. Also, the tool will provide the user several potential penetration path (PPP) scenarios and their associated VRI numbers. In another example as shown in Fig. 5, individual knot level penetrability and their cumulated results can also be generated.



Fig. 4 System penetrability from a given knot resulting from a 'breadth-first' search algorithm

```
SYSTEM PENETRABILITY
in the order-19 neighbourhood,
from Knot #12, alias ENMA 640
featuring a Vulnerability Relevance Index VRI: 1.30
Penetrability P(12)
is expressed as number of distinct knots crossed by signal from Knot #12
The code has found
P(12) = 11, i.e. (%): 22.45
The POTENTIAL PENETRATION PATH (PPP),
i.e. the collection of all system knots that may be reached from the knot of origin, involves
Knot #5 alias ENMA 604, VRI = 1.30
Knot #10 alias ENMA 614, VRI - 1.00
Knot #24 alias ENMA 704_804, VRI - 1.30
Knot #27 alias ENMA 711_811, VRI = 1.15
Knot #29 alias ENMA 714_814, VRI = 1.30
Knot #30 alias ENMA 715_815, VRI = 1.15
Knot #32 alias ENMA 717_817, VRI = 1.30
Knot #33 alias ENMA 721_821, VRI = 1.30
Knot #38 alias ENMA 743_843, VRI = 1.15
Knot #41 alias ENMA 763_863, VRI = 1.30
Knot #12 alias ENMA 640, VRI - 1.30
The knot and its PPP
shows a CUMULATED VULNERABILITY RELEVANCE: 14.85
representing 3.37 % of the maximum possible, of 441
```

Fig. 5 Knot level system penetrability reporting



Fig. 6 A 3D-visualization glimpse of complexity: the complexity from a given knot perspective (a) and a closer view of knot tagging view is also possible showing all the relevant knot-level information

# **Complexity Implications and Scenario Multi-Assessment**

More detailed reports and analysis can be investigated. Analysis can be performed by using 3D visualization and individual knot tagging capabilities allowing for a more thorough study of individual knot and their associated penetrability configurations. This is shown in Fig. 6, where upon a closer look at individual knot shows additional visual information. This visual information is called tagging where it contains all the pertinent information an user can easily recognize when performing the analysis.

## **Conclusion and Recommendations**

This project demonstrates another possible application of the complexity-derived concept of 'vulnerability', specifically in a typical EM graduate program assessment situation. Notations from graph theory-based and complexity perspectives were utilized as a tool to compare two department's course offering of Old Dominion University College of Engineering's Engineering Management and Systems Department and the University Politehnica of Bucharest. Academic departments in the emerging field of infranomics need to assess and upgrade their existing programs and course offerings for several important reasons such as: (1) to

regularly assess a curricula's structure, (2) to maintain competitiveness, (3) to assess the resiliency of a given academic program, and (4) to ensure its relevance to the fast changing environment and context among others. This work builds on previous work to apply the previously developed resiliency assessment methodology to compare and ascertain some similarities and divergences in two Engineering Management programs, albeit in the same discipline but offered in different countries.

Engineering (EMSE) department or specifically its Graduate program as a multi-component (many body) system consisting of its internal connectivity (i.e. combination of course offering as member interactions) defining structural complexity and as a source of vulnerability. In conclusion, this exercise demonstrates an alternate methodology which combines the state-of-the-art in (1) clustering text analysis as well as (2) complexity-induced vulnerability quantitative methodologies recently used in resiliency quantification of complex systems. As demonstrated here, higher education policy educators/administrators can benefit from this analytic approach as it will enable them to implement a learning approach to tackle the following difficult questions: (1) How to design a new curricula based on industrial needs or societal conditions as a whole?, (2) What are possible ways to improve current curricula or programs?, and (3) How resilient is our academic program?

#### References

- Karseth B (2002) The construction of curricula in a new educational context. In: Amaral A, Jones G, Karseth B (eds) Governing higher education: national perspectives on institutional governance. Kluwer, The Netherlands, pp 121–140
- Baker M (1993) Sharpening the focus of viewpoints between higher education and employers of the expertise required for contemporary and future technical managers. IEEE Trans Eng Mgmt 40(3):211–223
- 3. OECD (2003) Networks of innovation: towards new models for managing schools and systems. OECD, Paris
- Crow M, Silver M (2008) American education systems in a global context. Technol Soc 30:279–291
- Calida BY, Gheorghe AV, Unal R, Vamanu D (2010) Dealing with next generation infrastructures academic programmes complexity induced resiliency assessment. Int J Crit Infrastruct 6(4):347
- Allen T, Sosa M (2004) 50 years of engineering management through the lens of IEEE transactions. IEEE Trans Eng Mgmt 51(4):391–395
- 7. Kern D (2002) Content and trends in engineering management literature. Eng Manage J 14(1):43-49
- 8. Lannes W (2001) What is engineering management? IEEE Trans Eng Manag 48(1):107–115
- 9. Kotnour T, Farr J (2005) Engineering management: past, present and future. Eng Manage J 17(1):15–27
- Kocaoglu D (1990) Research and educational characteristics of the engineering management discipline. IEEE Trans Eng Manag 37(3):172–176
- 11. Howard R (1968) The foundations of decision analysis. IEEE Trans Syst, Sci, Cybern 4:211-219

- 12. Fandel G, Gal T (1980) Multiple criteria decision making theory and application. Proceedings of the third conference on Hagen/Königswinter, West Germany, 20–24 Aug 1979. Lecture notes in economics and mathematical systems. Springer, Heidelberg
- 13. Figueira J, Greco S, Ehrgott M (eds) (2005) Multiple criteria decision analysis: state of the art surveys. Springer, New York
- 14. Haimes YY, Steuer RE (eds) (2000) Research and practice in multiple criteria decision making. Proceedings of the XIVth international conference on multiple criteria decision making (MCDM), Charlottesville, Virginia, 8–12 June 1998. Lecture notes in economics and mathematical systems. Springer, Berlin
- 15. Gheorghe AV, Vamanu DV (2004) Complexity induced vulnerability. Int J Crit Infrastruct 1(1):76–85
- 16. Corman S, Kuhn T, McPhee R, Dooley K (2002) Studying complex discursive systems: centering resonance analysis of communication. Hum Commun Res 28(2):157–206

# Managing the Risks of a Large-Scale Infrastructure Project: The Case of Spoorzone Delft

#### **Hugo Priemus**

**Abstract** Risk management in large-scale infrastructure projects is attracting the attention of academics and practitioners alike. After a brief summary of the theoretical background, this chapter describes how the risk analysis and risk management shapes up in a current large-scale infrastructure project in the Netherlands. The project in question is Spoorzone Delft, which involves the construction of a railway tunnel, the demolition of a railway viaduct, and the realisation of some 1,500 housing units, 20,000 m<sup>2</sup> of office space, covered parking lots, bicycle sheds, new civic offices and a ticket hall in a railway station. ProRail and Ontwikkelingsbedrijf Spoorzone Delft B.V. drew up a risk management plan to identify potential risks and to present strategies for controlling or reducing them. It emerged that risks were determined and quantified largely based on subjective estimates. The risk inventories exhibit strong dynamics from quarter to quarter. The findings indicate that it would be sensible to concentrate more closely on the insurability of risks and to differentiate between risks at system level and component level. The academic theory advises a stronger orientation towards flexibility and the identification of options.

Keywords Risk management · Railway station area · The Netherlands · Delft

H. Priemus (🖂)

H. Priemus

OTB Research Institute of the Built Environment, TU Delft/Delft University of Technology, P.O. Box 5015, 2600 GA Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: h.priemus@tudelft.nl

Emeritus Professor, System Innovation and Spatial Development, TU Delft/Delft University of Technology, Jaffalaan 9, 2628 BX Delft, The Netherlands

#### **Introduction and Theoretical Background**

In recent decades, both academic journals and professional publications have homed in on the risks associated with large-scale infrastructure projects [12, 13], [17], primarily with a view to the avoidance of overrun budgets. This very theme has been discussed several times by Flyvbjerg (e.g. [6–8]), who makes a case for 'reference-class-forecasting', a strategy in which the primary steering instrument is not the project budget but references to similar previously implemented projects against which the project in question can be compared.

A second strategy involves the systematic application of 'checks and balances'. Often, projects are hampered by principal-agent problems, whereby the empowered authority (central or local government) is largely dependent on the knowledge of the parties who are directly involved. Checks and balances can be strengthened by professional, independent supervision, the four-eye principle and the insertion of go/no go moments, when benefits can be reaped from market forces [20]. In such cases, an integrity policy is certainly advisable [22].

This brings us to a third strategy: the utilisation of market forces and the reinforcement of competition. A level playing field is stimulated in the construction industry by, amongst others, European tender procedures, which place constraints on the formation of monopolistic power blocks. Until recently, the construction sector in the Netherlands was riddled with cartels and, even now, deals between construction firms, real-estate players and suppliers, and sub-contractors may still be hampering fair competition.

Finally, some authors make a case for keeping the options open: promote flexibility to avoid entrapment [2] and 'groupthink' [10, 13]. The determination of alternatives and keeping the options open for as long as possible can prove important in this regard. Value can be created by deploying the options in the course of time. Accordingly, the 'real-options framework' has been developed academically along the same logical lines as the model that has been [1] developed for the financial markets. The translation from financial options to 'real options' is analysed by [5, 21]. The latter strategy is at odds with the strategy propagated by the Elverding Commission [3], namely: early determination of a preferred variant after a broad orientation phase involving many different players.

The main questions addressed in this chapter are: How does the risk management of a large-scale infrastructure project take shape in practice in the Netherlands and how can it be improved?

It should be noted beforehand that there is no reliable database for recently executed projects, so the actual application of 'reference class forecasting' is not yet possible.

The methodology is simple. It involves one case study: risk management in the Spoorzone Delft Project. This project was chosen because it represents a good combination of infrastructure and real-estate development. The main focus is risk management in the execution phase. The case is placed in a broad theoretical framework in which many problems that commonly arise in strategies for largescale infrastructure projects are explained. We look for the theoretical framework that best explains current risk management for Spoorzone Delft.

The aim of this study is twofold: to point the way towards a more effective and efficient risk management for large-scale infrastructure projects and to find theoretical explanations for the problems that arise in practice. The subject of this chapter is the railway tunnel project in Delft: a large-scale combined infrastructure (a rail tunnel to replace a rail viaduct) and real-estate project (new civic offices, homes, offices and parking facilities). The combination of functions and the embedment in a dynamic environment make this a very complex area-development project.

This chapter starts with a brief history and description of Spoorzone Delft and the structure of the project organisation. This is followed by a discussion on concrete aspects of the risk analysis and the risk management. It concludes with some evaluative comments and recommendations.

For the record, it should be noted that the author has been a member of the Supervisory Board of Ontwikkelingsbedrijf Spoorzone Delft BV from 2009–2012. Though certainly not the *auctor intellectualis* of the risk management method, the author agrees that this chapter could be interpreted as an example of a 'butcher who approves his own beef.' It would indeed be difficult to contest allegations of mixed roles. However, the aim of this chapter is not to evaluate the methods that were applied but rather to present these methods. This will take place as clearly and as objectively as possible so that every observer can draw his own conclusions on the basis of the information. If such conclusions lead to practical improvements in the way risks are managed in large-scale infrastructure projects in the Netherlands, then the purpose of this chapter would be realized.

### Brief History of the Spoorzone Delft Project

In 1988, the Dutch Railways set out its vision for the future in a publication entitled *Rail 21* [15], in which one of the main spearheads was quadruple tracks on the entire Amsterdam-Dordrecht line. The double-track rail viaduct that cut straight across Delft was identified as a bottleneck and a search began for creative solutions to what was a very noisy stretch of railway. The preliminary sketches showed a quadruple-track railway tunnel, which would not only get rid of this bottleneck in the transport system of the Randstad but would open up opportunities for enriching the city of Delft with a top-notch urban development comprising homes, offices, central amenities and parking facilities [18]. In 1990 the Municipal Executive of Delft incorporated the railway tunnel in its programme [16].

A public-private partnership was set up with Ballast-Nedam and NS Vastgoed (partners in the Spoorzone Delft Development Combination/Ontwikkelingscombinatie Spoorzone Delft/OCSD) to work out the plans, the costing and the exploitation prospects. The Spanish architects' firm Busquets drew up an ambitious plan for the layout of the railway terrain. The contest for the contract for the civic offices had attracted a lot of publicity and was awarded to Mecanoo

Architects. The station upon which the civic offices would be built was designed by Benthem Crouwel Architects.

In October 2006 Ontwikkelingsbedrijf Spoorzone Delft (OBS/Spoorzone Delft Development Company) was set up with the Municipality of Delft as the sole shareholder.

In July 2008 the Ministry of Transport, Public Works and Water Management revised the budgets and reallocated them between the Municipality of Delft and the Dutch Government: the Government assumed the risk for the construction of the tunnel.

#### The Spoorzone Delft Project

The area covered by the Spoorzone Delft Project is shown in Fig. 1.

The tunnel would be funded by the Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment (formerly, Transport, Public Works and Water Management) and realised by ProRail. The municipal authority would contribute to the costs. ProRail was awarded the contract for the shell of the tunnel (not for the railway infrastructure) and CrommeLijn contractors' consortium (CCL) was awarded the contract for the underground station (rail section of the Transport Hub). ProRail also commissioned CCL to make the entire area ready for the construction work and the new layout of the public space (IOR): the OBS acted as the principal for the construction of the Spoorsingel parking garage (PSS).

The OBS would be responsible for the urban redevelopment and the realisation of the urban part of the Transport Hub and the civic offices. At the request of ProRail the OBS also took charge of the realisation of the ticket hall.

### Rail Tunnel

The rail tunnel scope included the underground station, complete with bicycle shed, and the preparations for the construction of housing on the surface. The rail tunnel would be built as a concrete shell with a capacity for four tracks, but only



Fig. 1 Area covered by Spoorzone Delft

two tracks would be laid for the time being. ProRail would be responsible for realising this part of the project. Since then, the timetable has been adapted: the work will take 13 months longer than originally planned. The milestones in the contract planning (excluding risk profile) have been revised on the basis of the planning scenarios developed in the collective planning studio (OBS/ProRail/ CCL/partnership team).

# **Town Hall and Ticket Hall**

The town hall  $(29,000 \text{ m}^2)$  and the aboveground ticket hall  $(4,500 \text{ m}^2)$  would be integrated in one building located on and beside the tunnel to the north of the Station Square. The ticket hall and the public hall would be located on the ground floor of this building—on and beside the tunnel respectively.

The ticket hall would form the main entrance to the underground station and the space where NS would develop commercial space. The municipality would set up the public desks, the information centre and the working area in the public hall. The premises above the two halls would be used by the municipal staff/third parties and include a restaurant and a meeting centre. A bicycle shed for the staff, the boiler rooms etc. and the dispatch centre would be built in the basement of the civic offices.

## **Plan Busquets/Public Space**

The sub-project for the layout of the public space (*Inrichting Openbare Ruimte/ IOR*) revolved around the realisation of Plan Busquets. It was split into two parts:

- The part in the CCL contract. ProRail awarded the contract for this part of the layout of the public space to CCL in July 2008.
- The rest of the project—for which the contract is still to be awarded.

CCL has recruited Grontmij to work out the design for the public space.

#### **Real-Estate Development**

The area development encompasses the construction of around 1,500 homes,  $20,000 \text{ m}^2$  of office space and covered parking facilities. A public park on the tunnel will be a crucial quality element in this new part of the city.

At present, market downturns appear to have stymied the chances of realising the desired proceeds from the land. There is also a growing awareness that the developments in the area need to be tackled in a different way from the one that was contractually agreed.

Various real-estate scenarios were discussed with OCSD and the consequences were mapped out. The urban planning structure, the programme, the phasing and the finances were comprehensively studied in these scenarios. A decision has since been taken to pursue a more flexible, process-based strategy with no predefined results. This is a major departure from the original plans.

# Parking

OBS has been tasked with solving the following parking issues in the Spoorzone:

- Compensation for parking places that will cease to exist (residents' and visitors' parking);
- Parking places as a result of new-builds (residents' and visitors' parking for homes and offices);
- Parking places for the civic offices (users and visitors);
- -P+R places.

Initially, the car park for the civic offices and the station was to be built under the civic offices. This plan was abandoned in the tendering phase because it was financially non-viable. New locations are being sought adjacent to the Spoorzone.

#### **Management of Conditions**

Risks stem not only from the project itself but also from the prevailing conditions. The quarterly OBS report pays attention to the following determinants: archaeology, permits, land acquisition and other land transactions, soil transport and most importantly—groundwater abstraction. Safety and communication are also important themes. These themes are explored further below.

# **Business Case**

The business case is systematically updated twice a year (the end of June and December) whereby all information known at that moment is taken into account. The updated business case at the end of 2010 (version: January 2011), with an end value of zero in January 2031, addressed, amongst others, the effects of the adapted realisation timetable, the new analysis of the economic value of the parking facilities, and initial cohesion with the financial administration. A new analysis was drawn up for the public space comprising elements that depend on the real-estate development and other, more detached elements. The planning and phasing in the business case were updated on the basis of this analysis.

#### Planning

The second half of 2010 was spent mainly on drawing up an uncertainty analysis for the tunnel planning and the effects on the parts of the projects within the scope of OBS. The most important element was the construction of the new civic offices and the integrated new ticket hall. A 4D (3D+Time) simulation was made of the construction of the civic offices and connected to the draft timetable. ProRail, CCL and the partnership team made a start on a phasing book (2D+Time) for the station area.

#### **Risk Management Plan**

On 14 December 2010, the basis for the risk policy of Ontwikkelingsbedrijf Spoorzone Delft was recorded in a Risk Management Plan authored by Robert Huisman [8]. Joris Hoogerwerf drew up a similar plan for [17]. It was clear that, for many years, there had been no risk management plan for the development planning. The risk management for Spoorzone Delft is described in an analysis by [14], commissioned by Delft Municipal Council.

The risk management plan "should explicitly set out all risks and opportunities that could influence the outcome of the project so that they can be adequately addressed or utilised via prompt and efficient action." [9, p. 3].

Huisman [8] suggests: "The primary aim of risk management is to support the project management. The continuous and pro-active identification and quantification of uncertainties that influence the outcome of the project and the implementation of management measures and subsequent reports are of prime importance. The aim of risk management is, at all events, to stabilise the project risk or reduce it to an acceptable level and to get an optimal result. A direct link must be laid with the Business Case and the management of unforeseen items" (p. 5).

An additional, incidental aim of risk management in the OBS part of the Spoorzone Delft project is to support the tendering procedure across the entire spectrum, all the way from issuing invitations to offers, negotiations, selection and planning permission.

The risk management process for Spoorzone Delft consists of ten steps [9, p. 6, 18, p. 7]:

- 1. "Organise the project management
- 2. Compile an inventory of/identify uncertainties and opportunities
- 3. Determine and confirm cause and phase of action
- 4. Allocate and categorise uncertainties and opportunities
- 5. Name risk/opportunity owners (internal allocation)
- 6. Quantification (estimate risk/opportunity)
- 7. Management (fix management tactics)

8. Monitor, evaluate and update risk/opportunity and management tactics

9. Analysis (in relation to available resources) and

10. Report."

Steps 2 through 8 are on-going; the last two take place at the end of each report period.

Every step in the process is supported by a risk dossier. Every risk/opportunity that is identified is recorded in one of the risk dossiers.

Risks/opportunities can be identified by any employee of the OBS Project Organisation. The risk manager is responsible for recording any new risks/ opportunities in a risk dossier. The risk manager ensures that the inventory procedures are properly structured. Interviews are held once every 6 weeks and plenary sessions are organised at least once a year for this purpose. Theme sessions and top-down analysis can also be organised.

Every risk is allocated to a risk owner in the OBS project organisation. The risk owner is operationally responsible for managing a risk/opportunity. He decides how the risk is to be managed and coordinates the actions. The chance of action, the planning implications and the (direct) financial consequences are estimated for every risk/opportunity. The guiding principle for Spoorzone Delft is that all deviations from the scope (and quality) be redressed; the project aims are not adjusted.

Risk management comprises the following elements [9, 18]:

- determination of the management strategy;
- balancing management tactics with decision-making;
- allocation to an action owner;
- quantification of adjustments and registration of development;
- closing a risk.

In the case of bigger risks a management strategy is first determined by the Management Team. The chosen strategy is then converted into concrete actions. In the case of smaller risks the risk owner can start right away on an inventory of management tactics. The management strategy is recorded in the respective risk dossier [9].

The risk-management proposal for overlapping and overarching risks must be approved by all relevant, participating parties and have a strong support base [8] Each action is assigned to an action owner, who is operationally responsible for implementing it and monitoring the results. Every project worker can be an action owner. Every risk should be reviewed at least once a quarter to ascertain whether the quantification needs to be adjusted. The development of the management tactics and the risk/opportunity as a whole must be recorded in full in the respective risk dossier [8]. If the risk/opportunity has expired (because the project has moved on or because the risk has been contained or eliminated, it is accorded the status of 'closed/expired'. If a risk/opportunity has materialised (and corrective measures are taken), it is accorded the status of 'materialised'. The plan economist is then contacted to decide whether the 'unforeseen' item in the Business Case should be adjusted [8]. The financial risk profile shows the current effects of the uncertainty on the extra costs in the budgets for the different sub-projects, viz: public space layout (*Inrichting Openbare Ruimte/IOR*), car parks and bicycle sheds, real-estate development, and civic offices. Towards the end of each quarter a financial profile is drawn up for all the risks. This profile is based solely on the information in the risk dossiers. Any changes that have occurred since the previous quarter are explained [8, 17].

Uncertainty analyses are performed to define the feasibility of the milestones. Because of the interconnections between the activities of the different parties, the planner performs the uncertainty analysis for the milestones in the current 'overall' planning. The financial consequences of overrunning (cost-related) milestones are calculated and recorded as one or more separate risks in the risk dossier. The planning economist and the controller agree on the consequences of the risks and the planning economist records them in the Business Case.

To ensure that nothing is missed and to enhance reliability quarterly 'challenge' meetings are held with the budget holders from the Project Management Department [8, p. 9]. The risk manager is responsible for the risk management process and a well-structured inventory. Risk analysis and risk management are a permanent item on the agenda for the discussions between the risk manager and the Director and the Supervisory Board.

Amongst other things, this may include change processing in the risk dossier, trend analyses, the facilitation of risk sessions and management support. The risk manager also checks that the risk dossier is filled in consistently.

The risk owner is operationally responsible for managing his risk. He decides on the risk management strategy (possibly in consultation with the risk manager and/or the core MT) and coordinates the actions [8, p. 10].

Once a quarter the OBS director reports on the ten greatest risks, divided over the three categories: OBS business case, civic offices, and other risks to the municipality. The risk inventory, which is constantly updated, is much longer and consists of multiple risks which, in monetary terms, are smaller than the top 10 in each category. The OBS risk inventory is sent once a quarter to the Supervisory Board and Delft Municipal Council. The Municipal Council is informed later of any confidential or market-sensitive risks. The risk report by ProRail is for internal use only. Neither the Supervisory Board of OBS nor Delft Municipal Council are informed of the risks of the ProRail scope.

#### **Concluding Remarks**

This final section establishes a link with the questions posed at the start of this chapter:

How does the risk management of a large-scale infrastructure project take shape in practice in the Netherlands The Netherlands and how can it be improved?

The risk management strategies described in this paper are commonplace in large-scale projects in the Netherlands. Risks (i.e., probability  $\times$  consequence) are identified at fixed intervals. Probability and consequence must be estimated subjectively to some extent. We can see some strong dynamics at work when we compare the quarterly risk inventories. New risks materialise with some regularity. Meantime, other risks disappear, either because they have been addressed or because they have not emerged within the set period.

It is key to understand the interconnection between the risks and to determine the cost implications of changes in the timetable and throughput times. A change in risk A may cause a change in risk B. Delays can lead to new risks or to changes in already identified risks. Therefore, it is important that the OBS organisation continue to report the risks once a quarter to the OBS Supervisory Board and Delft Municipal Council. In this context, it is all the more remarkable that ProRail, which also identifies and quantifies the risks once a quarter, does not share its findings with either party. ProRail should report periodically to the Municipal Council in the same way as OBS.

It might prove worthwhile to perform risk management at two levels: system level and component level with the main emphasis on the relationship between the two. Reviews of the area development and adjustments to the agreements with OCSD are typical risks at system level. The chances of unexpected windfalls are underexposed. Potential windfalls merit as much attention as potential setbacks.

In practice a key role is played by the interaction between the risk manager and the other players. The risk manager is dependent on document analysis, and particularly on what is referred to in the OBS organisation as 'challenge' meetings. The initiative can come from the risk manager or another project worker or the director. As soon as a risk is identified, action is undertaken to control it so that no new risks can arise.

Separate attention should be paid to the question of which risks are insured or insurable. The national government does not normally insure externally against risks. To cover municipal risks more insight is required into the ins and outs of insured risks.

Miller and Floricel [11, p. 120]: "The real-options approach recognizes that decisions that determine project cash flows are made sequentially over many episodes. The key insight of this approach is that uncertainty or volatility can actually increase the value of a project, as long as flexibility is preserved and resources are not irreversibly committed." This general perspective is not yet operational in Dutch project management. The spirit of the real-options approach is, however, being followed in the current redefinition of area and real estate development in Spoorzone Delft. Recently, a process-based approach and greater flexibility have been accorded a more important place in the real-estate brief, which had to be fundamentally reformulated in the aftermath of the credit crunch and the debt crisis.

The strategy for the Spoorzone project in Delft was not introduced until the execution phase had begun. It is advisable to apply a robust method of risk analysis and risk management at an early stage, preferably when the project is being developed and concretised.
As mentioned earlier, 'reference class forecasting' recommended by Flyvbjerg is unfortunately unworkable at present because there are not enough data on completed projects.

The above comments on the risk management of Spoorzone Delft can be put to use in the broader risk management context of large-scale infrastructure projects in general. It is important that risk management be concretised not only in the execution phase of the project, but also in the planning phase, when it is vitally important to identify and work out alternatives. When market-sensitive information needs to be protected, limits can be set regarding the public disclosure of the risk inventories. Otherwise, the risk policy should be disclosed in full to the empowered authorities (Municipal Executive and Council; States Deputed/States Provincial; Cabinet/House of Representatives).

A study of recent project histories would prove an interesting exercise in a more general sense. How were risks perceived beforehand and how did they pan out later? Where did surprises still spring up—despite a prospective risk analysis? How can these surprises be explained and how can they be prevented in the future? The study of project histories requires reliable documentation of the decision-making and can deliver useful information for future infrastructure projects. In the long term 'reference class forecasting' [6, 10] is a useful method not only in relation to costs and overrun budgets but also planning times, throughput times, risk factors and risk analysis.

The literature that highlights the value of checks and balances, competition, and the four-eyes principle has practical relevance for managing the risks in large-scale infrastructure projects in the Netherlands. Go/no-go moments are seldom defined in advance; this needs to change. It is far more difficult to keep alternatives open for the railway than for the real-estate development. The flexibility in the railway tunnel stems, amongst other things, from the possibility of realising a quadruple track—if desired—at a later stage: enough scope has been allowed for this. The real-estate development, on the other hand, was fixed in a fairly early stage. Unfavourable developments on the market (homes, offices) and the inevitable cuts in public spending (civic offices) forced the OBS to make the plans more flexible and process-based. It would have been better to adopt this approach from the start. So far, the experience gained from Delft Spoorzone has certainly borne out the academic arguments and theoretical frameworks that emphasise the need for flexibility and a process-based approach.

## References

- 1. Black F, Scholes M (1974) From theory to a new financial product. J Finan 29(8):399-412
- 2. Brockner J, Rubin JZ (1985) Entrapment in escalating conflicts: a social psychological analysis. Springer, New York
- 3. Commissie Versnelling Besluitvorming Infrastructurele Projecten (Commisie-Elverding) (2008) Sneller en beter. Advies Commissie Versnelling Besluitvorming Infrastructurele Projecten (Faster and Better. Recommendations by the Commission for Accelerating

Decision-making in Infrastructural Projects). Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment, The Hague

- Dixit AK, Pindyck RS (1995) The options approach to capital investment. Harvard Bus Rev 73(3):105–116
- Flyvbjerg B (2009) Public planning of mega-projects: overestimation of demand and underestimation of costs. In: Priemus H, Flyvbjerg B, van Wee B (eds) Decision-making on mega-projects: cost-benefit analysis, planning and innovation. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, pp 120–144
- 6. Flyvbjerg B (2004) COWI (2004) procedures for dealing with optimism bias in transport planning: guidance document. UK Department for Transport, London
- 7. Flyvbjerg B, Bruzelius N, Rothengatter W (2003) Mega-projects and risk: an anatomy of ambition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Huisman, Robert (2010) Risicomanagementplan Projectbeheersing Ontwikkelingsbedrijf Spoorzone Delft (Risk management plan project control Ontwikkelingsbedrijf Spoorzone Delft). OBS, Delft 14 Dec 2010
- 9. Janis IL (1982) Groupthink. Psychological studies of policy decisions and fiascos. Houghton Mifflin, Boston
- Lovallo D, Kahneman D (2003) Delusions of success: how optimism undermines executives decisions. Harvard Business Review, July: 56–63
- Miller R, Floricel S (2005) Understanding risks and shaping large engineering projects. In: Manseau A, Shields R (eds) Building tomorrow: innovation in construction and engineering. Ashgate, Aldershot, pp 101–121
- Miller R, Lessard D (2008) Evolving strategy: risk management and the shaping of megaprojects. In: Priemus H, Flyvbjerg B, van Wee B (eds) Decision-making on megaprojects:cost-benefit analysis, planning and innovation. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, pp 145–172
- 13. Nederlands Adviesbureau voor Risicomanagement (2010) Rapportage Onderzoek Spoorzone Project Delft (Report Investigation on the Spoorzone Project, Delft). NAR, Enschede
- 14. Nederlandse Spoorwegen (NS) (1988) Toekomstvisie Rail 21 (Rail 21 vision for the future) NS, Utrecht
- 15. Priemus H (2004) Delftse Spoorzone: onbetrouwbare overheid (Delftse Spoorzone: unreliable government). Building Business, 6, August: 42–47
- 16. Priemus H, Flyvbjerg B, van Wee B (2008) Decision-making on mega-projects: Cost-benefit analysis, planning and innovation. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham
- 17. Hoogerwerf J (2011) Risicomanagementplan Spoorzone Delft. Projectbeheersing, ProRail, Delft , 3 Feb
- Robert van T (2004) De strijd om een spoortunnel (The struggle around a railway tunnel) Vastgoed 79(1):56–58
- Tijdelijke Commissie Infrastructuurprojecten (TCI) (2004) Grote projecten uitvergroot. Een infrastructuur voor besluitvorming (Large projects magnified: an infrastructure for decisionmaking), Tweede Kamer 2004–2005, 29.283 nos. 5–6 Sdu Uitgevers, The Hague
- Trigeorgis L (1996) Real options: managerial flexibility and strategy in resource allocation. MIT Press, Cambridge
- 21. Wachs M (1989) When planners lie with numbers. APA J 55(4):476-479
- 22. Wachs M (1990) Ethics and advocacy in forecasting for public policy. Bus Prof Ethics J 9(1&2):141–157

# The Actor-Option Framework: A General Framework for Modelling Socio-Technical Systems in Transition

Gönenç Yücel

**Abstract** A very fundamental need in transition studies is a general modelling framework that allows representing the state of different systems, as well as the change processes related to reinforcing or counteracting their transitions. Such a framework is needed in order to be able to benchmark different transition cases and to integrate case-specific insights for developing general understanding. This chapter briefly presents a general modelling framework, Actor-Option Framework (AOF), for modelling transitional change processes of socio-technical systems. The framework provides a toolbox with conceptual components and a structure about the way these components can be combined for representing a particular system of concern. AOF is based on an extensive set of empirical cases on technological change and socio-technical transitions. The general applicability and appropriateness for developing quantitative and qualitative models of change is assessed through a set of modelling exercises.

Keywords Socio-technical transitions · Modelling · Simulation

## Introduction

A very fundamental need in transition studies is a general modeling framework that allows representing the state of different systems, as well as the change processes related to (reinforcing or counteracting) their transitions. Such a framework is needed in order to be able to benchmark different transition cases, and to integrate case-specific insights for developing a general understanding. The existing conceptual models in the transition studies literature (e.g. Multi-level

G. Yücel (🖂)

Department of Industrial Engineering, Boğaziçi University, 34342 Bebek, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: gonenc.yucel@boun.edu.tr

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_25, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

perspective [1], pillar theory [2]) are either under-developed, or too abstract to constitute such foundations for modeling. This chapter presents a general modeling framework that can be used to develop qualitative, as well as quantitative models of socio-technical systems in transition; i.e. actor-option framework (AOF).

### **Actor-Option Framework**

In this section, a brief introduction to AOF is provided. A more detailed description of the framework, as well as its grounding is provided by Yücel [3]. Briefly, AOF is an outcome of an inductive study based extensive set of case studies from the literature [4-26].

The basic components of the framework, which will be introduced in the following sections, are based mainly on these cases and relevant literature.

Briefly, according to AOF, a transitional change is conceptualized as a conjoint consequence of the changes related to the options, actors, and the way actors and options interact. In the following two sub-sections, the building blocks of the framework are discussed. The third section focuses on the dynamic nature of the actors and the options, and discusses mechanisms of change, i.e. the third basic component of the framework.

## Options

An *option* is defined as an alternative choice that can be utilized for fulfilling a societal need. Depending on the need, an option can just be a physical artifact or a technology. However, in most of the cases, an option is more than that; it also incorporates the way that artifact/technology is used. For commuting needs, using private cars, car-pooling, and car-sharing are three alternative options. Although the artifact, i.e. the automobile, is identical, the ways this artifact is being used differentiate these three as distinct options. The properties that differentiate the options are not just related to the techno-physical aspects, but also go beyond that and are related to the contextual embedding of these options. Two broad classes of properties are identified;

## **Embodied** Properties

These are the properties mainly related to the techno-physical nature of the options, and as the name clearly indicates they are embodied in the option. In other words, these are properties that can be observed even when the option is studied in isolation from its socio-technical context

### **Disembodied Properties**

These properties are related to the context in which the option functions. For example, consider public trains as an option for personal mobility needs. The important properties are not confined to the technical properties of these trains; other aspects such as the frequency and reliability of the service, or the crowding level are also important.

The changes in option properties, as well as in the role of an option in the sociotechnical system (e.g. its dominance) are important developments considering transitional change processes. However, options do not possess a dynamic nature by themselves, but all option-related developments are the consequences of related social actors' behaviours, such as commuters shifting to a new mode of commuting, or manufacturers allocating resources for a new technology. Therefore, social actors and their behaviours are central in understanding the transition dynamics. The following section discusses the way these actors are conceptualized according to AOF.

### Actors

Contrary to what the term implies, an actor in AOF does not necessarily correspond to an individual person in the socio-technical system, but it is a social unit of analysis, which can be attributed goals, preferences, resources, and actions (e.g. an organization, a firm, etc.). One of the key characteristics of transitional change processes is their multi-actor nature. These interacting actors are not identical, but they possess very different properties, such as their preferences, objectives and resources. In other words, transitional changes in socio-technical systems are driven by a set of actors, which are heterogeneous in multiple dimensions. Two broad dimensions of heterogeneity are especially important for analyzing transitional change; heterogeneity with respect to decision drivers, and heterogeneity with respect to decision consequences.

## **Heterogeneity in Decision Drivers**

First of all, an actor's decisions are driven by what is known to the actor. Therefore, a clear source of heterogeneity is the information possessed by the actors in the system. Secondly, the actors can diverge in the decisions they make due to the differences in the factors that determine the way this information is evaluated during the course of a decision making process. Generally, outcomes of a certain action, or attributes of a certain alternative are judged against a neutral reference outcome (or simply a reference). Such a reference may be a state to which an actor has adapted, a set of social norms, or a level of aspiration (ibid.). Similar concepts are referred to as aspiration levels, *reference points*, or target

levels in the decision-making literature [27–29]. In our conceptualization, these references define what is acceptable/desirable for the actor.

These standards, norms and habits of the actors' (i.e. *references* in AOF) can act as an important source of heterogeneity in actor decisions. Thirdly, an action can be related to an existing account linked to similar actions taken in the past (e.g. sunkcosts due to previous investment decisions). In that respect, the *commitments* of an actor (e.g. financial or effort-wise) in the past can be as important as the options' properties in influencing the decisions. Naturally, different levels of commitments to certain courses of action will differentiate the decisions of the actors even when they are exposed to identical information. Lastly, the assessment of the possibilities (e.g. options) before making a decision is not a simple uni-dimensional assessment; actors face a multi-dimensional assessment problem. In this context, it is the *preference structure* of the actor, which represents the relative importance of the different issues, such as environmental friendliness, loss of former investments or operating costs, for the actor. Difference in preference structures is another source of heterogeneity in actor decisions. In summary, an *actor* is characterized in terms of four main aspects in AOF; *information, references, commitments* and *preferences.* 

## **Heterogeneity in Decision Impact**

An actor's decisions' impact is primarily dependent on the role the actor occupies in a socio-technical system. When we consider the fulfilment of a societal need as a sort of social interaction, we identify, by deduction, four main categories of actors involved in this process. The first category consists of actors who have such a need, and use available options; i.e. *practitioners/users*. The second group is related to the provision of the means (including maintenance infrastructure as well as the options themselves) of fulfilling the societal need; i.e. *providers*. However, neither the utilization, nor the provision of the alternative options takes place in an unstructured manner. The actors who are related to altering regulations and rules constitute the third category of actors; i.e. *regulators*. Lastly, there are actors who can influence the way other actors behave with the opinions they hold about the need itself and the available options (e.g. NGOs; i.e. *opinion groups*.

Besides an actor's role, the possible extent of impact of the actor within the given context is another factor that differentiates the influence of the actors' decisions on the way system functions. Among other things, the extent of the impact is mostly related to the *resources* controlled by the actor.

## Mechanisms

Two key concepts, i.e. *actor* and *option*, are discussed in the previous sections. Along a transitional change process, neither the actors, nor the options stay as they are, and they both change over time. Moreover, the dynamics of the actors and the options are not independent from each other; i.e. a change in the behaviour of the actors trigger a change related to the options, and vice versa. his subsection introduces a set of general *mechanisms* that represent the major processes related the ways the *actors* and the *options* change over time. The first group of mechanisms is related to the dynamics of the *options*. The second group of *mechanisms* is related to the information possessed by the actors. The last group of mechanisms is about deeper changes in the actors with regard to the way they make their decisions; *mechanisms* that alter the behavioural identity of the *actors*.

## **Mechanisms Related to Option Properties**

This group contains four major mechanisms in AOF, which are elaborated below.

## Experience-Driven Change

Cumulative experience of the actors with an option leads to the option's development according to this mechanism. Such a development can be caused by both provisional and practical experience. When it is the experience of the providers that drives the development, this mechanism is equivalent to a widely known phenomenon; learning-by-doing [30–35].

In the case of the practitioners, it is the cumulative utilization of the option that yields to the option development. Rosenberg discusses this process using the term 'learning-by using' [33].

## Scale-Driven Change

The scale of utilization (e.g. number of users), or provision (e.g. volume of production) of an option can have an impact on the option attributes in some cases. This general mechanism has both provider- and practitioner-driven manifestations, and the change induced by the scale may be negative, as well as positive. Provision side instances of the scale-driven change are direct consequences of the provision scale, and are simply about more/less efficient exploitation of the provision opportunities. The impact need not always be positive in the scale-driven change. Especially, in the provision systems that consist of multiple sub-systems with heterogeneous capabilities, as the provision scale increases less efficient subsystems need to be exploited. This in turn leads to an overall performance decrease in the provision system. Practise side instances include crowding effect (i.e. deterioration of the properties of an option as a consequence of increasing load on the system) and network externalities (i.e. the more users on the system the more benefit a user can get from the option).

## **Resource-Driven Change**

The system actors also influence the properties of the options by utilizing the resources they possess. These resources are not only financial, but they also include, for example, physical capital, manpower, and time (R&D, managerial, etc.). In general, such changes are induced by purposeful resource allocations of the actors who aim to alter the option properties. In line with such an aim, these resources may be directed to three different aspects related to the option; the option itself, the means/methods of provision, and the capacity of the provision system.

## **Exogenous** Change

The property changing mechanisms discussed so far are all endogenous to the socio-technical system being analyzed; the changes are triggered by the actions of the actors in the system. However, changes in the option properties may be rooted in the developments that take place beyond the boundaries of the socio-technical system being analyzed; i.e. developments that are autonomous from the dynamics of the system. For example, some properties of electrical cars, such as driving range, develop almost independent of the dynamics of the Dutch mobility system.

## **Mechanisms Related to Actors' Perceptions**

The processes via which actors' perceived information change over time play an important role in the actors' behaviour change. This set includes three mechanisms related to perception<sup>1</sup> change.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the sense the words perception and learning are used, it is the information that changes via these learning processes, not the values or norms used by the actors to attribute meaning to this information. The latter aspect, which can be considered as subjective evaluation of the gathered information, is closely related to the actor's behavioural identity, and the mechanisms related to this identity will be discussed later in this chapter.

## Individual Learning

The individual learning mechanism refers to the improvement of the information precision via direct observation, or experience of the actor. The actors can learn about the situation of the system, and/or options (i.e. their availability and properties. In the experience-based individual learning, a provider's, or a practitioner's direct experience with an option (e.g. a practitioner using a alternative fuel vehicle, a provider investing in new generation wind turbine) enables the actor to learn about the actual properties of the option.

## Social Learning

This learning mechanism is about the diffusion of information among the actors; it is the information possessed by other actors that acts as the source of new information for an actor. Information flows via social interaction (e.g. word-of-mouth, or information contagion).

## Learning from External Sources

Although personal experience and social communication are important means of learning, they are not the only ones. The actors are also exposed to information from numerous other indirect sources; marketing campaigns, bulletins, newspapers, and scientific reports. These all serve as information sources, and are also very important in shaping what is known by the actors. The special importance of this mechanism comes from the fact that this is the mechanism via which novel information gets introduced into a particular socio-technical system.

## Mechanisms Related to Actors' Behavioral Identity

Actor decisions are determined as a consequence of the subjective assessment of each actor based on the actor's preferences, beliefs, norms and priorities; i.e. an actor's behavioral identity, as the term is used in this text. The mechanisms that are discussed below are related to changes in this identity.

## **Reference Formation/Change**

An important concept related to option assessment is a reference point used for the assessment; a reference point against which properties of an option are evaluated. The assessment references can be considered as a sort of 'demand requirements' of the actors with respect to their societal need. Reference formation/change can take place due to various factors. A reference can be dictated from outside to an actor, as in the case of laws and regulations. References of an actor can also change as a consequence of the actor's interaction with the options. An actor's experience with a certain option to fulfill a need conditions/shapes the expectations of the actor regarding the way that need has to be fulfilled. These references, which are formed and reshaped by individual experiences of the actors, get stronger and deeply rooted as experience accumulates. Social influence can also be an important driver of reference formation and change. Apart from what is dictated to, and experienced by the actor, the practices (and references used) in the social sphere of the actor set an example about the way things might/should be done.

## **Commitment Formation**

A commitment to a certain course of action (e.g. investing in a certain technology, using a certain computer operating system) can develop as a consequence of decisions in the past, and of tangible and intangible assets acquired as a result of these decisions. However, not all decisions contribute to commitment formation at the same level, if they do at all. In the broadest sense, a commitment-forming decision yields to consequences that are relevant for the subsequent decisions of the actor (e.g. making it easier to repeat the same course of action). The accumulations of the consequences of the actor decisions (e.g. allocation of physical or economical resources, or effort spent on an option) are important sources of commitment in the socio-technical systems. These accumulations can be considered as assets acquired by the actor in relation to an option, and these assets can be tangible (e.g. funds spent on R&D, or buildings and machinery owned), as well as intangible (e.g. expertise, know-how, and acquaintance) in nature.

## **Preference Structure Change**

The preference structure of an actor indicates the important issues for the actor in assessing the available options, as well as the relative importance (e.g. weights) of these issues. In other words, this structure specifies which issues the actor cares about, and also how much the actor cares about these issues in the context of fulfilling the relevant societal need. The most prominent mechanism of preference

change is the problem-induced one. Such a change is a consequence of the awareness about a problem, which can be directly related to the way sociotechnical system functions, or to the consequences of the mode of functioning. The problem that induces change need not be local to the system of concern, but also a problem with a wider scope can induce preference structure changes. A landscape problem can also trigger a change in the preference structures of the actors.

Although it is the most frequently discussed case in the context of sociotechnical transitions, a preference structure change need not always be induced by a problem, be it a regime or landscape problem. For example, cultural, economic, or institutional landscape developments can also play an influential role on the priorities of the actors. Although such an external influence on the preference structures can be important in transitional change process, it does not qualify as a mechanism in the way it is stated above; the conditions which trigger it, and the chain of events/processes that links the trigger to a preference change are not well specified based on the inductive analysis of the case studies.

## Modelling with the Actor-Option Framework

The main constituents of AOF are introduced in the previous sections. Although AOF provides a toolbox of concepts that can be used to develop a model, the modeling process requires a structure in combining these concepts. In order to help with the modeling process a set of guiding questions are proposed. They are organized as a sequence of fundamental questions that need to be answered throughout the model development process. The questions are expected to help in specifying the boundaries of the system to be modelled, as well as the way internal structure of the system may be represented. Although following the sequence of the questions is not vital, this may prove useful in keeping the development process well structured.

- (a) What is the societal function/need of concern subject to transition study?
- (b) Which aspects of the societal function characterize the transitional change? What are the directions of change that are of interest?
- (c) What are alternative means of fulfilling the societal function (i.e. options)?
- (d) Who are the major social actors in the system (i.e. actors) and what are their roles?
- (e) How to formalize actors' decision-making (e.g. rational, boundedly-rational, intentional, etc.)?
- (f) How are the options characterized in the model? What are their key attributes?
- (g) Which mechanisms are 'active' for which options and actors in the analysis context?

Both the applicability of the approach as well as its relevance in studying transition in dynamics has been assessed through a set of modeling exercises. Two of the studied cases are historical transitions; a transition in the British naval

transportation system [36, 37], and a more recent transition in the Dutch waste management system [38, 39]. The third case focuses on current state of the Dutch electricity system, and its plausible change dynamics [40]. Primary reason for choosing diverse socio-technical contexts is related to exploring the extent to which the framework is a (contextually) general one. As a result, of these modelling exercises, it is seen that the basic concepts of the framework (i.e. *actors* and *options*) can successfully be applied to these different contexts without difficulty. Additionally, we see that the mechanisms introduced in the framework are applicable in these different contexts: the key processes taking place in the studied socio-technical systems can all be classified as specific instances of these general mechanisms in the developed models.

An advantage of using historical transition cases is the presence of detailed *ex-post* analyses about important developments during the transition. This allowed us to evaluate the sufficiency of the actor-option framework in covering social and techno-physical developments that played an important role in those transitions. In this evaluation, we observed that all those key developments could be formalized as instances of the *mechanisms* of the framework. In other words, the ex-post analysis of processes that drove these historical transitions can be re-constructed using AOF in a formalized manner, without leaving out major processes or developments.

## **Discussion and Conclusions**

This chapter briefly presented a general modelling framework, i.e. AOF, for modelling transitional change processes of socio-technical systems. The framework provides a toolbox with conceptual components and a structure about the way these components can be combined for representing a particular system of concern. AOF is based on an extensive set of empirical cases on technological change and socio-technical transitions. Its general applicability and appropriateness for developing quantitative as well as qualitative models of change is assessed through a set of modelling exercises. As a result, it is concluded that AOF is rich enough to be used in different contexts, and it is very useful in structuring the modelling process.

Looking at AOF with a critical perspective, the way mechanisms are depicted can be considered as not being specific enough, since the framework leaves the task of formal specification and quantification to the analyst. Depending on the perspective, this can be seen both as a shortcoming, and as a merit. Since it leaves an important gap between conceptualization and implementation, it can be seen as not providing enough guidance. However, the objective of this study is not to deliver ready-to-explore simulation models. It aims to provide a general perspective and system depiction that can be used for a wide range of systems, and by a wide range of analysts with differing backgrounds. The non-specific depiction of the mechanisms is chosen to assure such a broad coverage. Authors evaluate the proposed set of mechanisms as rich enough in its current form to be used for analysing transitional change in socio-technical systems. However, the set may be improved in the future by addition of new mechanisms, and refinement/revision of the existing ones. The defining characteristics of the analytical perspective are rooted in the actor/option-based depiction of the system. While preserving these characteristics, the analytical perspective can be improved via refining the mechanism set in the light of new evidence and findings. When we reflect on the current set of mechanisms, the most promising direction of improvement is the social mechanisms. Especially, an elaboration on the mechanism of preference change can be a very valuable addition to the current state of the proposed mechanism set.

## References

- Geels F (2002) Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes: a multilevel perspective and a case-study. Res Policy 31(8–9):1257–1274
- 2. de Haan JH (2010) Towards transition theory. Erasmus University, The Netherland
- 3. Yücel G (2010) Analyzing transition dynamics: the actor-option framework for modelling socio-technical systems. Delft Univ Technol
- 4. Belz FM (2004) A transition towards sustainability in the Swiss agro-food chain (1970-2000): using and improving the multi-level perspective. In: Elzen B, Geels FW, Green K (eds) System innovation and the transition to sustainability: theory, evidence and policy. Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham
- Whitmarsh L, Nykvist B (2008) Integrated sustainability assessment of mobility transitions: simulating stakeholders' visions of and pathways to sustainable land-based mobility. Int J Innov Sustain Dev 3(1/2):115–127
- 6. David AP (1985) Clio and the economics of QWERTY. Am Econ Rev 75(2):332-337
- Geels F (2005) The dynamics of transitions in socio-technical systems: a multi-level analysis of the transition pathway from horse-drawn carriages to automobiles (1860–1930). Technol Anal Strateg Manage 17(4):445–476
- 8. Mozdzanowska A, Hansman RJ (2008) Dynamics of change in the US air transportation system. MA, Boston
- Norberg-Bohm V (2000) Creating incentives for environmentally enahncing technological change: lessons from 30 years of U.S. energy technology policy. Technol Forecast Soc Chang 65:125–148
- Nykvist B, Whitmarsh L (2008) A multi-level analysis of sustainable mobility transitions: niche development in the UK and Sweden. Technol Forecast Soc Change 75(9):1373–1387
- Raven R (2007) Co-evolution of waste and electricity regimes: multi-regime dynamics in the Netherlands (1969–2003). Energy Policy 35:2197–2208
- 12. Reinstaller A (2008) The technological transition to chlorine free pulp bleaching technologies: lessons for transition policies. J Cleaner Prod 16(1):133–147
- 13. Shackley S, Green K (2007) A conceptual framework for exploring transitions to decarbonised energy systems in the United Kingdom. Energy 32:221–236
- 14. Bijker WE (1995) Of bicycles, bakelites, and bulbs: towards a theory of sociotechnical change. MIT Press, London
- Cowan R, Gunby P (1996) Sprayed to death: path dependence, lock-in and pest control strategies. J Econ 106(436):521–542

- 16. Correlje A, Verbong G (2004) The transition from coal to gas: radical change of the Dutch gas system. In: Elzen B, Geels FW, Green K (eds) System innovation and the transition to sustainability: theory, evidence and policy. Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham
- 17. Cusumano MA, Mylonadis Y, Al E (1992) Strategic maneuvering and mass-market dynamics: the triumph of VHS over Beta. Bus Hist Rev 66(1):51–94
- Geels F (2005) Co-evolution of technology and society: the transition in water supply and personal hygiene in the Netherlands (1850–1930)—a case study in multi-level perspective. Technol Soc 27(3):363–397
- Geels F (2006) Major system change through stepwise reconfiguration: a multi-level analysis of the transformation of American factory production (1850–1930). Technol Soc 28(4):445–476
- 20. Geels F (2006) The hygienic transition from cesspools to sewer systems (1840–1930): the dynamics of regime transformation. Res Policy 35(7):1069–1082
- Geels F, Raven R (2006) Non-linearity and expectations in niche-development trajectories: ups and downs in Dutch biogas development (1973–2003). Technol Anal Strateg Manage 18(3–4):375–392
- 22. Hillman KM, Suurs RAA, Al E (2008) Cumulative causation in biofuels development: a critical comparison of the Netherlands and Sweden. Technol Anal Strateg Manage 20(5):593–612
- Koch L, Stemerding D (1994) The sociology of entrenchment: a cystic fibrosis test for everyone? Soc Sci Med 39(9):1211–1220
- 24. Loorbach D (2007) Transition management: new mode of governance for sustainable development. International Books, Utrecht, p 2007
- 25. Tabara JD, Ilhan A (2008) Culture as trigger for sustainability transition in the water domain: the case of the Spanish water policy and the Ebro river basin. Reg Environ Change 8:59–71
- Taylor MR, Rubin ES, Al E (2005) Control of SO2 emissions from power plants: a case of induced technological innovation in the U.S. Technol Forecast Soc Change 72(6):697–718
- 27. Einhorn HJ, Hogarth RM (1981) Behavioral decision theory: processes of judgment and choice. J Account Res 19(1):1–31
- 28. Simon HA (1955) A behavioral model of rational choice. J Q Econ 69(1):99-118
- Payne JW, Bettman JR, Coupey E, Johnson EJ (1992) A constructive process view of decision making: Multiple strategies in judgment and choice. Acta Psychol 80(1–3):107–141
- 30. Argote L (1999) Organizational learning: creating, retaining, and transferring knowledge. Kluwer Academic, Norwell
- 31. Zangwill WI, Kantor PB (1998) Toward a theory of continuous improvement and the learning curve. Manage Sci 44(7):910–920
- 32. Muth JF (1986) Search theory and the manufacturing progress function. Manag Sci 32(8):948–962
- 33. Rosenberg N (1982) Inside the black box: technology and economics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- 34. Arrow KJ (1962) The economic implications of learning by doing. Rev Econ Studies 29(3):155–173
- 35. Argote L, Epple D (1990) Learning curves in manufacturing. Science 247:920-924
- 36. Yücel G, van Daalen CE (2008a) Exploring transition dynamics: a case-based modelling study. In: The fifth conference of the European social simulation association
- 37. Yücel G, van Daalen CE (2008b) When does it really make a difference? Experimenting with the actor-heterogeneity in modelling socio-technical transitions. In: The twentysixth international conference of the system dynamics society, 2008
- 38. Yücel G, van Daalen CE (2008c) Understanding the dynamics underlying the waste management transition. In: IASTED applied simulation and modelling conference, 2008
- Yücel G, Chiong Meza CM (2008) Studying transition dynamics via focusing on underlying feedback interactions. Comput Math Organ Theory 14(4):320–349
- Yücel G, van Daalen CE (2012) A simulation-based analysis of transition pathways for the Dutch electricity system. Energy Policy 42:557–568

# **Erratum to: Infranomics**

## Adrian V. Gheorghe, Marcelo Masera and Polinpapilinho F. Katina

Erratum to: A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6

The affiliation of Marcelo Masera which should be: "Institute for Energy and Transport, Joint Research Centre, Petten, The Netherlands"

A. V. Gheorghe  $(\boxtimes) \cdot P$ . F. Katina

Engineering Management and Systems Engineering, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA, USA e-mail: adriangheorghe9145@gmail.com

P. F. Katina e-mail: pkatina@odu.edu

M. Masera Institute for Energy and Transport, Joint Research Centre, Petten, The Netherlands e-mail: marcelo.masera@jrc.ec.europa.eu

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6\_26, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

The online version of the original book can be found under DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6

## **Epilogue**

### Adrian V. Gheorghe, Polinpapilinho F. Katina

## Infranomics Synthesis and Future Challenges

This book provides a rough entry into the interdisciplinary field of *Infranomics*. It is proposed as a thesis enabling better decision making in an increasing ambiguous, complex, emergent, interdependent, and uncertain world where we attempt to anticipate modern society trends and pertains to react appropriately. However, as with any emerging discipline, much research is needed at the applications and conceptual level.

The applications level may require development and testing of methods, tools, and techniques to enable analysis and decision-making in ambiguous, complex, emergent, interdependent, and uncertain conditions while the conceptual level may require taping into driving philosophies, theories, and methodologies that form the basis for *Infranomics*.

Striking the right balance between applications and conceptual foundation (theory) requires rigorous research. It is from this perspective that the editors hope that this book provides a springboard for robust discussions on applications, theory, and transformation of current thinking to better deal with modern society's problematic issues using *Infranomics*.

# Index

### A

Academic program governance, 378, 382, 391 Access, 70, 158, 177, 178, 183, 196, 224 Adaptation planning, 239, 240, 243, 249 Agent based, 355, 363 Allocation, 156, 260, 272, 401, 412

### B

Breakwaters, 27–31, 34–36 Built environment, 165, 166, 179, 224, 236, 251

### С

Cell broadcast, 109, 110, 114, 115 China, 139–142, 183 Citation analysis, 354, 358, 367, 371, 375 Civil society, 298, 302, 308 Clustering analysis, 384, 387, 388 Communitarianism, 302 Complex networks, 316, 322, 329, 330 Complexity-induced vulnerability, 380, 383, 392 Concordance analysis, 17, 18, 25 Corporate and public real estate management, 93 Critical infrastructures, 2, 218, 334

### D

Decision support systems, 50, 219, 235 Demonstration projects, 167, 185, 190 Dialogue with modernity, 302

### Е

Energy consumption, 139, 140, 142–144, 148–150, 168, 170, 204, 223 Energy-saving rate, 148, 150 Energy transition, 223, 224 Engineering design, 260, 262–264, 340, 341, 348, 368 Engineering management, 215, 379, 383–385 Entrepreneurship, 298, 303, 305 Equity, 43, 45, 156, 160, 163 Ethics, 156, 160, 163 Extended topological approach, 320, 330

## F

Flexibility, 15, 17, 41–51, 70, 240, 242, 243, 396, 404, 405

### G

Game theory, 262, 293, 364 Governance, 57, 59, 62, 63, 76–78, 82, 83, 155–163, 227, 243, 248, 249, 269–271, 275–278, 280–282, 284–286, 294, 302, 379 Graduate program assessment, 378, 391 Great Eastern Japan earthquake, 127

#### H

Historical roots, 354, 369, 372 Human rights, 159

### I

Indicators, 15, 25, 65, 67, 85, 86, 140 Inertia, 223 Infranomics, 217, 269, 270, 380, 391 Infrastructure projects, 12, 42, 58, 244, 395–397 Intangibles, 2, 5, 50 Integrated strategic asset management, 60, 72, 83 Interactive social design model, 126

A. V. Gheorghe et al. (eds.), *Infranomics*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 24, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-02493-6, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

#### K

Knowledge management, 69-72

L Life cycle analysis, 13, 17 Low-carbon, 169, 173, 177, 190, 191

### M

Maturity model, 76, 83–86 Metasystem, 2, 3, 217, 270 Methodologies, 355, 369 Modelling, 234, 235, 415 Modern community, 302 Multi actor, 258, 260, 265 Multi-objective design, 261, 341, 342 Multi-stakeholder engagement, 249

### N

The Netherlands, 36, 48, 92, 404

### 0

Operationalisation, 75 Organisational management, 70, 78, 81, 82

### Р

Portfolio level, 92, 94, 97 Power grid, 315, 316, 322, 330 Power system security, 312, 315, 318 Prediction model, 140, 145, 151 Preference measurement, 90, 91, 97 Procurement, 12–15, 17, 22, 25, 42, 51, 82, 83 Property regimes, 157, 158

### R

Railway station, 170, 171, 190
Renewable energy, 131, 133, 144, 166, 167, 186, 203
Resilience, 166, 285, 333, 382, 383
Resource efficient, 167, 177, 186
Reusability, 45, 49

Risk management, 59, 396, 397, 401, 402, 404, 405 Role-play simulation exercise, 240, 244, 245, 250

### S

Serious gaming, 216, 219 Simulation, 95, 219, 220, 312, 315, 379 Socio-technical systems, 200, 224, 354, 408, 416, 417 Special zone for reconstruction, 125–127 Stakeholder engagement, 61, 172, 244, 249 Structural dimension, 293 Surrogate worth trade-off method, 339 Sustainability, 12-15, 17, 19, 22, 23, 25, 27, 28, 30, 31, 34, 38, 41-51, 59, 61, 79-82, 160, 175, 182, 195, 196, 224, 226, 240 Sustainable management, 12, 14, 15, 158 Sustainable port development, 12, 14, 17, 41, 42, 51 System of systems, 2, 216, 379 System theory, 294, 355, 369

## Т

Tangibles, 2, 5 Technology selection, 340, 344, 348 Technology transfer, 297, 298 Transdisciplinary, 196, 271 Transportation, 139–150

#### U

Undergraduate, 198, 200

### V

Vee model, 126

#### W

Water, 15, 23, 28, 29, 141, 155, 156, 168, 169, 251, 252, 261, 282, 398 Wave sheltering, 38